
Planning Committee
Monday 27 July 2020

6.30 pm
Online/Virtual: Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. 

Please contact Constitutional.Team@southwark.gov.uk for a link or 
telephone dial-in instructions to join the online meeting

Membership Reserves
Councillor Martin Seaton (Chair)
Councillor Kath Whittam (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barrie Hargrove
Councillor Adele Morris
Councillor Margy Newens
Councillor Damian O'Brien
Councillor Catherine Rose
Councillor Cleo Soanes

Councillor Eleanor Kerslake
Councillor Sarah King
Councillor Richard Livingstone
Councillor James McAsh
Councillor Hamish McCallum
Councillor Darren Merrill
Councillor Jason Ochere
Councillor Jane Salmon

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Access to information
You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as 
well as the background documents used in the preparation of these reports.
Babysitting/Carers allowances
If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, an 
elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this meeting, 
you may claim an allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form at the meeting.
Access
The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building 
access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site: 
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below.
Contact: Gerald Gohler on 020 7525 7420 or email:gerald.gohler@southwark.gov.uk

Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting
Eleanor Kelly
Chief Executive
Date: 10 July 2020

Open Agenda

http://www.southwark.gov.uk/Public/Home.aspx


Planning Committee
Monday 27 July 2020

6.30 pm
Online/Virtual: Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. Please 

contact Constitutional.Team@southwark.gov.uk for a link or telephone dial-in 
instructions to join the online meeting

Order of Business

Item No. Title Page No.

1. APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. CONFIRMATION OF VOTING MEMBERS

A representative of each political group will confirm the voting members of 
the committee.

3. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT

In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear days of the meeting.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS

Members to declare any personal interests and dispensation in respect of 
any item of business to be considered at this meeting.

5. RELEASE OF A TOTAL OF £300,000 OF S106 MONIES FOR THAMES 
PATH IMPROVEMENTS

1 - 5

6. DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 6 - 9

6.1. DULWICH HAMLET FOOTBALL CLUB, EDGAR KAIL WAY, 
LONDON SE22 8BD AND NEIGHBOURING ARTIFICIAL PITCH 
AT GREENDALE

10 - 262



Item No. Title Page No.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

The following motion should be moved, seconded and approved if the 
committee wishes to exclude the press and public to deal with reports 
revealing exempt information:

“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1-7, Access to 
Information Procedure rules of the Constitution.”

Date:  10 July 2020



  
 

 

 

Planning Committee 
 
Guidance on conduct of business for planning applications, enforcement cases 
and other planning proposals (virtual meetings) 
 

 
Please note: 
The council has made the following adaptations to the committee process to 
accommodate virtual meetings: 
 

• The agenda will be published earlier than the statutory minimum of five working 
days before the meeting. We will aim to publish the agenda ten clear working 
days before the meeting.  
 

• This will allow those wishing to present information at the committee to make 
further written submissions in advance of the meeting in order to: 

 
o Correct any factual information in the report 
o Confirm whether their views have been accurately reflected in the report 
o Re-emphasise the main points of their comments 
o Suggest conditions to be attached to any planning permission if granted. 

 

• Those wishing to speak at the meeting should notify the constitutional 
team at Constitutional.Team@southwark.gov.uk in advance of the meeting 
by 5pm on the working day preceding the meeting. 
 

 
1. The reports are taken in the order of business on the agenda. 
 
2. The officers present the report and recommendations and answer points raised by 

members of the committee. 
 
3. The role of members of the planning committee is to make planning decisions 

openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable reasons in accordance 
with the statutory planning framework. 

 
4. The following may address the committee (if they are present in the virtual meeting 

and wish to speak) for not more than three minutes each. Speakers must notify 
the constitutional team at Constitutional.Team@southwark.gov.uk in advance 
of the meeting by 5pm on the working day preceding the meeting. 
 

(a) One representative (spokesperson) for any objectors. If there is more than one 
objector wishing to speak, the time is then divided within the three-minute time 
slot. 

 
(b) The applicant or applicant’s agent. 
 
(c) One representative for any supporters (who live within 100 metres of the 

development site). If there is more than one supporter (who lives within 100 
metres of the development site) wishing to speak, the time is divided within the 3-
minute time slot. 

 
(d) Ward councillor (spokesperson) from where the proposal is located. 



 

 
(e) The members of the committee will then debate the application and consider the 

recommendation. 
 
Note: Members of the committee may question those who speak only on matters 
relevant to the roles and functions of the planning committee that are outlined in the 
constitution and in accordance with the statutory planning framework. 

 
5. If there are a number of people who are objecting to, or are in support of, an 

application or an enforcement of action, you are requested to identify a 
representative to address the committee. If more than one person wishes to speak, 
the three-minute time allowance must be divided amongst those wishing to speak. 
Where you are unable to decide who is to speak in advance of the meeting, the chair 
will ask which objector(s)/supporter(s) would like to speak at the point the actual item 
is being considered. The clerk will put all objectors who agree to this in touch with 
each other, so that they can arrange a representative to speak on their behalf at the 
meeting.  The clerk will put all supporters who agree to this in touch with each other, 
so that they can arrange a representative to speak on their behalf at the meeting. 
 

6. Speakers should lead the committee to subjects on which they would welcome 
further questioning. 

 
7. Those people nominated to speak on behalf of objectors, supporters or applicants, 

as well as ward members, will be speaking in their designated time-slots only, apart 
from answering brief questions for clarification; this is not an opportunity to take part 
in the debate of the committee. 

 
8. Each speaker should restrict their comments to the planning aspects of the proposal 

and should avoid repeating what is already in the report. The meeting is not a 
hearing where all participants present evidence to be examined by other participants. 

 
9. This is a council committee meeting to which is open to the public and there should 

be no interruptions from members of the public.  
 
10. Members of the public are welcome to record, screenshot, or tweet the public 

proceedings of the meeting.  
 

11. Please be considerate towards other people and take care not to disturb the 
proceedings. 

 
12. This meeting will be recorded by the council and uploaded to the Southwark Council 

YouTube channel the day after the meeting. 
 
The arrangements at the meeting may be varied at the discretion of the chair. 
 
Contacts:  General Enquiries 
 Planning Section, Chief Executive’s Department 
 Tel: 020 7525 5403 
   

FOR ACCESS TO THE VIRTUAL MEETING (ONLINE/BY TELEPHONE) 
PLEASE CONTACT: 
Planning Committee Clerk, Constitutional Team 
Finance and Governance  
Tel: 020 7525 7420 or email: gerald.gohler@southwark.gov.uk  

 
 



Item No. 
5.

Classification:
Open

Date:
27 July 2020

Meeting Name:
Planning Committee

Report title: Release of a total of £300,000 of S106 monies for 
Thames Path Improvements

Ward(s) or groups 
affected:

North Bermondsey

From: Director of Planning

RECOMMENDATION

1. That planning committee agrees the release of funds totalling £300,000 from the 
listed unilateral undertaking associated with the Thames Tideway Tunnel 
development towards the delivery of Thames Path improvements in the vicinity of 
the Dickens Estate. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

2. Planning obligations are used to mitigate the negative impacts caused by a 
development and contribute towards providing infrastructure and facilities 
necessary to achieve sustainable communities. In order to achieve this, the 
Council enters into a legal agreement with a developer whereby the developer 
agrees to provide planning contributions and/or enters into various planning 
obligations.

3. The proposed Thames Tideway Tunnel will capture the flows of storm sewage 
from 34 sewer overflow points along the River Thames. The tunnel will extend for 
approximately 20 miles through London, and up to 240 feet beneath the River 
Thames, broadly following the path of the river. Major construction works are 
required to build the tunnel over several years.

4. There are two sites in Southwark where works are to be carried out, these being 
at Chambers Wharf and Shad Thames Pumping Station, both in Bermondsey. As 
part of the long term mitigation strategy, improvements to the Thames Path 
within the local area was identified as a key method in helping the local 
community and to mitigate the impact of the development. 

5. A S106 Unilateral Undertaking dated February 2014 between Thames Water and 
the council was attached to planning permission ref: 14/AP/0000 for the 
Chambers Wharf site. Included within this undertaking was a requirement to 
provide £300,000 to finance landscaping and visual improvements along the 
Thames Path in the vicinity of the site. The vicinity is also stated to include 
Bermondsey Wall Street, the open space on Worseley Street and Jacob Street. 
These improvements will help ameliorate the environment surrounding the 
Chambers Wharf construction site and will provide a form of mitigation from the 
impact of the Thames Tideway Tunnel development.

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

6. The £300,000 contribution received relates to the funding for improvements to 
the Thames Path as detailed below:

1
Agenda Item 5



Application Use Amount

14/AP/0000 Thames Path Improvements £300,000

Total £300,000 

7. This £300,000 has not been and cannot be allocated to any other purpose, and 
is available for its stated use.

8. Southwark Council is responsible for the determination in how the funding is to 
be spent. Council officers have already started the process of assessing the 
Thames Path area.

9. The area of the Thames Path that is eligible for funding runs directly both east 
and west of the Chambers Wharf worksite. This is the area in which mitigation 
from the works is most required due to the close proximity of the Thames Path to 
the worksite.

10. The Thames Path in that area is used by many different types of people. Local 
residents, tourists, school groups all use this area and there is a heavy footfall. 
This is primarily due to the fact that the Thames Path in that area provides 
extensive high quality panoramic views to iconic areas such as Tower Bridge, 
and Greenwich to the East.

11. In order to continue to enhance this high quality historic Thames Path careful 
consideration needs to be given in spending priorities.

12. Council officers have conducted initial early assessments of the site area, these 
are listed below:

 An internal study by the parks department into the quality and safety of the 
current Thames Path paving was carried out. The study confirmed that the 
current paving requires urgent attention both from a health and safety point 
of view and aesthetically. Visually areas around the mosaic are particularly 
poor with many of the paving slabs being loose and wobbly and need to be 
made safe.

 An internal study by the lighting department was carried out on the lighting 
within the area. The survey deemed the area to have satisfactory lighting 
and does not require urgent attention.

 An internal study by the tree section within environment and leisure 
department was carried out on the existing trees within the area. The large 
willow trees in the area near to Fountain Green Square are particularly in 
need of maintenance. The willow trees were re-pollarded between October 
2018 and March 2019. At present they do not require further attention. There 
area also areas of shrub planting along the path which requires maintenance 
and attention. There may be some scope to enhance the planting and the 
greenery in this area via the funding.

13. The Thames Path in that region does not have any seating areas. This could be 
attributed to the fact that seating can attract sleepers and anti-social behaviour. 
However on such a long stretch of path the need to sit down particularly for 
elderly and disabled people should be considered. This again can be considered 
through the funding available.

2



14. Local residents who live in the Thames Path area have also put forward various 
suggestions to install a ‘green gym’. This idea has been discussed by council 
officers and there may be some merit to this idea. it confirms with the council’s 
objectives to improve resident’s health and wellbeing. Further, from a mental 
health perspective the ability to exercise while looking over Tower Bridge and 
other high quality views could stimulate improvements in resident’s mental 
health. This is could be provided via the funding available.

15. The next phase of action will seek to include a more detailed consultation with 
both local ward councillors and local residents. This will help to establish further 
priorities of attention for that area.

Community impact statement

16. Funding the improvements to this historic and iconic Thames Path area will only 
help to continue the legacy it holds within Southwark. The improvements will 
have a multitude of benefit to the area and local residents.

 
17. Ideas such as the green gym will also go some way to help to mitigate from the 

impacts of the Chambers Wharf worksite. It will also help to motivate children to 
participate in physical activity which can only benefit in a number of different 
ways including mental health. The redesign and improvement of the Thames 
Path could be done in a way which would also help to potentially reduce crime 
and anti-social behaviour in that zone. 

18. The redevelopment and improvement of the existing Thames Path would also 
help to visually improve the area. The area is iconic for the panoramic views it 
provides and with the improvement to that area the experience of using the 
Thames Path from a visual perspective can only be enhanced. New equipment, 
seating and ideas would brighten the community atmosphere and encourage 
residents and children to engage within this space. 

19. The Public Sector Equality Duty, at section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, requires 
public bodies to have due regard when carrying out their activities to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity, and foster good 
relations between people with protected characteristics and those with none. The 
council's Approach to Equality ("the approach") commits the council to ensuring 
that equality is an integral part of our day to day business. “Protected 
characteristics” are the grounds upon which discrimination is unlawful - the 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, gender and sexual 
orientation. In this case, these characteristics are considered unlikely to be 
issues with regard to the play facilities in question. 

Resource implications

20. As stated above (paragraphs 5 and 6), since these contributions were received 
under a Section 106 legal agreement which specifies their use, they cannot be 
spent for any other purpose.

Consultation 

21. Extensive consultation will be carried out by Southwark Council through a 
number of channels as the project develops. The consultation will seek to build 
upon the initial study findings of council officers. This will help to understand the 
requirements and suitable options for the development and improvement of the 
Thames Path.

3



22. At present a strategy is being formulated for the next phase of wider consultation. 

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS

Director of Law and Democracy  

23. This report requests that planning committee authorise the release of the amount 
of £300,000 for improvements to the Thames Path within the vicinity of the 
development. 

24. As paragraph 5 of the report mentions, the relevant planning obligation is 
contained within a Unilateral Agreement for the Thames Tunnel which was not 
negotiated with the council but framed by Thames Water and then considered by 
the Planning Inspectorate in connection with the application for a Development 
Consent Order. The terms of the Undertaking were accepted by the Inspectors 
and subsequently confirmed by the Secretary of State. The application of 
regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations would have been 
considered at that stage.

25. The proposal is in accordance with the terms of the Unilateral Undertaking. Since 
the expenditure of monies provided by developers under the terms of planning 
obligations agreements is a matter for the Planning committee, Members can 
safely take this decision. 

Strategic Director of Finance and Governance (CAP 19/021)

26. The strategic director of finance and governance confirms that the council has 
received the related s106 funds and they are available for the purposes outlined 
within the report.

27. The capital expenditure will lead to an addition to the council’s capital 
programme, specifically within Environment and Leisure programme, fully funded 
via the S106 contributions. 

28. Staffing and any other costs associated with this recommendation are to be 
contained within existing departmental revenue budgets.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Background Papers Held At Contact
Copies of S106 Agreements Planning Division, 160 

Tooley Street, London
SE1 2QH

Alistair Huggett 
020 7525 5576

APPENDICES

No. Title
None.

4



AUDIT TRAIL

Lead Officer Alistair Huggett, Planning Projects manager
Report Author Jacqueline Christie, Thames Tideway Planning Officer 

Version Final 
Dated 7 July 2020

Key Decision? No
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER

Officer Title Comments Sought Comments 
included

Director of Law and Democracy Yes Yes
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Governance 

Yes Yes

Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 9 July 2020

5



Item No. 
6.

Classification:
Open 

Date:
27 July 2020  

Meeting Name:
Planning Committee

Report title: Development Management

Ward(s) or groups affected: All

From: Proper Constitutional Officer

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the determination of planning applications, or formal observations and comments, 
the instigation of enforcement action and the receipt of the reports included in the 
attached items be considered.

2. That the decisions made on the planning applications be subject to the conditions 
and/or made for the reasons set out in the attached reports unless otherwise stated.

3. That where reasons for decisions or conditions are not included or not as included in 
the reports relating to an individual item, they be clearly specified.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

4. The council’s powers to consider planning business are detailed in Part 3F which 
describes the role and functions of the planning committee and planning sub-
committees.  These were agreed by the annual meeting of the council on 23 May 2012. 
The matters reserved to the planning committee and planning sub-committees 
exercising planning functions are described in part 3F of the Southwark Council 
constitution. 

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

5. In respect of the attached planning committee items members are asked, where 
appropriate:

a. To determine those applications in respect of site(s) within the borough, subject 
where applicable, to the consent of the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government and any directions made by the Mayor of 
London.

b. To give observations on applications in respect of which the council is not the 
planning authority in planning matters but which relate to site(s) within the 
borough, or where the site(s) is outside the borough but may affect the amenity of 
residents within the borough.

c. To receive for information any reports on the previous determination of 
applications, current activities on site, or other information relating to specific 
planning applications requested by members.

6
Agenda Item 6



6. Each of the following items are preceded by a map showing the location of the 
land/property to which the report relates.  Following the report, there is a draft decision 
notice detailing the officer's recommendation indicating approval or refusal. Where a 
refusal is recommended the draft decision notice will detail the reasons for such 
refusal.  

7. Applicants have the right to appeal to Planning Inspector against a refusal of planning 
permission and against any condition imposed as part of permission. Costs are 
incurred in presenting the council’s case at appeal which maybe substantial if the 
matter is dealt with at a public inquiry.

8. The sanctioning of enforcement action can also involve costs such as process serving, 
court costs and of legal representation.

9. Where either party is felt to have acted unreasonably in an appeal the inspector can 
make an award of costs against the offending party.

10. All legal/counsel fees and costs as well as awards of costs against the council are 
borne by the budget of the relevant department.

Community impact statement

11. Community impact considerations are contained within each item.

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS

Director of Law and Democracy

12. A resolution to grant planning permission shall mean that the director of planning is 
authorised to grant planning permission. The resolution does not itself constitute the 
permission and only the formal document authorised by the committee and issued 
under the signature of the director of planning shall constitute a planning permission.  
Any additional conditions required by the committee will be recorded in the minutes and 
the final planning permission issued will reflect the requirements of the planning 
committee. 

13. A resolution to grant planning permission subject to legal agreement shall mean that 
the director of planning is authorised to issue a planning permission subject to the 
applicant and any other necessary party entering into a written agreement in a form of 
words prepared by the director of law and democracy, and which is satisfactory to the 
director of planning. Developers meet the council's legal costs of such agreements. 
Such an agreement shall be entered into under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 or under another appropriate enactment as shall be determined by 
the director of law and democracy. The planning permission will not be issued unless 
such an agreement is completed.

14. Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended requires the 
council to have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to 
the application, and to any other material considerations when dealing with applications 
for planning permission. Where there is any conflict with any policy contained in the 

7



development plan, the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy which is 
contained in the last document to be adopted, approved or published, as the case may 
be (s38(5) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

15. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that where, 
in making any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the 
development plan, the determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan is currently 
Southwark's Core Strategy adopted by the council in April 2011, saved policies 
contained in the Southwark Plan 2007, the where there is any conflict with any policy 
contained in the development plan, the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy 
which is contained in the last document to be adopted, approved or published, as the 
case may be (s38(5) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

16. On 15 January 2012 section 143 of the Localism Act 2011 came into force which 
provides that local finance considerations (such as government grants and other 
financial assistance such as New Homes Bonus) and monies received through CIL 
(including the Mayoral CIL) are a  material consideration to be taken into account in the 
determination of planning applications in England. However, the weight to be attached 
to such matters remains a matter for the decision-maker.

17. "Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy regulations (CIL) 2010, 
provides that “a planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission if the obligation is:

a.   necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b.   directly related to the development; and
c.   fairly and reasonably related to the scale and kind to the development.

A planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission 
if it complies with the above statutory tests."

18. The obligation must also be such as a reasonable planning authority, duly appreciating 
its statutory duties can properly impose i.e. it must not be so unreasonable that no 
reasonable authority could have imposed it. Before resolving to grant planning 
permission subject to a legal agreement members should therefore satisfy themselves 
that the subject matter of the proposed agreement will meet these tests. 

19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) came into force on 27 March 2012. 
The NPPF replaces previous government guidance including all planning practice 
guidance (PPGs) and planning policy statements (PPSs). For the purpose of decision-
taking policies in the Core Strategy (and the London Plan) should not be considered 
out of date simply because they were adopted prior to publication of the NPPF.  For 
12 months from the day of publication, decision-takers may continue to give full weight 
to relevant policies adopted in accordance with the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act (PCPA) 2004 even if there is a limited degree of conflict with the NPPF.

20. In other cases and following and following the 12 month period, due weight should be 
given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. This is the approach to be taken when considering saved plan policies 
under the Southwark Plan 2007. The approach to be taken is that the closer the 

8



policies in the Southwark Plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that 
may be given.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Background Papers Held At Contact
Council assembly agenda 
23 May 2012

Constitutional Team
160 Tooley Street
London 
SE1 2QH

Virginia Wynn-Jones 
020 7525 7055

Each planning committee 
item has a separate planning 
case file

Development Management
160 Tooley Street
London 
SE1 2QH

Planning Department
020 7525 5403

APPENDICES

No. Title
None

AUDIT TRAIL

Lead Officer Chidilim Agada, Head of Constitutional Services
Report Author Gerald Gohler, Constitutional Officer

Jonathan Gorst, Head of Regeneration and Development 
Version Final

Dated 10 July 2020
Key Decision? No

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER

Officer Title Comments sought Comments included
Director of Law and Democracy Yes Yes
Director of Planning No No
Cabinet Member No No
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 10 July 2020

9



© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey (0)100019252. Land Registry Index data is subject to Crown copyright
and is reproduced with the permission of Land Registry. The default base map is OS mapping remastered by Europa Technologies.

10
Agenda Item 6.1



 

1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

RECOMMENDATION ........................................................................................................... 3 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...................................................................................................... 4 

CHAPTER 1 .......................................................................................................................... 8 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION........................................................................................... 8 

Site location and description .............................................................................................. 8 

CHAPTER 2 ........................................................................................................................ 11 

Details of proposal ........................................................................................................... 11 

Relevant planning history of the application site .............................................................. 21 

Relevant planning history of adjoining sites ..................................................................... 29 

CHAPTER 3 ........................................................................................................................ 30 

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION ................................................................................ 30 

Summary of main issues ................................................................................................. 30 

Legal Context .................................................................................................................. 30 

Adopted planning policy .................................................................................................. 31 

Emerging planning policy................................................................................................. 34 

CHAPTER 4 ........................................................................................................................ 37 

CONSULTATION ................................................................................................................ 37 

Consultation responses from members of the public ....................................................... 37 

Consultation responses from Councillors ......................................................................... 51 

Consultation responses from internal and divisional consultees ...................................... 51 

Consultation responses from external consultees ............................................................ 53 

CHAPTER 5 ........................................................................................................................ 61 

ASSESSMENT ................................................................................................................... 61 

Principle of the proposed development in terms of land use ............................................ 61 

Environmental impact assessment .................................................................................. 78 

CHAPTER 6 ........................................................................................................................ 79 

Housing provision ............................................................................................................ 79 

Affordable housing and Viability....................................................................................... 82 

Quality of residential accommodation .............................................................................. 87 

CHAPTER 7 ........................................................................................................................ 99 

Amenity of neighbouring occupiers .................................................................................. 99 

Privacy, outlook and noise impacts of the proposed development on the nearby occupiers

 ........................................................................................................................................ 99 

CHAPTER 8 ...................................................................................................................... 105 

11



 

2 

Design and layout .......................................................................................................... 105 

Trees and landscaping .................................................................................................. 122 

CHAPTER 9 ...................................................................................................................... 124 

Transport and highways ................................................................................................ 124 

CHAPTER 10 .................................................................................................................... 132 

Sustainable development implications ........................................................................... 132 

Ecology ......................................................................................................................... 133 

Contaminated land ........................................................................................................ 143 

Archaeology .................................................................................................................. 143 

Air Quality ...................................................................................................................... 144 

Flood risk ....................................................................................................................... 145 

Socio-economic impacts ................................................................................................ 146 

CHAPTER 11 .................................................................................................................... 147 

Planning obligations (S.106 undertaking or agreement) ................................................ 147 

Mayoral and borough community infrastructure levy (CIL) ............................................. 153 

CHAPTER 12 .................................................................................................................... 154 

Community involvement and engagement ..................................................................... 154 

Community impact and equalities assessment .............................................................. 155 

Human rights implications.............................................................................................. 157 

Positive and proactive statement ................................................................................... 158 

CHAPTER 13 .................................................................................................................... 159 

CONCLUSION .................................................................................................................. 159 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12



 

3 

 

Item No.  
6.1 

  

Classification:   
Open 
 

Date: 
27 July 2020  
 

Meeting Name:  
Planning Committee 

Report title:  
 
 

Development Management planning application:   
Application 19/AP/1867 for: Full Planning Application 
 
Address:  
DULWICH HAMLET FOOTBALL CLUB, EDGAR KAIL WAY, LONDON 
SE22 8BD AND NEIGHBOURING ARTIFICIAL PITCH AT GREENDALE 
 
Proposal:  
Redevelopment of the Dulwich Hamlet Football (Champion Hill) Stadium, 
including the demolition of existing buildings, and use of land at Greendale, 
to provide: 
- the erection of a new stadium with relocated playing pitch with associated 
floodlighting and boundary treatment, and part two-part three storey 
clubhouse building with sports and leisure facilities, with capacity for 4,000 
spectators (Use Class D2); 
- the construction of a multi-functional kickabout space and associated 
boundary treatment;  
- the erection of a series of buildings between four and six storeys in height 
to provide 219 residential dwellings, (Use Class C3);  
- associated car parking, cycle parking, refuse storage and access road; 
- the widening and greening of a public route with associated hard and soft 
landscaping; and 
- the relocation of telecommunications equipment and re-provision of the 
substation together with plant and equipment. 
 

Ward(s) or  
groups  
affected:  

Champion Hill  

From:  Director of Planning 
 

Application Start Date  12.07.2019 Application Expiry Date         11.10.2019    

Earliest Decision Date  Extension of Time Expiry Date  

 
 RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. That the planning committee grant planning permission, subject to:  

• The recommended planning conditions; 

• The applicant entering into an appropriate legal agreement by no later than 31 
January 2021; 

• Referral to the Mayor of London. 
  
2. That in the event of legal agreement not having been entered into by 31 January 

2021, the director of planning be authorised to refuse planning permission, if 
appropriate, for the reasons set out in paragraph 474 of this report. 
 

13



 

4 

 

 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

 This full application is for the redevelopment of the existing stadium that is currently 
home to Dulwich Hamlet Football Club (DHFC/the Club), together with existing land 
at Greendale. This report describes and assesses the application, including its 
impacts on the local area. The extent to which the application complies with the 
development plan is also explained and any other material considerations that are 
relevant.   

  
 The site is 2.84ha area of land that comprises Champion Hill Stadium and 

associated car park, Greendale artificial pitch and part of Greendale playing fields. 
Greendale artificial pitch and the playing fields is designated as ‘Metropolitan Open 
Land’ (MOL), whilst the Champion Hill Stadium pitch is designated as ‘Other Open 
Space’ (OOS).  

  
 A planning application was submitted in March 2016 under ref 16/AP/1232 for the 

redevelopment of the site to provide a new stadium and leisure facilities and 155 
dwellings.  A MUGA and a publically accessible ‘linear park’ and other landscaping 
improvements were also proposed.  This application was taken to appeal on non-
determination grounds but the appeal was subsequently withdrawn in late 2017.  
Since receiving notice of that appeal, the council was not able determine the said 
application, but had the Council been in a position to determine the application it 
would have been refused.   

  
 The current application before Members proposes to redevelop the site to provide:  

 
- a new stadium building with clubhouse and sports and leisure facilities with a 
capacity for 4,000 spectators and a new 3G playing pitch with associated 
floodlighting and boundary treatment;  
- the construction of a multi-functional kickabout space;  
- 219 residential buildings in 5 buildings between four and six storeys in height;  
- associated car parking, cycle parking, refuse storage and access road; 
- the widening and greening of  a  public route; and ;  
- the relocation of telecommunications equipment and re-provision of the substation 
together with plant and equipment. 

  
 The report sets out information to assess the application under the following 

headings: 
  
 Chapter 1: Background and information describes the site and context. It also 

gives information on the planning policy designations.  
  
 Chapter 2:  Details of proposal sets out the nature of the proposals and summary 

of the uses, number of residential dwellings and layout of the scheme.  This chapter 
also details the key planning history and decisions on the site. 

  
 Chapter 3: Key issues for consideration provides a summary of the main issues 

and highlights the development plan policies and supplementary planning guidance 
and documents that are relevant to the assessment of this application.  

  
 Chapter 4: Consultation provides an overview of the responses received to the 

rounds of consultation undertaken for this planning application from the public, 

14



 

5 

groups and statutory bodies. The responses are discussed in themes.  Many of the 
public responses supported the proposed redevelopment, particularly in terms of 
protecting the interests of DHFC.  A large number of  objections were also received, 
relating to specific aspects such as the development on MOL, the loss of the 
artificial pitch for informal sports, and impact on ecology. The different aspects 
raised by the consultation responses are considered in the different topic chapters 
in this report. 

  
 Chapter 5:  Assessment – ‘Principle of development’ provides an assessment of 

the proposal on Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) and Other Open Space (OOS). It 
has been demonstrated that very special circumstances exist to justify development 
which has some impact on the openness of the MOL.  This section also details the 
loss of the OOS and the extent to which this is replaced with a green link and its 
benefits to the public.  This section then goes on to discuss the loss of the existing 
artificial pitch and the mitigation measures proposed to compensate for this loss.  
Sport England in consultation with the Football Foundation and Football Association 
raised no objections to the scheme.  The improved 3G all weather surface pitch 
could be used at a more intense rate and would be offered to the community.  The 
replacement facilities are considered to be a benefit of the overall scheme.  

  
 Chapter 6:  Housing provision details the quantum of residential use and how this 

complies with the planning policies in terms of density, affordable housing, mix and 
quality.  A total of 219 homes are proposed with 73 of these being affordable homes  
In terms of habitable rooms this would equate to 35.4%.  The applicant has 
committed to increase this to 38% if grant is secured. It also provides a policy 
compliant mix of dwellings including wheelchair accessible units.  The units are 
designed to ensure good standard of accommodation and mitigation measures are 
proposed to minimise noise and disturbance from the existing and future 
commercial and stadium uses.  It also considers the Agent of Change principle.  

  
 Chapter 7: Amenity of neighbouring occupiers provides an assessment of the 

impact on neighbouring residents by looking at how it may affect their privacy, 
daylight and sunlight and outlook.  The results of the analysis demonstrate that 
these impacts would be minimal.  The chapter then details the potential noise and 
light impacts from the new pitch and what mitigation measures are proposed to 
ensure that these are minimised.  It concludes that the amenity of the neighbouring 
residents would be protected.   

  
 Chapter 8: Design and layout.  The proposed layout of the different uses is 

considered to be appropriate. The chapter describes the scale, height and layout of 
the residential units responds to the context of the surrounding area.  Following 
discussions with the applicant, amended plans were received to address the design 
concerns with improvements to the green link, the spaces and routes between the 
buildings and the articulation and detailed design of the blocks.  The stadium 
building design is high quality and utilises modern materials to give a lightweight 
feel.  The chapter then discusses the impact on trees and mitigation measures 
proposed.  The proposed landscaping would provide a significant benefit in better 
connecting St. Francis Park to Greendale fields.  The landscaping also includes play 
areas that would be available to the public.  

  
 Chapter 9:  Transport and highways provides an assessment of the transport 

impacts from the increased capacity of the stadium and the residential element of 
the scheme.  The site has a relatively good access to public transport and a large 
share of the mode of travel would be by public transport on match and non-match 

15



 

6 

days.  The increase in trip generation is not considered significant enough to 
adversely impact on the local highway network.  A stadium management plan and 
travel plan will provide the measures to minimise the use of cars and ensure crowds 
are managed to minimise disturbance to existing and future residents.  Car parking 
for the proposed housing is limited to wheelchair parking only. Cycle parking is 
provided for both residents and visitors/spectators.  The development would also 
propose highway improvement works which would benefit public access and safety.  
These would be secured by the s106 agreement and a s278 works agreement with 
the highway authority.  

  
 Chapter 10:  Sustainable development implications provides a summary of the 

environmental aspects of the scheme. The development’s energy strategy 
demonstrates how it achieves the carbon dioxide emission savings. The 
development would mean the loss of a small area of the proposed Greendale Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC), which would be affected by the 
proposed stadium, but the ecological assessment shows there is limited ecological 
significance in this area.  The ecological assessment also provides a survey of the 
existing flora, fauna and any protected species.  The development as a whole would 
provide ecological and biodiversity gains that would be a benefit.  Consultation 
responses have noted the air quality impacts of the proposed scheme as well as the 
impact of pollution on users of the proposed kick-about space.  This section 
provides an assessment of the air quality impacts.  The site is within a Critical 
Drainage Area and the submitted drainage strategy demonstrates how sustainable 
urban drainage systems could be incorporated to ensure surface water runoff rates 
would minimise risk of flooding.   

  
 Chapter 11:  S106 and Community Infrastructure Levy sets out the scope of the 

s106 agreement heads of terms that would need to be secured on any permission, 
and provides an estimate of the CIL payment. 

  
 Chapter 12: Statement of Community Involvement, Equalities and Human 

Rights summarises the community engagement undertaken by the applicant prior 
to the submission of the application, which is detailed in the Statement of 
Community Involvement and the Engagement Summary.  This chapter then 
assesses the likely equalities impacts from the proposal and considers the Human 
Rights Act. Members are reminded of the legal duty for public bodies to have regard 
to the advancement of equality in exercising its power. 

  
 Chapter 13:  Conclusion sets out the planning balance and the recommendation 

that planning permission be granted. 
  
 As part of this planning application, two rounds of public consultation were 

undertaken. The application was publicised via press notices in the local 
newspaper, a number of site notices were displayed around the site, and letters 
were sent to local residents within at least 100metres of the application site.  
Approximately 1,100-1,200 addresses were identified and the list of consulted 
organisations and local addresses is set out in Appendix 2. In addition, the applicant 
had also undertaken a range of consultation, which is summarised below under the 
Statement of Community Involvement chapter of this report. 

  
 The first round of consultation letters were sent out on the 23 July 2019 and the 

second round on 27 February 2020.  At the time of writing, 2,060 consultation 
responses in total have been submitted in response to consultation from individuals, 
groups or organisations. This is a combination of the two rounds of consultations 

16



 

7 

however, and therefore is likely to include responses from the same address.  This 
is discussed in the consultation section of this report. At the time of writing, a total of 
11 amenity groups had responded to public consultation. 
 

 A clear majority of the  comments received were in favour of the scheme.  Most 
comments raised generic support for the Club and a general concern over the 
Club’s future, the Club as a community asset, the wealth that the Club generates to 
the local area during match days and the benefits of increased housing provision.   

  
 The majority of objections received were related to the loss of Metropolitan Open 

Land (MOL) at Greendale, the impact on its openness and the perceived lack of 

‘very special circumstances’ to justify the grant of planning permission, the 

inadequate replacement of the existing artificial pitch, the harm caused to the 

ecology, the loss of a SINC and loss of trees and green space contributing to 

climate change. 

The material planning considerations repeatedly raised by objectors were: 
- Loss of MOL and inappropriate building on MOL;  
- The impact on its openness and there are no ‘very special circumstances’;  
- Loss of existing artificial pitch which is available to the public and the 

replacement facility is  significantly smaller;  
- Replacement of open space is not adequate;  
- Impact on ecology and wildlife and the SINC; 
- Introduction of residential would lead to transport impacts;  
- The residential development is overbearing and out of scale with the 

surrounding dwellings; 
- Impact on the future of the football club;  
- There should be more social housing;  
- Noise and light pollution; and  
- Loss of trees and its implications for climate change.  

 
 The issues raised and how these are addressed is covered in the relevant chapters 

of this report.  

17



 

8 

 

  
 CHAPTER 1 

 
 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
 Site location and description 

 
3. This application relates to a 2.84ha area of land which comprises Champion Hill 

Stadium, Greendale artificial pitch, the private access road and existing car parking 
area and a part of the Greendale playing fields. 

  
 Map:  Existing site location plan, with the site edged in red 

 
 
 

 
  
4. Constructed in the early 1990s the stadium is home to Dulwich Hamlet Football 

Club (DHFC or the ‘Club’ as referred to in this report). It is located to the rear of St. 
Francis Park and to the south of Sainsbury’s supermarket off of Dog Kennel Hill to 
the east. The existing stadium consists of a grassed pitch, main stand (the Tommy 
Jover stand) and clubhouse, and a smaller covered stand to the south, with a 3,000 
spectator capacity. The clubhouse is occupied by a gym, squash courts and 
function rooms. The stadium is enclosed by solid walls on three sides ranging in 
height between approximately 2.3 to 3.4m, and the main stand on the remaining 
north site.  A small car-park to the east provides approximately 46 spaces and is 
partly occupied by a hand car wash facility. 

  
5. In terms of ownership, DHFC lease the stadium, pitch and adjacent car park from 

Meadow Partners (here described as Meadow or Meadow Partners in this report) 
and lease the Greendale artificial pitch from the council.  This is a joint application 
made by the Club and Healey Development Solutions (Dulwich) Limited, the 
development manager appointed by the landowner, Greendale Property Company 
Limited, wholly owned subsidiary of Meadow Partners. 

  
6. Vehicular access to the site is via Edgar Kail Way, with pedestrian routes through 

18



 

9 

St. Francis Park from Dog Kennel Hill or from Greendale to the west which also 
serves as a cycle route and turns into a private access road which runs along the 
southern boundary.  Additional paths have recently been created through Greendale 
Fields which offer additional routes from Greendale and the Champion Hill estate.  

  
7. Greendale artificial pitch (which has also been referred to as ‘astroturf’ pitch by 

members of the public in consultation responses) and playing fields are designated 
as ‘Metropolitan Open Land’ (MOL), whilst the Champion Hill Stadium pitch (but not 
the stand or car park) is designated as ‘Other Open Space’ (OOS). Until recently the 
playing fields were not formally open for public access, but in 2018 the council 
opened up new gates at Greendale and the gates closest to Edgar Kail Way were 
unlocked.  The artificial pitch is in a poor state of repair, unsuitable for formal sports, 
but is available (with warning notices in place) for informal play and recreation.  It 
has been particularly busy during the Covid-19 lockdown period with families 
playing ball games and children riding bicycles. The wider Greendale fields (the 
majority of which falls outside the application boundary), is predominately heavily 
planted with self-seeded ground cover such as brambles and nettles, making 
access difficult across much of the land.  It also includes unused dilapidated tennis 
courts to the north.  The land slopes down from north to south with a various 
differences in levels.   

  
8. The surrounding area is mixed in character with a large Sainsbury’s retail store and 

associated car park to the north and St. Francis Park (also OOS) to the east. To the 
south the site is bounded by the low-rise 1990s residential development of 
Abbotswood Road and Burrow Road. East Dulwich Rail Station is located 
approximately 300m to the southeast and the site has a good level of accessibility to 
public transport with a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 3/4. 

  
9. The application site is not situated within a Conservation Area and none of the 

existing buildings on the site are Statutorily Listed. Dog Kennel Hill Open Space is 
linked to Greendale Fields to the north and is designated as a Site of Local 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC). There are a significant number of 
mature trees across the site within the Greendale Fields, but none are subject to a 
Tree Preservation Order (TPO). 

  
10. In summary the site is located within the following adopted plan designations:  

 

• Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) - Saved Southwark Plan (2007) ref OS128 
and OS129 - Greendale Playing Fields and Greendale Artificial Playing Pitch  

• Other Open Space (OOS) - Saved Southwark Plan ref OS130 Dulwich Hamlet  

• Suburban Density Zone (Middle)  

• Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)  
 

The site is also within Flood Risk Zone 1, which indicates a low risk of flooding.  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



 

10 

 Image: Map showing Protected open spaces in the adopted Southwark Plan (Blue: 
Other Open Space; Green: Borough Open Land; and Yellow: Metropolitan Open Land) 
 

 
  
11. Of note, part of the site falls within the emerging New Southwark Plan Submission 

Version site allocation NSP37:  Dulwich Hamlet Champion Hill Stadium, Dog Kennel 
Hill, which will be discussed further below in this report (Previously consulted as 
NSP38 in the earlier version of the New Southwark Plan).   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20



 

11 

 

 Figure: Map of site allocation NSP37. 

 

 
 

 CHAPTER 2 

 Details of proposal 

  
12.  Full planning permission is sought for the following:  

 
New football stadium 
Demolition of the existing stadium and stands, and erection of a new stadium building 
including clubhouse to the west of the existing football pitch.  The proposal would also 
relocate the pitch to occupy the area currently utilised by the existing artificial pitch (on 
MOL) which would be slightly sunken.  The main stand would be located on the north-
eastern side of the pitch (outside the MOL) and the stadium would provide capacity for 
4,000 spectators. The main stand/clubhouse would include a gym, fitness studios, squash 
courts, football club facilities, changing rooms and community facilities incorporating a bar 
and function room.  The pitch would be laid as a 3G all weather surface. 4 new floodlighting 
columns would be located to the perimeter of the ground each circa 20m in height. 

  

21



 

12 

 

 Image: Proposed site plan 

 

  
  
13. Surrounding the football pitch, terraces and concourse would be mesh fencing.  This would 

be 4.5m in height above the pitch level, which is to be sunken. Due to the Football 
Association’s (FA) stadium club fencing requirements, 1.83m in height (from the ground 
level outside of the pitch) would be impermeable during match times. This would be 
provided by using demountable canvas banners and scrub planting beyond that (see image 
below).  Outside of match times, the 1.83m canvas banners would be rolled down so that 
views can be maintained across this part of Greendale.   The existing pitch is not level and 
it is noted that the northern and western end of the site is on higher ground.  As such, to the 
perimeter of the pitch along the north side of the site and returning along the west flank is a 
retaining wall.  From the top of that retaining wall to the pitch level would be approximately 
4.9m maximum and this will vary along the western edge. The existing artificial pitch is 
between 22.2m AOD and 23.3m AOD.  As noted above, the pitch would be sunken to a 
level of 21.6m AOD.  The images below show various sections across the proposed 3G 
pitch.  

  
 Image of section showing north retaining wall looking east 

 
 
 

  

22



 

13 

 Image: Typical perimeter fencing on match day when viewed outside of the pitch (note this 
varies along the perimeter of the site) 
 

 

 

 
  

 Image:  Cross section of the pitch, terraces, concourse and fencing looking south 

 
 

 

23



 

14 

  
 Image:  Long section across pitch, showing stadium building and residential behind  

 

  
 Image:  Section of pitch looking north and retaining wall 

 
  
 Image: Cross section looking west showing how the perimeter fencing would 

change in height 

 

 
  
14. The existing vehicular access to the car park and car wash business would be 

closed and a new vehicular access for servicing, parking, coaches etc is proposed 
via a new shared surface street from a single point on Abbotswood Road. This site 
access is further south than the current position, and the street runs along the 
northern part of the site to the residential units and through to the stadium building 
at the end.  Car parking for the club is located at the end of this street in front of 
the stadium with 12 disabled spaces plus two parking spaces for coaches.  

  
15. 219 Residential Units 

 
Developed on the site of the existing football stadium and car park, 219 new 
residential units would be provided in five buildings (6 blocks) of between four and 
six storeys in height.  The proposal as originally submitted was for 224 units, but 
this has been reduced following discussions with the applicant regarding the 
design and layout.  A total of seven residential wheelchair car parking spaces are 
proposed along the shared surface street. The blocks are labelled A to F.  As part 
of the amendments, blocks A and D would be joined with a glazed linked block to 

24



 

15 

form one building.  
  
 Image: 3D image of development viewed from the south-east   

 

 
  
 Image: 3D image of development viewed from the south-west  

 
 

25



 

16 

 

 
  
 Image: 3D image of development viewed from north  

 

 
  

 

26



 

17 

 

 Plan: Residential layout plan 

 

 
  
16. The scheme would provide 82 one bedroom, 71 two bedroom and 66 three 

bedroom flats.  A total of 73  affordable dwellings are proposed.  When calculated 
by unit numbers, this equates to 33%.  This would be 35.4% when calculated by 
habitable rooms. The tables below summarise the mix of units including affordable 
provision.  35.4% is the minimum amount of affordable being proposed and 
guaranteed.  The applicant is in discussions with Registered Providers (RP) from 
the council’s approved list who will be eligible for grant funding under the Mayor’s 
Homes for Londoners: Affordable Homes Programme 2016-21.  Once the RP is 
identified they will be required to make an application for grant funding. The 
applicant is confident that the scheme would be eligible for grant  in the order of 
£1,120,000. If grant is secured, the applicant would increase the affordable 
housing provision to   77 homes (an additional 4 social rented flats).  This equates 
to 37.9% total affordable habitable rooms (circa 38%). The tables below set out 
the affordable housing provision at 35.4% (the minimum committed offer) and 38% 
(the offer if grant is secured).  

  
 Table:  Proposed housing tenure by habitable rooms and units based on the 

minimum offer of 35.4%.   

 
Unit type Hab. Rooms  Number of 

units 

Percentage Hab. 

rooms  

Percentage 

number of units 

Social rented 202 52 25.5% 23.7% 

Intermediate  78 21 9.9% 9.6% 

Private Hab.  511 146 64.6% 66.7% 

27



 

18 

Total  791 219 100 100 

 
 

 Table: Proposed housing tenure by habitable rooms and units based on an offer of 
38%.   
 

Unit type Hab. Rooms  Number of 

units 

Percentage Hab. 

rooms  

Percentage 

number of units 

Social rented 216 56 27.3% 25.6% 

Intermediate  84 21 10.6% 9.6% 

Private Hab.  491 142 63.1% 64.8% 

Total  791 219 100 100 
 

  
17. The scheme is designed to be tenure blind, but has been arranged so that the 

social rent units are located in Block A and part of Block C.  The intermediate 
dwellings would also be located within Block C. 

  
18. Associated communal amenity space and playspace are proposed in between 

buildings and within parts of the new linear public route (explained further below). 
  
19. Multi-functional kick-about space 

Located to the north of the new road and opposite residential Block B would be 
the informal kick-about space for outdoor games, measuring 24m x 12m 
(annotated as Block G).  Adjacent to this are a plant room and additional cycle 
store.  Block G would sit behind a retaining wall measuring between 6m and 7.4m 
in height, which separates the application site from the adjoining land that belongs 
to Sainsbury’s and is used for servicing and deliveries. This retaining wall would 
comprise a series of recessed panels in between brick piers and would contain a 
variety of elements including murals, etched concrete, metal screens and 
openings onto spaces behind. There would be fixed mesh panels to the south of 
the kick-about space mounted behind the brick portal.  

  
 Image:  Kick-about space with plant and cycle store 

 
  

 
 

28



 

19 

 
 Image:  Shared surface road, Block B and kick-about space in Block G 

 
 

 Publicly accessible linear route (Green link) 
 

20. Approximately 2,600sqm of publicly accessible land would be located to the south 
of the proposed residential development.  This landscaped route would link St. 
Francis Park to Greendale Fields providing an enhanced pedestrian and cycle 
route through the site.  It also provides a series of spaces for play. This public 
route is described as the ‘Green link’ in this report.   

  

29



 

20 

 

  
Image: Navigation for the public 

 
 

 
  
  
 Replacement telecommunications equipment 

 
21. The existing telephone mast located in the south-west corner of the existing 

football ground would be removed and relocated to the north-eastern part of the 
proposed pitch.  This would be immediately to the north of the new stadium and is 
outside of the MOL designation. Adjacent to this relocated mast would be a 
proposed substation and additional plant room.  As noted in the planning history 
section of this report, there is a separate permission for the mast.    

  

 Amendments since original submission 
 

22. As explained above, the proposals have been amended since it was original 
submitted following discussions with the applicant and these are as follows:  
 
- Block A/D Massing – The two blocks are joined by a new glazed link block.   
- Block A and B - Removal of four dwellings.  
- Block C Massing - an additional set-back sixth floor of Block C.  
- Blocks A and B Sixth Floor (roof) cut backs - Due to the relocation of the roof 

terrace to the fifth floor, the lift and stair access at sixth floor level has been 
omitted and replaced with a lift over-run only.  

- Material and elevation details - Glazed bricks have been added to the upper 

30



 

21 

floors of Blocks B and E. Glazed bricks in different autumnal colours used on 
each entrance which open onto the central path. 

- Revised minimum provision of 35.4% affordable housing.  
  
 Relevant planning history of the application site 

 
23. Set out below are the cases of planning history of particular relevance to this 

application 19/AP/1867 with the most recent and relevant first.   
  
24. Ref 16/AP/1232 

Dulwich Hamlet Football Club Stadium And Green Dale Playing Fields Dog 
Kennel Hill  
Full Planning application submitted in 2016 for: 
Redevelopment of Dulwich Hamlet Football Stadium, including the demolition of 
existing buildings, and land at Greendale, to provide: 
- the erection of a new stadium with relocated playing pitch, two-storey clubhouse 
with a Health and Fitness Club and stand, with capacity for 4000 spectators, a 
multi-use games area (MUGA) and associated floodlighting; 
- the erection of a series of buildings between three and six-storeys in height to 
provide 155 residential dwellings (7xstudio, 56x1 bed, 46x2 bed, 43x3 bed and 
3x4 bed); 
- associated car parking, cycle parking, refuse storage and access road; 
- enhancements to existing open space at Green Dale Fields and the creation of a 
new public linear park; 
- the relocation of existing telecommunication equipment within the site. 
 
Appeal was submitted by the applicant for ‘non-determination’.  The appeal was 
subsequently WITHDRAWN by the applicant in October 2017 prior to the public 
inquiry.     
 
Had the council been in a position to determine the application, it would have been 
refused on the following grounds:  
 

1.  “The proposed football ground with its associated boundary treatment, 
terracing and floodlighting is an inappropriate development which would 
fail to preserve the openness of the Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) 
within which it would be located. Insufficient ‘Very special circumstances’ 
have been demonstrated by the application to justify inappropriate 
development on MOL. As such it is contrary to Policies 3.25 
`Metropolitan Open Land' of the Saved Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic 
Policy 11 ‘Open Spaces and Wildlife’ of the Core Strategy (2011) and 
Policy 7.17 ‘Metropolitan Open Land’ of the London Plan (2016)”.  

 
2. “The residential blocks and stadium building would be located on land 

designated as Other Open Space (OOS). The development is not 
ancillary to the enjoyment of the OOS, is not small in scale, would 
detract from the prevailing openness of the site and fails to positively 
contribute to the setting and quality of the open space. Land of 
equivalent or better size and quality would not be secured and the 
development would therefore be contrary to policy 3.27 ‘Other Open 
Space’ of the saved Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policy 11 ‘Open 
Spaces and Wildlife’ of the Core Strategy (2011) and Policy 7.18 
‘Protecting Open Space and Addressing Deficiency’ of the London Plan 
(2016)”. 

31



 

22 

3. “The proposed development would involve a reduction in sports facilities 
across the site. As such, it would fail to contribute to the health and 
wellbeing 
of borough residents contrary to saved policies 2.1 ‘Enhancement 
of community facilities’ of the Southwark Plan 2007, Strategic policies 4 
‘Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles’ and 11 ‘Open 
spaces and wildlife’ of the Core Strategy 2011, and Policy 3.19 ‘Sports 
facilities’ of the London Plan 2016.” 
 

4. “The proposed residential blocks, by reason of their height, scale and 
massing would result in an overly dominant and visually intrusive 
development which would be out of character with the prevailing built 
form of the locality. It would be overbearing when viewed from the 
adjacent open spaces and appear as an alien form within the local 
townscape. It would therefore be contrary to saved Policies 3.11 
‘Efficient Use of Land’, 3.12 ‘Quality in Design’, 3.13 ‘Urban Design’, and 
3.27 ‘Other Open Space’ of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic 
Policies 11 ‘Open spaces and wildlife’ and 12 ‘Design and Conservation’ 
of the Core Strategy (2011) and Policies 7.4 ‘Local Character’, and 7.6 
‘Architecture’ of the London Plan (2016)”. 
 

5. “The development fails to contribute the maximum reasonable amount of 
affordable housing to meet the needs of the Borough, London and the 
UK as a whole. The development has not demonstrated that it could not 
support the expected level of affordable housing whilst remaining viable. 
It is therefore contrary to Policy 4.4 ‘Affordable Housing’ of the saved 
Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policy 6 ‘Homes for people on different 
Incomes’ of the Core Strategy (2011) and Policies 3.12 ‘Negotiating 
Affordable Housing on individual private residential and mixed use 
schemes’ and 3.13 ‘Affordable Housing Thresholds’ of the London Plan 

(2016)”. 
  
 Plan:  Site plan layout for the 2016 scheme  

 

 
  
  

32



 

23 

 
25. 16/AP/4051 

Champion Hill Stadium, Edgar Kail Way 
An application for the discharge/deletion of obligations contained within the S106 
Agreement dated 16/10/1990 pursuant to planning permission ref TP2134-3/AH 
for 'The construction on the site of a retail store, coffee shop, public open space, 
construction of new football stadium, associated landscaping, car parking, access 
road and caretakers bungalow'.  Clauses for discharge/deletion are: 
 
1) Clause 4(3), giving access to the facilities by members of the football club, to be 
discharged in its entirety 
2) Clauses 7(3) and 7(4), which relate to use of the land in the event that the 
football club cease to exist, to be discharged in their entirety 
3) Clause 8, which restricts use of the football ground to leisure, recreational or 
educational purposes, to be discharged in its entirety 
4) Clause 10, which gives users of the all-weather pitch access to the club 
dressing, showering and toilet facilities, to be discharged in its entirety.   
 
This application was NOT AGREED on 24/11/2016 for the following reasons:  
 

1. The obligations contained within the S106 Agreement dated 16/10/1990 
being Clauses 4(3), 7(3), 7(4), 8 and 10, which the applicant is seeking to 
discharge still serve a useful planning purpose.  These being: 
- Clause 4(3) - the all weather pitch at Greendale Park has been 
constructed and provided in accordance with the terms of the 1990 
Agreement and it is still open to the members of Dulwich Hamlet Football 
Club and others to make reasonable use of the facilities. 
- Clause 7(3) and 7(4) - Dulwich Hamlet Football Club is still in existence, 
has a licence to use the Dulwich Hamlet Football Ground and still uses it.  
- Clause 8 - Dulwich Hamlet Football Ground is still is use by Dulwich 
Hamlet Football Club, the land is still being used for leisure and 
recreational purposes.  
- Clause 10 - The all weather pitch and football ground have been 
constructed and are still in use. 

 
There are therefore no grounds upon which the authority may determine 
that 
the obligations shall be discharged pursuant to S106A(6)(b).   

 
2. The useful planning purpose served by the obligations, being Clauses 4(3), 

7(3), 7(4), 8 and 10 as contained within the S106 Agreement dated 
16/10/1990, will not be served equally well if they are modified by being 
discharged and so the statutory test in Section 106A(6)(c) is not met.  
 

3. The planning obligations should continue to have effect without 
modification pursuant to Section 106A(6)(a).  

  
26. Ref 18/AP/4025 

Champion Hill Stadium, Edgar Kail Way 
EIA Screening Opinion under Regulation 6 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, for the redevelopment of 
the site involving the demolition of the existing stadium facility and associated 
buildings, and the replacement provision of: 
- A new community stadium (Use Class D2) with capacity for up to 4,000 

33



 

24 

spectators and including; a new multi-use all-weather 3G pitch, available for both 
league fixtures and club/public training; 
- Up to 3,120 sq.m [GEA] of indoor sports and leisure facilities (Use Class D2) 
including replacement squash courts, a new health and fitness club and a multi-
use games area (MUGA); 
- Up to 500 sq.m [GEA] of flexible community/commercial floor space (Use 
Classes A1-A5 and D1/D2); 
- Up to 235 residential dwellings comprising apartments and townhouses of mixed 
sizes (including 40% affordable housing); 
- Approximately 6,647sq.m of public realm, including a new green park of 
approximately 3,987sq.m; and 
- Associated parking, servicing and access works.  
 
Decision was made on 20/12/2018 that the development DID NOT require an 
Environmental Impact Assessment. 

  
27. 19/AP/7058 

An application was recently submitted in March 2020 for the relocation and 
upgrade of the 35.5m lattice mast supporting 18 antennas, 6 transmission dishes, 
3 telefonica equipment cabinets, 2 Vodafone equipment cabinets and 13 MBNL 
equipment cabinets with ancillary development.  . 
 
This application was GRANTED on 27/03/2020.  

  
28. Other history on the site include the below: 

 
29. Ref TP/2134-B/AH 

Kings College sports ground, Dulwich Hamlet football ground and adjoining 
ground at Dog Kennel Hill, East Dulwich  
The construction on the site of a retail store, coffee shop, public open space, 
construction of a new football stadium, associated landscaping, car parking, 
access road and caretakers bungalow. 
 
Planning permission GRANTED 16/10/90 with associated legal agreement.  This 
permission was implemented and reflects the current buildings on site. 

  
30. Ref 00/AP/0400 

Dulwich Hamlet football club, and land adjoining, Edgar Kail Way 
Relocation of football ground to west (adj.Greendale). Erection of DIY store and 
garden centre. Creation of cycle lane and footpath between Greendale & 
Abbotswood Road. (Outline application). 
 
Planning permission REFUSED on 06/03/2002 and DISMISSED on appeal. 

  
31. 07/AP/0580 

Dulwich Hamlet football club car park, Edgar Kail Way 
Continuation of use as a hand car wash operation and retention of canopy and 
storage container.  
 
Planning permission REFUSED and ALLOWED on appeal.  

  
32. Ref 10/AP/3161 

Car park site, Dulwich Hamlet football club, Edgar Kail Way 
Redevelopment of existing car park and car wash site to provide a part 3, 4 and 5 

34



 

25 

storey building comprising 60 residential units (21 x 1-bed, 26 x 2-bed and 13 x 3-
bed) with associated landscaping, amenity space and access to basement which 
provides 30 car parking spaces and 70 cycle parking spaces. 
 
Application WITHDRAWN by applicant prior to determination.  

  
33. Ref 11/AP/2280 

Dulwich Hamlet football club, Edgar Kail Way, London  
Redevelopment of existing car park and car wash site to provide a part 3, 4 and 5 
storey building comprising 55 residential units (17 x 1-bed, 21 x 2-bed and 17 x 3-
bed) with associated landscaping, amenity space and access to the part 
basement which provides 28 car parking spaces and 63 cycle parking spaces. 
 
Application WITHDRAWN by applicant prior to determination.  
 

34. Ref 11/AP/2250 
Greendale Sports Ground Greendale & Burrow Road London  
Development of new sports and recreation facilities to comprise full length football 
pitch with associated floodlighting; 6 x Multi-Use Games areas with associated 
floodlighting; BMX Track; New two storey clubhouse with space for 200 spectator 
seats; parking area for 46 cars, and coach park; Educational nature trail with new 
access points off Wanley Road and Greendale. 
 
Planning permission REFUSED on 28/11/2011 for the following reasons: 
 

1. Due to the inclusion in the scheme of a large number of sports pitches, 
with fencing around these and floodlighting columns, this would detract 
from the openness of the Metropolitan Open Land. This would be contrary 
to saved policy 3.25 Metropolitan Open Land of the Southwark Plan 2011, 
and SP11 Open Spaces and Wildlife of the Core Strategy 2011. 
 

2. Due to the absence of information on species which may inhabit the site, it 
has not been possible to screen the application to assess whether an 
Environmental Statement is required. In the absence of such information, it 
has not been possible to assess whether the application would comply with 
saved policy 3.1 Environmental Effects and 3.28 Biodiversity of the 
Southwark Plan 2007, and SP11 Open Spaces and Wildlife of the Core 
Strategy 2011. 

 
3. Due to the absence of species surveys, in particular Bat and Reptile 

surveys, it has not been possible to ascertain whether protected species 
are present on the site, despite ideal habitats for these species having 
been identified in the Phase 1 Habitat survey. For this reason it has not 
been possible to assess whether the scheme would result in a loss of 
habitats known to support protected species. This is contrary to saved 
policy 3.28 Biodiversity of the Southwark Plan 2007 and SP11 Open 
Spaces and Wildlife of the Core Strategy 2011.  

 
4. Due to the inadequate assessment of transport issues, and failure to take 

into account the current Dulwich Hamlet football club, the Council cannot 
be satisfied that the scheme would not have an adverse impact on the 
transport network. This would be contrary to saved policy 5.2 Transport 
Impacts of the Southwark Plan 2007, and SP2 Sustainable Transport of 
the Core Strategy 2011. 

35



 

26 

 
5. Due to the absence of information on stem diameter in the Arboricultural 

report, it has not been possible to determine the size and number of trees 
which must be planted in order to mitigate and replace lost amenity and 
biodiversity value, and as a result, whether the proposed replacement 
trees would adequately mitigate for the proposed loss. The proposal would 
therefore be contrary to policy 3.1 Environmental Effects, 3.2 Amenity and 
3.28 Biodiversity of the Southwark Plan 2007, and SP11 Open Spaces and 
Wildlife of the Core Strategy 2011. 

 
6. The proposal would result in a loss of amenity for nearby residents in 

terms of noise and light pollution, in view of the late hours of use, and use 
of floodlighting close to homes. This would therefore be contrary to saved 
policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of the Southwark Plan 2007, and SP13 
High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 2011.  

 
7. In the absence of a signed Section 106 agreement or unilateral 

undertaking to secure mitigation for the development's impact on the site 
specific and strategic transport impacts, as well as open space and visitor 
management, there is no mechanism in place to avoid or mitigate the 
impact of the proposed development on the transport network and in 
relation to local improvements to the cycle network, public transport, use of 
the site in terms of occupancy, and general open space improvements. 
The proposal would therefore be contrary to Saved policy 2.5 Planning 
obligations of the Southwark Plan 2007 and Strategic Policies 2 
Sustainable transport and 14 Implementation and delivery of the Core 
Strategy 2011, and Policy 8.2 Planning obligations of the London Plan 
2011.  

 
8. Due to the lack of modulation to the eastern elevation of the proposed 

clubhouse building, and the poor quality of materials proposed to the 
western elevation, the design of the clubhouse would fail to achieve 
sufficient design quality in this prominent setting and would therefore be 
harmful to visual amenities, contrary to saved policy 3.12 Quality in Design 
of the Southwark Plan 2007, and SP12 Design and Conservation of the 
Core Strategy 2011. 

  

36



 

27 

 

 Plan:  Site plan of the scheme 11/AP/2250 
 

 
  

Pre-applications 
35. Extensive pre-application discussions have taken place between the applicant and 

the council with regard to the application site over the years.  Officers from the 
council’s Development Management, Design & Conservation, and Transport 
Planning teams have attended numerous meetings with the applicant and their 
agent. The most relevant and recent pre-application enquiry prior to the 
submission of this application is reference 18/EQ/0160 in 2018. 
 

36. The abovementioned pre-application enquiry 18/EQ/0160 had undergone various 
amendments. The final proposal under this pre-application enquiry sought the 
redevelopment of the site to provide 231 new homes, a new stadium, associated 
sports and leisure facilities, car parking and commercial/community floorspace. 
 

37. A pre-application response letter was sent on 26 June 2019 which contained the 
following conclusions:  
 

• The long term strategy for use of the facilities and how this would secure the 
long term future of the Club needed further consideration.  Further discussions 
would need to be had about how to secure this in a legal agreement including 
the wider community use of the stadium, pitch and other sports and community 
facilities.   

• Acknowledge the attempt to reduce the intrusiveness on the MOL by sinking 
the pitch, however, the associated structures, enclosures and boundary 
treatment may still have an impact on the sense of openness when seen 
across the Greendale open space. These details would therefore need further 
assessment.  

• The development for housing on OSS also conflicts with policy, particularly as 
it does not demonstrate an appropriate quantity or quality of replacement open 

37



 

28 

space. The information supplied with this enquiry does not provide adequate 
details of the arrangement of communal and private amenity for future 
residents.  

• The development still includes a net loss of playing pitches, which was 
previously raised as a concern by Sport England.  

• The site of the MUGA as proposed is questioned, due to the impact on 
amenity for future residents.  

• Concern with the position and configuration of the vehicular access road as it 
means that all vehicular traffic to the stadium passes through the residential 
development. The alignment of the road should be reviewed and reconfigured, 
preferably to the northern edge of the site to reduce its dominance, improve 
the residential environment and resolve some of the issues around the 
relationship with the Sainsbury’s service yard.   

• Concerns over the arrangement of the blocks and appearing overly dominant 
and not sufficiently articulated. The blocks would benefit from further 
articulation especially at the top where the top-most storeys should be set-
back to create roof terraces and better distinguish one block from the other.   

• Based on the indicative ground floor plan, there are narrow pinch points 
between buildings. Given the close proximity of the blocks, which would be 
exacerbated if external balconies were then applied, it is questionable whether 
the units would achieved good levels of natural light and privacy. 

• The relationship of the houses with the Sainsbury’s service yard is very 
sensitive, and needs further consideration. 

• The provision of 40% affordable homes is welcomed, though the applicant is 
required to confirm if this assumes grant funding.  

• It is important to have a coherent access strategy to manage the vehicles and 
access to the stadium, sports facilities and residential development. 

  
38. The above pre-application proposals were also submitted to the GLA for pre-

application advice and last presented at a meeting on 8 May 2019.    
The GLA were broadly supportive of that scheme.  

38



 

29 

Relevant planning history of adjoining sites 

 
39. There is extensive planning history for adjoining sites in this area. However, none are of a 

scale, nature or direct proximity that would make them material considerations in the 
determination of this application. 

39



 

30 

 

  
  

CHAPTER 3 

  
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 

 Summary of main issues 

 
40. The main issues to be considered in respect of this application are:  

• Principle of the proposed development in terms of land use and impact on 
Metropolitan Open Land and Other Open Space;  

• Level of re-provision of Sports and Recreation Facilities;  

• Consultation responses, and how the application addresses the concerns 
raised; 

• Environmental impact assessment; 

• Density;  

• Housing mix and affordable housing provision;  

• Privacy, noise and outlook impacts of the proposed development on the nearby 
occupiers; 

• Daylight/sunlight impacts of the proposed development on the nearby 
occupiers; 

• Impact of adjoining and nearby uses on the users of the proposed development; 

• Height, scale, massing, layout and design;  

• Publicly-accessible realm, landscaping and trees; 

• Ecology, trees and biodiversity; 

• Transport and highways; 

• Noise and vibration; 

• Energy and sustainability; 

• Air quality; 

• Ground conditions and contamination; 

• Water resources and flood risk; 

• Planning obligations (s106 agreement); 

• Mayoral and borough community infrastructure levy (CIL); 

• Community involvement and engagement; 

• Community impact and equalities assessment; 

• Human rights; 

• Positive and proactive statement, and; 

• Other matters. 
  
41. These matters are discussed in detail in the ‘Assessment’ section of this report. 

 
 Legal context 

 
42. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires 

planning applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance the development 
plan comprises the London Plan 2016, the Core Strategy 2011, and the Saved 
Southwark Plan 2007.  

  
43. There are also specific statutory duties in respect of the Public Sector Equalities 

40



 

31 

Duty which are highlighted in the relevant sections below and in the overall 
assessment at the end of the report.  

  
Adopted planning policy 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

44. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’), published in February 
2019, sets out the national planning policy and how this should be applied. The 
NPPF focuses on sustainable development with three key objectives: economic, 
social and environmental. 

  
45. Paragraph 215 states that the policies in the Framework are material considerations 

which should be taken into account in dealing with applications.  
  
46. The relevant chapters of the NPPF are: 

• Chapter 2  - Achieving sustainable development 

• Chapter 5 -  Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

• Chapter 8  - Promoting healthy and safe communities 

• Chapter 9  - Promoting sustainable transport 

• Chapter 10 - Supporting high quality communication 

• Chapter 11 - Making effective use of land 

• Chapter 12 - Achieving well-designed places 

• Chapter 13 - Protecting the Green Belt land  

• Chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change  

• Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment.  
  

London Plan 2016 
47. The London Plan is the regional planning framework and was adopted in 2016. The 

relevant policies of the adopted London Plan 2016 are: 

• 3.2 Improving health and addressing health inequalities 

• 3.3 Increasing housing supply 

• 3.4 Optimising housing potential 

• 3.5 Quality and design of housing developments 

• 3.6 Children and young people’s play and informal recreation facilities 

• 3.8 Housing choice 

• 3.9 Mixed and balanced communities 

• 3.11 Affordable housing targets 

• 3.12 Negotiating affordable housing on individual private residential and mixed 
use schemes 

• 3.13 Affordable housing thresholds 

• 3.16 Protection and enhancement of social infrastructure 

• 3.19 Sports facilities 

• 5.2 Minimising carbon dioxide emissions 

• 5.3 Sustainable design and construction 

• 5.7 Renewable energy 

• 5.9 Over heating and cooling 

• 5.10 Urban greening 

• 5.11 Green roofs and development site environs 

• 5.12 Flood risk management 

• 5.13 Sustainable drainage 

• 6.3 Assessing effects of development on transport capacity 

41



 

32 

• 6.9 Cycling 

• 6.10 Walking 

• 6.13 Parking 

• 7.1 Lifetime Neighbourhoods 

• 7.2 An inclusive environment 

• 7.3 Designing out crime 

• 7.4 Local character 

• 7.5 Public realm 

• 7.6 Architecture 

• 7.15 Reducing and managing noise 

• 7.16 Green Belt 

• 7.17 Metropolitan Open Land 

• 7.18 Protecting open space and addressing deficiency 

• 7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature 

• 7.21 Trees and Woodlands 

• 8.2 Planning obligations 

• 8.3 Community Infrastructure levy 
 
Relevant Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance 

48. The relevant London-level supplementary planning documents and guidance 
documents are as follows: 

• Mayor of London: Housing (SPG, 2016)  

• Mayor of London: Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation 
(SPG, 2012)  

• Mayor of London: Affordable Housing and Viability (SPG, 2017) 

• Mayor of London: Sustainable Design and Construction (SPG, 2014) 

• Mayor of London: Accessible London, achieving an inclusive environment 

• (Saved SPG, 2004) 

• Mayor of London: Shaping Neighbourhoods - Character and Context (SPG, 
2014) 

• Mayor of London: Transport Strategy (2018) 

• Mayor of London: Energy Assessment Guidance (2018) 

• Mayor of London: Crossrail Funding (SPG, 2016) 
  

Core Strategy 2011 
49. The Core Strategy was adopted in 2011 providing the spatial planning strategy for 

the borough. The strategic policies in the Core Strategy are relevant alongside the 
saved Southwark Plan (2007) policies. The relevant policies of the Core Strategy 
2011 are: 

• Strategic Policy 1: Sustainable development  

• Strategic Policy 2: Sustainable transport 

• Strategic Policy 4: Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles  

• Strategic Policy 5: Providing new homes  

• Strategic Policy 6: Homes for people on different incomes  

• Strategic Policy 7:  Family homes  

• Strategic Policy 10: Jobs and businesses  

• Strategic Policy 11:  Open spaces and wildlife  

• Strategic Policy 12: Design and conservation  

• Strategic Policy 13: High environmental standards  

• Strategic Policy 14:  Implementation and delivery  
  

 

42



 

33 

Southwark Plan 2007 (saved policies) 
50. With the exception of Policy 1.8 (location of retail outside town centres), the council 

resolved in 2013 to ‘save’ all of the policies in the Southwark Plan 2007 unless they 
had been updated by the Core Strategy. Paragraph 213 of the NPPF states that 
existing policies should not be considered out of date simply because they were 
adopted or made prior to publication of the Framework. Due weight should be given 
to them, according to their degree of consistency with the Framework. The relevant 
policies of the Southwark Plan 2007 are: 

• 2.1 - Enhancement of Community Facilities 

• 2.2 - Provision of new Community Facilities 

• 2.5  - Planning obligations 

• 3.1  - Environmental effects 

• 3.2  - Protection of amenity 

• 3.3  - Sustainability assessment 

• 3.4  - Energy efficiency 

• 3.6  - Air quality 

• 3.7  - Waste reduction 

• 3.8  - Waste management 

• 3.9  - Water 

• 3.11 - Efficient use of land 

• 3.12 - Quality in design 

• 3.13 - Urban design 

• 3.14 - Designing out crime 

• 3.24 - Telecommunications development  

• 3.25 - Metropolitan open land   

• 3.27 - Other open space  

• 3.28 - Biodiversity 

• 4.2 - Quality of residential accommodation 

• 4.3 - Mix of dwellings  

• 4.4 - Affordable housing  

• 4.5 - Wheelchair affordable housing  

• 5.1  - Locating developments 

• 5.2  - Transport impacts 

• 5.3  - Walking and cycling  

• 5.4 - Public transport improvements  

• 5.6  - Car parking 

• 5.7  - Parking standards for disabled people and the mobility impaired. 
  

Relevant local-level Supplementary Planning Documents  
51. The relevant supplementary planning documents and guidance documents from the 

local development plan are as follows: 

• Technical Update to the Residential Design Standards (SPD, 2015) 

• Sustainable Design and Construction (SPD, 2009) 

• Sustainable Transport (SPD, 2010) 

• Sustainability Assessment (SPD, 2009) 

• Design and Access Statements (SPD, 2007) 

• Affordable Housing (SPD, 2008) and draft Affordable Housing SPD 2011 

• Development Viability (SPD, 2016) 

• Section 106 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy (SPD, 
2015 with 2017 Addendum) 

  
 

43



 

34 

Emerging planning policy 

 
Draft New London Plan 

52. The draft New London Plan was published on 30 November 2017 and the first and 
only stage of consultation closed on 2 March 2018. Following an Examination in 
Public, the Mayor then issued the Intend to Publish London Plan. 

  
53. The Secretary of State responded to the Mayor in March 2020 where he expressed 

concerns about the Plan and has used his powers to direct changes to the London 
Plan. The Intend to Publish London Plan cannot be adopted until these changes 
have been made. 

  
54. The draft New London Plan is at an advanced stage.  Policies contained in the 

Intend to Publish London Plan published in December 2019 that are not subject to a 
direction by the Secretary of State carry significant weight. Paragraph 48 of the 
NPPF states that decision makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging 
plans according to the stage of preparation of the emerging plan, the extent to which 
there are unresolved objections to the policy and the degree of consistency with the 
Framework. 

  
55. The following policies are most pertinent to this application: 

• Policy D1 - London’s form, character and capacity for growth 

• Policy D2 - Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities 

• Policy D3 - Optimising site capacity through design-led approach 

• Policy D4  - Delivering good design 

• Policy D5  - Inclusive design 

• Policy D6 - Housing quality and standards 

• Policy D7 - Accessible housing 

• Policy D8  - Public realm 

• Policy D12 - Fire safety 

• Policy D13 - Agent of change  

• Policy D14 - Noise  

• Policy H1 - Increasing housing supply 

• Policy H4 - Delivering affordable housing 

• Policy H5 - Threshold approach to applications  

• Policy H6 - Affordable housing tenure  

• Policy H7 - Monitoring of affordable housing  

• Policy H10 - Housing size mix  

• Policy S4 - Play and informal recreation  

• Policy S5 - Sports and recreation facilities  

• Policy G1 - Green infrastructure  

• Policy G2 - London’s green belt  

• Policy G3 - Metropolitan Open Land  

• Policy G4  - Open space 

• Policy G5  - Urban greening 

• Policy G6  - Biodiversity and access to nature 

• Policy G7  - Trees and woodland 

• Policy SI1  - Improving air quality 

• Policy SI2  - Minimising greenhouse gas emissions 

• Policy SI3  - Energy infrastructure 

• Policy SI4  - Managing heat risk 

• Policy SI5  - Water infrastructure 

44



 

35 

• Policy SI6  - Digital connectivity infrastructure 

• Policy SI7  - Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy 

• Policy SI13 - Sustainable drainage 

• Policy T1   - Strategic approach to transport 

• Policy T2   - Healthy streets 

• Policy T3   - Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding 

• Policy T4   - Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 

• Policy T5   - Cycling 

• Policy T6   - Car parking  

• Policy T6.4 - Hotel and leisure uses parking  

• Policy T6.5 - Non-residential disabled persons parking 

• Policy T7   - Deliveries, servicing and construction 

• Policy T9   - Funding transport infrastructure through planning  

• Policy DF1 - Delivery of the plan and planning obligations  
 

 New Southwark Plan 
56. For the last 5 years the council has been preparing the New Southwark Plan (NSP) 

which will replace the saved policies of the 2007 Southwark Plan and the 2011 Core 
Strategy. The council concluded consultation on the Proposed Submission version 
(Regulation 19) on 27 February 2018. The New Southwark Plan Proposed 
Submission Version: Amended Policies January 2019 consultation closed in May 
2019. These two documents comprise the Proposed Submission Version of the 
New Southwark Plan.  

  
57. These documents and the NSP Submission Version (Proposed Modifications for 

Examination) were submitted to the Secretary of State in January 2020 for Local 
Plan Examination.  The NSP Submission Version (Proposed Modifications for 
Examination) is the council’s current expression of the New Southwark Plan and 
responds to consultation on the NSP Proposed Submission Version.   

  
58. In April 2020 the Planning Inspectorate provided their initial comments to the New 

Southwark Plan Submission Version. It was recommended that a further round of 
consultation take place in order to support the soundness of the Plan. Consultation 
is due to take place on this version of the NSP between June and August 2020. The 
final updated version of the plan will then be considered at the Examination in Public 
(EiP). 

  
59. It is anticipated that the plan will be adopted in late 2020 following the EiP. As the 

NSP is not yet adopted policy, it can only be attributed limited weight. Nevertheless 
paragraph 48 of the NPPF states that decision makers may give weight to relevant 
policies in emerging plans according to the stage of preparation of the emerging 
plan, the extent to which there are unresolved objections to the policy and the 
degree of consistency with the Framework. 

  
60. • IP3   - Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 planning 

obligations   

• IP5   - Monitoring development  

• IP6   - Statement of Community Involvement  

• SP1 - Quality affordable homes  

• SP2  - Regeneration that works for all  

• SP5  - Healthy, active lives  

• SP6  - Cleaner, greener, safer   

• P1 – Social rented and intermediate housing 

45



 

36 

• P2 – New family homes  

• P7 - Wheelchair accessible and adaptable housing  

• P12  - Design of places  

• P13  - Design quality  

• P14 – Residential design  

• P15  - Designing out crime   

• P17 – Efficient use of land  

• P43 - Broadband and digital infrastructure 

• P45 - Leisure, arts and culture  

• P46  - Community uses   

• P48  - Public Transport  

• P49 – Highways impacts   

• P50  - Walking  

• P51  - Transport infrastructure improvements  

• P52  - Cycling  

• P53 – Car parking   

• P54  - Parking standards for disabled people and mobility impaired people  

• P55  - Protection of amenity  

• P56  - Open space 

• P58 – Green infrastructure  

• P59 – Biodiversity   

• P60  - Trees  

• P61  - Reducing waste   

• P64  - Improving air quality  

• P65 - Reducing noise pollution and enhancing soundscapes 

• P66  - Reducing water use  

• P67  - Reducing flood risk 

• P68 – Sustainability standards  

• P69 – Energy.  
 

 Site Allocation 
61. The NSP includes a number of ‘Site Allocations’. Site Allocations are detailed 

development management policies specific to particular potential redevelopment 
sites in the borough. They specify, among other things, the land uses and 
development capacity of those sites. The application site is subject to Site Allocation 
NSP37 which stipulates that the redevelopment of the site must: 
 
• Retain or re-provide the football ground and ancillary facilities and sports facilities 
(D2) with capacity for no less than 3,000 spectators. 
• Provide new homes (C3).   
 
This is discussed in more detail in the ‘Principle of Development’ chapter of this 
report. 

46



 

37 

 

  
 CHAPTER 4 

  
Consultation 

 Consultation responses from members of the public 

  
62. The first round of consultation letters were sent out on the 23 July 2019 and the 

second round on 27 February 2020.   
 
At the time of writing, a total of around 2,060 consultation responses have been 
submitted in response to consultation from individuals or organisations. This is a 
combination of the two rounds of consultations and therefore could include more 
than one response from the same address.  Due to the large volume of responses, 
this is an approximate number as there have also been duplicate responses 
received. 

   
63. A total of approximately 512 individual responses including amenity groups objected 

to the proposal and approximately 1,548 were in support of the proposal.  
  
64. When looking at the two rounds of consultations, more objections were received in 

the initial consultation exercise (over 330 objections).  The re-consultation attracted 
178 objections. 

   
65. Proportionally, 75.1% of the individual responses received were in support of the 

scheme compared to 24.8% of comments objecting to the scheme. This figure 
should be interpreted with caution as it totals the two rounds of consultation. The 
fact that there was less objections received in the re-consultation does not mean 
that residents and groups are necessarily more satisfied with the proposal. 

  
66. The table below highlights the main points raised in consultation, and the number of 

times they were raised. In some cases, for example design, it was raised as both a 
positive point in support of the scheme, but also a point of criticism in other 
responses. 

   

47



 

38 

 
 

Issues raised from comments No. of objections  No. in support 

Impact on open spaces   423 12 

Loss of artificial pitch 204 21 

Precedent for loss of open space 29 0  

Community value of the club 0 1100 

Need for new stadium  22 802 

Ecology and wildlife 325 2  

Loss of trees  24 0  

Sustainability and climate change 33 0  

Transport 66  3 

Building height and scale 64  1 

Design  7  4 

Daylight and sunlight, loss of amenity  19 0  

Services & infrastructure 23 0  

Housing provision 55 115 

Affordable housing  6 62 

Noise impact 29  0 

Construction impact  8  0 

Air quality 26  0 

Boost for local businesses  0 161 

Quality of consultation 9  0 

Other matters 65 10 

  

 Summary of public consultation responses by theme 

 

67. Principle of development/Loss of MOL 

Those objecting on this issue stated that the location of a substantial part of the 

proposed stadium was on MOL which is protected under the London Plan and 

Southwark Plan. It has the same status as the Green Belt. It was argued that the 

new stadium does not constitute an ancillary facility nor does it maintain the 

openness of MOL due to its high enclosing wall and granting planning permission 

would set a ‘dangerous’ precedent.  The other features required such as concrete 

terraces and concourses and barriers would not maintain the MOL’s openness. 

Furthermore, the fate of a private company does not constitute "special 

circumstances" to build on MOL. The applicant’s claim that there could be an 

expansion of the stadium to a capacity of 5,000 spectators would be a concern and 

raise the possibility of further encroaching into the MOL.  

The residents comment that the requirement to enclose the pitch with fencing and 

banners would have an adverse impact on the openness of MOL.  It is argued that 

the sinking of the ground does not mitigate the impact and as there is a steep bank 

to the north this would require a high retaining wall further impacting on the views 

across the fields.  Respondents also remarked that the provision of a "green link" to 

compensate for the loss of MOL is not acceptable.   

48



 

39 

The respondents’ felt strongly that Greendale is a unique and valued green space in 

London, allowing “children to get in touch with nature and experience an almost 

countryside-like area”.  It is also widely expressed that this is an area important for 

community well being, the mental and physical health of local people and for 

biodiversity. 

Many have highlighted that the existing stadium has a restrictive covenant in place 

to ensure it can only be used for "leisure or recreational or educational purposes". 

This development would therefore go against this covenant and would see a large, 

non-ancillary development on land designated as Other Open Space. 

A number of respondents have commented that the green link provides access to 

the residential development and would not improve the linked green spaces and 

dramatically reducing planted areas. The green link would in some of the 

respondents’ eyes be inadequate for genuine amenity or green recreation space.  

Many claim that the site is not ‘previously developed land’ as described by the 

applicant.  

Those who have written in support of the scheme highlight the fact that the existing 

artificial pitch is in a poor state and is not used extensively and therefore there will 

be minimal loss to the Greendale space. The proposed scheme would therefore be 

an improvement. Some have commented that the MOL would be maintained for 

recreational purposes and only a small area of the green space would be used for 

building on.   

  

68. Ecology and wildlife 

A large number of objections received highlighted the impact that the proposed 

stadium would have on the green corridor that is used by hedgehogs, stag beetles  

and bats, which are listed as important indicator species in the Southwark 

Biodiversity Action Plan.  Many respondents feel that the loss of part of the SINC 

land would be unacceptable and essential wildlife habitat should be preserved.  It 

would also encroach on nesting red list Whitethroat birds.   It is argued that building 

on the proposed SINC would conflict with the London Plan policies on biodiversity 

as new developments should 'wherever possible, make a positive contribution to the 

protection, enhancement, creation and management of biodiversity'.   

 

A concern raised was the potential for noise and floodlighting for the games to have 

a negative impact on birds and other wildlife on site. 

 

One specific respondent commented on the particular ecological enhancement 

measures such as the number and positioning of the swift bricks and bat boxes.  

 

A supporter had asked that more should be done to the scrubland of Greendale 

ensuring the landscaping should use only native trees and plants, and wild areas 

should be designated. This would then minimise the habitat loss. 

  

69. Loss of sports facilities  

Many of the objections raised the point that the development would reduce the area 
of publicly accessible sports facilities (the existing artificial pitch) as the replacement 
facility in the form of the informal kick-about space (formerly advertised as a MUGA 
and this term has been referred to by public comments received) would be of a 

49



 

40 

small size and not adequate to compensate for the loss and would now have to be 
booked.  Local residents point out that this would contravene the London Plan and 
Southwark Plan where the policies promote free access to community facilities and 
open spaces.  It is highlighted in many of the representations received that local 
residents and children use the existing artificial pitch extensively for various 
recreational purposes, making this a unique space in this part of London.  The 
artificial pitch has been an important resource during the Covid-19 crisis and should 
be protected. The proposal would change the structure by introducing a booking 
system to use the 3G pitch and therefore removing the spontaneous informal 
sporting activity previously available.    
 
More recent comments have highlighted the benefit of the existing space during the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  The pandemic introduced measures that required people to 
stay at home, but limited outdoor exercise was allowed.  Comments received further 
emphasised that the Greendale fields have been invaluable for the local residents’ 
physical and mental wellbeing as green space is limited and this should therefore be 
protected. When the pandemic is over, it is felt that there will be an even greater 
need for space like this as walking and cycling is being increasingly encouraged.  
 

Those writing in support comment that what is "freely accessible"  is only accessible 

due to the perimeter fencing being, in places, in a state of disrepair. Furthermore, 

comments highlight that the existing artificial pitch is not used as extensively as 

some have pointed out and that currently it would be considered an unsafe 

condition. The proposed development would therefore be replacing the unsafe and 

unsightly existing artificial pitch on the site.  The positive benefits of keeping the 

Club in its community by building the stadium to this plan would strongly outweigh 

the negative impact of the development.  In addition, supporting comments note that 

with the 3G pitch the Club could run more community based football schemes 

benefiting the children and the youth of the borough.    

  

70. Community asset and the club’s future 

The supporting respondents which make up a significant number of the overall 
submissions primarily highlight how the development would allow the Club to 
continue to thrive and would make the Club more sustainable in the future.  They 
overwhelmingly state that the Club has huge social and economic benefits to the 
local community and is a significant community asset.  Being an integral part of the 
local community, the Club is considered to be affordable and accessible. It is 
highlighted that the Club has a strong local community ethos and contributes 
significantly in a positive way by engaging all groups of the community such as 
outreach projects, working with schools and charities.  It is also known to be 
inclusive and fosters social cohesion. An all-weather pitch will allow the Women's 
team to train on site. Comments have emphasised the existing poor condition and 
facilities of the stadium and this needs to be improved.  The vast majority of the 
comments raise the importance of allowing this development to safeguard the long 
term future of the Club and the consequences of not doing so would mean the 
‘death’ of the Club and this community asset. The supporters regard this 
development as being able to support and protect the Club’s existence on the site 
and continue to expand its positive benefits. There have been some comments that 
the proposal should go further for more capacity and to provide cover over the other 
areas of the ground to protect spectators from the weather.   
 
Comments have also pointed out the gym facilities which are used and would be 
improved in the future, further enhancing the health and wellbeing of residents. 

50



 

41 

Furthermore, the proposed pitch would be available for others such as schools to 
use.  
 
A detailed submission from the Dulwich Hamlet Supporters Trust (DHST) goes on to 
explain how the trust works and supports DHFC.  It is an independent, not for profit 
body working with the Club to support and promote the Club, strengthen links with 
the community, co-ordinate volunteer support, and design and sell club 
merchandise.  Both the Club and DHST engage with schools, charities and other 
community groups.  It finally stresses the importance of the proposed 
redevelopment to secure the future of the Club and continue to expand its 
community-focused activities.   

  

71. Loss of trees, environment and climate change 

Those objecting in this regard highlight the impact the development would have on 

the environment and further exacerbating climate change.  This matter is closely 

associated with respondents’ concerns over the loss of trees on the site.  Many 

have highlighted that the council has recently declared a climate emergency and is 

committed to developing policies towards becoming carbon neutral.  The loss of 

trees and green space would therefore be contrary to the council’s commitment to 

become carbon neutral.  The proposed replanting of new trees is not a viable 

solution as young trees will require decades of growth before they are able to 

achieve the same levels of carbon absorption and habitat provision that the current 

mature trees on the site offer.  

Alongside the concerns of climate change is the potential negative impacts it would 

have on air quality from the loss of trees and increased vehicle trips to the site.  

A comment was made that the new pitch would be made of plastic, scheduled to be 

taken up and replaced at least every ten years and would not be  considered 

suitable given the necessary current focus on the climate emergency and 

sustainability. 

A very detailed letter of objection was received setting out concerns over the 
ecological assessment and questioning the applicant’s Arboricultural report on its 
amenity assessment of the trees. 
 

A comment has also been made that the development should achieve a higher 

BREEAM target.   

A comment made by a supporter was that by providing this opportunity for local 

involvement and entertainment, they contribute to 'bonding social capital', allowing 

local residents to stay locally and minimising air travel (and hence carbon 

emissions).     

  

72. Design, height and scale 

The main design comments related to the density, scale or height of the 
development. Comments refer to the proposed residential development ignoring the 
character of the area, the views from Dog Kennel Hill and Grove Vale, with the 
proposed six-storey blocks in particular, being out of scale, overbearing and 
inappropriate for the area.  It is suggested that the density and layout would fail to 
maintain the open character of the space and would instead be carved up into 
parcels located between multi-storey housing blocks.  It was generally felt that the 
surrounding area is already densely populated with large housing estates on all four 

51



 

42 

sides.  Following the re-consultation, respondents have commented that the 
scheme has not changed by much and does not overcome any previous concerns. 
On the other hand, some supporters consider that the applicant has responded to 
the various comments/concerns and made the necessary design changes. They 
suggest that the blocks have been given more space in between for landscaping 
and the use of materials is much richer and more interesting and will improve the 
development for the occupants, neighbours and people passing through the green 
routes.  

  

73. Housing provision 

The comments received generally support the provision of additional housing, with 

respondents recognising the shortage in this part of the borough. Notwithstanding 

that, there needs to be a good quantum and good quality of affordable housing 

proposed and that this commitment must be secured.  Some respondents have 

questioned the affordability of ‘affordable’ housing and seek an increase in the level 

of social housing proposed.   

 

Those opposing the scheme note the reduction in the level of affordable housing in 

the revised scheme. 

  

74. Transport 

Objections raised regarding transport matters relate mainly to the additional stress 

on public transport from the trips to the stadium and the residential development 

and there is inadequate car parking on the site. Overspill parking on surrounding 

roads would impact on highway safety and obstruct emergency vehicle access.   

 

There was a query on whether the cycle route to the south would continue to 

provide a link and ensure that this route would not be obstructed by the stadium 

fence/boundary.  

 

There was a query about the need for match day coach parking given the excellent 

public transport links and the proximity of the Sainsbury's car park.   

 

On the other hand, those who support the scheme comment that there are good 

existing public transport links and note that this is the most common form of 

transport on match days.  It has been commented that there should be a limit to the 

number of car parking spaces on site.  The provision of cycle parking should be 

encouraged and welcomed.     

  

75. Services and infrastructure 

A moderate number of objectors were concerned at the additional stress and 
pressure on existing community services and infrastructure such as health centres, 
schools and other local facilities (including public transport) given that a number of 
local facilities are already at capacity.  

  

76. Noise and light pollution  

A number of objections raise the potential noise and light pollution that would be 

caused by the development. This would come from both the spectators attending 

the matches causing noise and disturbance to local residents and the additional 

residents that would reside in the development. 

  

52



 

43 

77. Wider economic benefits 

A large number of supporters have commented on the economic benefits of the 

scheme with visitors using the local shops and businesses. Some have explained 

that the loss of the club would be damaging to the existing businesses.  

  

78. Impacts on local amenity, including natural light, overshadowing and privacy 

impacts 

Daylight and sunlight impacts and overshadowing as a result of the buildings were 
raised mainly by the residents who live close to the development.  

  

79. Construction impacts  

Some objectors have brought up the impacts during the construction phase.  

  

80. Archaeology 

One detailed comment was received suggesting that there is likely to be an Iron Age 

missing road under the site and it is possible that this was a battle site between the 

Romans and Ancient Britons, so potentially it is a very important site.  It was raised 

that if examined by archaeologists this might shed light on whether a battle did in 

fact occur here.  

  

81. Consultation 

Despite the large volume of comments received, a small number of respondents 

have remarked that the consultation exercise over the summer holiday period was 

not the best time and that the consultation period should be extended.  Some have 

also commented that there was a fault on the council’s website, which meant not 

everyone could comment.  There was a comment that statutory letters have not 

been sent to relevant people, and a data breach on individual’s details.  

  

82. Miscellaneous  

In addition to the main themes summarised above, the following comments were 

made: 

- Health and safety implications of the 3G pitches as it is claimed it is made 

from used tyres and its potential to cause contamination of the land affecting 

humans and wildlife.  

- The need to replace the pitch every few years using non-environmentally 

friendly materials is not acceptable.  

- The townscape views submitted by the applicant are inaccurate.  

- Thorough assessment of the flood risk assessment and drainage strategy 

given the sunken pitch.    

  

83. Sainsbury’s retail store 

A detailed objection from Sainsbury’s mainly focused on noise impacts. In general, 

they do not wish to object to the principle of the development but are concerned that 

the development would have significant detrimental implications for the continued 

operation of the Sainsbury’s store. In particular, the proposed residential element of 

the scheme is immediately adjacent to, and in some cases overlooks, the store’s 

existing servicing access and yard. They request that this relationship is further 

addressed by the council and the applicant. It is argued that Sainsbury’s should be 

allowed to continue with current practices in accordance with paragraph 182 of the 

NPPF and that they should not have unreasonable restrictions put on them because 

53



 

44 

of changes in nearby uses since they were first established.  They consider that the 

assessment of external noise requires further detailed analysis, particularly with 

respect to noise from within the Sainsbury’s service yard.  They question the 

applicant’s noise impact assessment and they contest that amongst other things the 

balconies closest to the service yard are likely to significantly exceed the noise 

levels in the British Standards and consider that the noticeable effects of deliveries 

at potential properties are likely to be a cause for complaints from future residents 

wishing to relax and enjoy external areas of their properties which would lead to 

restrictions being placed upon the existing Sainsbury’s store.  Sainsbury’s store also 

point out that there have been limited consideration of fixed plant noise at the store 

and the effects of noise from plant on external areas of the development should be 

undertaken. 

  

84. The Charter Schools Education Trust 
General support for the scheme, seeing that the new housing would attract families 
with children who will attend their schools and also enhanced sports facilities at 
DHFC offer a unique opportunity to improve the very limited sports facilities 
currently available for pupils attending local state schools.  However, they raise that 
this is subject to the following considerations:  
 
The schools have very limited on-site sports facilities and to supplement this 

currently rent one of the playing fields that make up part of the area affected by the 

proposed development.  The planning application should only be granted on 

condition that children from the local state schools, including theirs, have 

reasonable, free and regular access during term-time to the football pitch and other 

sports facilities, including the gym.   They note that this should not financially burden 

the football club and is achieved via direct engagement with them.  There should 

also be some opportunities for the students to be involved in the development.  The 

developer should meet their stated affordable housing commitment. Expect the 

planning authority to impose and enforce stringent conditions to maintain and 

enhance the open space that is currently enjoyed by local people, both within and 

adjacent to the proposed site. 

  

 Responses from local interest groups 

85. Many of the responses from amenity groups are similar but Officers have 

summarised these under each local group.  

  

86. Friends of Greendale (FOGD) 

The FOGD had sent in two separate comments.   

 

First comment received:  

The comment first explained the purpose of the group (70 members) which was 

established to protect, conserve and enhance Greendale for the benefit of wildlife 

and people.   The group also support a secure and sustainable future for DHFC. 

 

In summary, their main areas of objection are set out below.  

 

Inappropriate development and enclosure of MOL 

The development would entail the development and enclosure of MOL, which is 

contrary to the Southwark Plan and could set a damaging precedent. It is not 

considered that the development falls within the circumstances where limited 

54



 

45 

development on MOL is permitted.   

 

The proposed development would enclose a large section of MOL and this 

enclosure would block the openness and landscape value of Greendale.  

It is noted that there is an attempt to reduce the intrusiveness on the MOL by 

sinking the pitch. However, the associated structures, enclosures and boundary will 

still have a significant impact on the openness of the MOL. The proposed 1.83m 

high perimeter fence with the removable canvas would be a significant barrier 

across the site and have a detrimental impact on the openness of Greendale.  

 

There are concerns that the information forming part of the application may not 

show fully the visual impact of the fence. There is also insufficient detail about the 

fence and exactly how the covering of part of it each match day would work, which 

could mean a risk that over time any removable part of a fence could be left up 

permanently. 

 

Development of MOL and environmental damage  

The development includes significant encroachment beyond the area of the current 

artificial pitch, which would damage land that has environmental importance. The 

development risks causing damage to the diverse ecology of the area, by encro 

aching on green space – including part of the new proposed SINC – causing noise 

and light pollution, and removing protection to birds and bats provided by the tree 

line next to the existing artificial pitch. It is likely that there would be additional 

damage to a wider area during construction. The application provides that there 

would be a net loss to the SINC of 747sqm.  

 

The ecological and community value of Greendale is referred to in the Greendale 

Management Plan prepared by LUC for Southwark Council (August 2017).    

Under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 all local authorities 

are required to have regard to the preservation of biodiversity. Greendale supports 

many species that are on the red and amber lists for conservation concern.  These 

species would be affected adversely by the development.  

 

Loss of community sport facility  

The development would also see the loss of the current artificial pitch, which is a 

place that is used by the community to exercise and play. The artificial pitch was 

built when Sainsbury’s was developed as part of the compensation for the loss of 

community sports facilities. The replacement facilities are significantly smaller than 

the current artificial pitch.  The proposed MUGA does not compensate for the loss of 

the freely accessible artificial pitch and is significantly smaller than the artificial pitch.  

 

Any benefits do not outweigh these concerns  

Any potential benefits from the development do not outweigh the overwhelming 

disadvantages and detriment to the community.  The provision of a linear park to 

mitigate the loss of MOL is contrary to the London Plan.  Furthermore the ‘linear 

park’ appears to be a strip of green and not a genuine open space for amenity and 

recreational uses.   

 

The proposal has been made on the basis that DHFC is unable to continue to 

operate in its current stadium, but there is not sufficient evidence publicly available 

55



 

46 

to support this, or to show that DHFC would be sustainable if the new stadium were 

built.  

 

The development is inconsistent with the planning history of the site.  The conditions 

for the building of the supermarket and the loss of open space included the building 

of the stadium for the Club. There are restrictions in the s106 agreement entered 

into by King’s College, Sainsbury’s and Southwark Council that require the current 

stadium site to be used for the purposes of leisure, recreation or education. 

 

Second comments received: 

A detailed report titled ‘Air Quality Warning’ has been prepared and submitted by 

the group.  In summary, the report goes into the air quality policies and guidelines 

(National policies, London Plan and Southwark Plan) and a comparison against the 

applicant’s planning application which has produced significant concerns for the 

group.  This report highlights how the concerns raised should have been included in 

the applicants’ ‘Air Quality Assessment’. (AQA).  

 

The main objections in summary:  

 

- The planning application removes the present open access to the artificial  

pitch at Greendale. 

- The current artificial pitch is perfectly located for young people to play sport 

due to the lack of roads and how it is surrounded by green space. 

- The air quality concern primarily relates to the positioning of the MUGA next 

to the Sainsbury’s delivery area and any plant inside this area.  

- The children, young people and adults using the MUGA will be exposed to 

pollution and the possibility of a diesel lake effect. 

- Further concerns relate to the MUGA’s position being a short distance from 

the club’s coach parking for the home team/travelling teams and its 

closeness to TFL bus stops. 

- There is also concern about any output that is produced by the plant which 

serves the development and is adjacent to the MUGA. 

 

The submission claims that the applicant’s AQA fails to meet the criteria required of 

a planning ‘Air Quality Assessment’ as stipulated by the Institute of Air Quality 

Management. It also fails to meet the accepted criteria as it does not take into 

account the MUGA’s position in relation to pollution especially the fact it is adjacent 

to the Sainsbury’s delivery area.  It is also claimed that as the users of the MUGA, 

the children and youth of Camberwell and East Dulwich, are not addressed as 

potential ‘’receptors’’ and therefore the submitted assessment is further flawed.  

 

The report then goes into detail the positioning of the MUGA (sunken next to a 

servicing road used by HGV trucks) would be more liable to receive the pollution 

from the delivery trucks and to store such pollutants.  A ‘diesel lake’ effect would be 

created.  Fundamentally, the applicant’s AQA fails to identify the Sainsbury’s 

delivery area as a ‘nearby source that may affect the local air quality’.   No 

mitigation measures are provided with regard to pollution at the MUGA and 

Sainsbury’s delivery area. 

 

The AQA was not prepared by a ‘competent expert’ as required by legislation and 

56



 

47 

industry standards.  The FOGD then goes into detail why the applicant’s consultants 

are not considered to be ‘competent’. 

 

It questions the viability of the MUGA as a safe and healthy place for the children 

and young people of Camberwell. 

 

It concludes that detailed analysis and modelling are required in relation to the 

pollution and risk to the users of the kick-about space by appropriately qualified and 

competent persons.   It is then inferred that the proposed kick-about space would 

not be a benefit of the scheme. 

  

87. Friends of Dog Kennel Hill Wood (FDKHW) 

The letter received provides a background on Greendale fields and the development 

of the site to provide for the Sainsbury’s supermarket and the covenant that DHFC’s 

stadium would be protected from future development by a covenant restricting its 

use to sporting and recreational only.  The group details the extent of the 

development in terms of floor area over the MOL, plus the enclosing walls, terraces 

and concrete walkways.  This would therefore be a departure from the London Plan 

policy 7.17. 

 

They have questioned how the stadium could be expanded for a capacity of 5,000 

to meet the National Ground Grading – Category A. The group are concerned about 

the northern wall being cut into, resulting in a high wall at this end and cutting off 

views across to the south.  The installation of the opaque boundary fence would 

also have adverse impact on the openness of the MOL. There are no very special 

circumstances that would allow building the football stadium on MOL.  The group 

stresses the importance of green spaces in London and the development would in 

effect privatise an area of commonly accessed land to the detriment of the wellbeing 

of local residents.  Allowing such development may set a precedent for building on 

other nearby MOL. Greendale does not constitute “previously developed land” and 

should not be treated as such.  The proposal would also be built on land that has 

been designated as a proposed SINC and should instead be protected.  It was felt 

that the proposal would impact on the habitat of species in Dog Kennel Hill Open 

Space.   The proposed “green link” does not compensate for the loss of MOL.  The 

proposal would go against the climate emergency agenda. 

  

88. Friends of Belair Park 

The location of the new stadium, except for the clubhouse, is on MOL which is 

protected under the development plan.  The associated pitch and facilities that will 

be built do not constitute an essential ancillary facility nor do they maintain the 

openness of MOL due to its enclosing wall. The fate of a private company, Dulwich 

Hamlet FC Ltd, does not constitute “special circumstances” to build on MOL.  The 

proposed stadium has a capacity of 4,000 with the option of increasing it to 5,000 in 

the future and suggests that there could be further enclosure or encroachment on 

MOL. The perimeter fence would be impermeable and therefore block views across 

the site and will not maintain the openness of the MOL.  

 
There will be a loss of 747sqm of proposed SINC which has been identified to have 
a number of Southwark BAP species on site.   The provision of a “green link” to 
mitigate the loss of MOL is contrary to the London Plan policies.  .  The proposed 

57



 

48 

stadium would be built on a green corridor that is used by hedgehogs and bats.  The 
stadium and its construction would also encroach on nesting red list Whitethroat 
birds.  
 
The proposed open access MUGA would not compensate for the loss of the freely 
accessible artificial pitch, which is used extensively by local children. This reduction 
in publicly accessible sports facilities goes against development plan policies.    The 
current DHFC stadium is protected by a restrictive covenant to ensure it can only be 
used for “leisure or recreational or educational purposes”. This development of 224 
flats goes against this covenant and would see a large, non-ancillary development 
on land designated as Other Open Space.   
 
The existing artificial pitch does not constitute “previously developed land”.   
 
The height and massing of the flats is overbearing and out of scale with the 
surrounding dwellings The group also support further details that will be available in 
the submission from the Friends of Dog Kennel Hill Wood. 

  

89. Dulwich Society 

The Society’s objections are centred around the departure from London Plan (Policy 

7.17) in that the application does not constitute 'special circumstances' to build on 

MOL.  The perimeter fence would impact on the views across the MOL.  The 

proposed stadium would also require building on over 700 square metres of the 

proposed SINC site and would lead to a loss of wildlife and its habitat. The 

floodlighting would also impact on foraging and commuting bats. The MUGA does 

not compensate for the loss of the freely accessible artificial pitch and would go 

against the policies on no reduction of sports facilities.  Dulwich Society also 

reminds Officers that the current DHFC stadium is also protected by a restrictive 

covenant to ensure it can only be used for leisure or recreational or educational 

purposes.  No assessment on the impact of the mobile phone arrays has taken 

place. The objection also further questions whether the flood risk assessment and 

drainage strategy has been thoroughly assessed.  

  

90. Dulwich Park Friends 

The group represents 500 supporters of Dulwich Park to preserve and enhance 

Dulwich Park, which is also on MOL. They object to the proposal on the grounds 

that the development on MOL and part of the SINC would go against planning 

policies and failing to preserve the openness.  They raise that it would set a 

precedent for future developments of MOL.  

  

91. Friends of Peckham Rye Park  
The local group objects to any further development of the green space of Greendale 

noting that it would be on MOL and any permission granted would set a precedent 

for the council to give permission for the development of areas of MOL land within 

the Borough. The group notes that there is little or no reference in the planning 

application that the development encroaches onto MOL.  The consultation exercise 

should not take place at peak holiday period. 

  

92. Southwark Green Party 

The group notes that the loss of MOL has become a worrying trend in London. 

Greendale was designated as MOL for good reason, and twice previously 

58



 

49 

developers have been refused permission to build on Greendale fields. The 

intention to protect it should be upheld.  The scheme would lead to a loss of 

community and social benefit.  The current use of the site adjoining Greendale for 

Dulwich Hamlet Football Ground and the open artificial pitch is part of an 

arrangement to compensate the local community for the loss of open space when 

the Sainsbury's supermarket was built. The amount of affordable housing shown in 

the developers' current plans does not fulfil the s106 obligations and thus would 

erode the net community benefit provided by this land.  The existing area provides 

informal sports facilities which are important to tackle the obesity levels in 

Southwark. The proposed MUGA is 5% of the size of the current artificial pitch and 

would go against Southwark planning policies. Southwark could lose a unique area 

that supports - according to ecological assessments - foraging birds, bats and small 

mammals including hedgehogs.  Doing away with protection of MOL and green 

spaces would undermine efforts to meet the carbon neutral target by 2030.  The 

group supports the growth and prosperity of the Club and the compensatory 

benefits are questionable.  

  

93. The Planning Group of the Herne Hill Society 

The development being built on MOL would not be an ancillary facility and would not 

preserve the openness of the land and there are no very special circumstances to 

allow it.  There will be the loss of part of the SINC and the replacement kick-about 

space would not be sufficient to mitigate the loss of the existing artificial pitch.  

  

94. Ivanhoe Residents Association 

Object to the proposal as it will have created a precedent to expand again as the 

Club aims for promotion, in turn setting further precedent for building on MOL.  

There should be protection of green spaces for the diminishing of flora and fauna.   

The new housing would be in an already over-saturated area.   

  

95. Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) 

The application constitutes loss of MOL in that access for the public is lost; 

openness is severely compromised; and the proposed development is inappropriate 

development on MOL.  There are no special circumstances to allow this and the 

proposed green link should not be considered acceptable.  

 

The proposed stadium would be built on a green corridor that is used by hedgehogs 

and bats.  The stadium and its construction would also encroach on nesting red list 

Whitethroat birds.  The current DHFC stadium is protected by a restrictive covenant 

to ensure it can only be used for “leisure or recreational or educational purposes” 

and would be built on Other Open Space.  The proposed MUGA would not 

compensate for the loss of open space.  The potential to increase to 5,000 

spectators would be concerning.  The height and scale of the development is 

overbearing. The site is not previously developed land which has been claimed by 

the applicant. 

  

96. Camberwell Society 

General premise is that putting forward residential dwellings would contravene the 

1990 s106 legal agreement in relation to Dulwich Hamlet Football Ground and the 

development on MOL would be contrary to The London Plan and Southwark policy.  

The group has expressed that they have aspects that they support and aspects they 

59



 

50 

object to.  

 

Areas for support include:  The new stadium and football pitch will provide improved 

facilities for the Club and the local community.  The kick-about space would also 

provide sporting opportunities for local people.  .A condition should be attached 

stating that a more solid boundary arrangement would not be permitted as it would 

damage the openness of the MOL. Condition should also secure drainage 

arrangements for the new sunken pitch to be approved in advance.  There should 

be no work on the remainder of the MOL: Greendale Fields. The residential element 

of the proposal is appropriate in scale for the area and will make a useful 

contribution.  The green link would provide for landscaped public and play areas 

and introduce planting and encourage wildlife.   

 

Reasons against the proposal include:  The Club should continue its obligation to 

continue to play on its existing site which would be in accordance with the covenant 

restricting its use to recreational, leisure or educational purposes. The part of the 

road running along the south side could be used for the required additional 1,000 

seating and terracing. The plans to increase in capacity would entail further 

deleterious encroachment on to, or enclosure of, MOL. The proposal would 

adversely affect areas identified as SINC.  The requirements of a private company 

such as DHFC do not constitute “special circumstances” such as to permit building 

on MOL.  The proposed stadium is not an “essential ancillary” facility. Given FA 

requirements for solid, visually impermeable 8-foot-high walls, the proposals cannot 

“maintain the openness of MOL”.  The proposed narrow green link to neighbouring 

green spaces is not acceptable compensation for the loss of MOL on Greendale.   

The lowered ground would be susceptible to drainage problems.   

 

The canvas screens to be raised around the ground when matches are in 

progress would not meet Football Association requirements for 8-foot solid wall 

perimeter screening, and are impracticable. The character of Greendale, would be 

irrevocably changed by this development. The development would have an 

unacceptably harmful impact on the proposed SINC.  The green link would be 

heavily used by the 716 new residents of the proposed flats and the thousands of 

fans accessing the southern turnstiles on match days; it would therefore not be a 

suitable habitat for wildlife. It would take time before new trees proposed as part of 

the development provided the same canopy cover and benefits to the community 

and to wildlife. Mature trees offer significantly more environmental protection than 

saplings and should be retained wherever possible in a Climate Emergency.  The 

floodlighting and noise pollution will impact not only the proposed flats and 

existing local residents but also very substantially on wildlife, including protected 

species such as pipistrelle bats. Phone masts may cause damage to children and 

young people.  The proposed flats of 4-6 storeys are inappropriately tall in relation 

to the two storey houses of Abbotswood Road.  The planned flats are unlikely to 

provide an appropriate level of affordable housing and a CPO enabling the council 

to build on land adjacent to the ground would be welcomed.  The proposed open 

access MUGA to replace the currently freely accessible artificial pitch is a twentieth 

of its size and would not be freely accessible to all.  

 

In summary, although the Camberwell Society recognises the councils need to 

deliver more housing in the area, it cannot support this proposed development.  

60



 

51 

  

 Consultation responses from Councillors  

97. One response has been received from a Councillor Radha Burgess making these 

comments:  

- Building on MOL and loss of existing views; 

- Concur with points made by Friends of Greendale and Dog Kennel Hill Wood;  

- Impact on traffic and pollution;  

- Proposed plastic pitches which cannot be recycled and will be replaced every 

10 years;  

- Adverse effect on the residential amenity of neighbours; 

- Unacceptably high density / overdevelopment of the site and effect on the 

character of the neighbourhood; and  

- Visual impact of the development with concerns relating to the bulk and 

massing, detailing and materials of the scheme as they are out of character in 

the local area.  

  

 Consultation responses from internal and divisional consultees 

98. Summarised below are the material planning considerations raised by internal and 

divisional consultees. 

  
99. Environmental Protection Team:  

Generally no objections are raised but request specific conditions to be imposed.  

EPT also reviewed the objection from Sainsbury’s store and confirmed that 

adequate mitigation measures are proposed.  EPT also reviewed FGOD’s objection 

relating to the impact on the users of the kick-about space and responded that there 

would not be a significant impact.  EPT also recognises that the proposed pitch 

could potentially be more intrusive to existing neighbouring properties, but also 

acknowledges the existing baseline condition and use of the artificial pitch without 

restrictions.   

- A condition requiring certain internal noise levels are achieved in the dwelling 
rooms. 

-  A condition is requested to manage the levels of plant noise so that it does 
not cause unacceptable levels of noise to amenity. 

- Details of the PA system together with a noise impact assessment on local 
residential premises resulting from its use for announcements and music to be 
submitted.  

- A condition to restrict the hours of the kick-about space and football pitch so 
that it cannot be carried out outside of the hours of 08:00 to 21:00 Mondays to 
Saturdays and 10:00 to 20:00 hours on Sundays. 

- A condition to require a scheme of investigation and risk assessment and a 
remediation strategy in the event that potential contamination is found at any 
time when carrying out the approved development.   

- A condition requiring the submission of a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP).  

  

100. Officer response:  The applicant has submitted additional information regarding 

noise levels and lighting.  EPT has not raised any objections.  The above conditions 

are accepted apart from the closing hour of the pitch as it is required to provide 

adequate community use hours and also to allow for competitive evening matches.  

The conditions have been included in the draft decision notice.  The limit to the 

61



 

52 

hours of the kick-about space is accepted.  The CEMP shall be secured via the 

s106.   

  
101. Highways Development Management: 

Generally no objections, but comments on the proposed raised table, proposed 
footway and S278 works to be prescribed were outlined and are summarised below:   
 
- The new 2.0 metres wide footway (on the west side), the two proposed 

uncontrolled pedestrian crossings, the raised tables, associated tactile paving, 
road markings and drainage at Abbotswood Road should be constructed as 
per the Southwark Streetscape Design Manual (SSDM) requirements.  

- Repave the footway including new kerbing fronting the development in 
accordance with the SSDM requirements.  

- Construct proposed new vehicular access using materials in accordance with 
SSDM requirements. 

- Reconstruct any redundant vehicle crossovers as footway along Abbotswood 
Road in accordance with the SSDM requirements. 

- Promote a Traffic Management Order to extend the existing waiting 
restrictions where the ‘mini-roundabout’ will be removed. 

- Upgrade street lighting to current LBS standards, including on private roads.  

- Rectify any damaged footways, kerbs, inspection covers and street furniture 
due to the construction of the development. 

 
102. Officer response:  All of the above items are noted and discussed in the main body 

of the report.  Where applicable, will be secured through s106 agreement. 
  

103. Ecology: 

Following the receipt of local objections and their comments regarding the loss of 

the SINC, protected species and loss of habitat, various discussions have been had 

with the Ecology Officer and the applicant’s consultants.  The conclusion is that the 

ecological assessment and bat surveys are acceptable and confirm no further 

surveys are required.  Therefore no objections are raised. 

The ecological impact of this development is relatively minor with the biggest impact 

being the loss of the line of trees between the existing stadium and the artificial 

pitch.  The Ecology Officer notes the partial loss of the proposed SINC, but 

considers that the development provides extensive mitigation and ecological 

enhancement. The scrub planting along the boundary of the new stadium will 

improve the habitat and mitigate for the loss of the trees. The extensive areas of 

brown roof will enhance biodiversity along with the nesting and roosting feature and 

insect homes which provide biodiversity net gain. There is nothing in the semi - 

improved grassland that is rare and could not be recreated. Overall, the gains 

outweigh the losses. 

Conditions have been recommended including:  

Installation of brown roofs; eight mixed nest boxes and six bat tubes; 12 swift bricks.  

A condition requested for an ecological management plan to include, habitats and 

gardens, roofs, scrub along boundary and nesting/roosting features.  A condition 

requesting for a scheme for monitoring the effectiveness of the biodiversity 

mitigation and enhancement measures.    

  

62



 

53 

104. Officer response:  The main report discusses the ecological issues and considers 

that the mitigation measures would be sufficient to compensate the partial loss of 

the proposed SINC and that there would be overall biodiversity gains across the 

site. Conditions are recommended to secure the above features and mitigation 

measures. 

  

105. Local Economy Team (LET): 

LET are happy to support this application which matches the economic, job, and 

growth plans as discussed in the planning statement. 

- In terms of construction phase jobs / skills and employment requirements: This 

development would be expected to deliver 46 sustained jobs to unemployed 

Southwark residents, 46 short courses, and take on 12 construction industry 

apprentices during the construction phase, or meet the Employment and 

Training Contribution. 

- The maximum Employment and Training Contribution is £221,200 (£197,800 

against sustained jobs, £6,900 against short courses, and £16,500 against 

construction industry apprenticeships). 

- An employment, skills and business support plan should be included in the 

S106 obligations.   

- There is no job requirement for the end use of the development. 

  
106. Officer response:  The recommended local economy contributions will be secured in 

the s106 Agreement. 
  

107. Flood and drainage team:  
Following exchange of technical details regarding the drainage strategy the Flood 
and Drainage Team are now satisfied with the proposals.  This would be subject to 
conditions requiring the final detailed design for the proposed surface water 
drainage system and a maintenance schedule. 

  
108. Officer response:  The above conditions are recommended.  

  

109. Urban Forester:  
There is a no net loss in canopy cover as measured by stem girth when considering 
all the replacement planting including rooftop trees and other smaller plants.  
However, there will be a small net loss by stem girth when discounting the above.  
Additional trees within the site would be difficult to achieve without compromising 
the layout of the development and impacting on the health of future trees.  As such, 
additional trees could be planted off-site within the vicinity of the site and this would 
be considered acceptable.  A financial contribution should be made to secure this.  
In terms of biodiversity gain, the proposed planting scheme would be a benefit.  
Details shall be secured by condition including tree protection measures and 
landscaping plan.   

  
110. Officer response:  The above measures will be secured by conditions and financial 

contribution to secure additional trees off-site would be within the s106 agreement.  

  

 Consultation responses from external consultees 

  

111. Summarised below are the material planning considerations raised by external 

consultees, along with the officer’s response.  

63



 

54 

  

 Greater London Authority (GLA) 

112. - The proposed stadium building has been designed to meet the full range of 
DHFC’s and the local communities’ needs including increased hours for the 
pitch use. The club and community will benefit from access to an enhanced 
playing surface, optimised ground, clubhouse facilities and leisure facilities. 

- It is noted that the land on which the new playing pitch is proposed belongs to 
Southwark Council, and is therefore not within the applicant’s control. It is 
therefore critical that the s106 agreement robustly secures the community use 
and access to the facilities and frontloaded delivery of playing pitch re-
provision, prior to redevelopment of the existing site. 

- The applicant proposes high quality replacement open space in the form of an 
east-west ‘green link’, as well as new areas of green open space between the 
proposed residential blocks. The ‘green link’ would provide an enhanced 
connection between St Francis’s Park and Greendale, and comprises play 
spaces; an outdoor gym and the provision of a new MUGA in the northern part 
of the site. 

- There would be a net gain of 1,850sqm of public open space. Having 
considered the proposed reconfiguration of open space in both quantitative 
and qualitative terms, GLA officers are supportive of the proposal and would 
accord with London Plan Policy 7.18 and draft London Plan Policy G4.   

- The London Plan accords the same protection to MOL as Green Belt land.  
The provision of a replacement pitch is an appropriate facility in connection 
with the existing use for outdoor sport and recreation which (as will be outlined 
below) preserves openness and does not conflict with the purpose of the 
designation.  Sinking the pitch below the existing ground level would 
successfully reduce the prominence of the playing surface and supporting 
infrastructure associated with the pitch preserving openness. 

- The proposed fencing/screening is not appropriate development within the 
MOL and thus very special circumstances must be demonstrated for this part 
of the proposal. Having considered the proposals GLA officers are of the view 
that Very Special Circumstances do exist to justify the fence and screenings 
presence within the MOL.   

- A full community use agreement to allow users of the existing playing fields to 
benefit from the enhanced facilities (including facilities such as the changing 
rooms) must be robustly secured as part of any future permission.  

- The community use agreement will also ensure the playing fields remain 
accessible to the public.  

- The principle of the residential uses proposed is supported. 

- The applicant is proposing 40% affordable housing at a tenure split of 70/30 in 
favour of affordable rent. This offer is strongly supported and meets the 
threshold for fast track compliance at this site. In order to confirm the 
proposals meet all the criteria necessary to be considered under the fast track 
route the applicant must evidence it has explored grant funding to further 
increase the affordable housing provision, agree the tenure split with the 
borough and confirm the affordability of the affordable housing products. An 
early stage review must be secured in any future s.106 agreement in line with 
the guidance outlined above.  

- The Mayor’s preference is for affordable rent products to be secured at 
London Affordable Rent benchmark levels, and for intermediate shared 
ownership products to be secured as affordable to a range of incomes below 
the upper limit of £90,000 per annum, and benchmarked against the 

64



 

55 

monitoring figure of £56,200 per annum in the London Plan Annual Monitoring 
Report. All affordable housing must be robustly secured in perpetuity.   

- In strategic planning terms the mix is acceptable, and, GLA officers note the 
provision of family housing has been appropriately prioritised within the 
social/affordable rent component of the mix. The council should confirm that 
the schemes housing mix meets the identified local need.  

- The provision of playspace is above the overall requirements of the Play and 
Informal Recreation SPG, when assessed across all age groups.  

- Noting the characteristics of the location this site lends itself well to the 
creation of a new high-quality mixed-use neighbourhood. The proposal would 
have a density of 79 units, per hectare. The site is in an accessible location 
and broadly responds to the low-rise nature of the surrounds; the design and 
residential quality are supported; and has benefited from design 

- advice during pre-application discussions. The proposed density is supported.  

- The layout and ground floor of the masterplan is supported.  

- The council should secure measures to ensure that the interface of the 
proposed development with the supermarket car park and loading area is well 
handled with respect to ‘Agent of Change’ principles. 

- Based on the visualisations and plans provided to date, the quality of the 
proposed public realm strategy is supported.  

- The height strategy for the masterplan is a sound approach in terms of 
optimising the development potential of the site and responding to the nature 
of the surrounding context. Accordingly, the overall height and massing of the 
scheme is acceptable in strategic planning terms, subject to considerations 
with respect to architectural quality, and an assessment of views - from the 
neighbouring MOL, as well as the wider townscape.  

- Appropriate condition is required to secure the submission of sample materials 
which should be approved in writing in order to safeguard amenity and ensure 
the scheme delivers the highest quality architectural treatments.  

- The views provided confirm that the proposals would not harm the 
surrounding conservation areas which lay some distance from the site.  The 
scheme would not harm the protected vistas.  

- The stand has been sensitively located outside the boundary of the MOL and 
an efficient internal layout has minimised the footprint and height of the 
building.  

- The facility will benefit from 4 floodlights. The council should secure the hours 
within which these can be operated by appropriate condition.  

- The residential quality across the scheme is supported and positively 
responds to the good practice principles within the Mayor’s Housing SPG.  

- There is a need to demonstrate that there would be sufficient mitigation 
measures in place to ensure that: i) the proposed combination of future 
sporting and residential uses at the site would successfully co-exist as part of 
the proposed co-location; and, ii) the interface of the proposed development 
with the adjacent supermarket would be well-handled in terms of residential 
amenity.  

- The scheme proposes that 10% of units across the development, comprising 
a mix of unit sizes and across all tenures, will be delivered as wheelchair user 
dwellings, the remaining units will be delivered to Building Regulation M4(2) 
specifications.  This is supported and should be secured by condition.  

- The applicant has submitted an energy statement. The approach proposed 
would achieve a 69% carbon dioxide reduction for the residential component 
of the scheme and a 66% reduction for the non-residential component. Whilst 

65



 

56 

the principles of the energy strategy are supported, the applicant must explore 
the potential for additional measures to deliver further carbon dioxide 
reductions (particularly for the non-residential component). Once all 
opportunities for securing further feasible on-site savings have been 
exhausted, a carbon offset contribution should be secured to mitigate any 
residual shortfall.  

- The approach to flood risk management for the proposed development is 
acceptable.  

- The surface water drainage strategy does not comply with London Plan policy 
5.13 and draft policy SI.13, as it does not give appropriate regard to the 
drainage hierarchy and greenfield runoff rate. 

- The proposed development does not meet the residential requirements of 
London Plan policy 5.15 and draft New London Plan policy SI.5 as it does not 
meet the water consumption targets of these policies.  

- Policies outline that where harm to SINC is unavoidable, development impacts 
must be minimised and mitigated.   

- The Blue Badge parking for the stadium includes a potential stacking system 
which would not be suitable for many disabled users. Accordingly, the 
provision of blue badge parking should be reconsidered to be more 
accessible.   

- Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP’s), comprising at least 20% active and 
the remainder passive should be secured along with a parking design and 
management plan, which should ensure Blue Badge spaces are allocated on 
the basis of need and not tied to particular properties and that there should be 
no other use of the spaces.  

- A contribution towards the expansion of the local CPZ should be secured in 
the s106. The commitment to a permit free scheme should also be secured.  

- Two dedicated coach parking spaces are proposed with the potential of up to 
an additional two spaces if demand arises. Further information is requested on 
how all these spaces will be managed including when not required for the 
stadium.  

- For the residential component of the scheme the applicant must provide an 
additional 7 short stay cycle parking spaces. For the stadium the applicant is 
proposing 80 short stay cycle parking spaces this is equivalent to 2% of the 
stadium’s capacity. The applicant should explore the potential to increase the 
cycle parking provision for visitors to the stadium to 120 spaces and include 
additional cycle parking provision including some long stay cycle parking 
should be provided for staff including players.  

- The applicant has submitted a Healthy Streets and Active Travel Zone 
assessment, the applicant has highlighted various improvements, which 
should be appropriately secured.  

- Further clarification is required regarding trip generation to enable assessment 
of whether highway or public transport mitigation is required for the stadium. 
The residential component of the development will place additional strain on 
existing bus routes in the morning peak. A financial contribution of £375k 
(£75,000 pa for five years) is required to support one additional peak hour 
northbound bus journey.  

- The council must agree and appropriately secure a delivery and servicing 
plan, construction environmental management plan and travel plan.  

  

113. Officer response:  

Many of the points raised have been noted and discussed in the main report. The 

66



 

57 

GLA was re-consulted but did not provide any further comments. The application 

will be referred to the Mayor for Stage 2 Direction in any case. 

  

 Sport England 

114. There have been extensive discussions between the applicant and Sport England 

(in consultation with the Football Foundation). The applicant has responded to each 

round of comments made by Sport England. Their comments are split into 3 sets in 

chronological order following each response the applicant made and are 

summarised below:   

  

115. Original comment:   In principle the proposal is broadly acceptable and is supported 

by Sport England (including the Football Foundation commenting on behalf of the 

Football Association) however would object to this application until further clarity on 

a number of issues are provided.    

- Recommend that the plans are discussed with the Sports Ground Safety 
Authority (SGSA) in the event that the club is promoted to the Football 
League.  The Football Foundation (FF) has also provided a number of other 
requirements for the design of the facility.  Applicant should demonstrate the 
artificial pitch surface proposed (FIFA Quality Pro) that is required for use by 
the Club can be maintained to the required standard whilst also allowing for 
community use.   Recommend that the club ensure that there is a sinking fund 
in place to maintain 3G pitch quality in the long term. 

 

- A community use agreement (including a detailed Programme of Use) should 
be agreed with Sport England, the council and London County FA in line with 
the intended usage levels of the facility.    

 

- It would expect to see up to 85 hours per week usage on a 3G pitch (e.g. 
9am-9/10pm, 7 days a week) to meet the requirements of the local community 
clubs and other organisations and should be addressed through a business 
plan (including how the facility will be operated and managed).  A condition 
has been recommended to secure the hours. 

 

- The proposals would not accord with any of the exceptions test in Sport 
England’s Playing Fields Policy, but is mindful of some of the characteristics 
that relate to this planning application.    

  

116. Sport England therefore considers that the proposed development is of sufficient 

benefit to the development of sport as to outweigh the detriment caused by the loss 

of playing field.  However, clarifications were required before the objection to the 

application is withdrawn and these are as follows:  

- require a community use agreement and a management and maintenance 
plan for the artificial pitch.   Suggested conditions have been recommended.  
These documents should be prepared and reviewed by the council, Sport 
England and the Football Foundation/FA in advance of planning permission 
being granted.   

 

- It is important that the facility is fit for its intended purpose so have 
recommended planning conditions to request certain Sport England and FIFA 
standards are met for the pitch.   

 

67



 

58 

- The MUGA should be revised in line with Sport England design guidance.  
Further details of the fencing should be provided.  It is further recommended 
that the size of the MUGA is increased.    

 

- The council should assess carefully whether or not the impact on the amenity 
of new residents and existing residents is acceptable and condition any 
mitigation measures.   

 

- The stadium should be completed and operational before any development 
takes place on the existing stadium.  

 

- Recommends that phasing of the development include the provision of the 
MUGA within as early phase of the development as possible.  

  

117. Second set of comments from Sport England 

Following the above comments, the applicant had provided a response to Sport 

England along with a business plan and draft community use agreement and Sport 

England subsequently made these comments: 

- The FF on behalf of the FA and Sport England are supportive of this proposal, 
subject to a few points being clarified.   

 

- Question over the availability for community usage and its hours. The FF have 
no objection to the hours, but feel it is important to note and to ensure all key 
stakeholders including the Local Authority agree with the Programme of use 
(POU).  

 

- Questions over the commercial rates and the way the pitches could be split up 
for community use.  

 

- Comments on the staff structure and the maintenance programme.  

 

- Question over the summer income and whether this is achievable.   

  

118. Third round of comments  

Following further information sent by the applicant to Sport England, they have 

concluded that the FF are satisfied the information addresses the queries raised.  

- In terms of phasing, the FF do not have any objections to this approach, but 
would advise that the Club liaise with the league to ensure they will be able to 
meet ground grading requirements and spectator/player safety.  This means 
the stadium being designed in such a way that the new pitch could be played 
on with a partially complete stadium building with the existing 
facilities/temporary facilities supporting the new pitch to allow for league 
games to be played. 

 

- While the FF remain of the opinion that summer income is high, they are 
comfortable that this will be reviewed prior to opening with London CFA and 
the Local Authority’s Leisure Team.  

 

- Conditions recommended ensuring the stadium and pitch complies with Sport 
England and the FA’s guidance and the submission of a community use 

68



 

59 

agreement and management and maintenance scheme.   

 

- Accept the informal kick-about space. Condition recommended to secure 
details of the design and layout of the kick-about space.    

 

- Request that the council review the noise impact assessment.  

 

- Ensure stadium is completed and operational before any development takes 
place on the existing stadium and condition or legal agreement to secure this.  
Phasing of the development include the provision of the kick-about space 
within as early phase of the development as possible.  

 

- Subject to the above conditions, Sport England is content to withdraw its 
previous objection to the proposal. 

  

119. Officer response:  It is noted that, following very extensive discussions, the original 

objection has been withdrawn. The above requirements shall be secured by 

conditions or the s106 agreement.    

  

120. Metropolitan Police Design Adviser 

Generally no objections to the scheme and have given detailed advice on planting, 

the public realm and maintenance of shrubs.  The comment notes that it is 

encouraging to see that the designers have considered Secured by Design.    Other 

matters are summarised here:  

- There should be a clear and concise management strategy to deal with times 
of opening and rule setting around activities that can and cannot take place in 
the roof gardens of this development.   

- The times of opening of the kick-about space must be managed in relation to 
times of opening so that anti-social behaviour and crime do not take place.  It 
should also be locked outside the times of opening.  Advise that the lighting in 
this area is switched on to reflect the opening hours.  

- A weld mesh fence or similar at a minimum height of 2.2m should be used as 
a barrier facing out onto the public realm so that it is possible to see into the 
kick-about space from the outside.  

- This development is suitable to achieve Secured By Design accreditation, and 
in order to assist the development with achieving Secured By Design 
standards, would ask that conditions be applied to any permission. 

  

121. Officer response:  

This is noted and will recommend the mentioned conditions.  

  

122. Thames Water  

Thames Water raises no objection.  Thames Water has worked with the developer 

and identified that some capacity exists to serve 99 dwellings but beyond that 

upgrades to the water network will be required and felt it appropriate to impose a 

requirement that all water network upgrades required to accommodate the 

additional flows from the development have been completed or a housing and 

infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to allow additional 

properties to be occupied.  Informatives have been suggested regarding the 

proximity of their underground assets and how to ensure the necessary processes 

69



 

60 

are followed if working near Thames Water’s pipes/structures.  No objections in 

regard to waste water network infrastructure capacity.   

  

123. Officer response: A condition has been recommended to require the applicant to 

engage with Thames Water in respect of how the existing water network 

infrastructure can be made capable of accommodating the needs of the proposed 

development. 

  
 Environment Agency (EA) 

 
124. The application falls outside the EA’s remit. 
  
125. Natural England 

No objections to the application. 
  
126. Network Rail 

No objections to the application. 

70



 

61 

 

 CHAPTER 5 

  
Assessment  
 

Principle of the proposed development in terms of land use 
 

 Considerations relating to impact on protected open space 
 

127. The fact that much of the application site is designated as open space has been at 
the heart of the majority of the objections submitted in response to public 
consultation.  

  
128. In brief, Greendale, including the area on which the new playing pitch and 

surrounding terracing would be located, is designated as MOL. A part of the pitch 
enclosure extends over an area designated as a SINC (see images in Ecology 
section of Chapter 10 of this report). 

  
129. The current pitch (but not the surrounding terracing, stadium building, sports 

facilities building, car park or access road) is designated as OOS. This area would 
be developed as housing with its related amenity areas, plus access routes and the 
stadium parking and service areas.  The kick-about space is located on site of the 
current stand and club house, outside the area designated as open space 

  
130. The new stadium building would be developed partly on land designated as OOS 

and partly on land which  has no current designation. 
   
131. The policy considerations relating to the various designations are set out below. 
  
 Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) 

 
132. According to the London Plan 2016, Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) should be 

given the same degree of policy protection as Green Belt land.  MOL is described in 
the London Plan as including land used for open air sports serving significant parts 
of London. 

  
133. The London Plan states, in policy 7.17 ‘Metropolitan Open Land” that the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) relating to green belts should apply equally to 
the consideration of applications on MOL. In the latest version of the NPPF (2019, 
published after the adoption of the current London Plan) it is stated, at para 144 that 
local planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm 
to the Green Belt (and by extension MOL). Para 145 goes on to state that  
construction of new buildings will be inappropriate on green belt land (and by 
extension MOL). A number of exceptions to this are listed, most of which would not 
be relevant to the application site, but include:  
 
(b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land 
or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial 
grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. 

  
134. London Plan Policy 7.17 sets out the London-wide expectations for the use of MOL, 

and the basis on which proposals for development on MOL should be assessed. 

71



 

62 

The policy states that the strongest protection should be given the MOL and that 
inappropriate development should be refused, except in very exceptional 
circumstances.  The scope of very exceptional circumstances is not defined in the 
policy. The supporting text to the policy goes on to say that: 
 
“Appropriate development should be limited to small scale structures to support 
outdoor open space uses and minimise any adverse impact on the openness of 
MOL”, and that 
 
 “Essential ancillary facilities for appropriate uses will only be acceptable where they 
maintain the openness of MOL”. 

  
135. The draft new London Plan maintains the same broad position in its policy G3 

‘Metropolitan Open Land’. It states that “Development proposals that would harm 
MOL should be refused. MOL should be protected from inappropriate development 
in accordance with national policy tests that apply to the green belt.” At paragraph 
8.3.1 it states: ”MOL protects and enhances the open environment and improves 
Londoners’ quality of life by providing localities which offer sporting and leisure 
use…” 

  
136. The draft new London Plan has reached an advanced stage in its preparation, and 

the Secretary of State’s letter has not raised any concerns in relation to this 
particular policy.  This draft policy should therefore be accorded significant weight in 
the determination of planning applications. 

  
137. In terms of local policy, saved policy 3.25 ‘Metropolitan Open Land’ sets out the 

requirements for assessing development on MOL. The policy states that there is a 
general presumption against inappropriate development on MOL and that planning 
permission will only be granted for appropriate development which is considered to 
be for the following purposes: 
i) Agriculture and forestry; or 
ii) Essential facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, for cemeteries, and 
for other uses of land which preserve the openness of MOL and which do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within MOL; or 
iii) Extension of or alteration to an existing dwelling, providing that it does not result 
in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building; or 
iv) Replacement of an existing dwelling, providing that the new dwelling is not 
materially larger than the dwelling that it replaces. 

  
138. Strategic Policy 11 of the Core Strategy states that important open spaces shall be 

protected from inappropriate development. Large spaces of importance to all of 
London will be protected (Metropolitan Open Land) as well as smaller spaces of 
more borough-wide and local importance (Borough Open Land and Other Open 
Spaces). 

  
139. In the submission version of the New Southwark Plan (NSP) open spaces are 

protected by policy P56, which covers MOL, Borough Open Land and Other Open 
Space.  The policy states that development will generally not be permitted on MOL. 
In exceptional circumstances development may be permitted for ancillary facilities 
for sport where it preserves the openness of MOL and doesn’t conflict with its 
function. 

  
140. Whilst not strictly an open space policy issue, the vision for East Dulwich as set out 

in the draft NSP describes DHFC as being a focus for many activities and an 

72



 

63 

important visitor attraction with a valuable community function.  It goes on to say 
that development in East Dulwich should provide a new stadium for DHFC. 

  
141. It is clear therefore, that policies at national, regional and local levels give significant 

protection to land designated as MOL. The policies highlight a number of themes for 
assessing development proposals on MOL. In summary, these could be described 
as: 
 

• Whether the use is one which would be considered appropriate on MOL; 

• Whether the use, with its necessary structures, would protect the openness of 
the MOL 

• And whether, if any harm is identified, there are any very special circumstances 
which could justify the development. 

 
In the case of the current application, it is the playing pitch, surrounding terraces 
and circulation areas, four floodlights, and the enclosing fence including 3 
secondary turnstiles, which are located on the part of the site designated as MOL. 

  
 Is this use ‘appropriate’ on MOL? 

 
142. The site currently contains the artificial pitch, which has six floodlight columns.  The 

pitch has no formal enclosure. The land required for the new stadium extends 
beyond the boundary of the current pitch due to the need for run off and spectator 
areas. In total, just over 10,000sqm would be enclosed to create the stadium pitch, 
and all of this would be within the MOL 

  
143. Historically, the artificial pitch was used for team training by DHFC. However, the 

poor state of the surface means it was deemed unsafe for formal training, and the 
Club have not used it since August 2017. Currently it is used informally by the public 
for recreation, and during the current lock-down has been busy with dog-walkers, 
local people playing ball games and children riding bikes and scooters. 

  
144. The site therefore has a history of sports use. The London Plan and local policies 

list ‘sports uses’ as one of the land uses appropriate on MOL. There are numerous 
examples within Southwark where sports facilities have been deemed appropriate 
on MOL, including at the Herne Hill Velodrome, and when providing sports facilities 
for the independent schools in Dulwich such as the use of Mary Datchelor Fields. 
Other examples in Southwark where sports facilities are located on MOL (including 
mesh fencing) include Burgess Park community sport ground and mesh fencing 
around the tennis courts in Southwark Park and Dulwich Park, both of which are 
designated MOL.  

  
145. The application boundary also includes some soft landscaping, and new footpaths 

laid out to guide walkers around the new stadium. These works would be 
appropriate within MOL and not raise any policy issues. 

  
146. It is therefore considered that use as a football pitch, for outdoor sports use, would 

be considered an appropriate use within MOL. The enclosure of the pitch is 
necessary for the management of the use and to ensure the safety of users. In that 
sense, the fence and floodlights are ‘essential facilities’ as required by policy.  The 
GLA Stage 1 response states at para 23 that ‘the provision of a replacement pitch is 
an appropriate facility in connection with the existing use for outdoor sport and 
recreation which….preserves openness and does not conflict with the purposes of 
designation”. However, the letter goes on to state that the proposed 

73



 

64 

fencing/screening is not appropriate development within the MOL and therefore very 
special circumstances must be demonstrated to justify this part of the proposal. It 
appears that this conclusion is reached based on the impact of the fence enclosure 
on the openness of the MOL. 

  
147. This therefore leads to the second aspect of the assessment.  
  
 Does the proposed development maintain the openness of the MOL? 
148. As stated earlier, the pitch would be enclosed on three sides by 4.5m high fencing 

from pitch level (the fourth side being enclosed by the stadium building and 
turnstiles). The fence would be open mesh fencing to retain views across the pitch, 
but on match days, in order to satisfy Football Association (FA) requirements, a 
solid screen would need to be erected to a height of 1.83m above local ground 
level.   

  
149. The playing surface of the pitch has been sunk below the surrounding ground level.  

The current pitch is slightly lower than the land to the north and west due to the 
natural slope in the land across Greendale fields.  The level of the proposed pitch 
has been sunk by a further 0.6m - 3.1m relative to the current level.  As the northern 
part of the site is on a much higher level, there would be greater drop in this 
location. This is helpful in limiting the impact of the playing surface, and its 
associated terraces and circulation areas, in views across Greendale. A retaining 
wall is needed on the north side, but this does not affect openness. It is not 
considered that the pitch itself, or its low level standing and circulation areas, affect 
the openness of the MOL. 

  
150. The stadium would have four floodlights, one in each corner.  This is a reduction 

relative to the six floodlight columns which currently exist (due to the higher 
specification of the new lights enabling the omission of the two columns on the half-
way line). Given that this is a net reduction in the number of floodlights, and the 
columns are of similar height to the existing, it is considered that the lighting would 
affect the openness to a lesser degree than the current floodlights. 

  
151. The development would enable the removal of the existing containers (totalling 

around 51sqm) which were used for storage and changing.  These containers are 
unsightly (there is no record of them having been given planning permission), and it 
is not clear how long they have been in place.  Their removal would be a benefit of 
the scheme being brought forward. 

  
152. The fence enclosure is a new element of built structure within the MOL.  The mesh 

screen would enclose the three sides of the pitch within the MOL. The mesh would 
have some, although limited, impact on the openness of the land, including views 
across it. The visualisations prepared by the applicant suggest that the fence would 
be visible in these long views, but sight would be maintained through the fence 
across the pitch and to the areas and buildings beyond. 

  
153. On match days, a solid boundary would be required in order to prevent those 

outside the stadium viewing the game.  This is a requirement of the FA. In response 
to concerns about the impact on openness, the applicant has suggested that the 
screening would be provided by a series of canvas banners which could be raised 
to the required height of 1.83 metres for the period when competitive matches 
(league games recognised by the FA) are taking place. At other times, the banners 
would be lowered to maintain the openness and this would be conditioned. 

74



 

65 

  
 Image:  View Greendale, north-west of site with canvas banners up on match day 

 
  
 Image:  View Greendale, north-west of site with canvas banners down on non-match 

day  

 
 

  
154. Some objectors have suggested that the use of banners is not practicable, and that 

they would not be lowered. It is clearly an unusual proposition, but there is no 
reason why it could not be achieved. In terms of timings for the screening, the Club 
would need to be allowed a reasonable time to carry out the raising and lowering of 
the screen before and after each game; a condition recommended suggests that the 
screening be erected for no more than 5 hours on each day when a match required 
to conform to FA regulations takes place. This is considered to strike a reasonable 
balance between maintaining openness of the MOL, and the practical requirements 
of the Club. 

  

75



 

66 

155. The lease from the council requires the Club to erect and maintain suitable 
boundary fencing around the pitch. The council’s ‘Greendale Management Plan’ 
published in August 2017 also expects new fencing to be provided to enclose the 
pitch for more formal sports use. So whilst any new fencing would require planning 
permission, it is likely that, regardless of the current application, even the existing 
pitch would eventually require the erection of a fence enclosure. 

  
156. Other parts of the development, including the stadium building and parts of the 

housing beyond, will be visible in the long views across the open space.  To some 
extent this could be said to affect the enjoyment of the openness of the MOL, but 
does not strictly affect the openness of the MOL itself. It is not unusual for built 
development to be visible in views across MOL; looking to the north of Greendale 
you are conscious of the housing blocks around the Champion Hill estate, and the 
seven storey Hambledon Court stands adjacent to the boundary of the St Olaves 
and St Saviours sports field to the southwest. It is therefore suggested that the 
impact of the stadium building and new housing should not be accorded any 
substantial weight in terms of its impact on the openness of the MOL. 

  
 Do very special circumstances exist to justify the impact on openness of MOL? 
  
157. Policy 7.17 of the London Plan states that where a development is said to be 

inappropriate because it affects the openness of MOL, it should only be allowed if 
very special circumstances exist which are sufficient to justify the level of harm 
caused.  The wording would imply that the extent of the very special circumstances 
should relate to the degree of harm which has been identified. However, any harm 
should be accorded substantial weight. 

  
158. In Officers’ opinion, the land use is appropriate in MOL, and the degree of harm to 

the openness from the fencing has been minimised by the use of solid screening 
only on competitive match days and for limited hours. 

  
159. Objectors have suggest that because the Club has an existing stadium built only 30 

years ago, there is no justification for the harm since it is not a required facility. The 
Club could continue to play at their existing ground. 

  
160. Unlike the 2016 application, this current application has been submitted jointly by 

the site owners and DHFC. The case presented by DHFC is that the current 
stadium, whilst a relatively recent construction, was poorly designed, and its 
inherent flaws, in terms of its structure and layout, mean that it is no longer fit for 
purpose. The running costs of the existing stadium impact on the Club’s revenues, 
and renewal of services will be a drain on future resources. Critically, the turf pitch is 
vulnerable to wear, and so can only be used for around 3 match equivalent sessions 
(equating to 5-6 hours) per week otherwise the surface becomes too degraded for 
match play. So the ability to expand the number of teams the Club can support, or 
their ability to offer out their facilities to schools and local clubs, is constrained.  

  
161. The suggestion that the stadium could be improved on its existing site, and the pitch 

re-laid as a 3G artificial surface, was rejected by the applicants. The applicants 
claim that the existing stadium building has reached the end of its economic life, and 
the dated service infrastructure needs replacing.  The condition of the building 
means high day-to-day running costs for the Club, as well as a schedule of more 
significant works to bring the stadium up to current day standards.  The Club’s 
revenues would not allow it to fund these works.  Critically, even if the works to the 
existing structure could be carried out, the inherent limitations of the building would 

76



 

67 

prevent the club progressing into the National League. This requires a 4,000 
spectator capacity, as well as a number of additional facilities listed by the FA. 
These could not be reasonably provided on the current site. So any progress into 
the National League, or increased community participation and use of the facilities, 
would not be possible in the existing stadium.  

  
162. Under the current proposals the new stadium would be built by Meadow and once 

complete passed to the council. The council would in turn agree a lease for the 
entire ground (the stadium building and pitch area) to DHFC on a 125 year 
peppercorn rent. The Club would thereafter have no rental costs for their stadium. 
The ongoing running costs of a new building would be significantly lower than those 
for the existing building with its dated services. The additional spectator capacity 
would enable the Club to benefit from higher gate receipts if their popularity is 
maintained, or if they achieve promotion and attract larger crowds. The potential for 
revenue from the other stadium facilities such as the gyms and studios, would 
increase since these would be more attractive to users than the current facilities. 
The more intensive usage of the pitch can also secure rental from the element of 
commercial use allowed for in the proposed s106 terms.  Together, these reduced 
running costs, together with the potential for higher revenue generation, would 
mean that a well-run club would have a firm basis on which to be sustainable into 
the future.  This would achieve one of the corporate commitments in the council’s 
Plan 2018/19-2020/21 ‘To do all we can to secure the future of Dulwich Hamlet FC 
on its current Champion Hill site’. Whilst this proposal is not strictly on the current 
site, the location does reflect the long history of DHFC at Champion Hill.  The 
relocation onto the adjacent site means that the Club can have continuity of use 
without the disruption and loss of income and community interaction that would 
occur if the stadium was developed in situ. 

  
163. As well as the benefits to the Club themselves, the provision of the new stadium 

would secure a number of key benefits in terms of sports provision in the area. The 
new pitch would be able to be used for 60 hours each week, very substantially 
extending the number of users. These new users would include local schools and 
clubs; more detail on this is included in the section on community use in the Sports 
Facilities section below. The pitch would be capable of sub-division to allow a 
number of smaller games (5-a-side etc) to take place simultaneously. 

  
164. The stadium building would include two squash courts, two gyms (one targeted for 

boxing) and a smaller exercise studio, alongside function rooms and classrooms. 
Much of this provision replaces and updates that provided in the current stadium, 
but is better laid out and capable of more efficient and intensive use. The 
classrooms are a new feature, which the Club suggest could be used by local 
schools for the PE curriculum, enabling them to combine practical and theory 
lessons in one location. 

  
165. The GLA point to the practical requirements to enclose the pitch as contributing to 

the very special circumstances which, in their view justify the impact on openness. 
The enclosure and fencing satisfy the FA requirements to allow competitive football 
and maintain safety, and the floodlights enable extended hours of use of the 
facilities. 

  
166. In conclusion, the NSP in the area vision for East Dulwich seeks to secure a new 

stadium for DHFC, but the draft site allocation expects this to be provided on the 
existing site.  Notwithstanding this, the relocation of the pitch achieves the broader 
aspiration, and would secure a viable long term future for this historic club. The 

77



 

68 

range of new opportunities for sport would meet the council’s healthy living agenda, 
and the Club is recognised in the NSP and the Council Plan as having a valuable 
community function. It is considered that, taken together, these benefits do meet the 
requirement to demonstrate the very special circumstances needed to justify 
development which has an impact on the openness of the MOL. Whilst the harm 
that has been identified must be accorded substantial weight, in line with the NPPF, 
the very special circumstances related to the future of the Club and the contribution 
to sport and healthy lifestyles meet key Council objectives are considered to clearly 
outweigh that harm. 

  
 Other Open Space (OOS) 
167. The current playing pitch (but not the surrounding terracing, stadium building, car 

park or access road) is designated as ‘Other Open Space’ (OOS) in the saved 
Southwark Plan and Core Strategy.  The NSP proposes to maintain this 
designation. 

  
168. OOS is not specifically recognised under the NPPF or London Plan; it is a local 

designation.  Therefore in terms of the London Plan it would be assessed under the 
London Plan policy 7.18 ’Green Space’. This policy requires that ”The loss of 
protected open spaces must be resisted unless equivalent or better quality provision 
is made within the local catchment area”. It goes on to say that  ”Replacement of 
one type of open space with another is unacceptable unless an up-to-date needs 
assessment shows that this would be appropriate”. The policy stresses the 
importance of local open spaces to health and biodiversity. 

  
169. The draft new London Plan covers open space at policy G4 saying that 

development proposals should not result in a loss of protected open space.  It also 
notes that development proposals should “where possible create areas of publically 
accessible open space”. 

  
170. Saved Southwark Plan policy 3.27 ‘Other Open Space’ states that development will 

only be permitted if it meets the following criteria: 
 
i. It is ancillary to the enjoyment of Other Open Space; and 
ii. It is small in scale; and 
iii. It does not detract from the prevailing openness of the site or from its 
character; and 
iv. It positively contributes to the setting and quality of the open space; and 
v. Where appropriate, it enhances public access to open spaces; or 
vi. Land of equivalent or better size and quality is secured within the local catchment 
area for similar or enhanced use before development commences, provided that 
this would not result in the creation of or an increase in district or local park 
deficiency. 

  
171. The reason given for the policy says that open spaces should also be easily 

accessible to all members of the community and therefore any loss needs to be 
replaced within a local catchment area, which is generally considered to be within a 
400m radius. It goes on to say that the audit of open space considered their value in 
various terms including for health and biodiversity value. 

  
172. The Core Strategy is less specific about the criteria for assessment, but states at 

policy Strategic Policy 11 ‘Open space and biodiversity’ that the council will “ 
improve, protect and maintain a network of open spaces and green corridors that 
will make places attractive and provide sport, leisure and food growing opportunities 

78



 

69 

for a growing population”.  This would be done by, amongst other things “Continuing 
to protect important open spaces from inappropriate development”. It notes that this 
protection extends to MOL and also to smaller spaces of more borough wide or 
local importance including OOS. The policy also refers to improving the overall 
greenness of places, and promoting links between open spaces including green 
chains. 

  
173. In the submission version of the NSP, OOS is covered by policy P56 ‘Open Space’ 

which says that “in exceptional circumstances development may be permitted if it 
consists of replacement OOS of equivalent or greater size or substantially better 
quality can be secured on site or nearby before development commences.” 

  
174. Open spaces provide an essential amenity and recreational resource for people 

living and working in Southwark and it is the council’s responsibility to ensure that 
there is an adequate supply of high quality open spaces that cater for a variety of 
needs. The council’s Open Space Strategy (2013) underlines the council’s view that 
provision and good management of open space makes a major contribution to 
urban regeneration by enhancing the environment, promoting social inclusion, 
contributing to healthy living and providing educational opportunities. 

  
175. The current pitch is enclosed on all sides by high walls and the stadium building, 

and so is not visible to the general public, only to those attending matches. It 
therefore has little value as a visual amenity.  The regularly mown turf surface has 
very limited biodiversity value. As such, its primarily contribution to public benefit is 
its use for sport. 

  
176. The proposed development on this area of land designated as OOS comprises most 

of the residential blocks and their surrounding landscape, parts of the footprint of the 
new stadium building, part of the access road and parts of the green link.   An 
outline of the area designation as OOS is superimposed on the proposed layout 
plan below. 

79



 

70 

  
 Image:  Proposed development over existing pitch (OOS) in blue 

 

 
  
177. Following the receipt of amended plans this green link was increased in width.  The 

linear route is broadly on the alignment of the existing private road and footway, and 
the planting strip alongside the stadium wall. This would be slightly widened along 
its length, with further expansion into the areas between blocks D and E, and E and 
F where the public have free access to the new play areas.  The route would include 
a footpath and separate cycle route, plus a small outdoor gym, planting areas, and 
areas for formal and informal children’s play. 

  
178. In terms of compliance with saved Southwark Plan policy 3.27, the proposals clearly 

do not comply with clauses (i) to (iv) of that policy in that the development is not 
ancillary, small scale, or contributing to the openness or quality of that space. 
Clause (v) allows for development if it enhances public access to open space, but 
only if clauses (i) to (iv) are also satisfied. Clause (vi) allows for the potential to re-
locate or re-provide the open space provided that “Land of equivalent or better size 
and quality is secured within the local catchment area for similar or enhanced use 
before development commences”  Therefore it must be considered whether the new 
‘green link’ could fulfil this criteria. 

  
179. The current playing pitch designated as OOS totals 7,607sqm, based on the 

applicant’s submitted topographical survey plan.  This is slightly smaller in area than 
that surveyed under the 2016 scheme, which indicated that the existing football 
pitch was 7,659sqm.  This is not considered to be a significant difference, however  
Officers have used the greater site area to allow for a more cautious assessment.  
The publicly accessible areas of the new green link, excluding the play areas, total 
2,600sqm. It should be noted that the play areas are in the publicly accessible areas 
and are open to members of the public, which is benefit of the scheme.  However, 
for the purposes of calculating the replacement OOS, the play areas are not 

80



 

71 

included in this calculation. This link does include two hard surfaced routes, one for 
pedestrians and one for cyclists, which effectively replace the existing road and 
footway.  

  
 Table:  Existing OOS areas and proposed open space  

 

 Area in sqm 

Total area of existing pitch (OOS): 7,659 
  
Area of proposed kick-about space: 277 
Area of proposed green link (excluding 
play area and buffer landscape):  

2,600 

  
Total open space proposed: 2,877 

Overall loss: 4,782 
  

 

  
180. It is therefore clear that in terms of area, the replacement open space does not fully 

compensate for the area of OOS lost through development of the pitch.   
  
181. However, the quality of the green link is clearly superior to the degraded route which 

currently exists.  The route is well-used by pedestrians and cyclists.  It has to be 
recognised that its current condition is a result of years of lack of investment by the 
owners – the degraded surfaces, unmanaged planting and unsightly posts (a 
remnant of the fencing erected by Meadow in 2018 and later only partially 
dismantled). However there is a lack of natural surveillance which makes many 
reluctant to use this route after dark, and there are no opportunities for play or rest.  
The biodiversity value is also low, and the hard surfaces do little to counter water 
run-off rates. 

  
182. The new link would be planted to enhance biodiversity, and include seating, play 

opportunities and a small outdoor gym. The housing which flanks the space would 
provide a greater sense of public safety by enhancing surveillance.  The flats 
themselves would be accessed primarily from the central ‘spine’ so the link would 
remain clearly public. The housing blocks are lower where they face the route, and 
so do not appear over-dominant or enclosing. 

  
183. The improvement to this route is a significant benefit of this wider development, and 

whilst the width of the route has been criticised in many of the objections, in 
qualitative terms it would be a significant improvement on the current arrangements. 
The public would have open access to the space, whereas the current stadium pitch 
is not accessible, either visually or in terms of physical access.  It is considered that 
this space could be accepted as meeting clause (vi) of policy 3.27 of the saved 
Southwark Plan. 

  
184. The kick-about area is put forward in the application to partially off-set the loss of 

playing pitches. There are questions therefore as to whether it should also be 
‘double-counted’ as replacement Other Open Space. However, it does provide a 
public facility which can be given some weight as replacement open space. 

  
185. Saved policy 3.27 expects replacement open space to be of equivalent or better 

size AND quality for similar or enhanced use. The proposed replacement other open 
space is of a significantly reduced size relative to the current pitch area. It is not for 
a similar use, which is reasonable since the football pitch is being replaced 

81



 

72 

elsewhere in the development, addressing London Plan policy 7.18. Paragraph 97 
of the NPPF states that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and 
land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless the loss resulting from 
the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or better provision in 
terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location. 

  
186. The quality of the new space has several advantages in terms of visual amenity (the 

current pitch is hidden from view), public access, biodiversity, the range of users 
and public safety.  These are significant benefits, which can be accorded some 
weight. So whilst the proposal does not fully accord with saved policy 3.27, the 
wider benefits for sport, healthy living and biodiversity are mitigating factors which 
can be taken into account. 

  
 Site allocation NSP37 
187. Within the submission version 2020 of the New Southwark Plan (NSP), part of the 

application site sits within site allocation NSP37 (Dulwich Hamlet Champion Hill 
Stadium, Dog Kennel Hill). This stipulates that the redevelopment of the site must: 
 
• Retain or re-provide the football ground and ancillary facilities and sports facilities 
(D2) with capacity for no less than 3,000 spectators. 
• Provide new homes (C3).   

  
188. The design and accessibility guidance under NSP37 also states that proposals must 

ensure that the football grounds continue to function successfully and any 
redevelopment should complement the setting of existing open spaces, and 
enhance walking and cycling routes and connectivity to Lordship Lane and East 
Dulwich. 

  
 Figure: Map of site allocation NSP37 

 

 
  
189. The boundaries of the site allocation only comprise the Dulwich Hamlet stadium and 

car park and exclude the Greendale artificial pitch (essentially the MOL).  Whilst this 
application would meet the requirements of the site allocation policy in that it 
ensures the  re-provision of the football ground and ancillary facilities of more than 

82



 

73 

3,000 spectators, this would take place outside of the boundaries of the site 
allocation. The provision of new homes would be in line with the draft allocation. The 
new routes and footways would enhance cycling and walking.  The extent to which 
the development compliments the setting of existing open spaces is discussed 
elsewhere in this report. 

  
190. It is noted that the applicant has submitted an objection to the site allocation, and to 

the previous draft designation NSP38, stating that the terms of the allocation are 
incapable of delivery, and would not secure the future of DHFC. The existence of an 
unresolved objection, together with the stage of preparation of the Plan, means that, 
in accordance with para 48 of the NPPF, the site allocation should be accorded 
limited weight in determining this application.  Therefore the lack of compliance with 
the allocation is noted, and this should be considered in the light of all other material 
considerations set out in this report in determining whether the application should, 
on balance, be permitted. 

  
 Sports facilities 
191. In terms of sports facilities, the application site currently provides a full sized grass 

football pitch within the stadium. The existing clubhouse contains a gymnasium, 
boxing gym, squash courts and small function rooms. The site also includes the 
existing artificial pitch which is within the MOL. 

   
192. The proposed development would provide a 3G playing surface within the new 

stadium; two gyms (one designed for boxing) and a separate exercise studio, and 
two squash courts within the stadium building, and the multi-functional kick-about 
space in Block G.  There is also a small outdoor gym within the green link. 

  
193. Adopted London Plan Policy 3.19 states that proposals resulting in a net loss of 

sports and recreation facilities should be resisted.  Similarly, the emerging London 
Plan (Policy S5 – Sports and recreation facilities) encourages development 
proposals to increase or enhance the provision of sports and recreational facilities, 
maximise the multiple use of facilities and ensure there is no net loss.  Strategic 
Policy 4 (Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles) of the Core Strategy 
states that the council will support the retention and improvement of facilities which 
encourage physical activity and ensuring that development promotes healthy 
lifestyles and addresses negative impacts on physical and mental health.  Saved 
Southwark Plan policy 2.1 states that planning permission for a change of use from 
D Class community facilities will not be granted unless the facility is surplus to 
requirements and the replacement development meets an identified need, or that 
another locally accessible facility can meet the identified needs of the local 
community. 

  
194. Many of the public and amenity group objections raised the point that the 

development would reduce the area of publicly accessible sports facilities (the 
existing artificial pitch) as the replacement facility in the form of the informal kick-
about space would be of a small size and not adequate to compensate for the loss, 
and the proposed pitch would now have to be booked.  It is highlighted that local 
residents and children use the existing artificial pitch extensively for various 
recreational purposes and has been an important resource during the Covid-19 
crisis and should be protected. 

  
 Playing fields and replacement sports facilities 
195. Sport England is a statutory consultee and has been involved in various discussions 

with the applicant regarding the design of the pitch, stadium and the kick-about 

83



 

74 

space.  Sport England had also consulted with the Football Foundation (FF) who 
commented on behalf of the FA.   
 
Sport England has considered the application in relation to the NPPF (in particular 
para. 97), and against its own playing fields policy (March 2018), which states: 
 
“Sport England will oppose the granting of planning permission for any development 
which would lead to the loss of, or would prejudice the use of: 
  

• all or any part of a playing field, or 
• land which has been used as a playing field and remains undeveloped, or 
• land allocated for use as a playing field  

  
unless, in the judgement of Sport England, the development as a whole meets with 
one or more of five specific exceptions.”   

  
196. Sport England considered that the proposal would not accord with any of the five 

exceptions in Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy. However, Sport England is 
mindful of the following characteristics that relate to this planning application: 
  

• The proposals will provide a new stadium and replacement ancillary facilities 
for Dulwich Hamlet Football Club.  If this development does not go ahead then 
this is likely to lead to the loss of the football club.   The substantially 
enhanced stadium will help secure the financial sustainability of the Club.  It 
will also enable the club to facilitate an increase in the number of teams for 
women and girls. 

• There is a need for artificial 3G pitches for the community in the local area and 
the Southwark Playing Pitch Strategy (2017) recommends this site as an 
opportunity to meet that need.  The proposed development will comply with 
relevant Sport England and National Governing Body design guidance. 

• The proposals include replacement and improvement of the existing health 
club facilities, including the squash courts, gym and boxing gym.  

• The proposals include a new games area for community use, an outdoor gym 
(within a linear park) and a new cycle path.   

• The proposals are supported by the relevant National Governing Body.  
  
197. In light of the above characteristics relating to this site and the planning application, 

on this occasion, Sport England considers that the proposals have the potential to 
improve and enhance community sport on this site and prevent the closure of the 
Club.  The provision of an artificial 3G pitch for the community will secure sport-
related benefits for the local community and also meet identified sports development 
priorities and is further discussed below. 

  
198. Local residents argue that the existing artificial pitch is used extensively for various 

recreational purposes and point out that the proposal would change the structure by 
introducing a booking system to use the 3G pitch and therefore removing the 
spontaneous informal sporting activity previously available.   It should be noted 
however that the existing pitch has only been freely accessible to the public since 
2018. Previously, it, and the surrounding areas of Greendale, was fenced off and 
informal access was only possible because parts of the perimeter fence had been 
broken down. The pitch is in a poor state of repair, and notices advise the public 
that they use it at their own risk.  The pitch would not be safe or suitable for formal 
sports. It has to be recognised that the state of the pitch is a result of long term 
neglect by DHFC under their previous lease from the council.  

84



 

75 

   
199. Adopted and emerging policies contain a presumption against the loss of sports 

facilities, including playing fields. The proposal would provide for similar facilities to 
those within the current clubhouse namely squash courts, a main studio space, a 
boxing gym and related changing facilities.  In terms of quantum of indoor facilities, 
there is no net loss in terms of the number of facilities, or the floor area.  The new 
facilities would however, be designed to current, higher standards, within a building 
with improved disabled access and modern standards of heating and ventilation. In 
terms of this aspect of the sports facilities, it is concluded that these would have a 
net benefit in terms of sporting provision, enabling a higher level of participation.   

  
200. The new classrooms within the stadium building will support training and 

educational programmes locally, thereby enhancing the social and community 
contribution of the Club by allowing the Aspire Academy to teach on site (details of 
this could be secured).    

  
201. The applicant has also confirmed that the Club would extend partnering with local 

state secondary schools to provide sports provision through access to grounds, 
facilities and coaching staff. The Club has been in discussions with local schools 
such as the two Charter Schools on providing access to their players as coaches 
and providing facilities including the new stadium pitch and classrooms.  The Club 
are also working with the Charter School which has no playing field provision and 
have had discussions with the James Allen Girl’s School and the St Saviour’s and 
St Olave’s School which lease playing fields next to Greendale.  The Club will 
provide schools with PE coaching support and work to open up community use of 
the two other school playing fields adjacent. 

  
202. The proposed provision of a 3G pitch within the new stadium would also allow its 

use throughout the year at a vastly increased intensity. The nature of the surface 
means that it could be used for up to 60 hours a week. This would allow the Club to 
increase the number of teams it could support (including women’s, seniors and 
youth teams) and allow them to train on site more frequently.  It has been noted that 
the limited resilience of the current turf pitch means that the teams have to do much 
of their training and practice off-site.  It would also enable the Club to offer out their 
facilities to others, including schools, youth groups and clubs. Around 38 hours of 
access in the season (36 hours in close season) for community uses at community 
rates has been offered by the applicant.  The new stadium has been designed with 
this broader use specifically in mind.  The full sized football pitch with a certificated 
playing surface of 100m x 64m plus safety run offs and new floodlights will have 
managed use for recreational and schools small-sided games, community club 
games, and National League.  The configuration means that the pitch could be sub-
divided to allow smaller games (e.g. 5-a-side) to take place simultaneously. 

  
203. Sport England consider the proposed 3G pitch would meet the evidenced strategic 

need for additional 3G pitches to meet current and future demand within the 
borough. Sport England acknowledge that the development will result in the loss of 
a full sized grass pitch, but it is their view (in conjunction with the Football 
Foundation) that the outcomes of this development will have significant benefit to 
the Club and local community which outweigh the loss of grass pitch provision 
through this proposal. 

  
204. The application also proposes an informal multi-functional kick-about space (of 

approximately 277sqm) and public consultation responses had raised concerns over 
its size and its inability to compensate for the loss of the existing artificial pitch. 

85



 

76 

Officers note that the multi-functional kick-about space within Block G (on the 
northern edge of the site) would provide facilities for a range of informal ball sports 
and the games area would be equipped with a combined basketball hoop and 
goalmouth at each end. The location of the kick-about space was selected to 
minimise disturbance to future residents.  In response to Sport England’s comments 
regarding the design and size of this games area, the applicant contests that a 24 x 
12m kick-about space will comfortably accommodate a range of informal sports 
activities. The applicant has also provided examples in Southwark and other London 
boroughs of games areas that are an equivalent size or are smaller and have 
adequately met the needs of the local population.  Sport England has not raised 
objections in their subsequent comments received. 

  
205. Notwithstanding the above, the proposed kick-about space would be free for access 

by the local community and future residents and would be safe and well maintained.  
It is considered that the proposed kick-about space albeit much smaller in size than 
the existing artificial pitch would provide an area suitable for many of the informal 
games and activities currently taking place on the artificial pitch.  This kick-about 
space is free for all to access and there is no need to formally book the use.  

  
206. Whilst there is no objection from Sport England in terms of the loss of the artificial 

pitch and that the application does provide and meet the evidenced strategic need 
for additional 3G pitches to meet current and future demand within the borough, it is 
recognised that in terms of floor area there is a net loss of playing fields.  As an 
additional compensatory benefit for the area, the applicant has offered to use 
reasonable endeavours to secure a lease of not less than 125 years of the St 
Olave’s and St Saviour’s Sports grounds for additional community use such as for 
schools.  This agreement would be between St Saviour’s and St Olave's School and 
DHFC.  Whilst this does not strictly replace the area that exists on the site, the 
potential to secure the St Olave’s grounds is considered an additional community 
benefit. 

  
 Proposed pitch 
207. The FF on behalf of the FA is supportive of this proposal. Throughout the 

discussions between the FF, Sport England and the applicant, further information 
was submitted demonstrating that the pitch would meet the requirements of the 
National League and the Football League and that the artificial pitch surface 
proposed can be maintained to the required standard whilst also allowing for 
community use.   A draft community use agreement (CUA), a detailed Programme 
of Use, maintenance and management plan and a business plan were therefore 
submitted for further consultation and review.   

  
208. The FF raises no objection to the proposed hours.   Officers consider that those 

hours for community use at community rates for a high quality pitch would be a 
benefit whilst ensuring that the intensity of use of the pitch maintains FIFA Quality 
Pro performance accreditation and certification.  The community rates would need 
to be in line with and not exceed those charged in similar facilities owned by the 
council and this would be secured in the CUA. 

  
209. Conditions have been recommended by Sport England, which takes into account 

the FF’s comments on the CUA and the management and maintenance of the pitch.  
An obligation in the s106 requiring the submission of a Pitch management plan 
which includes the CUA and maintenance and management of the pitch to be 
approved is recommended and this agreement shall apply to the proposed pitch and 
changing rooms and include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by non-

86



 

77 

members, management responsibilities and a mechanism for review.    
  
210. Within the CUA would also be a requirement for a community use review committee 

which would include representation from the council.  It will require an annual report 
of all usage, bookings, maintenance and financial matters relating to the community 
use of the sports facilities.  It is considered that this would secure the long term 
community access to the improved pitch. 

  
211. The applicant’s business plan and maintenance and management plan provides 

details of the viability of the new pitch and sports facilities and the planned 
maintenance and periodic resurfacing of the 3G pitch to maintain FIFA Quality Pro 
and FA Grade A certification.  The maintenance and operational management of the 
new pitch will be the responsibility of the Club.  The FF has recommended that the 
Club ensure that a sinking fund (formed by periodically setting aside money to cover 
the resurface and replacement life-cycle costs) is in place to maintain 3G pitch 
quality in the long term. The requirement for the resurfacing works (rubber crumb 
removal and replenishment) should be every 3 years. A sum of £1,500 Sinking Fund 
has been apportioned every year within the business plan which is above the 
recommendation by the FF. This Sinking Fund would be covered by Meadow 
Partners for the first 3 rotations of the above works.  This works out to be 9 years x 
£1,500, totalling £13,500 and would be secured in the s106 agreement. 

  
212. Following the submission of further information by the applicant to Sport England 

and the FF, it was concluded that the points raised have been addressed and they 
are supportive of the new pitch and facility subject to conditions.     A s106 
obligation for a management and maintenance scheme to be submitted is also 
recommended. These would be expected to be devised in consultation with Sport 
England. 

  
213. The proposal and its safeguard measures would mean that the pitch could be used 

more intensively and in more severe weather conditions than the current turf pitch. It 
would also provide an improved community facility for a broad range of users such 
as schools, community clubs and organisations.   

  
214. A small number of amenity groups have commented that in the future the Club may 

request a further expansion of the stadium to a 5,000 spectator capacity and that 
this would further encroach on MOL and should not be permitted.  There has been 
no indication in the current application of plans for further expansion. The planning 
authority is required to determine the application submitted, which is for a 4,000 
capacity stadium. Any application made in the future would be determined on its 
merits with regard to the development plan policies which prevailed at that time. 

  
215. It is important that the Club can continue to play at Champion Hill during demolition 

and construction phases and would not need to decant.  An outline environmental 
management plan has been submitted with the application that gives details of the 
phasing of the works.  Essentially, the redevelopment would commence with the 
construction of the new 3G pitch during which time the existing pitch would remain 
in use.  It would be possible for the Club to play on their current pitch whilst the new 
pitch and stadium building are being constructed.   Once the new pitch, fencing and 
related works are complete the transition would follow.   The stadium building would 
then be the next phase of the construction and when the seating stand is available, 
the Club would move to the new pitch but continue to use facilities in the existing 
stadium building until the new one is complete.  Once the Club has vacated the 
existing pitch, the redevelopment of the residential element of the scheme could 

87



 

78 

commence. 
  
216. In terms of the phasing of the scheme, the FF did not have any objections to this 

approach, but has advised that the Club liaise with the league to ensure they will be 
able to meet ground grading requirements and ensure spectator and player safety.  
A phasing plan would be secured in the s106 agreement to ensure that the new 
pitch and stadium is completed and operational before any development takes place 
on the existing stadium.   The phasing details would also require confirmation from 
the league that the ground grading requirements and spectator/player safety would 
be met.   Sport England and the FF have both accepted this approach. 

  
 Housing use 
217. The development also includes 219 new housing units. Housing is a priority use in 

the development plan, recognising the urgent need for additional homes in London. 
Housing use is also consistent with the draft site allocation in the NSP. 
Notwithstanding the policies relating to open space and sports facilities set out 
above, the inclusion of housing in the development would be acceptable in principle.  
This issue is set out in more detail in Chapter 6 below. 

  
 Environmental impact assessment 

 
218. An application under planning ref 18/AP/4025 for an Environmental Impact 

Assessment (EIA) screening opinion was submitted and determined in December 

2018.  This was for a scheme of a similar size and layout to the current application, 

with a new stadium and grounds and 235 residential units. This Screening Opinion 

was carried out in accordance with Regulation 6 of the Town and Country Planning 

(EIA) Regulations 2017. 

  

219. As it is a similar scale and nature of development, Officers consider that the same 

conclusions would apply to the current application.  The proposed development 

does not fall within the definition of Schedule 1. Consequently the proposed 

development would constitute Schedule 2 development within the meaning of the 

EIA Regulations if the corresponding threshold in Column 2 of the table in Schedule 

2 is exceeded or met.  The screening was therefore assessed against Schedule 3 of 

the EIA Regulations. 

  

220. Based on the assessment, it was concluded that the proposed development would 

not be likely to have effects upon the environment by virtue of factors such as its 

nature, size or location which are of more than localised significance.  The use and 

scale is appropriate to its suburban setting and it is unlikely to give rise to any 

significant environmental impacts.  The proposed development was therefore not 

considered to constitute EIA development. 

  

88



 

79 

 

 CHAPTER 6 

 Housing provision 

  
221. Saved policy 4.2 of the Southwark Plan provides guidance on what constitutes good 

residential development and states that planning permission will be granted for 
mixed use schemes where they achieve good quality living conditions including high 
standards of accessibility, privacy and outlook, natural daylight, ventilation, amenity 
space, safety and security and protection from pollution. Detailed guidance is 
provided in the council’s adopted Residential Design guidance and Sustainable 
Design and Construction SPDs.  

  
 Density 
222. Density gives a numerical measure of the amount (intensity) of development and 

provides an indication of whether the scale of development is likely to be 
appropriate in different parts of the borough. A density above the expected range 
would not in itself necessarily lead to a conclusion that the scheme should be 
judged unacceptable. If it can be demonstrated that the scheme would achieve a 
high standard of design, including quality of accommodation, and there are no 
significant adverse impacts arising to neighbour amenity for example, then the 
higher density of the scheme alone would not be a reason to warrant refusing 
planning permission. 

  
223. Core Strategy Strategic Policy 5 Providing new homes sets the expected density 

range for new residential development across the borough.  The site is located in 
the Suburban density zone (Middle) which permits a density range of 200-350 
habitable rooms per hectare (HR/Ha). There is a general expectation that 
development will comply with the densities indicated.  However, as discussed in the 
following paragraphs, the general approach following the draft New London Plan 
policies on density is that site capacity should be optimised and this would be 
through a design-led approach.   

  
224. The nature of the proposed development means that the calculation of density is 

more complex and as such three calculations have been provided in the table 
below. The whole site area including stadium, the pitch, roads, kick-about space 
and the green link would be 2.84Ha.  However, this is broken down further to 
exclude areas that are not the residential elements of the scheme (the stadium, the 
3G pitch etc). 

  
225. Table: Density of development  

Area calculated (excluding wider Greendale Fields) Density (HR/Ha) 

Whole site within red line (2.84 hectares) 313 
Excluding proposed 3G pitch and stadium buildings (1.74 
hectares) 

455 

Excluding proposed 3G pitch, stadium buildings, green 
link and kick-about space, access road ie. main 
residential area only (approximately 1.26 hectares) 

627 

 

89



 

80 

226. From the above, it can be seen that if the stadium areas are excluded the density is 
greater than the ranges that are set out in Strategic Policy 5 of the Core Strategy.  

  
227. The general approach to development density and optimising site capacity has 

changed since that 2016 scheme and the draft new London Plan  removes the 
density matrix and instead provides a framework that would enable the most 
appropriate form of development that responds to the site’s context and capacity for 
growth.  Policy D3 of the draft New London Plan seeks to optimise site capacity 
through following the design led approach in development proposals.   The 
Inspector’s report on the draft new London Plan raises no objection to the removal 
of the density matrix.  The removal of the density matrix places the emphasis more 
on the standard of design that responds to local character and form.  

  
228. The planning policies in the emerging NSP (Submission Version 2020) no longer 

include the density ranges that were included in the earlier submission version of 
the NSP.  Instead, Policy P11 ‘Efficient use of land’ requires that development will 
be permitted that maximises the use of land.  In this regard, P14 ‘Residential 
Design’ requires development to achieve an exemplary standard of residential 
design taking into account context, amenity of neighbours, and the quality of 
accommodation. This approach, where the test for an acceptable density of 
development is assessed through the quality of the design rather than assumed 
numeric density range, is consistent with the emerging policy in the draft New 
London Plan which similarly removes the numeric density ranges and places much 
greater emphasis on the importance of good design. 

  
229. The current scheme is slightly higher than the densities in the 2016 scheme. The 

proposal under this current application however, demonstrates and justifies how it 
provides a high quality of design quality within the proposed density.  Furthermore, 
there are other regeneration benefits in this scheme (such as policy compliant mix, 
circa 38% affordable dwellings) that were not demonstrated in the 2016 scheme. 

  
230. Officers are satisfied that the proposed design quality of the buildings and its impact 

on the townscape and neighbour amenity justifies the higher density.  The GLA also 
supports the density proposed and considers that the residential quality across the 
scheme is supported and positively responds to the good practice principles within 
the Mayor’s Housing SPG. The design and quality of accommodation are set out in 
further detail in separate sections of this report and the table below summarises the 
proposal against the SPD requirements.   

  
  

Exemplary residential 
design criteria from 
Southwark Residential 
Design Standards SPD 
 

Commentary  

Provide for bulk storage Each of the proposed apartments would have built-in 
storage in compliance with the Residential Design 
Standards SPD.   
 

Exceed minimum 
privacy distances  
 

Minimum privacy distances would be exceeded.   

Achieve good sunlight 
and daylight standards 

With the exception of only a few rooms, good daylight 
and sunlight levels would be achieved. This matter is 

90



 

81 

discussed in more detail in a subsequent part of this 
report. 
 

Exceed minimum ceiling 
heights of 2.3 metres 

All rooms within all proposed dwellings would have 
floor-to-ceiling heights of at least 2.3 metres. 
  

Exceed amenity space 
standards (both private 
and communal) 

All dwellings would have private amenity space, with 
all the family dwellings having at least 10 square 
metres. To compensate for some of the smaller 
dwellings having private amenity spaces of less than 
10 square metres, communal amenity spaces of a 
commensurately more generous size have been 
provided. This is discussed in more detail in a 
subsequent part of this report. 
 

Secure by Design 
certification  

The scheme would be capable of achieving Secure by 
Design accreditation. Conditions to require this are 
recommended.  
 

No more than 5% studio 
apartments 
 

None of the proposed units would be studio 
apartments.  

Maximise the potential 
of the site 

The potential of the site would be maximised, 
delivering new dwellings (of which a policy compliant 
proportion would be family-sized units) and would not 
significantly impact on the neighbouring residents’ 
amenity.  The scale and height are considered broadly 
acceptable.   
 

Include a minimum 10% 
of units that are suitable 
for wheelchair users 
 

10% of the proposed units would be suitable for 
wheelchair users. This is discussed in more detail in a 
subsequent part of this report. 

Excellent accessibility 
within buildings 

All dwellings would benefit from lift and stair access to 
all floors.   
   

Exceptional 
environmental 
performance 

The environmental performance would be fully policy 
compliant, taking into account a contribution to the 
Carbon Offset Fund. 
    

Minimised noise 
nuisance between 
apartments through 
vertical stacking of 
similar room types  

The proposed development achieves good stacking.  
Specific performance glazing is proposed to windows 
to minimise noise.  The design has been amended to 
guide the public through the site without significant 
noise and disturbance to future occupants.  
  

Make a positive 
contribution to local 
context, character and 
communities 

The proposed development would make a positive 
contribution to local context, character and 
communities in terms of its quality of design and 
regeneration benefits including affordable housing, 
new community facility and new public spaces.  
  

Include a predominance 
of dual aspect units 

The scheme would have 52.5% of the total units (115 
units) as dual aspect.   

91



 

82 

 The outlook of these units is however, very good, 
having good views out onto communal gardens and 
playspace.  Mitigation is also proposed in the form of 
well laid-out dwellings and exceeding minimum flat 
sizes.  On balance, it is considered that this would be 
acceptable.   
 

Have natural light and 
ventilation in all kitchens 
and bathrooms 

This would not be achieved because some bathrooms 
would be internal. However, this is considered 
permissible in the interests of achieving a rational and 
efficient building layout.  
 

At least 60% of units 
contain two or more 
bedrooms  
 

Over 60% of the total number of units across all 
tenures would have two or more bedrooms. 
 

Significantly exceed the 
minimum floor space 
standards 
 

All units would meet and some exceed the space 
standards.   
 

Minimise corridor 
lengths by having 
additional cores  

Each core serves no more than eight dwellings. 
 

 

  
231. For these reasons, it is considered that the design quality is sufficient to 

demonstrate that the higher density would not harm amenity. It is also consistent 
with the broader approach to optimising development through high quality design as 
set out in the emerging NSP and draft New London Plan. 
 

 Affordable housing and viability  

232. The development would provide a minimum 35.4% affordable housing in a policy-
compliant spilt of 72:28 social rented:intermediate housing. The development would 
provide 25.5% of the total habitable rooms as social rented housing which also 
meets the NSP requirement for 25% of the total housing being delivered at social 
rents. If the selected RP partner is able to secure grant, the applicant has confirmed 
that the affordable housing provision would be increased to 38%. 

  
233. The NPPF states that local planning authorities should set policies for affordable 

housing need on site, unless off-site provision or a financial contribution of broadly 
equivalent value can be robustly justified and the agreed approach contributes to 
the objective of creating mixed and balanced communities. The key relevant policy 
within the London Plan in relation to affordable housing is 3.12, Part A of which 
requires the maximum reasonable amount of affordable to be sought. Part B of the 
policy sets out that negotiation on sites should take account of their individual 
circumstances including development viability, while Part C is concerned with off-
site provision.  Strategic policy 6 of the Core Strategy requires major developments 
to provide a minimum of 35% affordable housing. A 70:30 tenure split between 
social rented and intermediate housing is expected in this area as stipulated in the 
Saved Policy 4.4 of the Southwark Plan. Adopted London Plan policy 3.12 seeks 
new development to secure the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing 
is provided.  

  
234. The public comments received generally support the provision of additional housing, 

with respondents recognising the shortage in this part of the borough. 

92



 

83 

  
235. The emerging NSP Policy P1 sets a requirement for a minimum of 25% of all the 

housing to be provided as social rented and a minimum of 10% intermediate 
housing to be provided when calculated by the total habitable rooms - this equates 
to 71.5% social housing and 28.5% intermediate housing.   

  
236. Following design amendments, the total habitable rooms in the scheme has been 

reduced.  In total, 791 habitable rooms would be provided in the development.  The 
development would provide a minimum of 280 affordable habitable rooms which 
would equate to an overall provision of 35.4%. The level of provision is therefore 
acceptable and policy compliant, exceeding the minimum 35%.  The selected 
partner RP would be required to submit an application to the GLA for affordable 
housing grant. If the current grant rate of £28,000 per unit was secured, the grant 
funding of £1.12 million would enable the applicant to increase the affordable 
housing provision to 38% (300 habitable rooms).  

  
  

Table:  Tenure mix by habitable rooms minimum 35%  

 Private Hab. 

Rooms  

Social Rented  Intermediate 

 

Total  

No. of 

habitable 

rooms 

511 202 78 791 

Percentage (%) 64.6 25.5 9.9 100 
 

  
  

Table:  Tenure mix by habitable rooms minimum 38%  

 Private Hab. 

Rooms  

Social Rented  Intermediate 

 

Total  

No. of 

habitable 

rooms 

491 216 84 791 

Percentage (%) 63.1 27.3 10.6 100 
 

  
237. The above table shows that the scheme would provide the policy compliant 

affordable tenure habitable rooms.  There is a slight deviation from the 70:30 
required by Saved policy 4.4 of the Southwark Plan, however this deviation is not 
considered to be significant and the greater proportion of social rented units is 
welcomed given the greater need in the borough 

  
238. In the GLA’s Stage 1 response, they say that the Mayor’s preference is for 

affordable rent products to be secured at London Affordable Rent benchmark levels, 
and for intermediate shared ownership products to follow their income ranges and 
limits.   

  

239. The Mayor’s comment on affordable rent is noted, but the council has identified 

93



 

84 

need for social rented housing and this is reflected in Southwark’s stated policy 

requirement, in both adopted and emerging policies, for social rented housing.  As 

such, the rents should be calculated the same way as social rents, using the 

formula set out in the HCA Rent Standard Guidance. 

  

 Viability 
240. The regional policies and guidance relating to affordable housing are set out in the 

London Plan and the Mayor’s Housing supplementary planning guidance (2016). 
London Plan policies 3.11 and 3.12 seek to maximise the delivery of affordable 
housing, setting a strategic target of 50% across London. The council’s Affordable 
Housing and Viability SPD 2008 states that “the LPA will endeavour to secure 50% 
of all new dwellings provided in Southwark as affordable in accordance with the 
London Plan”. 

  
241. Policy H6 of the draft London Plan sets a threshold approach to viability, and where 

land is either in public ownership, or is in industrial use, it would be required to 
provide 50% affordable housing to qualify for the Mayors ‘fast track’ approach to 
viability. This does not mean that a development must provide 50% affordable 
housing, but that quantum would be required to avoid going through viability testing 
at the application stage.  The GLA in their Stage 1 report on this application 
considered that since the site includes a portion of both private and public land, 
there should be a ‘blended’ approach to the threshold level, which effectively 
considered the proportion of land in private and public ownership.  The GLA 
calculated that the threshold level for viability testing should be 39.88% affordable 
housing. 

  
242. The public sector land in question is the existing artificial pitch.  As set out 

elsewhere in this report, the housing is not being delivered on this public land, but it 
is the relocation of the pitch onto this land which enables the housing to be built on 
the existing stadium land. 

  
243. The adopted local plan (the saved Southwark Plan policies and the Core Strategy) 

do not contain any provision for a ‘fast track’ approach. The NSP does introduce this 
concept, with the threshold set at 40%, with no special requirements for public 
sector land. This policy can be given limited weight, since it is a new policy which 
has not yet been through an EiP. 

  
244. In any case, the applicant is not seeking to apply the “Fast track route’ provisions (in 

terms of avoiding submission and scrutiny of a viability appraisal, or re-testing 
through a late stage review). Therefore the maximum reasonable level of affordable 
housing has been tested through the viability appraisal, and the applicants offer of 
affordable housing should be given due weight in the consideration of the 
application. 

  
245. As originally submitted, the applicant proposed 224 homes, of which 40.25% were 

affordable (when measured by habitable rooms). This equated to 83 affordable 
homes. Following revisions to the massing to address concerns about the 
townscape impacts and housing quality, the total number of homes reduced to 219, 
and the developer reduced the corresponding number of affordable homes to 73. 
This now equates to 35.4% when measured by habitable rooms. These homes 
would be delivered as 52 social rent and 21 intermediate (shared ownership).  This 
is the minimum number of affordable homes guaranteed to be delivered in the 
scheme. However, the applicant is confident that their partner RP, once selected, 

94



 

85 

would be able to secure grant of £1.12m to enable additional affordable housing to 
be delivered. This would secure 38% affordable housing and would deliver 56 social 
rented and 21 intermediate homes (with a corresponding reduction in the number of 
private market homes).  The number of intermediate homes would not increase, but 
the homes would be larger hence the higher number of habitable rooms in that 
tenure. 

  
246. The applicant submitted a Financial Viability Appraisal (FVA) prepared by consultant 

Redloft.  This was updated in April 2020 to reflect the changes to the scheme. The 
FVA was scrutinised on behalf of the council by expert valuers BPS. Following 
negotiations, BPS have concluded that the minimum affordable housing offer of 
35.4% meets the minimum policy requirement of 35%, and significantly exceeds the 
maximum reasonable level of affordable housing that the scheme could support 
when taking into account the FVA. 

  
247. In reaching this conclusion, BPS had regard to a number of factors.  The most 

critical of these are as follows. 
  
248. The land was ascribed a benchmark land value of nil (ie the appraisal assumed no 

cost to acquire the land).  However, the applicant’s FVA did suggest that the 
construction of the new stadium should be considered as an ‘enabling development’ 
for the wider scheme. The term ‘enabling development’ is often used where a new 
development which may not fully accord with policy is deemed acceptable because 
it funds works of a social value as part of a wider scheme.  The NPPF at para 202 
uses the example of securing the conservation of a heritage asset, which might be 
enabled by allowing new housing in its grounds. 

  
249. In the case of the current application, whilst acknowledging the community benefits 

of the new stadium, Officers do not consider the development should strictly be 
seen as ‘enabling’. However, in reality this conclusion has little impact on the overall 
conclusions in terms of viability. The land has been ascribed nil value, and the costs 
of providing the new stadium, pitch and related facilities is given as £11.418 million. 
Whether this cost is used to effectively reflect a land value, or simply as a cost to 
the overall scheme, is immaterial to the outcome of the FVA process.  The cost of 
the stadium given by the applicants has been accepted by BPS as properly 
reflecting the cost of providing the stadium facilities. It is noted that no value has 
been ascribed to the completed stadium, which would be passed to the council at nil 
cost.  As such, the developer would not get a capital receipt from the stadium. 

  
250. Taking into account all of the costs and values related to the overall development, 

BPS have concluded that the development would achieve a residual profit of £5.161 
million. This would equate to a profit on the Gross Development Value (GDV) of 
5.7%. This would compare to the applicants stated profit expectation of 17.7% of 
GDV, or BPS’s lower reasonable expectation of 15.61%.  Both of these are 
‘blended’ profit levels taking into account the different levels of profit for the different 
elements of the scheme (for instance, affordable housing is usually ascribed a much 
lower level of profit due to its lower risk to the developer).   

  
251. It is clear therefore that the offer of minimum 35.4% affordable housing, in a policy 

compliant tenure split, exceeds the maximum reasonable amount of affordable 
housing which could be delivered within a viable scheme. 

  
252. The developer does not currently have a Registered Provider (RP) in contract for 

the homes.  The FVA states that the developer would expect the chosen RP to 

95



 

86 

apply for grant from the GLA for the uplift in homes from the maximum viable 
amount (around 17%) to the ‘with grant’ amount being offered (38%), equating to 40 
additional affordable homes.  At the GLA’s standard grant rate of £28,000 per home 
within this category, this could equate to £1.12m additional subsidy for the scheme. 
However, it is recommended that the s106 agreement should secure the affordable 
housing as a minimum of 35.4% regardless of any grant which may or may not be 
secured at a later date, with the higher level of 38% being required in the event that 
grant is secured. 

  
253. If planning permission is granted, it is recommended that the s106 agreement 

should secure a review of the viability if the scheme has not been substantially 
commenced within 2 years of the permission date.  In addition, a late stage review 
should be carried out prior to the occupation of 75% of the new homes.  This would 
test whether changes in market values or construction cost savings, for instance, 
have lead to the development becoming more viable and able to contribute 
additional affordable housing above 35.4%. This review would also be able to take 
account of any positive impact on viability if grant is secured. 

  
254. Taking all of the above into account, it is concluded that the minimum offer of 35.4% 

affordable housing (73 homes) can be demonstrated to be substantially more than 
the financial viability testing shows can be supported at the current time. Any 
improvement in viability, whereby a profit above the threshold level of 15.61% of 
GDV was achieved, would result in additional affordable housing being required. It 
is further noted that the FVA took account of CIL liabilities, but did not account for 
the additional s106 contributions, for instance for management of the spaces and 
improvements to Greendale, which have been secured as shown in chapter 11. It is 
therefore concluded that the delivery of affordable housing is a positive benefit of 
this overall development, which can be given significant weight when reaching a 
decision on the application. 

  
 Dwelling mix 
255. Strategic policy 7 Family Homes of the Core Strategy requires that at least 60% of 

the homes should have 2 or more bedrooms.  In the suburban zone, at least 30% 
should have 3 or more bedrooms.  For ease, the table below sets out the housing 
mix again.  As can be seen below, the proposed development would comply with 
the mix set out in the above Core Strategy policy.  Of those 3 bedroom units, there 
would be 31 that are affordable, equating to 40% of all of the affordable units which 
is a benefit of the scheme.  No studio units are proposed.  

  
 Table:  Housing mix 

Unit type Number of units Percentage (%) 
1 bedroom unit 82 37.44 
2 bedroom unit  71 32.42 
3 bedroom unit  66 30.1 
Total 219 100 

 

  
 Wheelchair housing  
256. The London Plan Policy 3.8 requires 10% of new housing to be designed to be 

wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable for residents who are wheelchair users 
(Building Regulations requirement M4 (3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’).  Saved 
Policy 4.3 of the Southwark Plan support this, requiring 10% of new dwellings to be 
suitable for wheelchair users, except where this is not possible due to the physical 
constraints of the site.  London Plan Policy 3.8 also requires 90% of new housing 

96



 

87 

meets Building Regulations requirement M4 (2) ‘accessible and adaptable’.   
  
257. A total of 22 wheelchair units are proposed across the scheme.  This equates to just 

over 10% of the units.  In terms of habitable rooms, this would be 12.2%.   
  
258. There would be 10 No. wheelchair social rented and 12 No. wheelchair private 

units. The scheme therefore provides a mix of dwelling sizes and tenures including 
family homes and is welcomed. The wheelchair units would meet the minimum 
sizes set out in Table 3 of the Residential Design Standards SPD. 

  
259. The wheelchair housing would be secured through the s106 agreement.  A 

condition requiring specific Building Regulations Part M standards for the different 
tenures is recommended.  

  
 Quality of residential accommodation 

  
260. Saved Policy 4.2 of the Southwark Plan advises that planning permission will be 

granted provided the proposal achieves good quality living conditions.  The 
standards in relation to internal layout are set out in the adopted Residential Design 
Standards SPD 2015 and include guidance on overlooking as well as requiring the 
minimum size.  The following paragraphs set out the internal daylight, dual aspect 
within the proposed residential units, overlooking issues, amenity space, child play 
space and noise implications.   

  
261. The development has been arranged as six main blocks with Blocks A and D 

conjoined.  There would not be more than 8 units accessing off one core, in line with 
Mayor’s guidance. .   

97



 

88 

  
 Plan: Typical layout of upper floors in Affordable Block C 

 

 
 

98



 

89 

  

 Plan: Typical layout of upper floors in Affordable Block A (access to the glazed link 
block via the core in Block D) 

 

 
 

99



 

90 

  

 Image: Indicative layouts across site 

 
  

 Unit sizes 

262. All proposed homes would meet or exceed the size standards as set out in the 
Residential Design Standards SPD. The following table sets out the minimum flat 
size requirements as set out in the SPD, and also the flat sizes that would be 
achieved: 

  

 Table:  Unit types and proposed size of units (excluding wheelchair units) 

 
 

Unit Type SPD Requirement (sqm) Size range proposed 

(sqm) 

1 Bed 2 Person (flat) 50 50.1- 53.9 

2 Bed 3 Person (flat) 61  63.9 - 67.8 

2 Bed 4 Person (flat) 70  70.2 - 76.2   

3 Bed 4 Person (flat) 74 76 - 84 

3 Bed 5 Person (Flat) 86  86.2 - 90.8  

  
263. The individual room sizes would also meet the minimum standards. The living 

spaces are open plan living kitchen dining rooms and front onto balconies and 
private amenity space areas.   

  
 Internal daylight within the proposed residential units 
264. A daylight and sunlight report based on the Building Research Establishment (BRE) 

Guidance has been submitted which considers daylight to the proposed dwellings 
using the Average Daylight Factor (ADF). ADF is a measure of the overall amount 

100



 

91 

of diffuse daylight within a room. It is the average of the daylight factors across the 
working plane within a room. ADF determines the natural internal light or daylight 
appearance of a room and the BRE guidance recommends an ADF of 1% for 
bedrooms, 1.5% for living rooms and 2% for kitchens. This also adopts an ADF of 
2% for shared open plan living room/kitchens/dining (LKD’s).  

  
265. The applicant’s submitted report notes that they have used the 1.5% value for the 

open plan LKD’s.  Officers do not accept this approach and have adopted the 
recommended BRE guide of 2% for these rooms.  With that in mind, the results of 
the ADF tests demonstrate that 632 of the 643 rooms assessed meet the BRE 
guidance criteria. This 98% compliance rate is considered to be excellent.  The 
rooms that fall below the targets are predominantly bedrooms (8 No.) that generally 
achieve levels within 0.1%-0.3% of the BRE target value. The deviations are 
considered to be exceptionally minor and occupants would still receive adequate 
daylight. There is one bedroom that would only have a value of 0.5 (within a two 
bedroom ground floor flat in Block A), but this is to a secondary single bedroom.  It 
is also to a bedroom where light is typically less important given the nature and 
general time of use.   

  
266. The 3 No. open plan LKDs achieve an ADF value of between 1.6 - 1.8%.  This is not 

considered to be significantly lower than the 2% recommended value.  The units 
would also have very good outlook.  Overall, the future occupants would experience 
good levels of daylight. 

  
 Overlooking within the development 
267. The Residential Design Standards SPD recommends a minimum of 21m between 

the backs of properties to prevent any overlooking, and 12m where properties would 
face each other across a highway or other public realm.    

  
268. The proposed blocks have been arranged so that there is sufficient privacy 

distances between them to avoid direct overlooking.  The blocks are generally 
separated by communal amenity and playspace.  It is noted that there is a shorter 
separation distance between Blocks B and E in the central part of the site.  
However, the positioning of the windows and balconies between these blocks has 
been carefully designed to avoid direct overlooking.   

  
 Aspect and Outlook 
269.  The scheme would have 52.5% of the total units (115 units) as fully dual aspect.  

Looking at this by tenures, 49.3% of the affordable units would be dual aspect with 
the private units offering 54.2%.  This is a relatively high proportion of single aspect 
units.  However, all single aspect units have a window on the side of a projecting 
bay which would give some limited benefit in terms of sunlight penetration and 
ventilation. Whilst these units could not be described as dual aspect, they could be 
considered an enhanced form of single aspect.   The units have good views out 
onto communal gardens and playspace.  Some of the single aspect units would also 
have views over the new public linear route to the south.  There are no physical 
obstructions immediately in front of the single aspect units.  None of the single 
aspect units are north facing (they have a more north-easterly view). On balance, 
whilst the relatively low proportion of dual aspect units is a less positive feature of 
the scheme, it is considered that it does not significantly harm the overall quality of 
the accommodation.  

  
 Amenity space and playspace 
270. All new residential development must provide an adequate amount of useable 

101



 

92 

outdoor amenity space. The Residential Design Standards SPD sets out the 
required amenity space standards which can take the form of private gardens and 
balconies, shared terraces and roof gardens. Policy 3.6 of the adopted London Plan 
requires new developments to make provision for play areas based on the expected 
child population of the development. Children's play areas should be provided at a 
rate of 10sqm per child bed space (covering a range of age groups).   

  
 Private and communal amenity space 
271. The following amount of amenity space would need to be provided as clarified 

further in the council’s SPD: 

• For units containing 3 or more bedrooms, 10sqm of private amenity space as 
required by the SPD; 

• For units containing 2 bedrooms or less, ideally 10sqm of private amenity 
space, with any shortfall added to the communal space; and 50sqm communal 
amenity space per block as required by the SPD. 

  
272. In the proposed development, private amenity would be provided for all of the 

residential units in the form of balconies or terraces. Communal amenity spaces for 
residents would be provided in the form of roof terraces on the top floor.  In addition 
to the roof terraces, the landscaped areas on the ground floor are accessible to all 
future occupants.  

  
273. All balconies would have a minimum area of 3sqm with the family sized units having 

a minimum of 10sqm.  Some of the units on the top floors also have larger sized 
terraces. It is noted that there will be a shortfall in private amenity space for each 
block but where the full recommended provision of 10sqm per residential unit has 
not been provided, the shortfall has been added to the communal requirement. 

  
274. The table below summarises the shortfall for each block, what should be provided 

and what is proposed.  
 

 Table: Amenity space shortfall 

Block Total shortfall in 
private amenity 
space in each 
block (sqm)  

Communal 
space per 
block SPD 
requirement 
(sqm) 

Total 
communal 
space 
required 
(sqm)  

Communal 
amenity 
space 
achieved  

A 62.5 50 112.5 124 
B 88.8 50 138.8 112 
C 67.6 50 117.6 158 
D 65.3 50 115.3 118 
E 100.7 50 150.7 162 
F 85 50 135 175 

 

  
275. As seen above, apart from Block B, all the other blocks would achieve the minimum 

communal amenity space when taking into account the shortfall of private amenity 
space. Whilst Block B would have a shortfall of 26.8sqm, this is not considered to be 
a significant amount for this scale of development.  Furthermore, the landscaped 
areas on the ground levels around Block B could be used communally by the future 
residents. The council’s adopted S106 Planning Obligations and CIL SPD does 
state that in exceptional circumstances where adequate amenity space cannot be 
provided on site and where this is demonstrated through a Design and Access 
Statement which has considered reasonable options for the provision of on-site 
amenity space, the council will seek a s106 planning obligation to help improve 

102



 

93 

open space elsewhere near to the development site.  In this instance, there is no 
scope to increase the roof of the building to provide the required communal amenity 
space and any changes to balconies would impact on the design and appearance of 
the building.  The shortfall of 26.8sqm amenity space therefore would require a 
financial contribution of £5,494 (£205 per sqm) and will be secured by the s106 
agreement.  

  
276. The communal green spaces in between and around the residential blocks would be 

landscaped with planting, grass, trees and footpaths.  Children’s playspace would 
also be within these central amenity areas.  Members of the public are free to walk 
through the middle of the site during daylight hours, but the landscaping treatment 
and orientation of the windows to overlook the central gardens gives the space a 
semi-private feel.  The gardens between Blocks D and E and between Blocks E and 
F have been separated from the green link by a change in levels incorporating 
ramps, a set of railings incorporating gates that can be closed at night, and a line of 
planting. These measures would subtly indicate the difference in character between 
the fully public green link and the semi-private spaces between the buildings.  

  
277. The original submission had allowed a central pedestrian path through to the 

stadium building from Abbotswood Road.  However, amended plans now show that 
Blocks A and D would be joined and would omit the route through to the stadium.  
This would provide further privacy for residents and make it clear that the route to 
the stadium is via the designated public routes (the road to the north or the green 
link to the south).     
 

 Children’s play space 
278. The Mayor’s SPG ‘Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation (2012) 

recommends a standard of 10sqm per child, regardless of age to be provided in 
major new developments.  In line with the Mayor's SPG (using the October 2019 
calculator) the development would generate a child yield of 100.6 and therefore 
would be required to provide 1,006sqm of children's playspace for a range of 
children across all ages.  Approximately half of this is required to be provided as 
door step play (children under 5) with the remainder allocated for children above this 
age group. 

  
279. A total of approximately 1,043sqm playspace would be provided across the site.  As 

noted by the GLA in their Stage 1 comments, the provision of playspace is above 
the overall requirements of the Play and Informal Recreation SPG, when assessed 
across all age groups.  

  

280. Full details of the design and facilities to be provided within of the child playspace 
have not been submitted with the application documentation. However areas of play 
space have been indicated within the private communal courtyards and within the 
southern green link.  The type of play equipment for different age groups would be a 
mix of interactive landforms that provide for integrated games, timber stepping play, 
play sculptures, outdoor gym, youth shelters, climbing structures and seating. These 
play areas are located and designed with an appropriate buffer area so as to avoid 
disruption to the future occupiers.  The playspace is accessible to the future 
occupiers as well as the public, but whilst the green link would be open at all times, 
there would be gates that close at night to discourage members of the public 
entering these areas to protect the amenity of the future occupiers.  The gates 
would enclose the play areas marked E, F and G in the plan below.  The central 
spinal route would however, remain open.  A condition is recommended to secure 
further details of the play equipment in these areas.    

103



 

94 

 
 Image:  Landscape strategy 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 Conclusions on outdoor amenity space, children’s play space and public open 
space 

281. Sufficient outdoor space has been designated to meet the private amenity and 
children playspace requirements of the Residential Design SPD and the Mayor's 
SPG.   There is a minor shortfall of communal amenity space for one of the blocks, 
but this is mitigated by the ground floor communal areas and a s106 contribution in 
line with the S106 Planning Obligations and CIL SPD.  Overall, the residents would 
have a good level and quality of outdoor space.  

  
 Noise and disturbance and Agent of Change 

282. The immediate context is characterised by residential uses to the south, the 
Sainsbury’s retail store to the north, the existing football ground and the adjacent 
areas of open space.  

  
283. The noise impact assessment submitted considered noise impacts from plant 

equipment, on match days and from the Sainsbury’s service yard.  The existing 
noise environment and noise levels are primarily characterised by overhead aircraft 
and noise from local and distant roads.  The northern boundary of the site adjoins a 
supermarket service yard which generates noise during deliveries and loading.  The 
football stadium would also form part of the noise character of the area but only with 
significant elevated noise levels on match days.   

  
284. The existing recreation and sporting use of the site is a long established and lawful 

operation. The intensity of use and capacity of the stadium is not substantially 
greater than the potential of the existing facilities. The current stadium provides a 
capacity for 3,000 spectators (with a maximum design capacity of 3,334 people) and 

104



 

95 

this would increase to 4,000 with the proposal to meet current FA requirements for 
Category A and to enable progression to the National League.  Officers do note 
however that the position of the stadium and football pitch would change, altering 
the location and source of noise. This section of the report discusses the quality of 
residential accommodation in terms of noise impacts and the application of the 
Agent of Change principle.  

  
 Noise impact on commercial uses and future residents 
285. Paragraph 182 of the NPPF defines the Agent of Change principle as follows: 

“Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development can be 
integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (such as 
places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing businesses and 
facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 
development permitted after they were established.” 

  
286. In the Stage 1 comments, the GLA had noted that the council should secure 

measures to ensure that the interfaces of the proposed development with the 
supermarket car park and loading area is well handled with respect to ‘Agent of 
Change’ principles.  The noise impact assessment submitted considered noise 
impacts from plant equipment, on match days and from the Sainsbury’s service 
yard.  The noise impact assessment concludes that the proposed residential 
development should not cause any adverse impacts for existing residential and 
commercial neighbours or hinder the current activities.  Further discussion on 
existing residential neighbours is in a subsequent section of this report.  

  
287. The Sainbury’s store has submitted an objection detailing the technical reasons why 

and how the proposed development would impact on their operation of the store.  
They argue that the proposed residential element of the scheme would be adjacent 
to, and in some cases overlooks the store’s existing servicing access and yard and 
other associated plant.  In particular the noticeable noise effects of deliveries to 
external areas of properties (the balconies) are likely to be a cause for complaints 
from future residents and thereby leading to restrictions being placed upon the 
existing Sainsbury’s store and conflicting with paragraph 182 of the NPPF.  The 
applicant subsequently provided an updated technical note in response to this.   

  
288. The Sainsbury store was designed without the expectation of having residential 

near-neighbours.  There are no current planning restrictions on the hours of use of 
its service yard. The council’s Environmental Protection Team (EPT) officer has 
reviewed the submissions and considers that with the mitigation measures 
proposed the noise levels experienced by the new residents should not be so 
severe that they would result in unreasonable restrictions placed on the retail store.  
The applicant proposes upgraded glazing for windows that overlook the service 
yard.  In relation to road noise it also recommends balcony treatments (glazed gap-
free balustrades and absorption on soffits) and whilst it does not mention these for 
balconies affected by service noise Officers suggest these should also be required 
for balconies with a line of sight to the service yard.  Condition securing these 
details is recommended. 

  
289. There would also be plant rooms proposed along with the substation. All of the 

proposed dwellings are to be ventilated by means of whole house ventilation 
systems with heat recovery (MVHR) units, which enable the flats to be ventilated 
and cooled without the windows being opened. The windows however can still be 
opened if the residents chose to do so. It has been assessed that there would not 
be any significant adverse noise impacts with the windows open during day and 

105



 

96 

night time hours. Other forms of mitigation will be delivered through the optimisation 
of the sound insulation of the building envelope. Preliminary glazing performance 
requirements for windows have been recommended and essentially a more 
enhanced specification of glazing is proposed principally on the facades with a 
direct line of sight of the supermarket service yard and the stadium building.  In 
summary, the development proposes adequate mitigation measures to ensure that 
residents would not be subject to significant adverse noise impacts and thus would 
not place unreasonable restrictions on the Sainsbury’s store. 

  
290. In terms of crowd control and disturbance, the applicant has submitted a draft 

Stadium management plan and a technical note on match day pedestrian volume 
detailing how spectators are managed following the introduction of the residential 
dwellings on the site and the increase in spectator capacity.  In summary, match 
day access to the stadium is proposed via three sets of staffed turnstiles in the 
northeast, south-east and south-west corners of the pitch. The north-east access is 
proposed exclusively for away fans in order to allow for segregation of fans in 
accordance with FA standards.  The routing options and limited duration of the 
events mean noise would remain reasonable and not significantly different to the 
existing relationship with current residents.  The Stadium management plan will deal 
with public safety, crime prevention and related local transport management issues.  
One of the components within the stadium management plan would be event 
management. It is expected that the event management plan will be finalised in 
consultation with the Police and other emergency services and the council’s 
transport and highways departments.  An interim event management plan would 
also need to be secured for separate phases of the development before works start 
on the existing grounds.   

  
 Image:  Navigation for fans 

 

 

 
 

106



 

97 

 
  
291. Spectator movements would be supported and guided by the presence of marshals 

and stewards at various points across the site to ensure residential amenity to 
existing and future residents would not be compromised.  This is discussed in more 
detail in the transport section of the report.  The width of the path for the spectators 
queue is sufficient to cater for the expected footfall to a level of ‘comfort’ for 
pedestrians, such that match day attendees are not likely to overspill significantly 
into the neighbouring landscaped areas.   

  
292. An assessment of the likely queue length at the main turnstiles has been completed.  

The existing turnstiles are manual, whereas the new stadium will have electronic 
turnstiles allowing for more efficient movement of people into the stadium. In reality, 
the queues are likely to be shorter since entry into the stadium will be more efficient.  
With these measures in place including preventing access through the centre of the 
site, informing pedestrian flow and having responsibility for a level of traffic control 
on match days it is considered that residential amenity would be protected.    

  
293. It is considered that there would be sufficient spectator management on match days 

to ensure noise and disturbance is minimised and that traffic and visitors could be 
effectively managed through the Stadium Management and this could be secured in 
the legal agreement.   

  
294. Outside of match days there would still be the use of the leisure facilities and the 

pitch for schools, community groups and organisations. The disabled parking for the 
leisure facilities are only available for those displaying a blue badge (visitors and 
staff).  No general parking is available for the leisure use.  It is expected that this 
parking area would be controlled by via a barrier or collapsible bollards to prevent 
unauthorised access.  It would include a call system linking to the leisure centre 
reception in order that access to parking can be authorised.  The management of 
the parking associated with the stadium and leisure facilities would be outlined in a 
more detailed Stadium Management Plan and Car Parking Management Plan.   The 
access to the leisure facilities would be either through the northern or southern link 
(pedestrian route).  This would be away from the central pedestrian route, thereby 
limiting any disturbance to the future residents.  

  
295. The proposed kick-about space is appropriately located to be adjacent to the 

supermarket service yard and would be in close proximity to Blocks A and B of the 
proposed residential development.  Hours of use for this kick-about space could be 
controlled by condition.  It is considered that with appropriate mitigation measures 
recommended such as an acoustic barrier, the development would manage noise 
and any other potential nuisances and would not impact on the nearest future 
occupants.  There would be a need for this kick-about space to be managed which 
would be done by the housing management company.  A management plan is to be 
secured in the s106 agreement to ensure that the space is well managed, and 
maintained.    

  
296. Mitigation measures such as alternative ventilation for all habitable rooms and 

higher than standard specification glazing have been recommended by the 

107



 

98 

applicant.  EPT has also recommended a condition that limits sound level from any 
plant to not exceed the background sound level. 

  
297. In relation to the lighting of the kick-about space, details will be secured by condition 

to show what design and model of lighting system could be installed to ensure that 
this is well-lit after daylight hours for safety purposes and that the system would not 
unduly impact on the amenity of the nearest future residents.  

  
 Summary of quality of accommodation 
298. Overall the quality of accommodation would be of a high standard which would 

exceed minimum floor space requirements, have a good outlook and would have 
access to private and communal amenity space.  Noise and disturbance are also 
minimised with appropriate mitigation measures.  

  

108



 

99 

 

 CHAPTER 7 

 Amenity of neighbouring occupiers  

 

 Privacy, outlook and noise impacts of the proposed development on the 

nearby occupiers 

  
299. Strategic Policy 13 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure that all development sets 

high standards for reducing air, land, noise and light pollution and avoiding amenity 
and environmental problems that affect how we enjoy the environment in which we 
live and work. Saved Policy 3.2 of the Southwark Plan states that permission will not 
be granted for developments where a loss of amenity, including disturbance from 
noise, would be caused. The Residential Design Standards SPD expands on policy 
and sets out guidance for protecting amenity in relation to privacy, daylight and 
sunlight.  

  
300. Daylight and sunlight impacts and overshadowing as a result of the buildings were 

concerns raised mainly by the residents who live close to the development. 
  

Overlooking/loss of privacy  
301. In order to prevent harmful overlooking, the Residential Design Standards SPD 

requires developments to achieve: 

• a distance of 12 metres between windows on a highway-fronting elevation and 
those opposite at existing buildings, and; 

• a distance of 21 metres between windows on a rear elevation and those 
opposite at existing buildings. 

  
302. The nearest residential properties are located to the south east of the application 

site boundary. These are 1-57(odd) Burrow Road, 1-7(odd) Abbotswood Road and 
2- 6(even) Abbotswood Road. All of those properties in the estate to the south, 
including Abbotswood Road, Burrow Road, Buxted Road, Talbot Road, Shaw Road 
and Hambleden Court maintain their vehicular access via Edgar Kail Way. 

  
303. The nearest of the neighbouring dwellings to the residential element of the scheme 

would be No.2 Abbotswood Road, the side flank elevation of which would be sited 
at least 21m to the south of the principal elevation of the proposed residential 
blocks. The closest facing neighbour elevation with windows serving habitable 
rooms would be the rear elevations of No.1-9(odd) Burrow Road and these would 
also be in excess of 21m.  These distances would span the area of green link and 
communal landscaped areas and as they would be in excess of those minimum 
separation distances outlined within the Residential Design Standards SPD there 
are no privacy issues for the existing or future residential occupiers from the 
proposed development.  

  
Outlook 

304. The views from the existing residential properties would be of the proposed green 
link and new housing blocks beyond this. Given the separation distances, it is not 
considered that the proposed development would adversely impact on the outlook 
of the existing residential properties.   

  
 
 

109



 

100 

Floodlight and light spill 
305. New floodlighting would be erected at the perimeter of the stadium serving the new 

pitch.  The existing stadium and artificial pitch both already have floodlighting  which 
is an expected component of such recreation facilities. Overspill and glare is already 
likely to impact on surrounding residents to some extent when the columns are in 
use; it is acknowledged that the lighting around the artificial pitch has not been used 
for some time. Two of the new 4 columns of floodlighting are slightly closer to 
existing homes than the position of the existing lighting columns, but not significantly 
so, and the use of modern lighting has the potential to reduce its resulting impact.   
The LED light sources have the ability to be dimmed (such as for community or 
training use), thereby minimising light spill. Further information has been submitted 
to show its impact on nearby residential properties and EPT has not raised any 
objections to this. The floodlighting would be subject to conditions restricting the 
hours of use. 

  
 Daylight and sunlight impacts on neighbours 
  
306. A daylight and sunlight assessment in accordance with the BRE guidelines has 

been prepared to consider the impacts on neighbours around the perimeter of the 
site.  The assessment utilised the following methodologies outlined below.   

  
 Vertical Sky Component (VSC) 
307. VSC is a measure of the direct skylight reaching the external face of a window.. For 

existing buildings, the BRE guideline is based on the loss of VSC at a point at the 
centre of a window, on the outer plane of the wall. The BRE guidelines state that if 
the VSC at the centre of a window is less than 27%, and it is less than 0.8 times its 
former value (i.e. the proportional reduction is greater than 20%), then the reduction 
in skylight will be noticeable, and the existing building may be adversely affected. 

  
 No Sky Line (NSL) 
308. The second method is the No Sky Line (NSL) or Daylight Distribution (DD) method 

which assesses the proportion of the room where the sky is visible, and plots the 
change in the No Sky Line between the existing and proposed situation. It advises 
that if there is a reduction of 20% in the area of sky visibility, daylight may be 
affected. 

  
 Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) 
309. In relation to sunlight, the BRE recommends that the APSH received at a given 

window should be at least 25% of the total available, including at least 5% in winter. 
Where the proposed values fall short of these, and the absolute loss is greater than 
4%, then the proposed values should not be less than 0.8 times their previous value 
in each period (i.e. the proportional reductions should not be greater than 20%). The 
BRE guidelines state that ‘...all main living rooms of dwellings, and conservatories, 
should be checked if they have a window facing within 90 degrees of due south. 
Kitchens and bedrooms are less important, although care should be taken not to 
block out too much sun’. The APSH figures are calculated for each window, and 
where a room is served by more than one window the contribution of each is 
accounted for in the overall figures for the room. The acceptability criteria are 
applied to overall room based figures. 

  
 Overshadowing, sunlight to amenity spaces 
310. Open spaces should retain a reasonable amount of sunlight throughout the year. 

The BRE states that for an amenity space to “appear adequately sunlit throughout 
the year, at least half of the area should receive at least 2 hours of sunlight on 21 

110



 

101 

March”. Where this is not achieved, the difference between the area achieving 2 
hours of sun on 21 March should be no less than 0.8 times its former value.  In this 
instance, the gardens to the existing residential properties would be located to the 
south of the development site and therefore have not been tested.  

  
311. The BRE Guidelines also state that residential properties warrant detailed 

consideration in terms of daylight and sunlight effects, but that properties of a 
commercial nature have a lower requirement. As such, the submitted daylight and 
sunlight assessment relate to existing residential properties only. 

  
312. The following properties have been considered within the applicant’s assessment:  

 

• 1-7 Abbotswood Road (even and odd numbers)  

• 1 - 9 Burrow Road (odd numbers only)  

• 17-29 Burrow Road (odd numbers only)  

• 41 Burrow Road. 
 

 Plan:  Location of these residential buildings in relation to the application site  

 

 
  
313. The table below sets out the VSC results for the nearby residential buildings which 

were tested for VSC losses.   
  

111



 

102 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table:  VSC values and losses 

Property Number of windows that would experience a VSC 
reduction (as a percentage of the baseline VSC value) 
 

A loss of 
up to 20% 

20% to 
30% 
(minor 
adverse 
impact) 

30% to 
40% 
(moderate 
adverse 
impact) 

40% or over 
(substantial 
adverse 
impact) 
 

 

 
 
1 - 7 Abbotswood 
Road  

44 1 0 0 

1 - 9 Burrow Road  19 0 0 0 

17 - 29 Burrow Road 54 0 0 0 

41 Burrow Road 9 0 0 0 

  
314. It can be seen from the above that all but one of the properties’ windows would have 

compliance with the BRE guidance, with windows retaining at least 0.8 times their 
value. In most cases, the ratio of loss is 0.9 of the former value.  In some cases, 
many of the rooms would retain 100% of their VSC value.  There is one window that 
would experience a loss of 0.3 of its former value (or retains a proportion of 0.7) at 
No. 2 Abbotswood Road, but this window serves a bathroom which is not 
considered to be a habitable room.  

  
315. The applicant also carried out the NSL assessment on the rooms.  In total, 5 No. 

rooms (out of 82) experience some loss, but these are all at least 0.9 times their 
former value. The results of the VSC and NSL tests demonstrate excellent 
compliance with the BRE guidelines.  

  
 Table:  NSL values and losses  

 
Property Number of rooms that would experience a NSL 

reduction (as a percentage of the baseline NSL value) 
 

A loss of 
up to 20% 

20% to 
30% 
(minor 
adverse 
impact) 

30% to 
40% 
(moderate 
adverse 
impact) 

40% or over 
(substantial 
adverse 
impact) 
 

 

 
 
1 - 7 Abbotswood 
Road  

10 0 0 0 

1 - 9 Burrow Road  10 0 0 0 

17 - 29 Burrow Road 3 0 0 0 

41 Burrow Road 1 0 0 0 
 

  

112



 

103 

 Sunlight 
316. In line with the BRE guidelines, those windows within 90 degrees of due south have 

been assessed under the APSH sunlight assessment. A total of 27 have been 
tested – this is a smaller number than were tested for daylight because many of the 
surrounding houses do not face within 90 degrees of due south.  All those windows 
that have been tested show that they all retain high levels of direct sunlight, 
compliant with the BRE guidelines.   

  
 Overshadowing 
317. The gardens of the neighbouring properties are located to the south of the site and 

therefore would not be significantly overshadowed by the development. A test 
showing any overshadowing on St Francis Park has been carried out by the 
applicant.  The proposed flats would be located across the road on Abbotswood 
Road and is at least 15m away.  The development is also located to the south-west 
of St Francis Park.  There would be no overshadowing of the park as a result of the 
development.   

  
318. Overall, there would not be any significant adverse impact on neighbours’ access to 

daylight or sunlight. This is due to the location, distance and orientation of the 
existing residential properties and therefore affects relatively few existing homes.  
As shown above, a very high level of compliance would be achieved with only one 
window seeing a reduction of 0.3 of its current VSC value and that serves a non-
habitable bathroom.  

  
 Noise impact on existing residents 
319. The main 3G artificial playing surface in the new stadium does have the potential to 

be more intensively used as a result of modern playing surfaces. This therefore 
does have the potential to increase disturbance through use late into the evening to 
10pm.  

  
320. The current main turf pitch is used only once or twice a week for formal matches 

(outside of the current Covid-19 suspension). The artificial pitch had been used 
previously for club training, but this use ceased in August 2017 due to the poor state 
of the playing surface. The new pitch would be used for both training and matches 
by the various DHFC teams, and also for use by schools, clubs and other local 
organisations. It could be used as two 5-a-side pitches simultaneously, further 
increasing the intensity of use. The impacts on residential amenity would therefore 
change, in part due to the more intensive use, and in part because of the relocation 
of the pitch and the more open nature of the enclosing fence. The closest residential 
dwellings to the new stadium would be Nos. 41 - 51 Burrow Road located just to the 
south.    

  
321. The noise impact assessment concludes that the proposed development should not 

cause any significant adverse impacts for existing residential and commercial 

neighbours of the site.  Noise and disturbance resulting from the use and operation 

of the main stadium is unlikely to be significantly more intrusive than existing 

conditions and the impact assessment demonstrates the impact on the worse case 

scenario. Peaks of operation would be on match days when the club draws large 

numbers of spectators and this is an expected circumstance at a football ground.  

Officers note that the new pitch would be used more intensively than the existing 

artificial pitch as this would be hired out for other organisations and clubs to train 

and use outside of match days up until 10pm, but these are likely to draw smaller 

crowds.  

113



 

104 

  

322. It is possible that matches could be more frequent as the Women’s and Youth 

teams are developed and there is now a capacity of 4,000 available. The indicative 

Programme of Use also shows that there would likely be two evenings that would 

run till 10pm with the other days ending by 9pm.  As such, Officers recognise the 

potential impacts from the proposed pitch to be more intrusive.  Nevertheless, it 

should be highlighted that the existing artificial pitch currently has no mitigation and 

no time use restrictions.  There is no fencing that limits access to the artificial pitch. 

Those neighbouring residents are potentially exposed to much more unmanaged 

noise now than the proposed scheme in the baseline condition.  The proposed 

improvements and better management of the pitch use would therefore assist in 

terms of managing the noise impacts, although the intensity of use, and the 

extended hours in winter due to the new floodlights, would change the pattern of 

usage. 

  
323. It is considered appropriate to restrict the hours of operation of the main stadium 

playing surface.  Other mitigation measures such as no use of the electronic public 
address system outside of the Club’s match times and restriction on floodlighting 
hours can be used.   This could be effectively controlled by way of conditions.  

  
324. The new kick-about space is located to the north and is not visible from the existing 

residents on Burrow Road or Abbotswood Road and is therefore shielded by the 
new residential blocks.  
 

 Impact of the mast 
325. The proposal would move the existing mast away from nearby residential 

occupants, and thus any impact on these neighbours would be less than as existing. 
As demonstrated under permission ref 19/AP/7058, the proposal to relocate the 
mast is not considered to present any significant risks to these properties in terms of 
daylight/sunlight, outlook, or a sense of enclosure; due to the relatively lightweight 
construction of the mast.  The applicant has included a declaration that the proposal 
would comply with ICNIRP (International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation 
Protection) Public Exposure Guidelines, and this would address the concerns raised 
from the public consultation.    

  
 Health impacts 
326. A comment was made in the public consultation that the 3G pitch could potentially 

present a health hazard due to the materials used which is commonly rubber crumb.  
However, the pitch would be designed to meet certain specification and 
requirements.  The risks are considered to be very low or of negligible level of 
concern for human health and no objections have been raised by Sport England.  

  

114



 

105 

 

 CHAPTER 8  

 Design and layout 

327. Sections 12 and 16 of the NPPF relate to design and the conservation of the historic 
environment. Strategic Policy 12 of the Core Strategy states that all development in 
the borough will be expected to "achieve the highest possible standards of design 
for buildings and public spaces to help create attractive and distinctive places which 
are safe, easy to get around and a pleasure to be in". Saved Policy 3.12 ‘Quality in 
design’ of the Southwark Plan asserts that developments should achieve a high 
quality of both architectural and urban design, enhancing the quality of the built 
environment in order to create attractive, high amenity environments people will 
choose to live in, work in and visit. Saved Policy 3.13 of the Southwark Plan asserts 
that the principles of good urban design must be taken into account in all 
developments which includes height, scale and massing of buildings, consideration 
of the local context, its character and townscape as well as the local views and 
resultant streetscape.   

  
328. Of significant importance in this case are the implications of the development on the 

openness of the site, and its contribution to the setting and quality of the 
surrounding open space including its impact on the adjacent MOL.  The character of 
the wider area is influenced by both the mansion-style blocks of the East Dulwich 
estate to the east and the two storey housing to the south. A key building is the 
large format Sainsbury’s store, with its expansive car park. One other local building 
which stands as a distinctive element is the seven storey Hambledon Court building 
at the end of Burrow Road, a remnant of the hospital which stood here until the late 
1980s.  

  
329. The main design comments received from public consultation related to the density, 

scale or height of the development and how it does not take the existing character 
of the area into consideration.  

  
 Access, site layout and density 
330. The application site is divided into three distinct parts being the residential 

development to the east in the position of the existing stadium and car park, the new 
football ground re-orientated by 90 degrees and situated broadly in the position of 
the existing artificial pitch, and the green link replacing the private road to the south.   

  
331. The housing development is a campus style estate layout, with the six blocks set 

within landscape, and a vehicular access to the stadium to the north. The linear 
route to the south excludes traffic (except emergency vehicles) and is designed as a 
parkland style route for pedestrians and cyclists, with opportunities for play and 
fitness. The resulting arrangement is a logical and coherent plan which 
appropriately zones the different uses within the development. The new housing 
overlooks the linear public route, and would offer passive surveillance of the route, 
which would be open to the public at all times. This degree of surveillance would 
improve the safety of this well-used route linking housing to the west with the 
supermarket, rail station and bus routes. 

  
332. Following discussions with the applicant, amended plans have been received to 

overcome concerns regarding the width and layout of the southern green link.  The 

setback of the blocks has increased the width of the route to provide for a more 

generous space.  In addition, the route widens to incorporate play areas close to the 

115



 

106 

housing blocks, which are available to the public as well as the new residents.   

  

333. As well as providing an enhanced pedestrian and cycle access to Greendale, this 

link would provide legible access to the stadium for visiting fans.   It is considered 

that there is adequate separation between the public and private areas of the 

landscape, so that the internal areas feel private, while the public can access the 

open space, stadium and other play areas. 

  

334. Members of the public are free to walk though the middle of the site during daylight 
hours, but the landscaping treatment and orientation of the windows to overlook the 
central garden gives this space a semi-private feel.  

  
335. The gardens between Blocks D and E and between Blocks E and F have been 

separated from the green link by a change in levels incorporating ramps, a set of 
railings incorporating gates that can be closed at night, and a line of planting. These 
measures subtly indicate the difference in character between the fully public green 
link along the south, and the semi-private spaces between the buildings.  Blocks A 
and B have also been separated from the fully public street using a line of planting 
and railings with gates, and this creates a semi-private garden between the blocks. 

  
336. The existing site includes a 1m - 1.1m level change from the north to the south. The 

scheme addresses this by levelling this out.   

  
337. The layout of the stadium building proposed between the residential blocks and the 

pitch is considered an appropriate location which meets the requirements of the FA 
and separation of the uses. 

116



 

107 

 Photo:  Photo of existing footpath looking west from Abbotswood Road 

 

 
  
 Image:  Computer generated Image of the green link looking west 

 

 

117



 

108 

  
 Height, scale and massing 
338. Saved policy 3.13 of the Southwark Plan highlights that buildings should be 

appropriate to the local context and should not dominate their surroundings 
inappropriately.   The GLA’s comment was that the height strategy for the 
masterplan is a sound approach in terms of optimising the development potential of 
the site and responding to the nature of the surrounding context. This however 
would be subject to considerations with respect to architectural quality, and an 
assessment of views.  This development has sought to respond positively to both 
the larger format of buildings to the north and east, which are typically 3-6 storeys, 
and the low rise housing to the south. However, it must also be recognised that the 
need to optimise the potential of sites in order to deliver new homes means that a 
more intensive form of development would be expected under current policies, even 
in suburban areas. 

  
339. The arrangement of the housing as distinct and separate blocks reduces their 

dominance in local views. They are seen within the context of their landscaped 

setting.  The exception to this is the link between Blocks A and D, but this link is a 

lightweight structure, visually distinct from the two blocks to which it is joined. This 

helps this block to read as separate elements when viewed from the Greendale 

fields above the stadium building. In this view it is also seen in the same context as 

the Sainsburys store, which although lower is clearly visible in the view over the 

open space.  Initial concerns over the height and scale of development have been 

overcome following the receipt of amended plans.  This includes cutting back the 

top floors of Blocks A and B.  The communal amenity space would be provided at 

the top floor set backs.  The lift and stair access to the roofs has also been omitted.   

Block D has moved further to the north and is now conjoined with Block A.   

  
340. The applicant has submitted a Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA) 

Addendum report to look at impact of the proposed development on townscape, 
heritage and views. A total of 11 viewpoints have been chosen to illustrate the effect 
of the proposed development and is discussed further below.  

  
341. The redesign also provided an additional, set-back top floor of Block C, making this 

a building 6 storeys in height.  It is clear from short range, local views that the set 
back top floor of Block B is not highly visible and therefore not overly dominant or 
overbearing.  It would sit alongside the other six storey blocks at the northern part of 
the site (Blocks A to C) and responding to the less sensitive relationship with the 
supermarket to the north. 

  
 Architectural design 
342. Developments should achieve a high quality of both architectural and urban design. 

New buildings should embody a creative and high quality appropriate design 
solution which responds to the local context and does not dominate its surrounds 
inappropriately. Saved policy 3.13 requires proposals to have regard to the existing 
urban grain and be designed with regard to their local context. Developments 
should make a positive contribution to the character of the area and provide active 
frontages. 

  
343. Officers were previously concerned regarding the lack of detail of the elevations, 

including around the entrances, balconies and lack of variation between each block. 
An architectural design solution for this issue has increased detailing to the 
entrances and elevations, including taking each pair of buildings and applying 

118



 

109 

glazed bricks and colour coordinating doors with fret cut metal screens, contrasting 
brick banding and bronze fenestration framing. Balcony treatments across each 
block are now consistent and reflect the design of each pair of blocks helping to 
unify the design and appearance of the architectural treatment. All entrances now 
open onto the central spine route and there is stronger horizontal banding using 
stone features and brick at upper floors. Blank facades facing the spine route have 
been enlivened with glazed or textured brickwork.     

  
344. The kick-about games space has a fret cut lattice fence with brick piers separating it 

from the footway and carriage way and additional barrier planting has been added 
to the area around Block C. 

  
345. Overall the urban and architectural design is compliant with saved policies 3.12 and 

3.13 and the NPPF section 12 Achieving Well Designed Spaces. 
 

 Stadium building 
346. The proposed football stadium incorporates the main stand and stadium building, 

boundary treatment and terracing. It sits between the proposed residential blocks 
and Greendale fields to the south west.  The building would have a palate of:  

• White pigmented GRC or concrete base. 

• Grey metal wall and roof cladding. 

• Expressed glulam frame (Glued laminated timber made from layers of timber 
glued together with durable, moisture-resistant structural adhesive) 

• Curtain walling 

• Timber fins. 
  
 Image:  View of stadium from the north 

 

 
 

  

119



 

110 

  
 Image:  View of stadium from the west 

 

 
  
347. The stadium building is three storeys high and has been designed with a strong 

base finished in concrete panels whilst the upper level has a lighter finish with 
timbre louvres, glulam frame and glazed sections of the façade. The building has a 
strong horizontal and linear feel and the slanted roof provides for an interesting 
roofscape. The roof of the building also cantilevers beyond the structure of the main 
building to provide shelter for the main stand. The rest of the building is clad in 
metal which would give it a more lightweight feel. 

  
348. Overall the design of the stadium has adopted a minimalist and simple form which 

provides good orientation and a logical layout. Key to the success of the design will 
be the quality of the materials used which should be robust and the positioning of 
the signage which has been incorporated into the design at the outset. Details are to 
be secured by condition.  

  
 Scale and appearance of mast 
349. The relocation of the mast and equipment and any minor upgrades to the 

telecommunications equipment will not have a significant impact on the character of 
the wider area.   

  
 Heritage assets  
350. The site is not located within a Conservation Area, and there are no conservation 

areas in close proximity to it. The nearest conservation areas - the Sunray Estate 
and Camberwell Grove Conservation Areas - are located approximately 300-350m 
from the site at their closest points. The proposed development would not impact on 
the setting of any heritage assets.   

  
 Townscape impact and views 
351. The views in the TVIA have been updated to reflect the proposed development’s 

amended massing and detailed design.  Out of the 11 views provided in the 

120



 

111 

submitted TVIA, 5 of them would be most visible.  Officers have therefore 
selected views that are considered to be most sensitive, prominent and 
potentially have impact on the townscape.  These are views 1 - 5 as indicated in 
the map below. 

  
 Map: Viewpoint location map 

 

 
 

121



 

112 

352. View 1:  Greendale playing fields  
 
Existing 
This viewpoint is located towards the western edge of Greendale Playing Fields.  
The foreground of View 1 is occupied by the overgrown grass of the playing 
fields, and has an open character. Some of the existing club buildings on the site 
are visible beyond, including temporary buildings and changing facilities, 
together with floodlights and the communications mast on the site. The western 
edge of the supermarket located to the north of the site appears towards the left 
side of the view. 
 

 Image: Existing view from Greendale playing fields 

 

 
353. Proposed  

In the proposed view, the proposed development would appear in the middle 
distance, with the three storey stadium building and stands being most visible 
and the residential buildings located further east, in the background of the view. 
The open character of the Greendale fields in the foreground of the view would 
remain.  
 
The appearance of the floodlights around the new pitch would be consistent with 
the existing character of the view.   
 
The residential accommodation would be slightly taller than that of the 
supermarket to the north of the site in this view, but there would be a clear 
stepping down in the heights of the blocks towards the south.    

122



 

113 

  
 Image: Proposed view from Greendale fields 

 

 
 

  
354. View 2: Greendale  fields, north-west of the site  

Existing  
This viewpoint is located north-west of the site in Greendale  fields and the 
foreground of the view consists of the overgrown grass of the fields and a 
footpath through it.  It has an open character. The existing artificial pitch within 
the playing fields lies in the middle ground, though not highly visible and is 
mainly marked by the presence of the floodlight.  Views of the existing fence 
surround it in places.  
 
The tops of existing club buildings and a floodlight on the site are visible beyond, 
and a communications mast. The western end of the supermarket including a 
prominent blank wall appears on the left side of the image.  

123



 

114 

  
 Image: Existing view from Greendale, North west of the site 

 

 
  
355. Proposed  

The foreground of the view would consist of the mesh fence around the new pitch 
with the canvas banners down.  A mesh fence around the new football pitch would 
appear close to the viewpoint. New planting along the fence would provide some 
softening of the fence.  
 
The proposed stadium building, stands and pitch would be clearly visible with a 
simple horizontal roofline, located beyond the fence but is on the eastern edge 
outside of Greendale fields.  The sunken pitch and terracing to the west (on MOL) 
would be partly visible but largely maintains open character.   
 
The floodlights would be consistent with the existing character of the view, and there 
would be fewer than at present. 
 
The residential buildings would appear beyond the playing fields, in the middle 
distance and their apparent height would be less than that of the supermarket from 
this view.  The height of the apartment blocks would be seen to step down towards 
the south. The glazed link block that joins Blocks A and D together is not clearly 
visible.   

124



 

115 

  
 Image: Proposed view from Greendale, North west of the site 

 

 
 

  
356. View 3: Along the road to the south  

 
Existing  
This viewpoint is located towards the western end of the access road along the 
south of the site.  The foreground of this view is dominated by the access road 
to the south of the site, a sub-station, the mast and the wall and stand along the 
southern edge of the pitch. The Club buildings and the supermarket are partially 
visible in the middle ground of the view, while the five storey apartment blocks 
with pitched roofs of the East Dulwich Estate are visible in the background of the 
view. 

125



 

116 

  
 Image:  Existing view along the road to the south 

 

 
 

  
357. Proposed  

This view looks along the proposed route through the southern part of the site, 
with a fence to the football pitch immediately adjacent to the north, and the 
proposed residential buildings beyond to the east. The stadium building is 
prominent in the foreground but would not dominate this view with a gentle 
sloped roof and a glazed south elevation to give it a lightweight feel.   
 
It is considered that the quality of this view would be enhanced with a more 
defined pedestrian route with associated soft landscaping and trees.  The 
proposed residential blocks would screen the five storey buildings on East 
Dulwich Estate, but it is not a protected view.   
 
The residential blocks closest to the southern boundary would be 4 storeys in 
height, stepping up to 6 to the north.  This scale on the southern side would 
appear at a scale that would appear comfortable within the background of the 
view. 

126



 

117 

  
 Image:  Proposed view along the road to the south 

 

 
 

  

127



 

118 

358. View 4: St Francis Park  
 
Existing  
This viewpoint is taken on the eastern edge of St Francis Park, looking west. 
The open space of the park occupies the foreground of this view, with trees 
around the edge of the park providing a sense of enclosure. Floodlights and the 
communications tower on the site are visible in the background of the view. Part 
of the supermarket is also visible. 
 

 Image:  Existing view from St. Francis Park 
 

 
 

  
359. Proposed  

The residential blocks would appear in the background of the view and their 
height appearing lower than the more prominent taller existing trees in the 
foreground. The block that is most visible is 6 storeys on the northern edge of 
the site, but stepping down towards the proposed southern green link.  The 
design of the buildings has been articulated and would appear to be distinct and 
separate blocks and therefore reducing their dominance in local views. They are 
seen within the context of their landscaped setting. 

128



 

119 

  
 Image:  Proposed view from St. Francis Park 

 
  
360. View 5 : Dog Kennel Hill, looking along Edgar Kail Way  

 
Existing  
This viewpoint is located on the eastern side of Dog Kennel Hill looking west 
towards the road junction with Edgar Kail Way.  Dominating the foreground of 
this view is the road junction, traffic lights and the supermarket sign.  Trees 
within St. Francis Park and bordering Sainsbury’s store occupy much of the 
middle ground of the view. The existing car wash on the eastern part of the site 
is visible in the middle distance, and the communications mast is seen further 
away.  On the whole, this view appears cluttered.   

129



 

120 

  
 Image: Existing view from Dog Kennel Hill 

 

  

361. Proposed  
The residential Block C would appear in the background of the view. The rest of the 
residential blocks to the south are partially screened by the trees in St Francis 
Road.  In some ways the development would provide an element of enclosure in the 
middle distance of the view and marks the entrance to the development site. 

  
 Image:  Proposed view from Dog Kennel Hill 

 
  
362. From the assessment of the more prominent views set out above, it is considered 

130



 

121 

that the scale of development envisaged would not have a significant effect on the 
townscape or the setting of conservation areas which are further from the site.   

  
363. The proposed development would not fall within any of the Borough views or 

protected Strategic views.  
  
 Comments of the Design Review Panel 
364. An earlier iteration of the scheme at pre-application stage was presented to the 

Design Review Panel (DRP or “the Panel”) on 13th May 2019. This scheme had 
proposed a slightly different layout for 231 residential units. Like the current 
scheme, the layout included a vehicle access to the north and a linear park route to 
the south  A row of terraced houses were proposed on the northern boundary 
between the proposed vehicular access road and the Sainsbury’s service yard. 

  
365. The Panel generally supported the pedestrian access route and welcomed its 

incorporation into the green link. They also supported the block layout.  However, 
they raised concerns over the location and alignment of the access road which 
would disrupt the amenity of the area for residents.  In response to this, the row of 
terraced houses has been omitted in the current scheme.  The access road has also 
been re-aligned.  

  
366. The Panel also questioned how the landscaped public spaces, which can be 

accessed by all, would be separated from the private spaces, which are available 
only to residents. The Panel asked for a comprehensive access strategy for the 
development which would define how each block is accessed and clarify the 
separation of public and private spaces. .   

  
367. In response to this, the applicant has provided a landscape and access strategy that 

gives a clearer definition between private, semi-private and public spaces.  The 
inclusion of railings to the south preserve the sense of openness of the site whilst 
better distinguishing what is public from what is private.  

  
368. The Panel had stressed that the landscape should be designed with a sense of 

hierarchy and purpose.  They also noted that the layouts did not appear to include 
adequate defensible space or private amenity for ground floor units.  In response, 
the applicant has provided improved landscaped courtyards, with clearer pedestrian 
paths, sufficient defensible space and spaces that have different characters.  Block 
A, B, D and E all have communal front doors which open onto the central green 
space. The central part of the site would also be kept free of vehicles.  

  
369. The Panel also asked that the designers define the areas in the courtyard that will 

provide communal amenity for residents and asked that the areas to provide for 
facilities like door-step play to be defined, and show how these spaces will be 
accessed and enjoyed by residents. 

  
370. The Panel questioned the width and character of the green link which is the main 

pedestrian and cycle access to the stadium.  The Panel questioned the location of 
the kick-about space which was located between Blocks E and F which would be 
disruptive to future occupants.  The applicant has amended and relocated the kick-
about space to the north of the site, which is a significant improvement.    

  
371. The Panel were not able to comment on the architectural expression or the detailed 

internal layouts because these had not been presented to them.  In conclusion, the 
applicant has addressed the majority of the points raised by the Panel and the 

131



 

122 

scheme has improved as a result of their input. 
  
 Designing out crime 
372. The Metropolitan Police Design Adviser raises no objection to the scheme.  It is 

considered that the layout provides good passive surveillance.  Condition relating to 
Secure by Design accreditation is recommended. 

  
 Trees and landscaping 

373. The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural impact Assessment (AIA) and 
landscape design statement.   The AIA submitted with this application assesses the 
impact of the proposals on trees, including due to changes in levels through the 
sinking of the pitch.  Overall, the proposal will require the removal of the following 
trees:   
 
7 x Category B trees  
11 x Category C trees  
2 x Category U trees  
4 x groups  
 
The total stem girth loss would be 5,167cm.  

  
374. No TPO or other protected trees are adversely affected.  All Category A trees are to 

be retained and protected from construction activity. It is proposed to remove 7 
Category B trees as these are located within the footprint of the proposed football 
stadium so their retention is not possible.   

  
375. The Category C trees and groups are located within, or close to, the footprint of the 

proposed football stadium so their retention is not possible. G1 is a dense mix of 
semi-mature species including cherry, field maple, Norway maple and hawthorn and 
are relatively small trees.  Two Category U trees would be removed. Extensive new 
tree planting is proposed which includes several large canopied species such as 
London Plane, Sweet gum, Field Maple and Hornbeam, 2 of which are native 
species.  There would be 107 semi-mature trees proposed across the site. 

  
376. The total number of trees proposed on the site would replace the loss, but Officers 

have discounted the roof top tree planting and whips and feathers. Therefore, 
overall there is a net loss of 577cm in stem girth.  This could equate to 36 trees with 
14-16cm girth replacements.  Whilst it would be preferable to plant these on-site, it 
is not possible to secure these without compromising on the layout of the 
development and ensuring that the trees sustain long term health.  In order to 
mitigate this, the applicant has agreed to plant these off-site within the vicinity of the 
site. This will be secured as a financial contribution of £1,050 per tree, totalling 
£37,800 via thes106 agreement.  These trees are likely to be along surrounding 
streets. 

  
377. The canopies of all retained trees are located sufficiently far from proposed building 

works and sufficiently high over access routes throughout the site that they would 
not be impacted upon by any construction activity. Consequently no pruning works 
are required to facilitate construction activity or access throughout the site.  A 
number of trees on the neighbouring site at Burrow Road already has an agreed 
plan for a pruning programme over the next six years.  Tree protection measures 
are specified throughout the accompanying AIA that will ensure no negative impact 
on retained trees due to construction activity.  

  

132



 

123 

378. No building foundations are proposed within the Root Protection Area (RPA) of any 
retained tree.   Officers note that that the new football pitch will extend intothe very 
edge of the theoretical RPA of one of the trees, but only approximately 3% of the 
RPA shall be affected so the potential impact is considered to be negligible.  In 
order to minimise the impact on roots, mitigation measures have been 
recommended.   

  
379. Concerns have been raised by local residents regarding the loss of trees.  In 

particular comments have been made regarding the existing amenity value of the 
mature trees to be removed and that new trees to be planted would take time to 
mature.  Residents argue that the trees have only been valued in a superficial and 
subjective manner and in view of the climate emergency a better method of 
assessment is needed such as I-tree.  The majority of the objections received 
comment that the loss of trees would also worsen climate change and air pollution.   

  
380. The council’s Urban Forester has reviewed the proposals and considers that with 

the replacement planting and mitigation measures off-site the proposals are 

satisfactory. However, full details of tree planting should be secured by way of 

condition including pre-commencement meetings with the Urban Forester.    Details 

of protection measures of retained trees would also be necessary.  The hard and 

soft landscaping condition would also require details of tree pits for this 

development.  Subject to replacement planting, any impact from the proposals upon 

the visual amenity of the local area as a result of the proposed tree removals, is to 

be mitigated. 

133



 

124 

 

 CHAPTER 9 

 Transport and highways 

381. The NPPF requires transport issues to be an integral consideration in the 

determination of development proposals. It places emphasis on locating new 

development within accessible and sustainable locations, maximising sustainable 

transport opportunities, reducing parking provision, ensuring safe and suitable 

access to sites can be achieved for all users and maximising opportunities to 

enhance access and permeability.  Paragraph 111 of the NPPF also requires any 

development that might generate significant amounts of movement to be 

accompanied with a travel plan and transport assessment/statement to assess the 

likely impacts. This is further reinforced in Policy 6.3 of the London Plan 2016.   

  
382. In terms of Southwark policies, strategic policy 2 of the Core Strategy ‘Sustainable 

Transport’ states that the council will encourage walking, cycling and the use of 
public transport rather than travel by car, and saved policy 5.2 of the Southwark 
Plan seeks to ensure that developments do not result in adverse highway 
conditions.   

  
383. The site has a public transport accessibility level (PTAL) of 3, which is considered a 

good level of access.  The applicant has also carried out a manual assessment of 
the PTAL rating and demonstrates the site could qualify to have a rating of 4. It is 
close to East Dulwich train station plus bus routes on Grove Vale. It is around a 12-
15 minute walk to Denmark Hill station, which gives access to a larger number of 
destinations, including the Overground.  The site is located within the Controlled 
Parking Zone Q (CPZ) which is effective between 11:00 - 13:00 Monday to Friday 
and Abbotswood Road and Edgar Kail Way are subject to single or double yellow 
line restrictions.  A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted in support of the 
application. 

  
384. Objections raised from public consultation regarding transport matters relate mainly 

to the additional stress on public transport from the trips to the stadium and the 
residential development. It is argued that there is inadequate car parking on the site 
potentially leading to overspill parking on surrounding roads, impacting on highway 
safety and obstructing emergency vehicle access.   

  
 Site access 
385. The primary public routes through the site are along the shared surface road to the 

north of the site and the pedestrian link to the south through the green link. Both of 
these routes are accessed off Abbotswood Road.  In addition to these two main 
routes, access for residents is provided through the centre of the site from east to 
west. In addition, a north-south walking route is proposed through the communal 
areas of the residential development, allowing access from the green link to the 
Sainsbury’s site, strengthening the connection between the sites.   

  
386. To improve the separation distance between vehicle access to the site and the 

junction of Abbotswood Road and Edgar Kail Way, and to create an efficient layout 
for proposed residential blocks the proposed development relocates the site access 
south of its current position.  The applicant’s consultants have carried out vehicle 
swept path analysis demonstrating that all vehicles entering and leaving this site 
could do so in a forward gear.  

  

134



 

125 

387. The northern access road would be maintained through a service charge levied on 
future residents. The applicant does not wish it to be adopted by the council’s 
Highway authority. The construction of this route would be carried out by the 
developer and shall meet the Southwark’s Streetscape Design Manual (SSDM) 
requirements (ie. be built to adoptable standards).  

  
388. The green link provides separate pedestrian and cycle routes, as well as play space 

and planting.  The existing route is well used, but the environment is poor and lacks 
any surveillance.  This improved link would significantly enhance the attractiveness 
of this route, which then links onwards to Greendale and Nairne Grove.  There 
would also be a new footpath that would connect the green link around the western 
edge of the proposed pitch to the rest of the wider Greendale fields.   This public 
green link is proposed to be maintained and managed by the council’s Parks and 
Leisure team and a contribution of £527,682 would be secured to allow for this, 
which should ensure adequate maintenance for at least the initial 20 years.  

  
389. There is an existing footway on the eastern side of Abbotswood Road (alongside 

the boundary of St Francis Park). The development would create a new 2m wide 
footpath adjacent the site on the west side of Abbotswood Road which would benefit 
movement north-south. This further improves pedestrian safety and reduces 
potential conflicts between pedestrians and vehicles. 

  
 Trip generation 
390. Concerning the vehicle movements ensuing from this development, the football 

stadium’s capacity is being increased by 672 from the existing 3,334 to 4,006. The 
average match day spectator number is currently 2,740 and is projected to increase 
to around 3,292 (an increase of 552).   The maximum capacity indicated above in 
the submitted Transport assessment is greater than the 4,000 described in the 
submission and in this report, but this difference is very marginal and would not 
significantly change the assessment that has been undertaken. 

  
391. The applicant’s consultants have carried out spectators’ travel origin surveys on 9 

match days which show that 92% of the spectators are from London, with 68% of 
these travelling from Southwark/Lambeth/Lewisham and the residual 24% being 
from other London boroughs. In terms of the means of transport the additional 
spectators would use, the applicants’ consultants have undertaken a travel survey 
during a home match on 13 April 2019 to which 2,841 spectators attended with 
384(14%) responses and found that only 26(6%) of the spectators interviewed 
travelled by car. By applying these proportions to the 552 additional spectators, 
Officers have estimated that 33(6%) of these are likely to travel by car while the 
remaining 519 (94%) use sustainable transport modes to travel to and from this site 
during the off-peak traffic hours on match days. The additional 33 spectator car trips 
are not considered to be significant.  In terms of looking at the maximum capacity 
(4,006), that would mean an increase from the existing 207 spectators travelling by 
car to 240 spectators that might be expected to travel by car overall as a worst case 
scenario.   Furthermore, the preliminary travel plan submitted indicates that the 
preliminary 5 year targets set out for match day stadium trips would see a reduction 
in vehicle trips (down to 2%).   In terms of coach movements, only 2 coaches 
carrying 80 passengers in total and resulting in 4 two-way coach movements were 
observed. 

  
392. The applicant has forecasted vehicular trips for the residential/leisure aspects of this 

development in the morning and evening peak hours.  Officers’ own interrogation of 
comparable sites’ travel surveys within TRICS travel database has revealed that the 

135



 

126 

residential aspect of this development would generate 22 and 32 two-way vehicle 
movements in the morning and evening peak hours respectively while its additional 
leisure facilities would create 3 and 10 two-way vehicle movements in the morning 
and evening peak hours, correspondingly. Overall, it is projected that this 
development proposal would produce 25 and 42 net additional two-way vehicle 
movements in the morning and evening peak hours correspondingly.  

  
393. Notwithstanding the above, Officers consider that these levels of additional 

vehicular traffic would not have any noticeable adverse impact on the prevailing 
vehicle movements on the adjoining roads on match and non-match days.   

   
394. Whilst transport implications and low levels of proposed car parking (discussed 

below) have been raised by local residents it is not considered to warrant grounds 
for refusal given the existing use and the good public transport accessibility of the 
location.  A residential and stadium travel plan would seek to control any potential 
impacts, reducing vehicle trips and this could be effectively secured through the 
s106 agreement. 

  
395. The GLA had requested further clarification to enable assessment of whether 

highway or public transport mitigation is required for the stadium. They commented 
that the residential component of the development could potentially place additional 
strain on existing bus routes in the morning peak and have requested a financial 
contribution to support one additional peak hour northbound bus journey.  The 
council’s own Transport Planning team has considered this and have been in 
discussions with the applicant.  Given the considerable demand for public transport 
expected from this development during match days and weekday morning/evening 
peaks hours, the applicant will be expected to make contribution towards public 
transport improvements in the vicinity of this development.  Following negotiations 
on this matter, an agreed contribution of £135,000 towards local bus services would 
be secured and this payment would be staggered over the 3 years from first 
occupation of any part of the development. The two northbound/southbound bus 
shelters on Grove Vale would also need to be enhanced by way of renewal and 
inclusion of bus count down facilities and a single sum of £20,000 will be secured.   
 

 Car parking 
396. Saved Policy 5.6 (Car Parking) requires all developments to minimise the number of 

spaces provided and for developments to justify the amount of car parking sought.  
At present, the football club has a total of 46 car parking spaces which are used on 
match days. When accessing the existing leisure facilities, users can park in the 
spaces adjacent to the building.  Coaches currently park along the private service 
road to the south.  Two coaches on average are parked on site during matches.   

  
397. In the proposed development, there would be a total of 19 disabled car parking 

spaces, 1 car club space, a servicing lay-by plus 2 coach parking spaces.  12 of the 
car parking spaces would be allocated for the proposed stadium and leisure 
facilities and these are located within the area immediately adjacent the north-east 
corner of the stadium building.  Should demand require, the parking area has 
additional capacity to accommodate 12 additional vehicles in a managed / stacked 
arrangement. For the purposes of FA ground grading this includes the ability to 
enable parking for up to four visiting directors, and parking for match officials. If 
disabled parking is not fully booked, then residual spaces will be used in the first 
instance.  The remaining 7 disabled spaces would be on the shared surface street 
allocated for the residential use.   

  

136



 

127 

 Residential parking 
398. Although there is limited parking control in this vicinity and this development 

proposal involves the loss of 27 existing car parking spaces, the submitted car 
parking surveys on surrounding streets plus the adjacent Sainsbury’s car park show 
that on average, approximately 63% of the available on-street car parking spaces 
were unoccupied during the weekday overnight/early morning survey while 
approximately 43% were empty on average at the peak parking demand hours 
(1500hrs and 1600hrs on Saturday).  This shows that there is capacity on the 
surrounding roads. In any case, national and local planning policies encourage 
walking, cycling and the use of public transport rather than travel by car so car 
parking provision should be minimised.   It is acknowledged that there is a CPZ in 
place on weekdays and it is recommended that a condition restricting the future 
residents from obtaining parking permits be imposed.  Despite the GLA’s comment 
on expanding the CPZ, Officers do not consider that a contribution towards the 
expansion of the local CPZ is necessary or reasonable in this instance.  

  
399. The parking standard for residential development in Inner London with PTAL 4 is a 

maximum of 1 space per unit according to Policy 6.13 of the London Plan 2016.  
Policy T6 of the Intend to Publish London Plan states that car-free development 
should be the starting point for all development proposals in places that are (or are 
planned to be) well connected by public transport.  However, car-free development 
should still provide disabled persons parking .  In terms of the disabled parking 
provision, it is considered that the level of disabled car parking is considered 
sufficient.   The Draft London plan’s Policy T6.1 states that:  
 
“Disabled persons parking should be provided for new residential developments. 
Residential development proposals delivering ten or more units must, as a 
minimum:  
1. ensure that at least one designated disabled persons parking bay per dwelling for 
three per cent of dwellings is available from the outset 
2. demonstrate on plan and as part of the Car Parking Design and Management 
Plan, how the remaining bays to a total of one per dwelling for ten per cent of 
dwellings can be requested and provided when required as designated disabled 
persons parking in the future. If disabled persons parking provision is not sufficient, 
spaces should be provided when needed either upon first occupation of the 
development or in the future”. 

  
400. The scheme proposes a total of 7 No. disabled bays for the residential element of 

the scheme, which equates to 3% of the total number of units.   
  
401. The applicant has indicated and demonstrated on a plan that a further 16 disabled 

parking spaces (7%) could be provided if demand requires in the future.  Sufficient 
flexibility has been accommodated within the landscape design to accommodate 
various methods of phasing the expansion of disabled parking.  This complies with 
the draft Policy T6.1.  

  
402. It is considered appropriate to ensure the spaces are distributed equitably (11:26:63 

ratio respectively) between intermediate, social rented and private units and this is 
to be secured in the S106 agreement. All the spaces would be equipped with active 
electric vehicle charging points in line with London Plan planning policies. The 
management and allocation of the residential disabled spaces would be carried out 
by the housing management company, which the details shall be secured in the 
s106.    

  

137



 

128 

403. There are car club vehicles in the vicinity of the site and a new car club bay is 
proposed within the site.  The applicant has committed to providing three years free 
membership per eligible resident which is welcomed.    

  
 Stadium and leisure facilities parking 
404. As noted above, 12 of the spaces proposed in front of the stadium building are 

reserved for the Club and the leisure facilities. No general parking will be provided 
for either the stadium or leisure use other than for up to four visiting directors and 
match day official parking which will be accommodated within un-booked disabled 
parking spaces. Should demand require it, the parking area has additional capacity 
to accommodate 12 additional vehicles in a managed / stacked arrangement. It is 
understood that currently an average match generates one disabled space 
requirement, with the maximum number required at any one time being four spaces.  
Disabled car parking will continue to be managed by prior booking of a parking 
space with DHFC.  Other than those who are mobility impaired, all other members 
of staff and visitors will travel by non-car modes. 

  
405. The proposed stadium car parking area includes the provision of two dedicated 

coach parking bays for full sized coaches (circa 15m in length).  These are located 
to the northern corner of the stadium building.  Swept path analysis demonstrates 
that coaches can safely enter and exit the spaces with adequate manoeuvring 
space.  

  
406. The applicant has submitted an initial Stadium management plan and a stadium 

travel plan.  As briefly mentioned above, spectator and pedestrian movements 
would be supported and guided by the presence of marshals and stewards at 
various points across the site.  The marshals would be responsible for managing 
crowding, preventing unauthorised access during match day events and where 
necessary holding.  The applicant has confirmed that they anticipate up to 8 
stewards to be present on turnstiles pre-match and six post-match, with up to 20 
stewards / marshals being present in total.  They will also be responsible enforcing 
and managing the stadium parking on match days. These measures seem 
appropriate and the stadium management plan, with the events management plan 
embodied within that should be further developed prior to occupation and should be 
secured in the s106.  An interim events management plan shall also be secured for 
each phase of construction to ensure that access to and from the stadium can be 
appropriately managed.  

  
 Cycle parking  
407. London Plan policy 5.2 requires 1 cycle parking space for 1 bedroom flats and 2 

cycle spaces for each larger unit. It also sets a requirement of 1 space per 40 units 
for visitors.  The standards also require 1 space per 8 staff and 1 visitor space per 
100 sqm for community facilities.  However, cycle parking for stadia are not set out 
in local or the London Plan. Southwark Plan policy 5.3 stipulates that all cycle 
parking should be secure, convenient and weatherproof.  

  
408. The applicant has proposed a total of 482 cycle parking spaces across the site.  

This comprises 402 spaces for residents and 80 spaces for stadium and leisure 
visitors (6 long-stay, 74 short-stay).  The cycle stores for residents are proposed 
within each block for convenience and easy access.  A separate cycle store is also 
proposed in Block G adjacent to the games area for blocks that cannot provide 
sufficient space within its own building.  In total, 52 cycle spaces for the residents 
would be in Block G which also comprises oversized bicycles. The blocks that have 
a slight under-provision (Blocks B, C and D) would have access to the cycle store in 

138



 

129 

Block G.   The overall provision complies with the standards recommended in the 
New Southwark Plan.  However, it is considered reasonable to recommend a 
condition securing further details to ensure that there is a sufficient Sheffield cycle 
racks for those less physically able to use the double stack systems.   A condition is 
also recommended to secure details of the residential visitor cycle spaces and it is 
envisaged this would be located within the landscaped areas. 

  
409. Though the GLA had pointed out that more visitor cycle spaces for the stadium 

should be provided (from the proposed 80 to 120 spaces), the applicant responded 
that the higher demand associated with a match day only occurs for circa 3.5% of 
any week when two match days are held.   The applicant pointed out, if fully 
occupied, the 80 cycle parking spaces represents 2% of the total stadium capacity 
whereas current demand is only1% as recorded by survey in April 2019.  Any 
overprovision of the stadium cycle spaces may cause a negative impact to the 
prevailing environment and contradict the Healthy Streets approach by 
overprovision of largely redundant at grade infrastructure. The applicant’s Transport 
Assessment states that the proposed monitoring and expansion of short-stay cycle 
parking would be provided upon observation of demand for three consecutive home 
matches. This can be provided in the stadium travel plan and it is considered 
reasonable to seek details of how additional short-stay cycle parking spaces for the 
stadium use could be provided in the travel plan.  The council’s Transport planning 
team considers that the adequate numbers have been provided.     

  
 Refuse store 
410. Refuse stores are adequately sized to accommodate recycling and general waste 

arising from the development. These should be secured by way of condition and 
refuse collection considered within the servicing delivery plan. 

  
 Delivery and servicing  
411. All delivery and servicing requirements for the stadium and leisure centre will be 

undertaken outside of match day operations.  Delivery and servicing movements will 
be undertaken via the proposed access road. Loading and unloading activities can 
take place from within the stadium car parking area, and it is proposed for vehicles 
to utilise the dedicated coach parking areas which will not be in use.    

  
412. Delivery and servicing movements for the residential development will take place in 

the same manner during non-match days. The residential development benefits 
from an additional delivery / servicing area, formed as a lay-by from the internal 
access road.  On collection day, an operative of the appointed management 
company will be responsible for the transport of refuse to consolidated holding / 
collection points within the site.  Vehicle tracking diagrams have been submitted to 
show access, egress and turning movements within the site is possible.  It is 
considered appropriate to require the submission of a service and delivery plan 
should planning permission be granted.  

  
413. The anticipated servicing activity would be 42 deliveries (two-way movements) per 

day. As a precautionary measure, a Delivery and Servicing Management Bond will 
be secured so that highways impacts can be monitored over the course of the first 
two years of operation.  
 

 Travel plan 
414. The Transport planning team has reviewed the submitted Framework Travel Plan 

which sets out the residential and stadium travel demands and impacts and a 
strategy encouraging sustainable travel.  An obligation requiring the implementation 

139



 

130 

of an approved travel plan prior to occupation of the proposed development would 
be included in the s106 along with a Travel Plan Coordinator to be appointed prior 
to occupation to implement the travel plan for each use.  

  
415. A Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) should also be secured by condition to ensure 

that construction traffic is managed appropriately without impacting on existing 
residents, club supporters and vehicles including buses going to the adjoining 
Sainsbury’s as well as minimising the transport impact of the construction phase.  

  
416. London Plan Policy T2 relates to ‘Healthy Streets’ and seeks development that 

delivers patterns of land use that facilitate residents making shorter, regular trips by 
walking or cycling. The Healthy Streets Approach recognises the importance of 
promoting and facilitating active modes.   

  
417. The submitted Transport Assessment demonstrates that the Healthy Streets 

approach has been prioritised with the proposed improvements encompassing the 
green link and enhanced crossing facilities meeting the Healthy Street criteria.  In 
the applicant’s Healthy Street evaluation, it was identified that certain pedestrian 
routes that would require improvements include a requirement for pedestrian 
crossing on Melbourne Grove around its bendy section and that would require a 
contribution of £20,000.  

  
 Wider transport and highway works and improvements  
418. Other highway works proposed would be secured via a section 278 (s278) 

agreement with the council’s Highways authority.  Following discussions between 

the applicant and the council’s transport and highways teams, the works have been 

amended and agreed.  Of note are three raised tables along Abbotswood Road, two 

new uncontrolled crossings on the raised tables on Abbotswood Road, removal of 

the mini-roundabout junction with Abbotswood Road.  The removal of the 

roundabout is due to the closure of the existing access road and formation of a new 

linear route.  It is considered that the removal of the mini-roundabout enables 

greater levels of space to be given back to pedestrians / public realm.  This would 

also facilitate the new proposed uncontrolled crossing. 

140



 

131 

  
 Plan:  Indication of proposed raised tables and crossings 

 
  
419. Other works that have been suggested by the council’s transport planning team 

included improvements to raised entry treatment at St Francis Road junction with 
Dog Kennel Hill which would require a s106 financial contribution which has been 
agreed by the applicant.  

  

141



 

132 

 

 CHAPTER 10 

 Sustainable development implications 

420. Policy 5.2 of the London Plan requires major developments to provide an 

assessment of their energy demands and to demonstrate that they have taken steps 

to apply the Mayor's energy hierarchy. Policies 5.5 and 5.6 require consideration of 

decentralised energy networks and policy 5.7 requires the use of on-site renewable 

technologies, where feasible. Of note is that residential buildings must now be 

carbon zero, and non-domestic buildings must achieve a 35% reduction in carbon 

dioxide emissions against part L of the Building Regulations 2013.    

  
421. The applicant has submitted a revised energy statement following the GLA’s Stage 

1 response, which provides some clarifications and amendments.  The site is not 

adjacent to any existing or planned District Heat Networks (DHN); therefore, any 

plant will have to be incorporated within the development but with the potential for 

future connection to a DHN.  Savings were achieved from energy-efficient 

measures, site-wide heat pumps and photovoltaics to produce a site-wide reduction 

of 66% against Part L. The measures are outlined below. 

  

422. Be lean (use less energy)  
Energy efficiency measures include a range of passive and active measures are 
proposed. The regulated carbon saving achieved in this step of the Energy 
Hierarchy is 9% for the domestic element and 0% for non-domestic element (the 
stadium).    

  
423. Be clean (supply energy efficiently) 

In-keeping with the GLA requirements the individual gas-fired boilers were replaced 
with central boiler plant distributing over a site-wide network capable of connecting 
to a district heating scheme at some possible future time.  However, this inevitably 
increased the CO2 emissions due to pipework distribution losses and pumping 
power.  It was not possible to achieve any savings from the Be Clean stage.  

  
 Be Green (low or carbon zero energy) 
424. For the Be Green stage a number of renewable technologies have been appraised 

in terms of their technical, physical and financial feasibility, as potential renewable 
systems for use on the project.  The applicant has investigated the feasibility of a 
range of renewable energy technologies and is proposing to install Photovoltaic 
(PV) panels and Heat Pumps.  The proposal includes an area of 200sqm for the 
stadium and 495sqm for the residential of PV panels. 

  
425. The saving for the domestic element would be 56%.  For the non-domestic 

elements, this would be a 66% reduction over the site wide baseline level.   
  
426. The overall predicted reduction in CO2 emissions from the baseline development 

model (which is Part L 2013 compliant) is approximately 65% for the domestic 
element, which represents an annual saving of approximately 148 tonnes of CO2.  
For the non-domestic element there would be a reduction of 66%, representing an 
annual saving of 273 tonnes of CO2.  The level of savings for the stadium 
significantly exceeds the minimum 35% against Part L which is welcomed. 

  
427. To enable the domestic element to meet zero carbon target, a one-off carbon 

142



 

133 

offset payment of approximately £142,320 will be required in line with Southwark’s 
Core Strategy and London Plan Policy. This figure is based on a shortfall of 1 tonne 
CO2 per year for a period of 30 years at a rate of £60/ tonne of CO2.  The applicant 
has agreed to make this contribution, which would be secured through the S106 
agreement and would therefore make this aspect of the scheme fully policy 
compliant. 
 

 Overheating 
428. The Mayor provided detailed comments on cooling and overheating and a response 

was provided by the applicant.  The GLA had considered the additional information 
and notes that the applicant has confirmed that they will be preparing an operational 
guide for the user/occupiers of each apartment, which will highlight measures to be 
taken in the future that would assist in future overheating during heatwaves (that 
does not need to be designed for now).  It is suggested this would be centred 
around keeping windows open during cooler evening / night periods, using the 
MVHR unit with the heat exchangers off,  closing the windows / drawing curtains / 
blinds during the day. This is welcomed by the GLA. 

  
 BREEAM 
429. The submitted BREEAM Pre-Assessment Report confirms a BREEAM target of 

‘Very Good’ for the stadium, with potential to achieve ‘Excellent’ through further 
design development. This complies with Core Strategy Strategic Policy 13 which 
notes that community facilities should achieve ‘Very Good’.  This element will be 
conditioned. 

  
 Ecology 

430. Saved policy 3.28 of the Southwark Plan states that the Local Planning Authority will 
take biodiversity into account in its determination of all planning applications and will 
encourage the inclusion in developments of features which enhance biodiversity, 
requiring an ecological assessment where relevant. The adopted London Plan 
(Policy 7.19) notes that, where possible, development proposals should make a 
positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, creation and management of 
biodiversity.  London Plan policy 5.10 also states that all major developments 
should incorporate sufficient green infrastructure to improve their environmental 
credentials and biodiversity value. 

  
431. In respect of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs), Saved Policy 

3.28 notes that developments that would damage the nature conservation value of 
SINCs will not be permitted unless, and exceptionally, where mitigation and/or 
compensatory habitat to offset impacts on biodiversity are provided.    SINCs are 
sites which are recognised as being of particular importance to wildlife and 
biodiversity and are divided into Sites of Metropolitan. Borough and local 
Importance. 

  
432. To the north-east of the application site, separated by the Sainsbury’s Superstore, is 

Dog Kennel Hill SINC.   This is of local importance.  In the emerging New 
Southwark Plan, Greendale Playing Field is proposed for part of a new Borough 
Importance-grade SINC (referred to as Greendale SINC in this report).  This 
designation excludes the astroturf pitch. This designation follows a SINC review 
carried out by The Ecology Consultancy which was commissioned by the council in 
2014 and published in 2016.  The ‘SINC Review and Borough Ecological Survey’ 
(2016) (referred to as the ‘SINC Review report’) was also informed by the 
‘Greendale Open Space Ecological Appraisal’ carried out by LUC in 2014 (referred 
to here as the ‘LUC report’).   

143



 

134 

  
433. The SINC review report highlighted that: 

“The main habitats at this site are a mosaic of species-poor semi improved 
grassland, scrub and tall herbaceous vegetation dominated by false oat grass, 
rough meadow grass and bramble. These habitats are common and widespread but 
the site contains a large amount of the area present in the borough. Anthills are 
numerous within the rough grassland and provide structural diversity. Plants 
recorded include hoary cinquefoil, ivy broomrape, dog rose, honeysuckle, evening 
primrose, welted thistle, and hop. A number of Southwark BAP species have been 
recorded on site including hedgehog, stag beetle, common frog and house sparrow. 

The site forms continuity of habitat between Dog Kennel Hill SINC to the north and 

open space and SINCs the south including James Allen School playing fields and 

rail-side habitats. This habitat corridor is likely to be of value to foraging bats and 

reptiles if present in the wider area. The site probably offers one of the few 

remaining accessible areas of natural habitat in the local area as most nearby open 

spaces are managed for amenity and recreation.” 

  
434. The above SINC review report continues to say that “the little managed and semi 

natural nature of the site is what sets this site apart for nature conservation”. 
  
435. For the reasons outlined above from the SINC review, it was considered that 

Greendale fields should be designated as a SINC and is proposed in the NSP.  
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF states that decision makers may give weight to relevant 
policies in emerging plans according to the stage of preparation of the emerging 
plan, the extent to which there are unresolved objections to the policy and the 
degree of consistency with the Framework.  Emerging P59 ‘Biodiversity’ of the NSP 
has no unresolved objections and the policy could be given some weight.   P59 
states that developments must contribute to net gains in biodiversity through the 
enhancement of the conservation value of SINCs and that SINCS and populations 
of protected species and priority habitats/species should be protected. It goes on to 
say developments should include features such as green and brown roofs, green 
walls, soft landscaping, nest boxes, habitat restoration and expansion, improved 
green links and buffering of existing habitats. 

  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

144



 

135 

Map:  Map of SINCs within the vicinity of the site 

 

 
 

  
  

Map: Map of the proposed SINC (in green) and application site (in red) 

 

 

145



 

136 

  
 Map:  Map from the SINC Review report showing the habitat survey map of Greendale 

fields 

 
 

 
 

146



 

137 

 
436. The council also published the ‘Greendale Management Plan’ in August 2017 which 

was aimed at the management and maintenance needs of the site to ensure safe 
public access is deliverable and that the ecological value of the landscape is 
enhanced to increase the biodiversity.  Whilst it is not a document that has any 
status in planning policy terms, this management plan notes that Greendale’s 
unmanaged nature of the landscape has created a semi-natural open space 
providing ideal habitats for shelter and foraging for a variety of fauna.  Greendale is 
of considerable local significance for its value as a tranquil open space and as an 
important ecological conservation area (further confirmed in the SINC Review 
report). Poor semi-improved grassland is the most common habitat type recorded 
throughout and dense scrub is the second most common habitat type recorded at 
Greendale. This formed much of the boundary vegetation along with scattered trees 
especially in the north, north-west and west.  The applicant has submitted an 
ecological assessment which assesses the ecological interest of the site and 
recommends any necessary mitigation measures. 

  
437. Loss of Greendale proposed SINC 

The proposed development would result in a total area of approximately 830sqm 

being lost from the proposed Greendale SINC (see image below Ecological features 

and area of SINC to be lost and hatched in purple.  However, part of this 830sqm 

would be a footpath around the side of the pitch and does not constitute any built 

form.   Along this footpath the western side of the pitch would be new native planting 

to increase the floristic diversity and hence elevate their biodiversity value.  A large 

number of objections received highlighted the impact that the proposed stadium 

would have on the green corridor that is used by hedgehogs, stag beetles and bats, 

which are listed as important indicator species in the Southwark Biodiversity Action 

Plan.  Many respondents feel that the loss of part of the SINC land would be 

unacceptable and essential wildlife habitat should be preserved. 

  
438. 
 

 

 

Officers note the partial loss of the SINC and the concerns raised by members of 

the public and local groups. Officers also note the comments made regarding the 

impact on the identified specifies (stag beetles, hedgehogs and bats).  In response 

to this, the mitigation and enhancement measures are further discussed in the 

proceeding paragraphs. Bat activity was recorded in a bat survey and noted that the 

species were Common Pipistrelle and Noctule and this is addressed in paragraph 

446. 

  
439. It should also be noted that the LUC report shows evidence of hedgehogs in the 

wider Greendale Fields area and is mainly outside of the application site. This is 

further discussed in the latter part of this section. 

  

440. The LUC report notes there are Yellow meadow ant hills present in the wider 

Greendale fields outside of the application boundary. The council’s Ecology Officer 

has confirmed that there is an area of Yellow meadow ant hills present in the area of 

the proposed SINC that would be lost, but the impact overall on the population of 

these ant species would be small. The council’s Ecology Officer further confirms 

that the partial loss of this SINC area is of limited ecological significance.  There are 

no species in the semi - improved grassland that is rare and the habitats could be 

re-created.  Through the proposed mitigation and enhancement measures including 

habitat provision these losses can be offset.   

  

147



 

138 

441. The development is considered to have the potential to offer ecological 
enhancement for the site and Greendale Fields.  The existing football stadium has 
limited ecological value as does the adjacent artificial pitch, and it is these portions 
of the site which form the main developed areas of the proposal.  It is considered 
that the proposed development and creation of new habitats of conservation value, 
new diverse landscape planting, bird and bat boxes and green roofs within the 
development site and other ecological enhancements for local wildlife would provide 
biodiversity net gain.  Two loggeries for stag beetles are indicated to be provided as 
part of the enhancement works within the wider Greendale SINC but locations are 
not yet confirmed as this sits outside of the application site.  The measures outlined 
within the application site would seek to avoid and mitigate any identified effect and 
provide biodiversity gains for the site. This would complement the existing value of 
Dog Kennel SINC and the emerging Greendale SINC. The measures would be 
secured by condition including the submission of an ecological management plan 
and ecological monitoring scheme. 

  
442. Notwithstanding the above, Officers do acknowledge that there will be a loss of a 

portion of the proposed Greendale SINC in terms of area and the applicant has 
further agreed that a financial contribution of £50,000 which would be used for 
further ecological enhancements around the rest of the Greendale fields, Dog 
Kennel Hill open space and Greendale access road (to the south) and this amount 
is considered reasonable and necessary.  The type of ecologically-focussed works 
shall be agreed in consultation with local groups and the council’s Parks department 
and the requirement for the applicant to take part in such consultation would be 
secured in the s106 agreement.   
 

  
Image: Ecological features and area of SINC to be lost  

 

 
  
 Bats and other species 
443. All bats are protected under Section 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 

amended) and included in Schedule 2 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

148



 

139 

Regulations 2017. A further bat addendum was submitted along with the applicant’s 
Ecological Assessment.  The assessment found that the majority of the site 
provides very limited and poor habitats for foraging and commuting bats.  There are 
some limited opportunities afforded by the trees and scrub habitats in the south and 
west of the site.  The proposed development will result in the initial loss of limited 
areas of suitable foraging habitat, but those trees with noted low to moderate bat 
roosting suitability shall be protected and retained as part of the proposals.  
Furthermore, the mitigation and enhancement measures proposed shall more than 
offset this loss through habitat provision overall delivering net gains in both foraging 
and roosting opportunities.  The development proposes a large number of trees, 
planting, green space and green roofs around and on the blocks.  This will improve 
the site for foraging and commuting bats as it will attract more insects.  A condition 
requiring submission of details for a minimum of 8 mixed nest boxes and 10 bat 
tubes and 12 swift bricks is also recommended. 

  
444. Concerns were raised by local residents that the potential noise and lighting for the 

games would also have a negative impact on birds and other wildlife on site.  It is 

accepted that it is not possible to reduce the lighting levels any further due to 

lighting requirements for the sports pitch.  There was lighting in this location for 

many years so it is a re-introduction rather than new lighting.  The proposed usage 

and the lighting plan shows that for the period of May and June the lights will not be 

in operation. This is an important time for bats so it is beneficial there would be no 

lighting during these months. 

  

445. As there is no lighting currently in operation there is a likelihood of some local 

disturbance to nocturnal wildlife during the months July to September when the 

lights first come into operation. The proposed lighting does spill into Greendale 

Fields. The lighting level illuminating the trees on the southern boundary is at 10 lux 

however the bat activity levels from the Bat survey (July 19) were not high and the 

bats recorded were Common Pipistrelle and Noctule both of which are common 

species and are light tolerant. Furthermore, as discussed in earlier sections of this 

report, the LED light sources have the ability to be dimmed (such as for community 

or training use), thereby minimising light spill.   

  

446. The ecological assessment also assesses other habitats and mitigation measures.  

Local objections have raised concerns that previous surveys have found other 

species on Greendale. Hedgehogs are not a protected species, but they are a 

priority species under section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 

Act 2006.  The presence of hedgehogs was indicated in the SINC review report and 

the evidence for this was drawn from the LUC report 2014.  The survey carried out 

by LUC in 2014 used hedgehog tunnels and recorded over 5 days.  As can be seen 

in the map below (taken from the LUC report), the presence of hedgehogs were 

mainly seen in the wider fields outside of the application site.  One of the tunnels 

was placed on the eastern edge of the astroturf pitch but there was limited evidence 

of hedgehog as footprints were only recorded for Day 1. 

149



 

140 

  

 Image:  Hedgehog tunnels taken from LUC report 2014 

 

 
  

447. The applicant has also in their Ecological Assessment confirmed the surveys 
undertaken on the presence of hedgehogs.  In their background records, it was 
found that 60 records of Hedgehog were returned by the data search. The closest 
record relates to a location approximately 0.2km southwest of the site and dates 
from 2014. The most recent record dates from 2017 and relates to a location 
approximately 1.2km south of the site. 

  

448. In the applicant’s habitat survey and faunal survey it was found that no hedgehogs 
were recorded during the surveys with the vast majority of the site (existing football 
ground and astroturf pitch) considered unsuitable for this priority species.  It was 
noted however that the habitats on the margins of the site, namely scrub and 
grassland areas provide some limited suitability with the species known to be 
present in the wide area. The applicant’s Ecological Assessment notes that the use 
of the marginal areas by hedgehogs, principally in the west is considered likely.  The 
council’s Ecology Officer has found the surveys to be adequate, meet best practice 
and no further surveys were required.   

  

150



 

141 

449. The council’s Ecology officer has reviewed this and confirms that the proposed 

specific mitigation is compliant with legislation and is sufficient to negate the 

requirement for further surveys. These include marginal planting areas that will offer 

new resources for hedgehogs once established.  Continued dispersal hedgehog 

gateways will also be provided in fences on boundaries of the site and linking 

suitable habitats. There will also be hedgerow hedgehog houses, with details to be 

secured by condition. 

  

450. The public consultation responses also highlighted the presence of Stag beetles.  

Stag Beetles are protected internationally, under Annex II of the council Directive 

92/43/EEC. The species is also protected nationally under Section 9 of the Wildlife 

& Countryside Act (1981), making it illegal to trade in the species without an 

appropriate licence.  The applicant carried out background survey and a single 

detailed survey and showed no Stag Beetles having been recorded.  However, a 

site review by the applicant was also completed in April 2019 and this identified 

three potential areas that could provide the suitable deadwood conditions to support 

Stag Beetle.  This likely interest is centred on an old tree stump of a now felled 

Popular tree to the south-west of the application site (see the image Ecological 

features and area of SINC to be lost). 

  

451. In terms of mitigation and enhancement measures for any Stag beetle, the applicant 

will provide two new loggeries. The applicant also confirms that an appropriate 

mitigation strategy shall be devised as required to ensure any present population 

can be successful translocated or safeguarded in-situ as part of the proposals. The 

provision of a variety of new planting in various habitat types centred around a 

diverse species mix including early flowering and nectar rich species will provide 

new opportunities for a variety of insects. Furthermore, a variety of insect boxes and 

invertebrate ‘hotels’ / walls shall be created to further elevate the site’s 

entomological interest.  This shall be conditioned.  Officers also note that the 

majority of the likely features of interest can be fully retained in situ being associated 

with the Poplar tree line on the south-west boundary of the site. 

  

452. The responses received from public consultation raised the possibility that the 

proposal would encroach on nesting of Whitethroat birds.  The submitted ecological 

assessment notes that the buildings within the site provide limited opportunities for 

birds.  However, the site offers opportunities for nesting birds within the trees and 

scrub habitat.   The council’s Ecology Officer further confirms that the presence of 

Whitethroat birds are outside of the application site but within the wider Greendale 

Fields. Mitigation and enhancement measures have been proposed including 

ensuring that where any suitable nesting habitat is required to be removed this 

should be completed outside the nesting period and should any active nests be 

identified these must be appropriately safeguarded until any fledglings have flown 

the nest.  Bird nesting boxes of various designs shall be erected on retained trees or 

incorporated into the fabric of the buildings and will be secured by condition. Overall 

it is considered that through an increase in suitable habitat for nest building and 

foraging net gains shall be delivered for locally present bird species. 

  

453. The results of the surveys have shown that there are negligible opportunities for 

other species such as reptiles, amphibians and badgers.  The development is not 

likely to have a significant adverse effect on designated sites in the locality.    

151



 

142 

  

454. In conclusion, Officers recognise that there will be the partial loss of the proposed 

Greendale SINC in terms of area. This proposed SINC is identified in the NSP and 

given the stage of the plan preparation and no unresolved objections to draft policy 

P59 of the NSP, this can be given some weight. However, as discussed in the 

above paragraphs, adequate mitigation measures are proposed to offset this 

impact. This proposed SINC covers the wider Greendale fields which have seen a 

number of Southwark BAP species recorded on site including hedgehog, stag 

beetle, common frog and house sparrow. The SINC Review report and the LUC 

report confirmed this, but the BAP species were recorded predominantly outside of 

the application site boundary (the application red line boundary) and are seen in the 

wider Greendale fields.  The SINC review report notes that the proposed Greendale 

SINC forms continuity of habitat between Dog Kennel Hill SINC to the north and 

open space and SINCs the south including James Allen School playing fields and 

rail-side habitats.   It also notes that this habitat corridor is likely to be of value to 

foraging bats and reptiles if present in the wider area. However, this corridor 

appears to be further north of the Greendale SINC where it would link with the Dog 

Kennel Hill SINC.  The submitted ecological assessment confirms that there are no 

records of those BAP species within that area of SINC to be lost.  Furthermore, the 

council’s Ecology Officer confirms that the area that is to be lost (north of the pitch) 

is of limited ecological significance and that the habitats could be re-created 

elsewhere.   

  

455. In total, 8 mixed nest boxes, 10 bat tubes, 12 swift bricks, 3 insect boxes and 4 

hedgerow hedgehog houses shall be conditioned to secure the mitigation and 

enhancement measures.  Planting and landscaping including biodiverse roofs shall 

also be conditioned which would offer biodiversity gains.  In addition, a condition is 

recommended to secure the submission of an Ecological Mitigation and 

Management Plan (EMMP) to be approved.  This EMMP shall identify habitats to be 

retained, enhanced and created with specific details (numbers, locations, 

specification and design of the habits) for proposed nesting and roosting features.  

The EMMP shall also detail appropriate and proportionate measures to safeguard 

protected and priority species and also set out (where the results from monitoring 

show that conservation aims and objectives of the EMMP are not being met) how 

contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified.  The EMMP will contain a 

ecological monitoring requirement for a minimum of 10 years. 

  

456. The additional mitigation measure in the form of a financial contribution towards 

further ecological enhancements is considered acceptable.  It is also concluded that 

the net biodiversity gains on the site would be a benefit and conditions would secure 

this including an ecological monitoring and management plan. 

152



 

143 

  

 Image:  Indicative habitat provisions  

 

 
  

 Contaminated land  

457. The applicant has submitted a contaminated land desk study report to determine the 

potential for contamination.  The conclusion is that there is considered to be a low 

risk from contamination at this site.  However, conditions will be recommended in 

the event that potential contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

development.  It shall be reported to the Local Planning Authority with a scheme of 

investigation and risk assessment, a remediation strategy to be implemented and a 

post-remediation verification report. 

  
 Archaeology 

458. The site is not located in a designated Archaeology Priority Zone (APZ).  However, 
due to the size of the site, it was recommended that an archaeological desk-based 
assessment be provided in order to understand the significance of any archaeology 
which may be present on site. The report concludes that the potential for surviving 
Post-Medieval and Modern remains within the site is low to moderate, and that any 
potentially surviving buried archaeological remains dating to the Post-Medieval and 
Modern period, within the site boundary, would be of low significance. Officers are 
satisfied that it is not necessary to reserve any further archaeological mitigation 
work in this case. 

  
459. One detailed comment has been received from public consultation suggesting that 

this is an important site given some theories and evidence that show there might 

have been an important ancient battle ground and an Iron Age road on the site. 

Following further consultation with the council’s Archaeology officer, it was 

confirmed that historic environment records show that there are no Roman or 

Romano-British sites or findspots within a close proximity to the area of 

development.  

  

153



 

144 

 Air quality 

460. The site is located in an air quality management area (AQMA) as is the vast majority 
of the borough.  This means the air quality is poor, with high levels of pollutants 
including particulate matter (PM10) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2). Southwark Plan 
saved Policy 3.6, Air Quality, states that planning permission will not be granted for 
development that would “lead to a reduction in air quality.” London Plan (2016) 
Policy 7.14 states that development proposals should minimise increased exposure 
to existing poor air quality and make provision to address local problems of air 
quality. Residents have raised concerns over the air quality which could be made 
worse by the development and loss of existing trees.  The applicant has submitted 
an air quality assessment (AQA) considering the impacts of dust during demolition 
and construction.  It also considers the air quality once the development is 
completed and impacts arising from traffic associated with the operation of the 
development. It is concluded that the development is unlikely to raise any significant 
or other residual adverse impacts on existing neighbours and future residents.  A 
construction dust assessment has been undertaken for the stages of construction 
activities.  EPT has reviewed this and considers that the mitigation measures as 
outlined should be secured by way of condition.  It is also recommended that a 
demolition and construction management plan be required by the s106 agreement, 
in order to ensure that any construction impacts are minimised. 

  
461. A more detailed comment was received from Friends of Greendale (FOGD), which 

raised concerns over the applicant’s submitted AQA (see details in the consultation 
chapter of this report).  The air quality concern primarily relates to the positioning of 
the kick-about space next to the Sainsbury’s delivery area and any plant inside this 
area.   The argument was that the children, young people and adults using this kick-
about space will be exposed to pollution and the possibility of a diesel lake effect 
and the submitted AQA has not addressed the potential receptors and is therefore 
flawed.  

  
462. The council’s EPT Officer and the applicant have reviewed this objection.   EPT 

confirms that the assessment methodology followed the appropriate legislative 

background and expert guidance and was also reviewed by a member of the 

Institute of Air Quality Management so meets the required appropriate expertise. 

The applicant’s AQA includes air quality modelling for the whole area around the 

development including transport data for the whole area provided by the applicant’s 

transport consultants, which included vehicle trips in and out of Sainsbury’s and the 

local buses. The consultants used a number of data sources in their model including 

air pollution monitoring carried out by Southwark (automatic monitors and diffusion 

tubes), published DEFRA background concentrations, and 5 months of their own 

diffusion tube monitoring around the site including the service yard access lane 

adjacent to the kick-about space location. The receptor positions modelled included 

some adjacent to either end of the delivery road and at residential building facades 

close to the kick-about space. The play space or delivery areas were not explicitly 

modelled but are within the area modelling. The modelling for the current scenario 

shows these areas to be well within the national objectives.   

  

463. EPT also noted that the national Air Quality Standards/Objectives against which the 

modelled results are compared in the assessment are based on locations where the 

‘public is regularly present and likely to be exposed over the averaging time of the 

objective’. This is the reason that the facades of the residential buildings were used. 

Officers agree that the kick-about space would not be used for periods meeting the 

154



 

145 

averaging times for the various pollutant species considered.  

  

464. Furthermore, the results of the modelling showed 2023 to have lower concentrations 

of air pollutants than 2017.  FOGD’s objection states that there would be a ‘canyon 

effect’ in air pollution terms. A canyon would normally be where the structures either 

side of a road are as high or higher than the width of that road thereby forming a 

barrier to dispersion of emitted pollutants within it. The boundary wall to the 

development site and kick-about space is not that high so the canyon effect would 

be diminished. Notwithstanding this, such canyons cause the pollutants to be 

retained within them and to disperse out poorly, but the kick-about space is not 

within the canyon but outside it. The argument that there would be a ‘diesel lake’ 

referred to is not a concept within guidance. It appears to be effectively a type of 

canyon effect but when there is a substantial valley or cutting in which traffic is 

located, which is not the case at this location.  

  

465. The number of HGVs that service Sainsbury’s is relatively low and spread across a 

day. Similarly the number of coaches is limited in number and duration.  Later in 

2021, before the development is completed, the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) 

will come into force so that all HGVs, coaches, minibuses and vans will have to be 

of a standard which will significantly reduce pollutant emissions from their 

movements.  FOGD also raised concerns on the effect of the buses on the kick-

about space.  The buses come no closer to this space than about 90m so their 

emissions would be part of the background levels at the kick-about space. 

  

466. In the FOGD’s submitted document, there is reference to a failure to include stack 

height, diameter, emissions velocity and exit temperature for the delivery area. 

However, Officers consider that the application of these parameters is not pertinent 

to a diffuse area source of emissions but to point sources such as flues from boilers 

or industrial processes.  

  

467. Officers would also highlight that it is common within inner London for play areas 

and parks to be next to or close to heavily trafficked roads which would have more 

exposure to air pollutants, such as St. Francis Park off Dog Kennel Hill.  Given the 

evidence and EPT’s assessment, Officers are satisfied that the applicant’s AQA 

meets the requirements and that levels of air pollutants would meet the standards 

so as not to significantly harm the users of the kick-about space. 

  

 Flood risk  

468. The application site is situated within Flood Risk Zone 1, which has a low risk of 
flooding, and the application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA).  A small number of representations received from public consultation raised 

concerns that the sunken pitch could potentially lead to flooding and have an impact 

on the flow of groundwater.  With regards to the groundwater flood risk to the site, 

the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment produced by the council indicates that the site 

is not at risk of flooding from groundwater.  No site specific groundwater testing or 

monitoring has been undertaken, however the British Geological Survey’s records 

identifies a borehole approximately 40m immediately to the south of the proposed 

new pitch in Burrow Road. This borehole records a standing water level 

approximately 30m below the ground level, This is well in excess of the excavation 

depths shown on the plans and means the site is at a low risk of flooding from 

155



 

146 

groundwater. Further details on groundwater risks are detailed in the Flood Risk and 

Mitigation section of the FRA.    

  
469. The site is within a Critical Drainage Area. Both the proposal and the submitted FRA 

have been reviewed by the council’s Flood and Drainage Team.  Comments were 
also made by the GLA and the applicant has submitted a response.  The proposed 
development will use a combination of traditional piped drainage systems and 
sustainable urban drainage systems (SuDS).  The proposed SuDS features will 
reduce the rate of discharge by providing attenuation during heavy rainfall events, 
reducing the risk of flooding to itself and downstream /surrounding properties.   The 
development has been divided into five sub-catchments and the new stadium and 
pitch will have a separate drainage system discharging into the Thames Water 
sewer.  Overall the strategy would ensure surface water runoff will be safely 
contained within the development boundary for up to and including the 1 in 100 year 
rainfall event including an allowance for climate change (plus 40%).  The peak rate 
of surface water discharge from the development will conform to London Plan Policy 
5.13 and will discharge runoff to a total greenfield run-off rate of 10 litres/ second 
into the Thames Water combined sewer running parallel to the southern boundary. 

  
470. The council’s Flood and Drainage engineer has not raised any objections to the 

scheme and has recommended conditions to secure the final design for the 

proposed surface water drainage system including detailed design, size and 

location of attenuation units and details of flow control measures. It has also been 

suggested that prior to occupancy a maintenance schedule that details the 

frequency and method of maintaining the drainage infrastructure is submitted for 

approval so that its functionality in the future is maintained to the standard specified 

in the drainage strategy.  In terms of water consumption, Officers have 

recommended a condition which requires dwellings to meet a certain water usage 

per day. 

  
 Socio-economic impacts 

471. In accordance with adopted planning polices there would be a requirement for this 

development to deliver during the construction phase 46 sustained jobs to 

unemployed Southwark residents, 46 short courses, and take on 12 construction 

industry apprentices.  It is only if those targets are not met (to the satisfaction of the 

council) that there would be an employment and training contribution to meet the 

shortfall. Given the type of development, there is no job requirement for the end use 

of the development.  However, the development will bring in employment associated 

with the running of the stadium and leisure facilities.  The above would be secured 

by the s106 agreement along with an employment, skills and business support plan.   

  
472. Many of the respondents have highlighted the benefits of the existing club on 

existing businesses as it boosts local trade.  The increase in capacity would allow 
for greater number of spectators to visit thereby further boosting the local economy.  

  

156



 

147 

 

 CHAPTER 11 

 Planning obligations (S.106 undertaking or agreement) 

473. Saved Policy 2.5 'Planning obligations' of the Southwark Plan and policy 8.2 of the 

London Plan advise that Local Planning Authorities should seek to enter into 

planning obligations to avoid or mitigate the adverse impacts of developments which 

cannot otherwise be adequately addressed through conditions, to secure or 

contribute towards the infrastructure, environment or site management necessary to 

support the development, or to secure an appropriate mix of uses within the 

development. Further information is contained within the council's adopted Planning 

Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy SPD. A S106 Legal agreement is 

currently being drafted which should include clauses to secure the following: 

  
  

Planning obligation 
 
Mitigation 

 
Applicant’
s position 
 

 
Affordable Housing 
 

AFFORDABLE (SOCIAL 
RENT AND 
INTERMEDIATE) 
HOUSING PROVISION 
 

Provision of 73 affordable units on the site, 
comprising the following mix: 

• 52 units (13 x one-bedroom flats, 22 x 
two-bedroom flats, 17  x three-bedroom 
flats) to be social rent tenure 

• 21 units (8 x one-bedroom flats, 3 x 
two-bedroom flats, 10 x three-bedroom 
flats) to be intermediate tenure. 

 
Prior to implementation of any part of the 
development a grant application to be made 
under the Mayor’s Homes for Londoners: 
Affordable Homes Programme 2016-21 to seek 
grant to support additional affordable housing 
(minimum of 38%):   

 
Minimum provision of 77 affordable units on the 
site, comprising the following mix: 

• 56 units (15 x one-bedroom flats, 22 x 
two-bedroom flats, 19 x three-bedroom 
flats) to be social rent tenure 

• 21 units (6 x one-bedroom flats, 3 x 
two-bedroom flats, 12 x three-bedroom 
flats) to be intermediate tenure. 

 
 
Income thresholds and eligibility criteria for the 
tenures would be included. 
 
Restrictions on occupancy of market units to 
ensure early delivery of affordable housing 
units. 
 
Suitable marketing of the intermediate units for 
the duration of the Intermediate Housing Pre-

Agreed 

157



 

148 

Completion Marketing Period and the 
Intermediate Housing Marketing Period to 
households within Southwark’s local income 
thresholds. 
 
Affordable Housing Monitoring: 
£132.35 per affordable property, 73 x 132.35 = 
£9,661.55 
 

VIABILITY 
 

Early Stage Review Mechanism to be included, 
as per the requirements of the Mayor.   
 
Late Stage Review Mechanism at 75% 
occupancy  
 
 

Agreed 

EQUAL ACCESS FOR 
ALL RESIDENTS TO 
GROUND LEVEL 
COMMUNAL GARDENS, 
KICK-ABOUT SPACE, 
PLAY SPACE, PUBLIC 
LINEAR ROUTE 
 

Equal access for all residents, irrespective of 
the tenure of their dwelling, to all external 
spaces.   
 
 

Agreed 

WHEELCHAIR HOUSING 
PROVISION 
 

Provision of 22 No. wheelchair housing units 
(10 No. social rent and 12 No. open market). 
 
Suitable marketing of the designated 
Wheelchair Accessible Units for the duration of 
the Marketing Period for Wheelchair Accessible 
Dwellings. 
 

Agreed 

ESTATE MANAGEMENT 
PLAN 

Submission of an Estate Management Plan 
which shall set out the ongoing maintenance 
and management of all private, non-adopted 
roads, unadopted shared surfaces and 
pedestrian and/or cycle routes, disabled  
parking spaces within the development 
unless/until adopted pursuant to any highway 
agreement.   Management and maintenance of 
SUDs.  This should also include a management 
plan for the Kick-about space. 
 

Agreed  

Delivery of stadium and pitch 
 

STADIUM LEASE  Transfer of the freehold of the stadium building 
and related facilities to the council on 
completion. 
 

Agreed 

PITCH LEASE Lease of the pitch to the Club to be agreed with 
the council.  
 

Agreed 

PHASING AND 
DELIVERY 

Submission of a Phasing Plan prior to 

implementation.   

 

Not to implement the residential units until the 

stadium and pitch has been completed and is 

suitable for use as a football pitch. 

 

Agreed 

158



 

149 

Not to implement the new stadium until the 

pitch has been completed and is available for 

use by the Club. 

 

PITCH MANAGEMENT 
PLAN AND COMMUNITY 
USE AGREEMENT 

Submission of Pitch management plan which 

shall include pricing, hours of use, 

management responsibilities and mechanism 

for review.  

 

Submission of Community Use Agreement in 

consultation with relevant stakeholders and 

groups and the council prior to implementation.   

 

Submission of a Management and 

Maintenance Scheme for the facility including 

management responsibilities, programme of 

use, a maintenance schedule and a 

mechanism for review. 

 

Agreed 

SINKING FUND  A Sinking Fund from Meadow for the first 3 

rotations of the pitch replenishment works.  

This works out to be 9 years x £1,500, totalling 

£13,500.  

Agreed 

 
Trees, Landscaping and Ecology 
 

CAPITAL SUM FOR THE 
ADDITIONAL TREES 
PAYMENT 
 

A sum of £37,800 paid by the developer for a 
minimum of 36 No. off-site trees.  
 

Agreed 

CAPITAL SUM FOR 
ECOLOGICAL 
ENHANCEMENTS 

A sum of £50,000 to go towards ecological 
enhancements and improvements across 
Greendale, Dog Kennel Hill open space and 
Greendale access road.     
 
The works to be subject to consultation with 
local groups and stakeholders.  
 

Agreed 

CAPITAL SUM FOR THE 
MAINTENANCE AND 
MANAGEMENT OF 
PUBLIC GREEN LINK  

A sum of £527,682 for the maintenance of the 
green link including play and equipment and 
landscaping over a 20 year period.  
   
 

Agreed 

GREEN LINK Delivery of public green link and access along 
this route for pedestrians and cyclists.  
 
Access to be maintained at all times during 
construction  
 
Completion of public green link prior to 
occupation of 90% of residential units. 
 

 

PLAY SPACE Delivery and completion of play space and 
communal amenity space prior to occupation of 
90%residential units. 
 

Agreed 

KICK-ABOUT SPACE Delivery of the kick-about space (Block G).  Agreed 

159



 

150 

 
Not to occupy more than 50% of the residential 
units until this has been completed and is ready 
for use.    
 

COMMUNAL AMENITY 
SPACE SHORTFALL 
CONTRIBUTION 

A sum of £5,494 towards public open space, 
children’s play and sports facilities within the 
vicinity of the site.   
 

Agreed 

 
Employment and workspace 
 

LOCAL ECONOMY:  
CONSTRUCTION 
PHASE 
JOB/CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

Development to:  

• Deliver 46 sustained jobs to 
unemployed Southwark residents,  

• Deliver 46 short courses, and; 

• Take on 12 construction industry 
apprentices during the construction 
phase. 

Or make the pro-rata Employment and Training 
Contribution which, at maximum, would be 
£221,200. This breaks down as: 

• £197,800 against sustained jobs; 

• £6,900 against short courses, and;  

• £16,500 against construction industry 
apprenticeships. 

 
Submission of an employment, skills and 
business support plan. 

Agreed 

 
Transport and Highways 
 

PUBLIC REALM AND 
WORKS TO THE 
NEARBY ROAD 
NETWORK 
 

Prior to implementation, the developer is to 
submit the Section 278 specification and 
estimated costs to the Local Highways 
Authority for approval. This shall comprise the 
following works, and all shall be constructed in 
accordance with SSDM standards: 
 

• The new 2.0 metres wide footway (on 
the west side), the two proposed 
uncontrolled pedestrian crossings, 
raised table, associated tactile paving, 
road markings and drainage at 
Abbotswood Road should be 
constructed.  

• Repave the footway including new 
kerbing fronting the development.  

• Construct proposed new vehicular 
access using materials in accordance 
with SSDM requirements. 

• Reconstruct any redundant vehicle 
crossovers as footway along 
Abbotswood Road.   

• Promote a TMO to extend the existing 
waiting restrictions where the ‘mini-
roundabout’ will be removed. 

• Upgrade street lighting to current LBS 

Agreed 

160



 

151 

standards, including on private roads.  

• Rectify any damaged footways, kerbs, 
inspection covers and street furniture 
due to the construction of the 
development. 

 
 
Prior to commencement of highway works, the 
developer is to enter into a Highway Agreement 
for the purposes authorising the works etc. 
 

DELIVERY AND 
SERVICING 
MANAGEMENT BOND 
 

For a period of two years from 75% occupancy 
the daily vehicular servicing activity of the site 
is to be monitored and returns made on a 
quarterly basis. If the site meets or betters its 
own baseline target (42 two-way movements 
per day) the Bond will be returned within 6 
months of the end of the monitoring period. If 
the site fails to meet its own baseline the 
bonded sum will be made available for the 
council to utilise for sustainable transport 
projects in the ward of the development.  
 
The Delivery and Servicing Management Bond 
will be £22,400. 
 
The Bond is to be paid to the council prior to 
occupation of any part of the development.  
 
The council will retain £1,600 of the £22,400 
Bond for assessing the quarterly monitoring.  
 
Submission of delivery and servicing 
management plan.  
 

Agreed 

TFL BUS 
CONTRIBUTION  

A sum of £135,000 staggered over three years 
towards improvement of TfL bus services.    
 

Agreed 

BUS COUNTDOWN 
FACILITIES 

A sum of £20,000 towards local bus stop 
improvements and countdown facilities.  
 

Agreed 

OFF-SITE HIGHWAYS 
WORKS 

A sum of £20,000 towards Highway 
improvements to Melbourne Grove.     
 
A sum of £37,000 towards implementing a 
raised entry treatment at St. Francis Road’s 
junction with Dog Kennel Hill  and associated 
footway resurfacing to either side of the 
junction on Dog Kennel Hill.  
 

Agreed 

CAR CLUB SCHEME 
 

Prior to occupation of the residential units, the 
Car Club bay within the development to be 
provided and maintained.  Membership of a Car 
Club Operator scheme (to be one of the 
council’s approved car club partners) for a 
period of 3 years from the date of first 
occupation will be available to the primary 
occupier of each of the dwellings. 
 

Agreed 

161



 

152 

CPZ Restriction on future resident’s eligibility for car 
parking permits.   
 

Agreed  

DELIVERY OF 
PUBLICLY-ACCESSIBLE 
REALM  
 

To provide full unrestricted public access to the 
Public Realm. 
 
Publicly-accessible realm is to be designed to 
incorporate principles of Secured by Design. 
 
Publicly-accessible realm to be designed to an 
adoptable standard and delivered prior to 
occupation.  A commuted sum to be secured 
should additional works are required to meet 
the SSDM requirements.  
. 
 

Agreed 

CAR PARKING AND 
MANAGEMENT  

Submission of Car Parking Management Plan 
prior to above grade works.    
 

Agreed 

STADIUM 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

Submission of Stadium Management Plan 
along with the events management plan prior to 
each phase of construction.   
 

Agreed 

TRAVEL PLAN Submission of Stadium and Residential Travel 
Plan prior to implementation of each part of the 
development.  
 

Agreed 

Construction and demolition  
 

DEMOLITION, 
CONSTRUCTION 

Submission of Demolition and Construction 
Environmental Management plan prior to 
implementation.  
  

Agreed 

 
Energy 
 

FUTUREPROOFING 
FOR CONNECTION TO 
DISTRICT CHP 

Prior to occupation, a CHP Energy Strategy 
must be approved setting out how the 
development will be designed and built so that 
all parts of it will be capable of connecting to 
any future District CHP. 
 

Agreed 

CARBON OFFSET 
 

£142,320 in-lieu payment (calculated on the 
basis of the most recent Energy Strategy). 
 
Development as built is to achieve the 
respective carbon reduction for the non-
domestic, domestic elements, as set out in the 
submitted Energy Strategy.   
 
 

Agreed 

Others  
 

St Olaves and St 
Saviours  

Use reasonable endeavours to secure a lease 
for a term of not less than 125 years of the St 
Saviour’s and  St Olave's' Pitches  for 
community use on such terms as may be 
agreed between with St Saviour’s and St 
Olave's School and DHFC. 

Agreed 

162



 

153 

 

   

Administration fee 
 

Payment to cover the costs of monitoring these 
necessary planning obligations calculated as 
2% of total sum. 
 

Agreed 

 
 

  
474. In the event that a satisfactory legal agreement has not been entered into by 31 

January 2021, it is recommended that the director of planning refuses planning 
permission, if appropriate, for the following reason: 
 
“The proposal, by failing to provide for appropriate planning obligations secured 
through the completion of a S106 agreement, fails to ensure the delivery of the 
stadium securing the long term future of DHFC, adequate provision of affordable 
housing and mitigation against the adverse impacts of the development through 
projects or contributions in accordance with saved policy 2.5 'Planning Obligations' 
of the Southwark Plan (2007), strategic policy 14 'Delivery and Implementation' of 
the Core Strategy (2011), policy 8.2 'Planning obligations' of the London Plan (2015) 
and the Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy SPD (2015)”. 

  
 Mayoral and borough community infrastructure levy (CIL) 

 
475. Section 143 of the Localism Act states that any financial contribution received as 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a material “local financial consideration” in 
planning decisions. The requirement for payment of the Mayoral or Southwark CIL 
is therefore a material consideration. However, the weight attached is determined by 
the decision maker. The Mayoral CIL is required to contribute towards strategic 
transport investments in London as a whole, primarily Crossrail, while Southwark’s 
CIL will provide for infrastructure that supports growth in Southwark. 

  
476. In this instance a Mayoral CIL payment of £1,185,103.57 and a Southwark CIL 

payment of £4,482,319.47 would be required. These are pre-social housing relief 

figures and accordingly would be reduced if a CIL Social Housing Relief claim is 

submitted after the grant of planning permission.  

  

163



 

154 

 

CHAPTER 12 

 Community involvement and engagement 

 
477. This application was accompanied by a Statement of Community Involvement. The 

applicant has submitted an Engagement Summary in line with the council’s 
Development Consultation Charter.  The documents confirm that the following public 
consultation was undertaken by the applicant prior to submission of the application: 
 

478. Meetings with local stakeholders and community groups;  
Private preview exhibition for local councillors;  
Two Public exhibitions;  
Two rounds of leaflet drops;  
Two rounds of DHFC fans Question and Answer sessions;  
Publication in the South London Press;  
Site visit and walkabout with Friends of Greendale.  
 
These were carried out between January and June 2019.   

  
479. Additional channels for engagement included a free phone telephone enquiry line 

for anyone wishing to find out more about the proposals including providing 
comments.  A dedicated website was created to be accessible to all 
(http://www.championhillproposals.com).  This website comprises the details of the 
proposals, FAQs and downloads of the exhibition material.   

  
480. The first exhibition was held on 1 and 2 February 2019 and the second exhibition 

was held on 10 and 11 April 2019 and both were held at the Champion Hill site.  
The exhibitions consisted of A1 boards being displayed including feedback forms.  
A total of 130 people attended the first exhibition and 34 feedback forms were 
completed.  The second exhibition was attended by 31 people and 10 feedback 
forms were received.   

  
481. The applicant had also written to a number of local schools and local organisations 

and community groups surrounding the site to schedule meetings to discuss the 
proposals.  

  
482. The key themes raised as result of the public consultation included: 

- Strong support for the securing a future of the Club at Champion Hill stadium 

but provision should be made for future expansion if there is promotion;  

- Objection to the use of Greendale/MOL;  

- Impact on the MOL;  

- Concern over the density of the scheme;  

- The linear park is still too narrow;  

- Discussion over the terracing and whether it should be covered and potential 

expansion;   

- The kick-about space is not large enough and should be accessible for all;  

- Ensure safety outside of daylight hours;   

164



 

155 

- The facilities should be available for community use; 

- Reduction in sporting community facilities;  

- Height considered to be excessive in this location.   

  
483. Principal changes as a result of the above consultation with fans and local 

community and other stakeholders include: 
- The height of the apartment buildings has been lowered from 8 storeys to 4 and 

6; 

- The town houses have been removed to increase the sense of openness across 
the site; 

- The distances and spaces between buildings have been increased; 

- The MUGA (which is now a kick-about space) is now proposed at ground level 
and is fully accessible; 

- Amended building layouts with improved landscaping and connectivity through 
the site for pedestrians and cyclists and;  

- New trees and inclusion of an outdoor gym. 

  

484. As part of its statutory requirements the Local Planning Authority sent just over 

1,200 letters to surrounding residents, displayed a number of site notices in the 

vicinity, and issued a press notice publicising the planning application. Adequate 

efforts have, therefore, been made to ensure the community has been given the 

opportunity to participate in the planning process. 

  

485. Details of consultation and any re-consultation undertaken by the Local Planning 

Authority in respect of this application are set out in the appendices.  

  
Community impact and equalities assessment 

486. This section of the report examines the impact of the proposals on those with 

protected characteristics, with a particular focus on the council’s legal duties under 

Section 149 of the Equality Act (2010).  

  
487. The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) contained in Section 149 (1) of the Equality 

Act 2010 imposes a duty on public authorities to have, in the exercise of their 
functions, due regard to three "needs" which are central to the aims of the Act:  
 
1. The need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 

conduct prohibited by the Act 
2. The need to advance equality of opportunity between persons sharing a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. This involves 
having due regard to the need to: 

• Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic  

• Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not 
share it  

• Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by 
such persons is disproportionately low  

3. The need to foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 

165



 

156 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice and promote 
understanding.  

 
Officers have taken this into account in the assessment of the application and 
Members must be mindful of this duty when determining all planning applications.  

  
  Potentially affected groups 
488. Age 

Officers do not have the statistical data to fully verify and understand the 

demographics of those using the artificial pitch. However, from the consultation 

responses, a substantial number of objections referred to the loss of the existing 

artificial pitch which is used by families and in particular children or youth.  Without 

re-provision and/or other mitigation, the loss of the existing pitch on the application 

site could potentially give rise to impacts on those with protected characteristics, 

which in this instance is the younger age group. It is noted that the local younger 

population uses this artificial pitch more than others for informal play including ball 

games and cricket. It has also been argued by the community that this pitch is 

‘freely accessible’.   

  
489. The development would replace the informal artificial pitch with an all weather 3G 

pitch.  The pitch would need to be booked on a formal basis, but the pitch would be 

of a significantly better quality.  It would also become a safer environment with 

better surveillance and ground conditions.  It is acknowledged that the pitch would 

now need to be paid for, but these would be at a reduced cost for the local 

community. The provision of the informal kick-about space in Block G would also be 

a positive aspect of the scheme, providing a higher quality space for sports and 

recreational activities that is accessible to all members of the public free of charge.  

The provision of the play areas open to the public is also a benefit of the scheme.  

  
490. Disability 

The current stadium has poor disabled access.  The development has been 

designed to assist people with mobility impairments.  Measures which would be 

incorporated include level access to buildings, wheelchair accessible and adaptable 

residential units and wheelchair accessible parking spaces. The new footpaths 

within the linear park would have improved surfaces and ramped level changes 

which would improve access to Greendale for those with disabilities.  

  
491. Sex 

The Club is developing the capacity of its womens team, and is keen to further 
develop its football programme for girls. The new facilities would increase the scope 
for women and girls to participate in football and other sports. 

  
 Ethos of the Club 
492. As noted in the consultation responses, the Club has a positive reputation for 

promoting equality and elimination of discrimination.  It is highlighted that the Club 
has a strong local community ethos and contributes significantly in a positive way by 
engaging all groups of the community through outreach projects, working with 
schools and charities.  It is also known to be inclusive and fosters social cohesion.  
Charity events are run to raise funds for local community groups and charities.   A 
significant number of supporters that have written in have commented on the work 
the Club does on issues such as mental health awareness, promoting diversity and 

166



 

157 

fighting racism, misogyny and homophobia, and all other kinds of discrimination. 
The proposed development provides a means to support DHFC’s objectives of 
supporting charities, educational, health and community initiatives in the local area 
and encourage equal opportunities, tying in with the vision for East Dulwich set out 
in the NSP and its associated Integrated Impact Assessment.  The safeguarding of 
the Club would be a significant positive benefit in this regard.  

  
 Positive impacts 
493. Further to the above described, a range of other positive impacts have also been 

identified and are summarised as follows: 

 

Affordable housing: A minimum of 73 affordable units, including social housing and 

intermediate housing. This would increase to 77 affordable units in the event that 

the grant application is successful.  

 

Accessible/adaptable housing: 10% of all housing (i.e. a minimum of 22 units) 

including wheelchair parking. 

 

Employment and training opportunities: Groups/mechanisms would be established 

to ensure that local people (and hard to reach groups) are given support to take 

advantage of jobs and training opportunities. 

 

Improved and more accessible public realm: The current disabled access to the 

stadium is relatively poor. The proposed development has been designed to assist 

people with mobility impairments.  Physical measures such as the level surfaces, 

resting places and high quality lighting proposed could particularly benefit disabled 

people. The link from St Francis Park to Greendale fields would have better passive 

surveillance.  There would be improved connections to which would benefit older 

people, disabled people, young people, women and children.  

 

New sports facilities: The existing and future residents of all age groups in the local 

area are likely to benefit from the new sports facilities proposed.   

  

 Conclusion on Equality implications 

494. Officers are satisfied that equality implications have been carefully considered 

throughout the planning process and that Members have sufficient information 

available to them to have due regard to the equality impacts of the proposal as 

required by Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in determining whether planning 

permission should be granted.  

  
Human rights implications 

 
495. This planning application engages certain human rights under the Human Rights 

Act 2008 (the HRA). The HRA prohibits unlawful interference by public bodies with 
conventions rights. The term 'engage' simply means that human rights may be 
affected or relevant.  

  
496. This application has the legitimate aim of redeveloping this site for a sports and 

recreational use and residential buildings, together with publicly-accessible realm. 
The rights potentially engaged by this application, including the right to a fair trial 
and the right to respect for private and family life are not considered to be unlawfully 
interfered with by this proposal.  

167



 

158 

  
 Positive and proactive statement 

 
497. The council has published its development plan and Core Strategy on its website 

together with advice about how applications are considered and the information that 
needs to be submitted to ensure timely consideration of an application. Applicants 
are advised that planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

  
498. The council provides a pre-application advice service that is available to all 

applicants in order to assist applicants in formulating proposals that are in 
accordance with the development plan and core strategy and submissions that are 
in accordance with the application requirements. 

  
499. Positive and proactive engagement: summary table 

 
Was the pre-application service used for this application? 
 

YES 

If the pre-application service was used for this application, was the 
advice given followed? 
 

IN PART 

Was the application validated promptly? 
 

YES 

If necessary/appropriate, did the case officer seek amendments to 
the scheme to improve its prospects of achieving approval? 

YES 

  

168



 

159 

 

 CHAPTER 13  

Conclusion 
 

 Comparison between the 2016 scheme and proposed development 
  
500. The 2016 scheme 

A full description and suggested reasons for refusal for the 2016 scheme is provided 
in the planning history section of this report.  The 2016 scheme had proposed the 
pitch to be laid as a 3G all weather surface and enclosed by a solid boundary 
fence/wall of between 1.83m and 2.6m in height (when measured from the external 
ground level outside of the stadium).  The pitch would be slightly sunk.  4 flood light 
columns were also proposed to be located to the perimeter of the ground at 27.5m 
in height.  155 new residential units would be provided in blocks of between three 
and six-storeys in height, and would include 56 residential car parking spaces within 
a raised podium.  The units would be arranged in three principal linear blocks with 
private courtyards on the podium providing communal amenity space.  A MUGA 
was also proposed.  The publicly accessible route to the south was approximately 
2,447sqm but had also included a shared surface route for both pedestrians and 
vehicles to enter the residential blocks. 

  
501. The pitch under the 2016 scheme had a permanent solid boundary enclosure which 

limited the views across Greendale fields. It was considered that views into, out of, 
and across the football pitch will be restricted as a result of the 2016 development. 
The scale of the enclosure, which extended further north and south than the existing 
pitch, was considered to have the effect of visually shrinking the apparent scale of 
the open space, disrupting the openness of the views and the enjoyment of the 
open space. 

  
502. In the current scheme, the canvas banners would be removable and only installed 

during match days for a maximum of 5 hours, thereby limiting the impact of the 
fencing.  This solid element would be to a maximum height of 1.83m.  Views into, 
out of and across the pitch would therefore be maintained to a significant extent at 
all other times.  

  
503. The 2016 development had proposed a similar green link, but this adjoined a shared 

surface access road for cars and pedestrians which would have seen cars entering 
and exiting this southern part of the site.  The current application would be for 
pedestrian and cyclists only (except for essential emergency vehicles) and in 
qualitative and design terms is a better solution.  The omission of the podium and 
the new configuration of the blocks mean that there are breaks between the housing 
blocks which provide views in and out of the residential gardens and play areas. 
The current scheme also includes provision, during daytime hours, of a public route 
through the site providing a more direct route from Greendale to the Sainsbury’s 
store. 

  
504. The 2016 scheme had the housing arranged as three long blocks which would 

appear as an unrelenting mass in views  across St Francis Park from the east and 
across the MOL of Greendale fields from the west. It was considered that the length 
and height of these blocks would be particularly dominant in this context.  The 
breaks between the blocks in the current scheme ( and the change to a lighter-
weight design for the link between blocks A and D) reduces the visual prominence 
of the buildings and enables them to sit more comfortably in this context  

169



 

160 

  
505. As discussed in the design chapter of this report, the current proposed layout and 

design of the buildings have been arranged and designed to provide visual breaks 
and the height steps down from north to south.  The views as seen across 
Greendale Fields would be of distinct blocks that are articulated and have breaks in 
between.   

  
506. The 2016 application had proposed 25 affordable units which equated to 16% of the 

new homes as affordable dwellings when measured by habitable rooms, failing to 
deliver a policy compliant level of affordable housing units and insufficient 
justification of the significant shortfall had been provided.  The current proposal 
would provide a minimum of 35.4% affordable habitable rooms which meets policy 
requirements.   

  
507. Although the replacement sports facilities are similar in the 2016 and current 

proposals, the 2016 scheme did include a larger MUGA, when compared to the 
kick-about court in the current scheme.  As such, this involved a lesser loss of sport 
pitches.  However, the additional information provided with the current application 
about the community use strategy, has provided greater comfort to Sport England 
which has not objected to the current proposal.  

  
 Restrictions in the 1990 s106 Agreement 
508. A significant number of objections raised from public consultation have highlighted 

that the existing stadium and turf pitch has a restrictive covenant in place to ensure 
it can only be used for "leisure or recreational or educational purposes". The 
proposed development would therefore go against this covenant and would see a 
large, non-ancillary development on land designated as Other Open Space.   

  
509. The current application is recommended for approval and the merits of the scheme 

are discussed elsewhere in the report.  If Members are minded to approve this 

application a separate deed of variation application would be required to modify the 

obligations in respect of the 1990 Agreement.  It should be noted that the restrictive 

covenant relates to the land of the existing football pitch and not the artificial pitch. 

The phasing of the scheme is that the proposed football pitch on MOL is to be 

constructed first followed by the construction of the stadium building, during which 

time the Club would continue to play on their existing ground.   As such, the 

covenants would still serve a useful purpose since DHFC would still occupy the 

facilities, and in the absence of any replacement facility being agreed the clause is 

still necessary to protect the Club’s interests. Only in the event that the new ground 

and stadium are permitted, completed and a suitable long-term lease is agreed with 

the Club would these clauses cease serving a useful planning purpose. If this 

application were to be approved, the applicant would be required to submit a 

separate application to vary the 1990 s106 agreement and lift the restrictive 

covenants in order to carry out the development of the existing stadium. 

  
 Overall conclusion and planning balance 
510. The application has been assessed against the relevant policies of the development 

plan, which in this instance comprises the London Plan 2016, Core Strategy 2011 
and the saved policies of the Southwark Plan 2007.  Section 38 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires planning applications to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This report has set out the areas where this application complies with the 
development plan, and where it does not, what material considerations exist that 

170



 

161 

justify any failures to comply. 
  
511. The report makes clear that policies at national, regional and local levels give 

significant protection to land designated as MOL. The report sets out that the 
playing pitch would be considered an appropriate use on MOL, and its terracing, 
circulation areas, floodlights and fencing would be essential facilities needed to 
support the use for competitive football and extend its use by the public. The extent 
to which the fencing affect the openness of the MOL has been minimised by the use 
of solid fencing only at the lower levels, and only for the minimum amount of time 
necessary to satisfy the requirements of the FA. . Like the GLA, officers have 
concluded that sufficient very special circumstances, linked to the protection of the 
Club and the increased potential for participation in sport, can justify the impact on 
MOL and any other wider harm caused by the development.. 

  
  
512. The proposed residential development on land designated as OOS would result in a 

loss of open space in terms of area and the report recognises that in this respect the 
development does not comply with the development plan. However the existing 
OOS, being the turf football pitch, is currently not visible by the general public, and 
the frequent mowing means it has limited value in terms of biodiversity.  The 
replacement open space, namely the linear route with access to adjacent play 
spaces, would be a significant benefit in qualitative terms.  The quality of the new 
public space has several advantages in terms of visual amenity, public access, 
biodiversity, the range of users and public safety.  So whilst the proposal does not 
fully accord with saved policy 3.27, the wider benefits for sport, healthy living and 
biodiversity are mitigating factors which have been taken into account.   

  
513. In terms of sports facilities, the development would provide a 3G playing surface 

within the new stadium; replacement gyms and squash courts within the stadium 
building; and a multi-functional kick-about space.  There is also a small outdoor gym 
within the green link.  Sport England as the statutory consultee raised no objections 
to the scheme and recognised that the proposals have the potential to improve and 
enhance community sport on this site and prevent the closure of the Club.  The 
provision of an artificial 3G pitch allowing its use throughout the year at a vastly 
increased intensity for the community will secure sport-related benefits for the local 
community and also meet identified sports development priorities.  Evidence 
submitted by the applicant in relation to the  management and maintenance of the 
pitch shows how the community use hours could be accommodated whilst also 
ensuring the Club’s training and matches could take place.  The business plan, 
community use agreement and maintenance schemes would be secured in the 
s106 agreement.   

  

514. The development would also provide 219 new homes, a minimum of 73 of which 
would be affordable. 52 of the homes would be for social rent and 21 would be for 
shared ownership.. This equates to 35.4% affordable homes when measured by 
habitable rooms. The affordable housing being offered is significantly in excess of 
the maximum viable amount, as confirmed by expert assessors commissioned by 
the council. The applicant has confirmed that any partner Registered Provider (RP) 
would be required to apply to the GLA for housing grant, and if grant was secured 
the amount of affordable housing would increase to 38%. In addition, any 
permission would be subject to viability reviews in the event of a delayed start, and 
prior to full occupation of the development, enabling any improvement in viability 
above a threshold profit level to be captured as additional affordable homes; this 
would also be able to account for any housing grant secured for the scheme.  The 

171



 

162 

delivery of new homes, and the contribution to affordable housing are positive 
aspects of the development which should be accorded significant weight in 
determining the application.  

  
515. The housing mix across the development would accord with the requirements of the 

Core Strategy including wheelchair units. The overall quality of the housing is 
sufficient to demonstrate that the density would not harm the amenity of future 
occupiers.. It is also consistent with the broader approach to optimising 
development through high quality design as set out in the emerging NSP and draft 
New London Plan.  The proposed residential units would meet residential design 
standards in terms of floor areas demonstrating good quality of accommodation.   
The units would also be provided with adequate private amenity space, communal 
amenity space and childrens’ play space.  Only one block has a shortfall in 
communal amenity space which is relatively small in area and would be mitigated by 
the generous landscaped gardens on the ground floor level. There will be good 
levels of crowd management on match days to ensure that amenity for the 
occupants and existing neighbours are not significantly harmed. The proposed 
layout and orientation of the residential blocks and the mitigation measures for 
individual dwellings would ensure that the noise from existing activities would not 
harm their amenity.  This would include existing commercial activities such as the 
deliveries and running of the Sainsbury’s store would not be hindered in line with the 
Agent of Change principle.  

  
516. The development would not harm local amenity, minimising impacts on daylight, 

sunlight and privacy to neighbouring residents.  The noise impact assessment 
concludes that the proposed development should not cause any significant adverse 
impacts for existing residential and commercial neighbours of the site.  The use of 
modern lighting to replace the 6 columns has the potential to reduce the impact on 
nearby residential properties and the council’s EPT has not raised any objections to 
this subject to appropriate conditions.  

  
517. The layout and arrangement of the development is a logical and coherent plan 

which appropriately zones the different uses within the development.  The new 
housing overlooks the linear public route, and would offer passive surveillance of 
the route, which would be open to the public at all times and improves public safety.  
As well as providing an enhanced pedestrian and cycle access to Greendale, this 
link would provide legible access to the stadium for visiting fans.  The arrangement 
of the housing as distinct and separate blocks reduces their dominance in local 
views. The height strategy is designed to step down from the north to south which 
provides a good response to the local context.  The buildings have been designed 
with modulation and articulation as well as detailing specific to each block.   

  
518. The proposals would not harm the setting of any heritage assets or any protected 

views.  As noted in the assessment, the impact of the stadium building and new 
housing would be visible from Greendale, but the open character of Greendale is 
generally maintained.    

  
519. The car-free scheme with the exception of wheelchair parking spaces is welcomed 

for this site and the scheme would have a travel plan and stadium management 
plan to ensure that car trips to the site would be minimised.  The provision of cycle 
stores and a new improved cycle route would encourage the existing and future 
residents to use this sustainable mode of transport.  Local highway improvements 
would also provide for safer streets for pedestrians and better connectivity.  
Adequate measures would be secured to improve local bus infrastructure and 

172



 

163 

construction impacts would be managed by condition. 
  
520. There will be some loss of existing trees, but this will be replaced within the site and 

there would be only a small net loss in canopy cover on site as measured by stem 
girth.  This calculation has discounted the proposed roof top trees and the smaller 
whips and feathers which are included as part of the overall greening of the 
scheme. The net loss is to be mitigated by the planting of off-site trees within the 
vicinity of the site.  The development proposes a large number of trees, planting, 
green space and green roofs around and on the blocks which would improve the 
potential of the site for foraging and commuting bats.  There will be some loss of the 
area of the proposed Greendale SINC, but this area was found to be of limited 
ecological significance.  Through the proposed mitigation and enhancement 
measures including habitat provision these losses can be offset.  The existing 
football stadium has limited ecological value as does the adjacent artificial pitch, and 
it is these portions of the site which form the main developed areas of the proposal.  
It is considered that the proposed development and creation of new habitats of 
conservation value, new diverse landscape planting, bird and bat boxes and green 
roofs within the development site and other ecological enhancements for local 
wildlife would be beneficial.  A financial contribution towards further ecological 
enhancements around the rest of the Greendale fields, Dog Kennel Hill open space 
and Greendale access route (to the south) would be secured and the type of 
ecologically-focussed works shall be agreed in consultation with local groups and 
the council’s parks department.  

  
521. The air quality assessment demonstrates that the development is unlikely to raise 

any significant or other residual adverse impacts on existing neighbours and future 
residents.  Local objection to the air quality and health of the future users of the 
kick-about space has been considered and Officers found that there would not be 
significant adverse impact.   

  
522. The development would include energy efficiency measures as well as renewable 

energy technologies to achieve carbon dioxide emissions savings.  The scheme 
would achieve site-wide savings of 66% and a offset payment towards the Carbon 
offset Green Fund shall be secured.  There will also be review in the s106 
agreement to explore whether connecting to a future district heating network is 
technically feasible and commercially viable. 

  
523. The council’s public consultation generated a large number of responses, and whilst 

the many respondents opposed the principle of the development, the majority of 
responses are in support of the application. The responses have been analysed, 
with the majority of objections citing concerns around the development on MOL and 
the loss of the artificial pitch.  Many of the objections also raised the potential harm 
to ecology and wildlife.  The report summarises these concerns, and sets out where 
these could be addressed by conditions or other mitigation. The application was 
supported by the GLA as the strategic planning authority.  

  
524. Dulwich Hamlet Football Club is regarded a ‘community club’ with significant 

community outreach projects.  The Council Plan states that the council will do all 
that it can to secure the future of Dulwich Hamlet FC on its current Champion Hill 
site. The area vision for East Dulwich in the NSP reflects that the Club has a 
valuable community function and goes on to say that development in East Dulwich 
should provide a new stadium for DHFC. The Club won the Football Supporters’ 
Association National Community Award in December 2019 by making a positive 
impact in the local community.  The Club positively support anti-racism and LGBT+ 

173



 

164 

initiatives, and the enhanced facilities can expand their outreach work as well as 
participation in sport. The new stadium would have multiple benefits for the Club: it 
would stabilise and improve their financial position by reducing running costs and 
increasing potential for income generation; it would increase the number of 
competitive teams the Club could maintain; it would increase their capacity to work 
with schools and clubs to offer coaching and training; and it would meet the FA 
requirements for the National League if the Club is able to gain promotion. The 
Club, who are joint applicants, have stated that this proposal would give them the 
best chance of securing a long term future at Champion Hill. 

  
525. Many of the objectors have pointed to the popularity of the artificial pitch during the 

Covid lockdown. Site visits do confirm that the pitch is very well-used at the moment 
and its size and open access is able to accommodate many different groups at 
once, playing ball games, riding bikes, and walking dogs. The remainder of 
Greendale fields is less easily accessible because much of it is heavily planted or 
overgrown. In determining this application, the Committee is being asked to balance 
the benefits of open access for informal use, against the benefits of more controlled 
access for formal sport. The area is not one with an open space deficiency, with 
large nearby parks including Goose Green, Ruskin Park and Dulwich Park with 
space for informal sport and play. The borough has a recognised need for additional 
3G football pitches. Balancing informal play with formal sport, both of which 
contribute to healthy lifestyles, is a factor in weighing the benefits and dis-benefits of 
the scheme. 

  
526. Taking all of the issues into account, it is concluded that this would constitute a 

sustainable form of development which complies with a large number of 
development plan policies.  Nevertheless, Officers also acknowledge that the 
proposed development would result in the introduction of residential use on OOS 
which would not comply with the adopted development plan or emerging policies. It 
therefore does not accord with the development plan when read as a whole. 
Planning decisions should be based on the presumption in favour of conformity with 
the development plan, unless there are clear material considerations which indicate 
otherwise. In this case, the benefits of the development, as set out in the report and 
including the protection of DHFC and the enhancement of its role in the community, 
the delivery of housing and affordable housing, and the contribution to sport and 
healthy lifestyles, can be judged to outweigh the presumption in favour of the 
development plan.   

  
527. The development supports a priority of the Council Plan in terms of securing the 

future of DHFC at Champion Hill.  The issues raised by the objectors have been 
taken into account, as has the Public Sector Equalities Duty to have regard to the 
impact of the development on those with protected characteristics and to foster 
good relations between different groups. The impacts that have been identified 
would not be of a significant scale and are capable of being mitigated through 
detailed design, through conditions, or through provisions in the s106 agreement. 
On balance it is considered that the benefits of the overall development outweigh 
the harm caused, and it is therefore recommended that planning permission is 
granted subject to conditions and completion of the s106 agreement, and subject to 
referral to the Mayor of London. 

  
  
  
 

174



 

165 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 

Site history file:  
Application file: 19/AP/1867 
 
Southwark Local Development 
Framework and Development 
Plan Documents 

Chief Executives 
Department, 
160 Tooley Street, 
London, 
SE1 2QH 

Planning enquiries telephone:  
020 7525 5403 
Planning enquiries email: 
planning.enquiries@southwark.gov.

uk 
Case officer telephone: 020 7525 

5729 
Council website: 
www.southwark.gov.uk  

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 

Appendix 1 Consultation undertaken  

Appendix 2 Consultation replies received 

Appendix 3 Recommendation 

 
 
AUDIT TRAIL  
 

Lead Officer  Simon Bevan, Director of Planning 

Report Author  Wing Lau, Team Leader - Planning 

Version  Final 

Dated 8 July 2020 

Key Decision  No 

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET MEMBER  

Officer Title  Comments Sought  Comments included  

Strategic Director of Finance and Governance No No 

Strategic Director of Environment and Leisure  No No 

Strategic Director of Housing and 
Modernisation 

No No 

Director of Regeneration No No 

Date final report sent to Constitutional Team  9 July 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

175



 

166 

 

 
SITE VISIT 
 
Case officer site visit 
date: 
 

Various throughout 2019 and 2020 
 

 

176



APPENDIX 1

Consultation undertaken

Site notice date:  25/07/2019 

Press notice date:  25/07/2019

Case officer site visit date: 25/07/2019

Neighbour consultation letters sent:  23/07/2019 

Internal services consulted: 

Ecology Officer
Economic Development Team
Environmental Protection Team Formal Consultation  [Noise / Air Quality / Land 
Contamination / Ventilation]
Flood and Drainage Team
Highway Licensing 
Highway Development Management
Housing Regeneration Initiatives
Parks & Open Spaces
Property Division
Waste Management

Statutory and non-statutory organisations consulted:

Campaign to Protect Rural England
EDF Energy
Environment Agency
Greater London Authority
Green Chain
Historic England
London Fire & Emergency Planning Authority
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing out Crime)
Natural England - London Region & South East Region
Network Rail (Planning)
Sport England
Thames Water - Development Planning
Transport for London (referable & non-referable app notifications and pre-apps)
UK Power Networks

Neighbour and local groups consulted:

Friends of Belair Park
Friends of Dog Kennell Hill
Friends of Greendale
The Occupier FLAT 1 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 10 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 11 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 12 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 2 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 3 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH

177



The Occupier FLAT 4 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 5 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 6 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 7 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 8 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 9 BADMINTON HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BH
The Occupier FLAT 1 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 10 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 11 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 12 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 13 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 14 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 15 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 16 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 17 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 18 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 19 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 2 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 20 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 21 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 22 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 23 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 24 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 25 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 26 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 27 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 28 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 29 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 3 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 30 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 31 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 32 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 33 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 34 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 4 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 5 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 6 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 7 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 8 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 8A BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 9 BIRDSALL HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DP
The Occupier FLAT 1 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 10 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 11 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 12 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 13 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 14 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 15 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 16 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 2 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 3 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 4 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 5 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 6 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 7 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ

178



The Occupier FLAT 8 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier FLAT 9 BRAMHAM HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BJ
The Occupier 1 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 10 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 11 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 11A HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier 12 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 13 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 14 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 15 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 16 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 17 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 18 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 19 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 2 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 20 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 20A HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 21 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 22 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 23 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 24 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 25 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 26 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 27 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 28 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 28A HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 28B HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 28C HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 28D HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 29 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 3 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 30 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 31 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 32 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 33 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 34 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 34A HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 34B HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 34C HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 34D HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 35 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 35C HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 36 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 37 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 37A HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 38 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 38D HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 39 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 4 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 40 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 5 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 6 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 7 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 8 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ
The Occupier 9 HAMBLEDON COURT BURROW ROAD LONDON  SE22 8EJ

179



The Occupier FLAT 1 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 10 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 11 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 12 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 13 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 14 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 15 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 16 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 2 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 3 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 4 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 5 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 6 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 7 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 8 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier FLAT 9 COWDRAY HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BL
The Occupier DULWICH DAY NURSERY DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8BB
The Occupier DULWICH HAMLET FOOTBALL CLUB DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8BD
The Occupier 1-2 THE PARADE DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8BQ
The Occupier 3 THE PARADE DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8BQ
The Occupier 4-5 BADMINTON HOUSE DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8BQ
The Occupier 6 BADMINTON HOUSE DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8BH
The Occupier CAR WASH DULWICH HAMLET FOOTBALL CLUB DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON SE22 8BD
The Occupier BESSEMER GRANGE PRIMARY SCHOOL DYLWAYS LONDON  SE5 8HP
The Occupier BESSEMER GRANGE SCHOOL HOUSE DYLWAYS LONDON  SE5 8HP
The Occupier FLAT 1 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 10 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 11 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 12 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 13 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 14 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 15 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 16 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 17 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 18 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 19 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 2 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 20 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 21 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 22 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 23 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 24 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 25 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 26 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 27 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 28 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 29 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 3 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 30 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 31 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 32 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 33 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 34 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 34A FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 35 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY

180



The Occupier FLAT 36 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 37 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 38 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 39 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 4 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 40 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 41 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 42 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 43 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 44 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 45 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 46 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 47 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 47A FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 48 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 49 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 5 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 50 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 51 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 52 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 53 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 54 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 55 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 56 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 57 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 58 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 59 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 59A FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 6 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 60 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 61 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 62 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 63 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 64 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 65 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 66 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 67 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 68 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 69 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 7 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 70 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 71 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 72 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 73 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 74 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 75 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 76 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 77 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 78 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 79 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 8 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 80 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 81 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 82 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 83 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ

181



The Occupier FLAT 84 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 85 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 86 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BZ
The Occupier FLAT 9 FELBRIDGE HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BY
The Occupier FLAT 1 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 2 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 3 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 4 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 5 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 6 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 7 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 8 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 9 GATEBECK HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8BG
The Occupier FLAT 1 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 10 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 11 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 12 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 13 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 14 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 15 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 16 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 17 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 18 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 19 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 2 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 20 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 21 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 22 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 23 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 24 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 25 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 26 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 27 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 28 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 3 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 4 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 5 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 6 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 7 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 8 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier FLAT 9 GOLDWELL HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE QUORN ROAD LONDON SE22 8BX
The Occupier ST OLAVES AND ST SAVIOURS SPORTS GROUND GREEN DALE LONDON  SE22 8TX
The Occupier FLAT 1 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 10 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 11 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 12 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 13 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 14 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 15 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 16 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 17 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 18 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 19 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 2 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 20 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR

182



The Occupier FLAT 21 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 22 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 23 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 24 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 25 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 26 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 27 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 28 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 29 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 3 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 30 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 31 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 32 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 33 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 34 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 35 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 36 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 37 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 38 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 39 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 4 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 40 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 41 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 42 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 43 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 44 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 5 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 6 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 7 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 8 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 8A HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 9 HOLDERNESS HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8DR
The Occupier FLAT 1 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 10 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 11 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 12 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 13 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 14 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 15 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 16 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 17 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 18 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 19 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 2 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 20 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 21 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 22 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 23 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 24 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 25 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 26 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 27 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 28 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 29 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 3 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY

183



The Occupier FLAT 30 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 31 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 32 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 33 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 34 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 4 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 5 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 6 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 6A LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 7 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 8 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier FLAT 9 LECONFIELD HOUSE CHAMPION HILL LONDON SE5 8AY
The Occupier 1 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 1 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 1 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 1 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 1 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8EY
The Occupier 1 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8AA
The Occupier 1 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 1 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 1 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 1 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 1 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 1 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 1 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 1 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 1 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 10 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 10 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 10 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HT
The Occupier 10 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 10 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 10 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 10 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 10 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 10 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 10 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 10 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 10 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 10 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 10 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 101 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 102 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8BE
The Occupier 103 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 104-106 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8BE
The Occupier 105 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 107 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 109 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 11 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 11 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 11 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 11 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 11 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8EY
The Occupier 11 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 11 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS

184



The Occupier 11 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 11 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 11 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 11 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 11 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 11 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 11 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 111 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 113 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 115 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 117 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 119 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 12 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 12 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 12 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HT
The Occupier 12 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 12 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 12 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 12 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 12 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 12 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 12 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 12 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 12 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 12 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 12 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 121 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 123 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 125 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 127 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 13 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 13 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 13 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 13 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 13 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8ET
The Occupier 13 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 13 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 13 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 13 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 13 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 13 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 13 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 13 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 13 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 14 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 14 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 14 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HT
The Occupier 14 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 14 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 14 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 14 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 14 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 14 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 14 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 14 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH

185



The Occupier 14 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 14 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 15 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 15 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 15 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 15 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8ET
The Occupier 15 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 15 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 15 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 15 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 15 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 15 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 15 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 15 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 15 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 16 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 16 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 16 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HT
The Occupier 16 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 16 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 16 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 16 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 16 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 16 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 16 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 16 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 16 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 16 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 17 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 17 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 17 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 17 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 17 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 17 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 17 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 17 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 17 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 17 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 17 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 18 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 18 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 18 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HL
The Occupier 18 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 18 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 18 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 18 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 18 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 18 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 18 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 18 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 18 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 19 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 19 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 19 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 19 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR

186



The Occupier 19 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 19 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 19 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 19 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 19 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 19 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 2 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 2 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 2 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HT
The Occupier 2 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 2 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 2 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8EY
The Occupier 2 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8AA
The Occupier 2 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 2 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 2 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 2 GROVE VALE LONDON   SE22 8EF
The Occupier 2 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 2 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 2 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 2 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 2 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 2 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 20 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 20 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 20 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HL
The Occupier 20 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 20 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 20 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 20 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 20 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 20 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 20 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 20 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 21 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 21 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 21 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 21 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 21 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 21 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 21 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 21 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 21 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 22 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 22 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 22 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 22 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 22 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 22 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 22 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 22 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 23 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 23 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 23 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 23 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS

187



The Occupier 23 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 23 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 23 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 23 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 23 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 24 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 24 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 24 CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 24 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 24 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 24 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 24 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 24 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 24 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 24A CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 24B CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 24C CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 25 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 25 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 25 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 25 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 25 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 25 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 25 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 25 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 25 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 26 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 26 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 26 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 26 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 26 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 26 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 26 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 26 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 26A CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 26B CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 26C CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 27 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 27 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 27 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 27 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 27 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 27 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 27 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 27 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 27 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 28 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 28 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 28 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 28 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 28 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 28 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 28 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 28 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 28A CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP

188



The Occupier 28B CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 28C CHAMPION HILL LONDON   SE5 8AP
The Occupier 29 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 29 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 29 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 29 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 29 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 29 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 29 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 29 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 3 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 3 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 3 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 3 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 3 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8EY
The Occupier 3 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8AA
The Occupier 3 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 3 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 3 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 3 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 3 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 3 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 3 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 3 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 3 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 30 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 30 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 30 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 30 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 30 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 30 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 30 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 31 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 31 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 31 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 31 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 31 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 31 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 31 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 31 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 32 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 32 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 32 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 32 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 32 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 32 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 33 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 33 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 33 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 33 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 33 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 33 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 33 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 34 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 34 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR

189



The Occupier 34 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 34 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 35 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 35 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 35 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 35 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 35 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 35 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 36 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 36 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 36 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 36 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 37 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 37 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 37 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 37 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 37 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 38 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 38 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 38 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 39 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 39 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 39 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 39 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 39 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 39 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 4 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 4 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 4 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HT
The Occupier 4 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 4 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 4 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8EY
The Occupier 4 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8AA
The Occupier 4 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 4 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 4 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 4 GROVE VALE LONDON   SE22 8EF
The Occupier 4 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 4 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 4 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 4 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 4 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 4 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 40 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 40 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 40 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 40 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 41 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 41 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 41 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 41 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 41 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 41 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 42 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 42 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR

190



The Occupier 42 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 42 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 43 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 43 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 43 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 43 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 44 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 44 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 45 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 45 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 45 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 45 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 45 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 46 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 46 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 46A ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 46B ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 47 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 47 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 47 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 47 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 47 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 48 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 48 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 49 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 49 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 49 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 49 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 5 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 5 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 5 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 5 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 5 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8EY
The Occupier 5 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8AA
The Occupier 5 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 5 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 5 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 5 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 5 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 5 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 5 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 5 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 5 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 50 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 50 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 51 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 51 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 51 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 51 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 52 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 52 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 53 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 53 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 53 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 53 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE

191



The Occupier 54 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 55 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 55 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 55 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 56 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 57 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 57 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 57 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 58 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 59 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 59 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 6 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 6 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 6 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HT
The Occupier 6 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 6 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 6 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8AA
The Occupier 6 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 6 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 6 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 6 GROVE VALE LONDON   SE22 8EF
The Occupier 6 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 6 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 6 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 6 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 6 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 6 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 60 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 61 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 61 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 62 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 63 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 64 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 65 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 65 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 66 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 67 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 67 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 68 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 69 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 69 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 7 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 7 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 7 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 7 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 7 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8EY
The Occupier 7 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 7 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 7 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 7 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 7 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 7 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 7 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 7 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 7 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX

192



The Occupier 70 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 71 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 71 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 72 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 73 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 73 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 74 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 75 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 75 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 76 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 77 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 78 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 79 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 8 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DL
The Occupier 8 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 8 BLANCHEDOWNE LONDON   SE5 8HT
The Occupier 8 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DW
The Occupier 8 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 8 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 8 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 8 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HR
The Occupier 8 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 8 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 8 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE
The Occupier 8 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 8 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 8 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 80 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 80 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON   SE22 8BB
The Occupier 81 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 81 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 8-16 GROVE VALE LONDON   SE22 8EF
The Occupier 82 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 83 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 83 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 84 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 85 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 85 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 86 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 87 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 87 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 88 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 89 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 89 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 9 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DJ
The Occupier 9 ARNOULD AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8AU
The Occupier 9 BURROW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DU
The Occupier 9 BUXTED ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DQ
The Occupier 9 CROSSTHWAITE AVENUE LONDON   SE5 8EY
The Occupier 9 DOMETT CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AR
The Occupier 9 DOWSON CLOSE LONDON   SE5 8AS
The Occupier 9 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HN
The Occupier 9 MONCLAR ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AX
The Occupier 9 SHAW ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DP
The Occupier 9 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DE

193



The Occupier 9 TALBOT ROAD LONDON   SE22 8EH
The Occupier 9 WANLEY ROAD LONDON   SE5 8AT
The Occupier 9 WOODFARRS LONDON   SE5 8EX
The Occupier 90 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 91 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 91 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 92 ABBOTSWOOD ROAD LONDON   SE22 8DN
The Occupier 93 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 95 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 97 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier 99 DYLWAYS LONDON   SE5 8HW
The Occupier FLAT 1 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 10 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 11 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 12 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 13 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 14 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 15 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 16 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 17 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 18 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 19 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 2 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 20 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 21 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 22 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 23 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 24 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 25 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 26 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 27 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 28 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 29 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 3 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 30 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 31 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 32 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 33 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 4 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 5 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 6 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 7 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 8 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 9 MORRIS COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE DYLWAYS LONDON SE5 8HS
The Occupier FLAT 1 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 10 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 11 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 12 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 13 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 14 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 15 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 16 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 17 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 18 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 19 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU

194



The Occupier FLAT 2 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 20 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 21 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 22 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 23 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 24 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 25 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 26 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 27 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 28 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 29 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 3 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 30 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 31 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 32 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 33 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 34 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 35 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 36 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 37 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 38 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 39 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 4 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 40 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 41 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 42 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 43 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 44 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 45 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 46 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 47 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 48 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 49 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 5 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 50 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 51 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 52 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 53 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 54 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 55 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 56 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 57 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 58 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 59 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 6 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 60 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 61 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 62 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 63 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 64 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 65 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 66 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 67 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 68 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 69 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX

195



The Occupier FLAT 7 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 70 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 71 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 72 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 73 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 74 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 75 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 76 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 77 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 78 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HX
The Occupier FLAT 8 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 9 PERTH COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE BASINGDON WAY LONDON SE5 8HU
The Occupier FLAT 1 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 10 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 11 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 12 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 13 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 14 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 15 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 16 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 17 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 18 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 19 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 2 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 20 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 21 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 22 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 23 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 23A PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 24 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 25 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 26 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 27 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 28 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 29 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 3 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 30 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 31 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 32 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 33 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 34 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 35 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 36 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 36A PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 37 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 38 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 4 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 5 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 6 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 7 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 8 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 9 PETWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DD
The Occupier FLAT 1 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 10 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 11 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR

196



The Occupier FLAT 11A RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 12 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 2 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 3 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 4 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 5 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 6 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 7 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 8 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 9 RINGMER HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8AR
The Occupier FLAT 1 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 10 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 11 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 12 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 13 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 14 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 15 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 16 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 17 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 18 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 19 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 2 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 20 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 21 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 22 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 23 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 24 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 25 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 26 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 27 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 28 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 29 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 3 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 30 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 31 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 32 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 33 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 34 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 35 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 36 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 37 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 38 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 4 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 5 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 6 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 7 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 8 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier FLAT 9 RISEHOLME HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AP
The Occupier LIVING ACCOMMODATION ST OLAVES AND ST SAVIOURS SPORTS GROUND GREEN DALE 
LONDON SE22 8TX
The Occupier FLAT 1 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 10 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 11 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 12 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 13 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB

197



The Occupier FLAT 14 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 15 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 16 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 17 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 18 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 19 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 2 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 20 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 21 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 22 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 23 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 24 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 25 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 26 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 27 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 3 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 4 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 5 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 6 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 7 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 8 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 9 STAGSHAW HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE PYTCHLEY ROAD LONDON SE22 8DB
The Occupier FLAT 1 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 10 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 11 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 12 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 13 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 14 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 15 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 16 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 17 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 18 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 19 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 2 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 20 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 21 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 22 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 3 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 4 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 5 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 6 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 7 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 8 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 9 TIDWORTH HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AW
The Occupier FLAT 1 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 10 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 11 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 12 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 13 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 14 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 15 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 16 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 17 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 18 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 19 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD

198



The Occupier FLAT 2 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 20 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 20A WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 21 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 22 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 23 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 24 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 25 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 26 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 27 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 28 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 29 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 3 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 30 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 31 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 32 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 33 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 34 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 35 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 4 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 5 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 6 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 7 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 8 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier FLAT 9 WALCOT HOUSE EAST DULWICH ESTATE ALBRIGHTON ROAD LONDON SE22 8AD
The Occupier 1 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 1 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 10 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 10 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 11 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 11 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 12 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 12 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 13 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 13 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 14 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 14 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 15 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 15 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 16 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 16 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 17 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 17 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 2 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 2 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 3 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 3 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 4 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 4 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 5 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 5 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 6 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 6 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 7 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 7 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ

199



The Occupier 8 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 8 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier 9 HUNTER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8HA
The Occupier 9 TURNER COURT WOODFARRS LONDON  SE5 8EZ
The Occupier FIRST FLOOR FLAT 104 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8BE
The Occupier FIRST FLOOR FLAT 37 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier GROUND FLOOR FLAT 37 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier FIRST FLOOR FLAT 38 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier GROUND FLOOR FLAT 38 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier FLAT 1 43 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier FLAT 2 43 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier FIRST FLOOR FLAT 44 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier GROUND FLOOR FLAT 44 ST FRANCIS ROAD LONDON  SE22 8DE
The Occupier THE PAVILLION 65 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 1 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 10 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 11 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 12 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 13 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 14 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 15 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 16 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 17 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 18 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 19 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 2 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 20 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 3 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 4 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 5 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 6 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 7 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 8 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 9 67 GREEN DALE LONDON  SE5 8JZ
The Occupier APARTMENT 1 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 10 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 11 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 12 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 13 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 14 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 15 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 16 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 17 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 18 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 19 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 2 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 3 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 4 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 5 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 6 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 7 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 8 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier APARTMENT 9 8 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8AA
The Occupier DULWICH NURSERY 80 DOG KENNEL HILL LONDON  SE22 8BB

200



Re-consultation:  27/02/2020

201



APPENDIX 2

Consultation responses received

Internal services

Ecology Officer
Economic Development Team
Environmental Protection Team Formal Consultation  [Noise / Air Quality / Land 
Contamination / Ventilation]
Flood and Drainage Team
Highway Development Management
Parks & Open Spaces

Statutory and non-statutory organisations

Campaign to Protect Rural England
Environment Agency 
Greater London Authority 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing out Crime)
Natural England - London Region & South East Region 
Network Rail (Planning) 
Thames Water - Development Planning 

Neighbours and local groups

Friends of Greendale 
Friends of Dog Kennel Hill 
Friends of Belair Park 
Dulwich Society 
Dulwich Park Friends 
Friends of Peckham Rye Park 
Southwark Green Party 
The Planning Group of the Herne Hill Society 
Ivanhoe Residents Association 
Camberwell Society 

Abbotswood Road Via Email Plan App In Box X 
Amott Road Peckham Rye SE15 4JD 
Apartment 1705 1 St Gabriel Walk SE1 6FB 
Apartment 18 67 Green Dale SE5 8JZ 
Apartment 20 67 Green Dale SE5 8JZ 
Apartment 33 4 Gaumont Place SW2 4GA 
Apartment 5 8 Dog Kennel Hill SE22 8AA 
Apartment 7 67 Green Dale SE5 8JZ 
Aviation House 125 Kingsway WC2B 6NH 
Basden Villa Sartor Rd SE15 3BB 
Basement Flat 90 Manor Avenue SE4 1TE 
Belle Orchard Bankwell Road BD240AP 
Radenkovica 5 Zvecan 
Casa Hibiscos Calle Tamaduste XX 
Cedar Lodge 123 Honor Oak Park, Forest Hill London SE23 3LD 
Denmark Hill London SE5 8HQ 
Deventer Crescent London Se22 8TJ 
Dog Kennel Hill Estate London SE22 8AE 
Dowson Close London SE5 8AS 

202



Dulwich Park Francis Peek Centre SE21 7BQ 
Earls Court Part Of London SW5 7LD 
Email representation 
Email representation 
Email representation 
Email representation 
Email representation 
Email representation 
Fieldway House Field Way CT2 0BH 
Flat A 13 Grove Park London SE5 8LR 
Flat B, 98 Tressillian Road 
Flat C 7 Crossley Street H7 8PE 
Flat D, 77 Saint John¿S Hill London SW11 1SX 
Flat G02 Courtenay House 9 New Park Road SW2 4DN 
Flat 1, Waterfall House, 49 Brixton Water Lane SW2 1BF 
Flat 1, 1 Howletts Road London SE24 9JZ 
Flat 1 172 Grove Lane SE5 8BP 
Flat 1 18 Siddons Road SE23 2JQ 
Flat 1, 29 Deronda Road London SE24 9BQ 
Flat 1 4 South Grove TN1 1UR 
Flat 1, 58 Kingswood Road London SW2 4JJ 
Flat 1, 67 Gipsy Hill 67 Gipsy Hill SE19 1QH 
Flat 1 83 Grove Hill Road SE5 8DF 
Flat 10, Investment House 2a Choumert Road SE15 4SJ 
Flat 11, Gatcombe House East Dulwich Estate SE22 8BU 
Flat 11, Mary Seacole Court Dog Kennel Hill SE22 8BF 
Flat 13 Cecil Court London SW10 9HP 
Flat 15 Maxden Court Maxted Road SE15 4LQ 
Flat 15, The Driftway London SE4 1YD 
Flat 15, 29 Surrey Quays Road SE16 7FZ 
Flat 15 67 Green Dale SE5 8JZ 
Flat 16, Grange Court 101 Talfourd Road SE15 5PB 
Flat 16 Herne Hill Mansions SE24 9QN 
Flat 16 Willow Court 11 Westwood Hill SE26 6BQ 
Flat 16, 5 Bournemouth Road Peckham SE15 4BJ 
Flat 17, 1 Lanercost Close Tulse Hill SW2 3DS 
Flat 18 24 Sylvan Grove SE15 1AR 
Flat 19, Babington House Redcross Way SE1 1EZ 
Flat 19, 445 Norwood Road London SE27 9DN 
Flat 2 126-128 High Street SE20 7EZ 
Flat 2, 15 Josephine Avenue Brixton SW2 2JX 
Flat 2 198 Camberwell Grove SE5 8RJ 
Flat 2 3 Brackley Road BR3 1RB 
Flat 2 3 George Street BA1 2EH 
Flat 2, 51 Homersham Road Kingston Upon Thames KT1 3PL 
Flat 2, 72 Thurlow Park Road West Dulwich SE21 8HY 
Flat 2 75 Flaxman Road SE5 9DN 
Flat 2 8 Longton Avenue SE26 6QJ 
Flat 2, 89 Sydenham Park Road London SE26 4LP 
Flat 2, 9 New Park Road London SW2 4DN 
Flat 20 Courthope House Hartington Road SW8 2HS 
Flat 24 Sarawak Court 47 Consort Road SE15 3SS 
Flat 269, Irving House, Doddington Grove London SE17 3TS 
Flat 269, Irving House, Doddington Grove London SE17 3TS 
Flat 29, Torrens Court Denmark Hill Estate SE5 8HJ 
Flat 299, Banister House Homerton High Street E9 6BS 
Flat 3 Catherine Lodge 43 Stafford Rd CR0 4NG 
Flat 3, 276 Holmesdale Road South Norwood SE25 6HX 
Flat 32 Hayes Court, Camberwell New Road SE5 0TQ 
Flat 33 Glyn Court 199 Leigham Court Road SW16 2SF 

203



Flat 33, Vale Lodge Perry Vale Se23 2lg 
Flat 4 Morris Court Denmark Hill Estate SE5 8HS 
Flat 4 105 Albert Road SE25 4JW 
Flat 4, 19a Tooting High Street London SW170SN 
Flat 44, Kimpton Court, 2 Murrain Road London N4 2BN 
Flat 44 Langhorne Court Dorman Way NW8 0SD 
Flat 47, Altima Court 33 East Dulwich Road SE22 9AL 
Flat 5, Allport House Champion Park SE5 8TD 
Flat 5 Grace Lodge Clapton E5 8EE 
Flat 5 Highland Court SE22 0EB 
Flat 5, 101 Overhill Road Dulwich SE22 0PR 
Flat 5 115 Sydney Road SM1 2RD 
Flat 5 198 Camberwell Grove SE5 8RJ 
Flat 5 198 Camberwell Grove SE5 8RJ 
Flat 5, 29 Montrell Road London SW2 4QD 
Flat 5 44 The Gardens SE22 9QQ 
Flat 5 80 Camberwell Church Street Camberwell SE5 8QZ 
Flat 56 Rutland Court SE5 8ED 
Flat 6, Block C, Peabody Estate London Se17 1be 
Flat 6 The Granary Comet Place SE8 4EU 
Flat 602 Caledonian Point 34 Norman Road SE10 9QX 
Flat 605 Cascades Tower 4 Westferry Road E14 8JN 
Flat 64 Altima Court London Se22 9al 
Flat 66 Ethelburga Tower Rosenau Road SW11 4AB 
Flat 66 33 Borland Road SE15 3BL 
Flat 7, Priestley House Old Street EC1V 9JN 
Flat 7 South View Court 193 Honor Oak Road SE23 3RY 
Flat 7, Vantage Heights, 23-25 Taymount Rise London SE23 3DH 
Flat 8, Centenary Court 60 Albemarle Road BR3 5HY 
Flat 8 Gatebeck House East Dulwich Estate SE22 8BG 
Flat 8 109 Peckham Road SE15 5LE 
Flat 8 155 Queens Road SE15 2ND 
Flat 8 89 Norwood Road SE24 9AA 
Flat 9 Birdsall House SE5 8DP 
Flat 9 Caledonian Court Highwood Close SE22 8NW 
Forster Road Beckenham BR3 4LQ 
Friends Of Peckham Rye Park Park Office Strakers Road Peckham Rye Park SE15 3UA 
Goldwell House Quorn Road SE22 8BX 
Green Dale London SE5 8JZ 
Haverhill Rd London SW12 0HA 
Herne Hill Road London SE24 0AD 
Holderness House Champion Hill SE5 8DR 
Holderness House Champion Hill Se5 8dr 
Knowles Hill Crescent Hither Green SE13 6DT 
No Comment London 
Old Mead The Chantry BS26 2TR 
Pylon View 3 Keats Close SW19 1TU 
Quinneys, The Glade Kingswood KT20 6LH 
Riverside Court 20 Nine Elms Lane SW8 5DB 
Southwell Rd London SE5 9PF 
Spindle Wood Forest Road GU22 8LS 
Swanage The Gardens SE22 9QD 
The Grange, 8 Hall Farm Barns Hunts Lane, Hinxton 
The Manna 49 Prince Charles Avenue ME5 8EY 
Top Floor 143 Pepys Road SE14 5SG 
Top Floor 8 Lunham Road SE19 1AA 
Ty Gwynn Hitchin Herts SG4 9AF 
Upland Road London SE22 0DF 
Via Email (Plan App In Box)  X 
Wanley Rd London SE5 8AT 

204



Warren Road 44 BR6 6HY 
Wellow, Newlands Drive HR6 8PR 
Wilton House London SE22 8AE 
Winterbrook Road London SE24 9HZ 
Xxx Champion Hill London SE5 8BS 
Xxxxxdog Kennel Hill Estate London SE22 8AE 
Xxxxxfelbridge House East Dulwich Estate SE22 8BZ 
001 Oregon Building Deals Gateway SE13 7RR 
1 Beckwith Road London SE24 9LH 
1 Burrow Road London SE22 8DU 
1 Denbury House London E3 3JB 
1 Essex Mews London SE19 1AS 
1 Raeburn Road Blackfen DA15 8RD 
1 Shaw Road London SE22 8DP 
1a Daysbrook Road SW2 3TB 
1b Dunblane Rd Eltham SE9 6RX 
1c Stormont Road London SW11 5EQ 
1d Court Lane Dulwich SE21 7DH 
1d Court Lane Dulwich SE21 7DH 
10 Barkway Drive Orpington BR6 8PQ 
10 Bassano Street London SE22 8RU 
10 Bassano Street London SE228RU 
10 Carpiquet Park North Baddesley SO52 9PJ 
10 Champion Hill London SE5 8AN 
10 Champion Hill London SE5 8AN 
10 Champion Hill London SE5 8AN 
10 Champion Hill London SE5 8AN 
10 Dylways London SE5 8HR 
10 Kenbury Street London SE5 9BS 
10 Kingsmead Road London SW2 3JB 
10 Monclar Road London SE5 8AX 
10 Nairne Grove Herne Hill SE24 9PU 
10 Red Cedars Road Petts Wood BR6 0BX 
10 Stellman Close London E5 8QN 
10 Stoney Lane Upper Norwood SE19 3BD 
10 Thetford Court Sydenham Hill SE23 3PN 
10 Walters Way Forest Hill SE23 3LH 
10 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT 
10 Zenoria Street London SE22 8HP 
10a Crystal Palace Road London Se229hb 
10a Valmar Rd London SE5 9NG 
10d Villa Street Walworth SE17 2EJ 
100 Norman Road St. Leonards-On-Sea TN38 0EJ 
101 Axminster Road London N7 6BS 
101 Axminster Road London N7 6BS 
102 Cranston Road Forest Hill SE23 2EY 
103 East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PU 
103 Sunray Avenue London SE24 9PT 
104 Upland Road London SE22 0DE 
105 Amesbury Avenue London SW2 3AF 
105 Eade Road London N4 1TJ 
105 Wigley Road Hanworth TW13 5HB 
107 Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QQ 
107 Overhill Road London SE220PR 
107 Roffo Court Boundary Lane SE17 2FP 
107 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill SE5 8TH 
107 Woodwarde Road London SE22 8UP 
108 College Road London SE21 7HW 
109 Bushey Hill Road Camberwell SE5 8QQ 
109 Chester Road Macclesfield SK11 8DL 

205



11 Avondale Rise London Se15 4aj 
11 Beaulieu Close Champion Hill SE5 8BA 
11 Buxted Road London SE22 8DQ 
11 Courtney Crescent Carshalton Beeches SM5 4NA 
11 Ferrings London SE21 7LU 
11 Hatcham Park Mews London SE14 5QA 
11 Hunt Close Folkestone,Hawkinge CT18 7FJ 
11 Sunset Rd Grd Floor SE5 8EA 
11 Tritton Road West Dulwich SE21 8DE 
11 Walcot House East Dulwich Estate SE22 8AD 
11 Water Lane Water Lane SE14 5DN 
11a Melvin Road London SE20 8EU 
11a Overcliff Road Lewisham SE13 7UB 
110 Courtenay House New Park Road SW2 4DN 
110 Effra Parade Brixton SW2 1PR 
110 Leigham Vale Tulse Hill SW2 3JH 
112 Upland Road London SE22 0DE 
112d Tufnell Park Rd. London N7 0DU 
113 Argyle Avenue Hounslow TW3 2LL 
113 Dallinger Road Lee Se120tq 
114 Grove Lane Camberwell SE5 8BJ 
115 Dallinger Road Lee se12 0tq 
116 Lordship Lane London SE22 8HD 
117 Landells Road London SE22 9PJ 
119 Newington Causeway 25 Metro Central Heights SE1 6BA 
119 Tower House 81 Fieldgate Street E1 1GW 
12 Beckwith Road London SE24 9LG 
12 Bracelet Close Stanford-Le-Hope SS17 7JX 
12 Cambridge Drive London SE12 8AJ 
12 Crescent Road Beckenham BR3 6NE 
12 Grassmount London se23 3uw 
12 Grove Park Camberwell SE5 8LR 
12 Grove Park London SE5 8LR 
12 Hogshill Lane Cobham 
12 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE 
12a Dagmar Road London SE5 8NZ 
121 Upland Rd East Dulwich SE220DF 
122 Crofton Road Camberwell SE5 8NA 
122 Manwood Road London SE4 1SE 
123 Honor Oak Park Forest Hill SE23 3LD 
124 Ruskin Park House London SE5 8TL 
127 Casino Avenue London SE24 9PP 
128 Hollydale Road London SE15 2TQ 
129 Upper Tulse Hill London Sw22rd 
129b Barry Road London SE220HW 
129b Barry Road London Se220hw 
13 Abbey Lane Beckenham BR3 1SB 
13 Boxall Road London SE21 7JS 
13 Cornwall Court Cleaver Street SE11 4DF 
13 Crossthwaite Avenue London SE5 8ET 
13 Dylways Camberwell SE5 8HN 
13 Ferrers Rd London SW16 6JQ 
13 Fitzmaurice House Rennie Estate SE16 3PG 
13 Grove Hill Road London SE5 8DF 
13 Howard Road Surbiton KT5 8SA 
13 Thurlestone Rd London SE27 0PE 
13a Beckwith Road Herne Hill SE249LH 
13a Muschamp Road London SE15 43G 
134 Grove Lane London SE5 8BP 
14 Ardbeg Road SE24 9JL 

206



14 Distel Apartments London SE10 0TG 
14 East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PP 
14 Hansler Road London SE22 9DJ 
14 Liphook Crescent Foresthill SE23 3BW 
14 Lowlands 2-8 Eton Avenue, Belsize Park NW3 3EJ 
14, Millwood Close Maresfield TN22 3AT 
14 Parklands 234 Peckham Rye SE22 0LS 
14 Silverdale Pulborough RH20 1LJ 
14 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE 
14 Stories Mews Stories Road SE5 8JJ 
14 Tradescant Road London SW8 1XE 
14 Wilton House East Dulwich Estate SE22 8AE 
14b Howden Street London SE15 4LB 
14b Jackson Road London N7 6EJ 
140 Peckham Rye London SE22 9QH 
141 Abbots Park London SW2 3QZ 
142 Moordown Shooters Hill SE18 3NG 
142,Court Lane London SE21 7EB 
144a Gipsy Road London SE279RE 
147 Kennington Road London SE11 6SF 
149 Ladywell Road London SE13 7HZ 
149 Ladywell Road London SE13 7HZ 
15 Ardshiel Drive Redhill RH1 6qn 
15 Austins Court 1 Peckham Rye SE15 3NR 
15 Belvoir Lodge London SE22 0QX 
15 Bessemer Close SG5 1AG 
15 Chesterfield Grove SE22 8RP 
15 Hazeldon Road London SE4 2DD 
15 Kingston Close Andover SP10 2UN 
15 Marcus Garvey Mews East Dulwich SE22 0RG 
15 Paddock Road Buntingford Sg99ex 
15 Rostella Road London SW17 0HY 
15 Tewkesbury Avenue London SE23 3DG 
15 Torrens Rd London SW2 5BS 
15, Tribeca Court 2 Crystal Palace Road SE22 9BF 
15 Wentworth Court St. Marks Hill KT6 4PU 
150 Dalmally Road Croydon CR0 6LX 
151 The Strand Worthing BN12 6DT 
156 A Drakefell Road London SE4 2DS 
156 Eden Way Beckenham BR3 3DU 
16 Almond Close SE15 4UH 
16 Inglethorpe Street London SW6 6NT 
16 Rainbow Street London SE5 7TD 
161 Ruskin Park House London SE5 8TL 
163 Westwood Park London Se233ql 
166 Chudleigh Road London SE4 1EE 
17 Colyton Rd London SE22 0NE 
17 Glendale High Firs BR8 8TB 
17 Glendale Swanley BR8 8TB 
17 Haslemere Rd Thornton Heath CR7 7BF 
17 Riversdale Road Liverpool L21 1HX 
17 Southwell Road London SE5 9PF 
17 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT 
17 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT 
17 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT 
17c Rosendale Road London SE218DS 
171a Hollydale Road London SE15 2TF 
173a, Replingham Road London SW185LY 
173a, Replingham Road London SW185LY 
176 Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RH 

207



176 Lansdowne Crescent Carlisle CA3 9ER 
176 Lansdowne Crescent Carlisle CA3 9ER 
176 Lansdowne Crescent Carlisle CA3 9ER 
178 Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RH 
178 Turney Road Dulwich SE21 7JL 
18 Blanchedowne London SE5 8HL 
18 Blanchedowne London SE5 8HL 
18 Dylways London SE5 8HR 
18 Horn Park Lane London SE128UU 
18 Malfort Road Camberwell SE5 8DQ 
18 Pentridge Street London SE15 6Jf 
18 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE 
18 Townley Road 18 Townley Road SE22 8SR 
18 Zenoria Street London SE22 8HP 
180 Lordship Lane London SE22 8HB 
180 Nayall Road London Se24 0ph 
181 Brudenell Rd London SW17 8DF 
181 Milkwood Road London SE24 0JB 
187 Mackenzie Road BR3 4SE 
187 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill SE58TN 
187 Ruskin Park House London SE58TN 
19 Elmwood Rooad London SE24 9NU 
19 Greswell Street SW6 6PR 
19 Lackford Road Chipstead CR53TB 
19 North Dell North Springfield VM1 6UP 
19 Stainbeck Lane Leeds Ls7 3pj 
19a Blagdon Road London SE137HL 
19crawford Rd London Se5 9nf 
193 Friern Road East Dulwich SE22 0BD 
195 Friern Road London SE22 0BD 
196 Ruskin Park House London SE5 8TN 
197 Grove Lane SE5 8BP 
197 Grove Ln Camberwell Se5 8bp 
1979 Blackbird Dr Apopka 
198 Mayall Road London SE24 0PH 
199 Ravensbourne Avenue Bromley BR2 0BX 
199 Ravensbourne Avenue Bromley BR2 0BX 
2 Aysgarth Road Dulwich SE21 7JR 
2 Beaulieu Close Denmark Hill SE5 8BA 
2 Charing Court 32 Shortlands Road 
2 Grove Park London SE5 8LT 
2 Isel Way East Dulwich Grove SE22 8TT 
2 Monclar Road London SE5 8AX 
2 Pearfield Road London Se23 2LP 
2 Piermont Green East Dulwich SE22 0LP 
2 St. Oswalds Place Vauxhall SE11 5JE 
2 The Terrace, Codrington Hill London SE23 1LP 
2a Elsie Road SE22 8DX 
2a Soames Street London SE15 4BZ 
20 Cheatnut Road West Norwood SE27 9LF 
20 Kinburn St London SE16 6DW 
20 Manor Road Milton Keynes MK2 2HW 
20 Somerton Road London SE15 3UG 
20 Trossachs Road London SE22 8PY 
20b Adys Road London SE15 4DZ 
20b Champion Grove London SE5 8BW 
202 Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RJ 
204 Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RJ 
21 Blenheim Grove London SE15 4QS 
21 Copeman Close London SE26 6EZ 

208



21 Dulwich Village London SE21 7BT 
21 Elm Grove Peckham 
21 Gladeside Court Succombs Hill CR6 9JG 
21 Monclar Road London SE5 8AX 
21 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE 
21, Sunningvale Avenue Biggin Hill TN16 3BU 
21 Tabard House Manciple Street SE14DL 
21 Townley Road Dulwich SE22 8SR 
21a Inverton Road London Se15 3dd 
21a Whiteley Road London SE19 1JU 
213 Camberwell New Road London SE50TJ 
213 East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8SY 
215 Cpr SE22 9EL 
22 Appleshaw House Champion Hill Estate SE5 8DW 
22 Gilkes Crescent Dulwich SE21 7BS 
22 Lausanne Road Second Floor SE15 2HU 
220 Birkbeck Road Beckenham BR3 4SX 
220 Rushby Mead Letchworth Garden City SG6 1SL 
220a Battersea Park Road London SW114ND 
224 Drakefell Road London SE4 2DR 
227 Croxted Road Dulwich SE21 8NL 
228b Brixton Hill London SW2 1HE 
23 Champion Hill London SE5 8AL 
23 Danecroft Road Herne Hill SE24 9PA 
23 Pembroke Road Pudsey LS28 7NE 
23 Rockhampton Road London se270nf 
23 Woodland Road London SE19 1NS 
238 Friern Road London SE22 0BB 
24 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DL 
24 Elsie Road London SE22 8DX 
24 Erlanger Road London SE145TG 
24 Gordonbrock Rd London SE4 1JB 
24 Semley Road Norbury SW16 4PH 
24a Oakdale Road London SW16 2HJ 
25 Barry Road East Dulwich SE22 0HX 
25 Southwell Road Strood Me2 2rs 
25 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE 
25 Swinburne Court Basingdon Way SE5 8EP 
253 Bedford Road Hitchin SG5 2UQ 
26 Burrow Road London SE22 8DW 
26 Desenfans Road Dulwich SE21 7DN 
26 Homeleigh Road London SE15 3EE 
26 Leathwell Rd London SE8 4JL 
26 Millard Way Hitchin SG4 0QE 
26 Newquay House Sancroft Street Se11 5un 
26d Marmora Road London SE22 0RX 
261b Crystal Palace Road SE22 9JH 
267 Underhill Road London SE22 0PB 
268 Croxted Road London SE24 9DA 
27 Birarwood Road London Sw4 9PJ 
27 Bromar Road Camberwell SE5 8DL 
27 Caversham House London SE15 6TA 
27 Caversham House London SE15 6TA 
27 Durban Road London SE27 9RW 
27 Graces Mews Camberwell SE5 8JF 
27 Henslowe Road London SE22 0AP 
27 Inca Drive Eltham SE9 2TE 
27 Lords Wood Welwyn Garden City AL7 2HF 
27 Melford Road East Dulwich SE22 0AG 
27 Melford Road East Dulwich SE22 0AG 

209



27 Melford Road Eastdulwich SE22 0AG 
270 Bellenden Road London SE15 4BY 
28 Brunel Road London SE16 6HZ 
28 Cleeve View Road Cheltenham GL52 5NH 
28 Copleston Road Peckham SE15 4AD 
28 Grove Park London SE5 8LG 
28 Gubyon Avenue Herne Hill SE24 0DX 
28 Hillcrest Close Sydenham SE26 6PB 
28 Honor Oak Road Forest Hill SE23 3SB 
28 Langford Green London SE5 8BX 
28 St. Aidans Road London SE22 0RP 
28 Tatnell Road Honor Oak SE23 1JY 
28 Woodland Way Croydon CR07UB 
28a Kinsale Road SE15 4HL 
288 Fir Tree Road KT17 3NN 
29 Cromwell Road Beckenham BR3 4LL 
29 Croydon Road 29 Croydon Road SE20 7TJ 
29 Holmesley Rd London SE231PH 
29 Holmesley Road London SE23 1PH 
29 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE 
29 Whaddon House East Dulwich Estate SE22 8AQ 
29a Rydal Road Streatham SW16 1QF 
291 Underhill Rd London SE22 0AN 
294 Lordship Lane London SE22 8LY 
3 Buxted Road London SE22 8DQ 
3 Gordon Road South Woodford E18 1DW 
3 Honor Oak Mansions Underhill Road SE22 0QP 
3 Monclar Road Camberwell SE5 8AX 
3 Poplar Walk London SE24 0BX 
3 Rowan Close London SW16 5JD 
3a Finland Road London SE4 2JE 
30 Deventer Crescent London SE22 8TJ 
30 Flodden Road London Se53ud 
30 Siddons Road London SE23 2JQ 
30 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT 
30a Lansdowne Gardens, Stockwe Stockwell SW8 2EG 
31 Malden Avenue London SE25 4HR 
31 Mundania Court London SE15 4LF 
31 The Drive Orpington BR6 9AR 
31a Kemerton Road London SE5 9AR 
31b Talfourd Road London SE15 5PA 
310b Lordship Lane London SE22 8LY 
313a Lordship Lane London SE22 8JH 
32 Avington Grove London SE20 8RY 
32 Knowsley Way Hildenborough TN11 9LG 
32 Ryedale Eat Dulwich SE22 0QW 
32 Stockford Avenue London Nw7 1gz 
32d Lavender Hill London SW11 5RL 
33 Carver Rd London SE24 9LS 
33 Champion Hill London SE5 8BS 
33 Champion Hill London SE5 8BS 
33 Frant Rd Tunbridge Wells TN2 5LE 
33 Granville Court London 
33 Marler Road London SE23 2AE 
33 Montserrat Road London SW15 2ld 
34 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DL 
34 Champion Hill Denmark Hill SE5 8AP 
34 Cityview Court East Dulwich SE22 0PZ 
34 Darrell Road London SE22 9NL 
34 Dylways London SE5 8HR 

210



34 Garfield Street Kettering NN15 6BU 
34 Howden Street London SE15 4LB 
34 Sidney Road Beckenham BR3 4QA 
34 Southey House Browning Street SE17 1DE 
35 Bride St London N7 8RN 
35 Cambria Road London SE5 9AS 
35 Cambria Road London SE5 9AS 
35 City Of London Almshouses Ferndale Rd SW9 8AN 
35 Denmark Hill London SE5 8RS 
35 Montcalm Road Charlton SE7 8QG 
35 Pond Mead London SE21 7AR 
35 Queens Mead Road Bromley BR20ER 
35 Silvester Rd East Dulwich SE22 9PB 
35 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE 
36 Codrington Hill London SE23 1LW 
36 Poplar Walk London SE24 0BU 
37 Brockley Grove London SE4 1QX 
37 Carver Road London SE24 9LS 
37 Kinsale Road London SE15 4HJ 
37b Avondale Rise London SE15 4AJ 
37b Avondale Rise London SE154AJ 
38 Codrington Hill London SE231LW 
38 Langford Green London SE5 8BX 
38 Melbourne Grove London Se22 8qz 
38 Nantes Close SW18 1JL 
38 Riseholme House Albrighton Road SE22 8AP 
38 The Lane London SE3 9SL 
38 Wingfield Court London E14 2DR 
39 Champion Hill London SE5 8BS 
39 Florence Street London N1 2DU 
39 Friern Rd East Dulwich SE220AU 
39 Gilkes Crescent Dulwich Village SE21 7BP 
39 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH 
39 Ivanhoe Road London SE58DH 
39 Montague Square London SE15 2LQ 
39 Mountgrove Road London N5 2LX 
39 Pellatt Road East Dulwich SE22 9JA 
39 Thirsk Road London SE25 6QG 
39b Crystal Palace Park Road London SE26 6UR 
39b Lyndhhurst Grove London SE15 5AN 
4 Deventer Crescent East Dulwich Grove SE22 8TJ 
4 Fowler House Mc Neil Road SE5 8PW 
4 Holmes Close London SE229AR 
4 Northbourne Hayes BR2 7ND 
4 Oak Cottage Close London SE6 1JT 
4 Pengwern Terrace Wallasey CH45 1HR 
4 Thornsett Terrace Croydon Road SE20 7UH 
4 Torrens Court Denmark Hill Estate SE58HJ 
4 Victoria Close London SE22 0BF 
4 Viscount Drive Highwoods CO4 9FL 
4 Woodfarrs London SE5 8EX 
4 Woodfarrs London SE5 8EX 
4d Green Parade Whitton Road tw3 2en 
40 Leary House Vauxhall Street SE11 5LH 
40 Rattray Road London SW2 1BD 
40 Stracey Road London E7 0HG 
40 Worlingham Road London SE22 9HD 
40 Worlingham Road London SE229HD 
40a Forest Hill Road London SE22 0RR 
41 Ashbourne Grove East Dulwich SE22 8RN 

211



41 Ashbourne Grove East Dulwich SE22 8RN 
41 Ashbourne Grove East Dulwich SE22 8RN 
41 Dovercourt Road London SE22 8SS 
41g Herne Hill Road London SE240AX 
410 Lordship Lane London SE22 8NE 
412 Sacrist Apartments 44-50 Abbey Road IG11 7SA 
42 Bredinghurst London SE220PJ 
42 Bredinghurst Overhill Road SE22 0PJ 
42, Calle Del Sol La Linea 
42 Canterbury Grove London SE27 0NY 
42 Canterbury Grove London SE27 0NY 
42 Glenfinlas Way Camberwell SE5 0PP 
42 Ingrave Street London SW11 2SA 
42 Ivydale Road London SE15 3BS 
42 Landcroft Road East Dulwich SE22 9LD 
42 Mavis Bank Bathgate Eh48 4gz 
42 Mundania Road Mundania Road SE22 0NW 
43 Blandford Road Beckenham BR3 4NE 
43 Half Moon Lane Herne Hill SE24 9JX 
43 Kirk Rise SM1 3BF 
43 Reedham St London SE15 4PF 
44 Leigham Vale London SW16 2JQ 
44 Longley Road London SW179LL 
44 Raymonds Plain Welwyn Garden City AL7 4TF 
44 Red Post Hill Herne Hill SE24 9JQ 
44 St James Street Daisy Hill BL5 2EB 
44 Sunnybank Warlingham cr6 9sr 
45 Burrow Road East Dulwich SE22 8DU 
45 Dalrymple Road Brockley SE4 2BQ 
45 Dalrymple Road London SE4 2BQ 
45 Northfield Hse Peckham Park Rd SE15 6TL 
45 Red Post Hill London se24 9jj 
46 Champion Hill London SE5 8BS 
46 Clapham Common Northside London Sw4 0AA 
46 Danecroft Road London SE24 9NZ 
46 Peckham Hill Street London SE15 5JY 
46 Peckham Hill Street London SE15 5JY 
47 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DJ 
47 Beauval Road East Dulwich SE22 8UG 
47 Beauval Road London SE22 8UG 
47 Fellbrigg Road East Dulwich SE229HQ 
47 Fellbrigg Road East Dulwich Se229hq 
47 Spenser Road London se24 0nr 
47b Tyrwhitt Road London Se4 1qd 
48 Adys Road London SE15 4DZ 
48 Danecroft Road London SE24 9NZ 
48 Glendale Swanley BR8 8TB 
48 Ingleboro Drive Purley CR8 1EF 
48 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DJ 
49a, East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PR 
5 Almond Close London Se15 4uh 
5 Anderton Close London SE5 8BU 
5 Arnould Avenue London SE5 8AU 
5 Arnould Avenue London SE5 8AU 
5 Birdsall House Champion Hill SE5 8DP 
5 Burrow Road London SE22 8DU 
5 Davy Street Ferryhill DL17 8PN 
5 Dog Kennel Hill London SE22 8AA 
5 Felmersham Close London SW4 7ES 
5 Fountain Drive London SE19 1UW 

212



5 Isel Way, East Dulwich SE22 8TT 
5 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH 
5 Manor Crescent GU27 1PB 
5 Miller Road Bedford MK42 9FS 
5 North Street Westcott RH4 3NQ 
5 Tell Grove East Dulwich SE22 8RH 
5 Tell Grove London SE22 8RH 
5 Terborch Way London SE22 8TQ 
5 Woolstone Road Forest Hill SE23 2TR 
50 Ashbourne Grove London SE22 8RL 
50 Ashbourne Grove London SE22 8RL 
50 Ashbourne Grove London SE22 8RL 
50 Church Lane London N2 8DS 
50 Gainsborough Rd New Malden Kt35nu 
50 Townley Road London SE22 8SX 
50 Tyrrell Rd 
51 Burlington Road Thornton Heath CR7 8PG 
51 Burrow Road London SE22 8DU 
51 Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QF 
51 Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QF 
51 Friern Road London SE22 0AU 
51 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE 
51a Lyndhurst Grove London SE15 5AN 
52 Coburg Crescent London SW2 3HT 
52 Pentridge Street London SE15 6JE 
53 Clifden Road Brentford TW8 0PB 
53 Hollingbourne Road London SE24 9NB 
53 Mayfield Rd London CR2 0BJ 
54 Hollingbourne Road Herne Hill SE24 9ND 
54 Holmdene Avenue London SE24 9LE 
54 Rosemont Road Liverpool L17 6DA 
54a Waveney Avenue London SE15 3UE 
55 Dylways London SE5 8HN 
55 Dylways London SE5 8HN 
56 Admaston Road London SE18 2TX 
56 Newlands Park London SE26 5NE 
56, Wenham House Battersea Sw8 4dz 
56a Tyrrell Road London SE22 9NE 
57 Bexhill Road London SE4 1SL 
57 Durban Road Beckenham BR3 4EY 
57 Natal Road London SW16 6JA 
57 Perth Court Denmark Hill Estate SE5 8HX 
57a Choumert Road London SE15 4AR 
58 Galsworthy Ave London E14 7RA 
58 Kingswood Road Basildon SS16 5UT 
59 Dylways London SE5 8HW 
59 Marcia Road London SW8 1XF 
59 Royston Road London SE20 7QW 
6 Dorset Ave Hebburn NE31 2SF 
6 Dylways Camberwell SE5 8HR 
6 Dylways London SE5 8HR 
6 Granville Road Southfields SW18 5SL 
6 Green Dale Close London SE22 8TG 
6 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH 
6 Landells Road London SE229PG 
6 Moncclar Road Moncclar Road SE5 8AX 
6 Morris Court Denmark Hill Estate SE5 8HS 
6 Morris Court Denmark Hill Estate SE5 8HS 
6 Mount Adon Park SE22 0DT 
6 Mundania Road London SE22 0NG 

213



6 Shaw Road London SE22 8DP 
6 Sunray Avenue Herne Hill SE24 9PY 
6 Talma Road London SW2 1AU 
6 Victoria Close Edenbridge TN8 5BT 
12 Casson St London X 
60 Jesmond Road Croydon CR06JR 
61 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DJ 
62 Elmwood Rd London SE24 9NR 
62 Fawnbrake Aveune London SE24 0BZ 
62 Lyndhurst Grove London SE15 5AH 
62 Middleton Avenue UB6 8BS 
62 Warbreck Road Orrell Park L9 8EG 
63 Brisbane Street Camberwell SE5 7NJ 
63 Fieldview London SW18 3HF 
63 Vestry Road Camberwell SE5 8PG 
64 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PW 
64 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PW 
65 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DJ 
65 Grove Park Camberwell SE5 8LF 
66 Oakhurst Grove East Dulwich SE22 9AG 
66 Tattersall Close Eltham SE9 6ET 
67 Colwyn Close Stevenage SG1 2AW 
67 Dovercourt Road London SE22 8UW 
67 Dovercourt Road London SE22 8UW 
67 Londesborough Rd Portsmouth PO4 0EU 
67 St. Peters Street South Croydon CR2 7DG 
68 Coleman Road London SE5 7TG 
68a Chesterfield Rd London E10 6EN 
69 Fellbrigg Road East Dulwich SE22 9HQ 
69 Valentine Court London SE23 2LJ 
7 Brackenlea Godalming GU7 2QR 
7 Brackenlea Godalming GU7 2QR 
7 Colwell Road London SE22 8QP 
7 Dowson Close London SE5 8AS 
7 East Dulwich Grove East Dulwich SE22 8PW 
7 Kestrel Avenue London SE24 0EB 
7 Langford Green London SE5 8BX 
7 Minehead Road London SW16 2AW 
7 Nairne Grove London SE24 9PU 
7 Paddock Road Basingstoke RG22 6PY 
7 Paddock Road rg226py 
7 Tern House Pelican Estate SE15 5NL 
7 Tessa Apartments 117 East Dulwich Grove SE22 8PU 
7 The Hamlet Champion Hill SE5 8AW 
7 Winter Neb Warley Wood Lane, Luddendenfoot HX2 6BP 
7a Wyneham Rd Herne Hill SE24 7NT 
7b Brunswick Park London SE5 7RH 
7b St Aubyns Road London SE19 3AD 
7c Vardens Road London SW11 1RQ 
70 Allendale Close London SE5 8SG 
70 Allendale Close London SE5 8SG 
70 Copleston Road Peckham Rye SE15 4AG 
70 Melbourne Grove London SE228QY 
73 Bates Crescent Croydon CR0 4ET 
73 Dylways London SE5 8HW 
74 Elmwood Road London SE24 9NR 
75 Dylways London SE5 8HW 
76 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DL 
76 Ingleboro Drive Purley CR81EF 
77 Crystal Palace Road Se22 9ey 

214



78 Athlone Road London SW2 2DS 
78 Glengarry Road SE22 8QD 
78 Maytree Crescent Watford WD245nw 
79 Dylways London SE5 8HW 
79 Grove Hill Road London SE5 8DF 
79 Lyndhurst Grove London SE15 5AW 
79 Tulsemere Road West Norwood SE27 9EH 
8 Albion Road London N179DB 
8 Buxted Road London SE22 8DQ 
8 Castleview Close London N4 2DJ 
8 Charles Coveney Rd London SE15 5JP 
8 Domett Close London SE5 8AR 
8 Goodrich Road London SE22 9EH 
8 Grove Park London SE5 8LR 
8 Hensford Gardens Sydenham SE26 6JE 
8 Love Walk London SE5 8SQ 
8 Lucas Road London SE20 7EE 
8 Monclar Road London SE5 8AX 
8 Rosebank Anerley Park SE20 8NL 
8 Sheppy Place Gravesend DA12 1BT 
8 Stanhope Road Tunbridge Wells TN1 2HY 
8a Philip Walk London SE15 3NH 
80 Fieldend Road London SW16 5SU 
80 Fieldend Road Streatham Vale SW16 5SU 
80 Friern Road London se22 0ax 
80 Lilford Rd London SE5 9HR 
80 Lilford Road London SE5 9HR 
80 North Street Carshalton sM5 2hh 
80 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PW 
82 Clock House Road Beckenham BR3 4JT 
82 Scarbrook Road Croydon Cr0 1sz 
82d Christchurch Road London SW2 3DE 
83 South Croxted Road London SE21 8BA 
84 Burton Road London SW9 6TQ 
84 Burton Road London SW9 6TQ 
84 Giffin Street Deptford SE8 4RJ 
86 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DN 
86 Daniels Road Nunhead SE15 3NA 
86 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill SE5 8TH 
86 Wedmore Gardens London N19 4SZ 
87 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DN 
87 Choumert Road London SE15 4AP 
87 Tannsfield Rd London SE26 5DL 
88 East Dulwich Rd London Se22 9at 
88 Ondine Road London SE15 4EB 
88b Underhill Rd London SE22 0QU 
89 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DN 
89 Southway Finchley N20 8DE 
9 Ashbourne Grove East Dulwich SE22 8RN 
9 Carden Road London SE15 3UB 
9 Eynella Road London SE22 8XF 
9 Eynella Road London SE22 8xF 
9 Gatonby St London SE155GU 
9 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH 
9 Milret Close Worcester WR3 8XF 
9 Mount Ash Road London SE26 6LZ 
9 Napier Court Ranelagh Gardens SW6 3UT 
9 Swinroyd Close Birkenshaw BD11 2LX 
9 Trossachs Rd East Dulwich se228py 
9 Vicars Hill London SE13 7JB 

215



9a Half Moon Lane London SE24 9ju 
90 Aspinall Road Brockley SE4 2EG 
90 Woodland Terrace Flat 1 SE7 8EN 
91 The Hall Blackheath SE3 9BG 
92 Amyand Park Road Twickenham TW1 3HH 
92 Amyand Park Road Twickenham TW1 3HH 
92 Loughborough Road Hathern LE12 5JB 
92 Mary Datchelor Close London SE5 7DY 
92 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PW 
92 Thorpewood Avenue Sydenham SE26 4BY 
93 Beauval Road Dulwich SE22 8UH 
94b Aspinall Road London SE4 2EG 
99 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill SE5 8TH 

Flat 36 Holderness House Champion Hill
 55 Dylways London SE5 8HN
 35 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT
 17 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT
 Flat 4 Morris Court Denmark Hill Estate Dylways
 6 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH
 13 Burrow Road London SE22 8DU
 51 Burrow Road London SE22 8DU
 107 Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QQ
 2 Piermont Green East Dulwich London
 47 Beauval Road London SE22 8UG
 57 Perth Court Denmark Hill Estate London
 4 Northbourne Hayes Bromley
 37B Avondale Rise London SE15 4AJ
 14 Tradescant Road London SW8 1XE
 20 Somerton Road London SE15 3UG
 1979 Blackbird Dr Apopka XXXX
 47 Beauval Road East Dulwich London
 110 Courtenay House New Park Road London
 15 Austins Court 1 Peckham Rye London
 6 Victoria Close Edenbridge TN8 5BT
 156 A Drakefell Road London SE4 2DS
 32 Ryedale Eat Dulwich SE22 0QW
 Flat 8 109 Peckham Road Peckham
 7 Colwell Road London SE22 8QP
 54 Holmdene Avenue London SE24 9LE
 40 Rattray Road London SW2 1BD
 181 Milkwood Road London SE24 0JB
 134 Grove Lane London SE5 8BP
 7 Winter Neb Warley Wood Lane, Luddendenfoot West Yorkshire
 32 Knowsley Way Hildenborough Tonbridge
 7B St Aubyns Road London SE19 3AD
 33 Champion Hill London SE5 8BS
 92 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PW
 28 St. Aidans Road London SE22 0RP
 Flat 2 75 Flaxman Road London
 Ty Gwynn Hitchin Herts SG4 9AF
 1D Court Lane Dulwich London
 30 Siddons Road London SE23 2JQ
 24 Gordonbrock Rd London SE4 1JB
 Flat 2, 89 Sydenham Park Road London SE26 4LP
 14 Liphook Crescent Foresthill SE23 3BW
 44 St James Street Daisy Hill Bolton
 39 Florence Street London N1 2DU
 50 Church Lane London N2 8DS
 48 Danecroft Road London SE24 9NZ
 9 Mount Ash Road London SE26 6LZ

216



 67 Londesborough Rd Portsmouth PO4 0EU
 42 Canterbury Grove London SE27 0NY
 11A Melvin Road London SE20 8EU
 58 Kingswood Road Basildon SS16 5UT
 50 Ashbourne Grove London SE22 8RL
 Apartment 7 67 Green Dale London
 291 Underhill Rd London SE22 0AN
 4 Fowler House MC Neil Road Camberwell London
 220 Rushby Mead Letchworth Garden City SG6 1SL
 43 Blandford Road Beckenham BR3 4NE
 Flat 5, 101 Overhill Road Dulwich SE22 0PR
 163 Westwood Park London SE233QL
 67 Dovercourt Road London SE22 8UW
 45 Northfield Hse Peckham Park Rd London
 70 Copleston Road Peckham Rye London
 Flat 15, 29 Surrey Quays Road London
 26 Burrow Road London SE22 8DW
 18 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DL
 34 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DL
 1 Shaw Road London SE22 8DP
 61 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DJ
 220 Birkbeck Road Beckenham BR3 4SX
 103 Sunray Avenue London SE24 9PT
 19A Blagdon Road London SE137HL
 50 Gainsborough Rd New Malden KT35NU
 29 Croydon Road 29 Croydon Road London
 288 Fir Tree Road Epsom
 Flat 605 Cascades Tower 4 Westferry Road London
 50 Ashbourne Grove London SE22 8RL
 128 Hollydale Road London SE15 2TQ
 51 Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QF
 11 Hunt Close Folkestone,Hawkinge Hawkinge
 156 Eden Way Beckenham BR3 3DU
 69 Valentine Court London SE23 2LJ
 58 Galsworthy Ave London E14 7RA
 15 Wentworth Court St. Marks Hill Surbiton
 151 The Strand Worthing BN12 6DT
 31 The Drive Orpington BR6 9AR
 12 Hogshill Lane Cobham XXXX
 Flat 269, Irving House, Doddington Grove London SE17 3TS
 Flat 1 18 Siddons Road London
 Flat 6 The Granary Comet Place London
 Flat 17, 1 Lanercost Close Tulse Hill London
 57 Natal Road London SW16 6JA
 19 North Dell North Springfield Chelmsford
 20B Champion Grove London SE5 8BW
 29 Cromwell Road Beckenham Kent
 Spindle Wood Forest Road Woking
 42, Calle Del Sol La Linea XXXX
 27 Bromar Road Camberwell London
 17 Riversdale Road Liverpool L21 1HX
 34 Darrell Road London SE22 9NL
 28 Brunel Road London SE16 6HZ
 22 Lausanne Road Second Floor London
 6 Granville Road Southfields SW18 5SL
 32D Lavender Hill London SW11 5RL
 Flat 8 89 Norwood Road London
The Terrace, Codrington Hill London SE23 1LP
 7C Vardens Road London SW11 1RQ
 Flat 16, Grange Court 101 Talfourd Road London

217



 35 Cambria Road London SE5 9AS
 5 Tell Grove East Dulwich SE22 8RH
 14 Distel Apartments London SE10 0TG
 119 Newington Causeway 25 Metro Central Heights London
 34 Southey House Browning Street London
 Flat 11, Gatcombe House East Dulwich Estate London
 68A Chesterfield Rd London E10 6EN
 21 Copeman Close London SE26 6EZ
 20 Manor Road Milton Keynes MK2 2HW
 Flat 66 33 Borland Road London
 5 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH
 48 Ingleboro Drive Purley CR8 1EF
 17 Southwell Road London SE5 9PF
 52 Pentridge Street London SE15 6JE
 39 Champion Hill London SE5 8BS
 310B Lordship Lane London SE22 8LY
 14B Jackson Road London N7 6EJ
 63 Brisbane Street Camberwell London
 20 Trossachs Road London SE22 8PY
 Flat 8, Centenary Court 60 Albemarle Road Beckenham
 101 Axminster Road London N7 6BS
 15 Paddock Road Buntingford SG99EX
 13 Fitzmaurice House Rennie Estate London
 16 Rainbow Street London SE5 7TD
 50 Townley Road London SE22 8SX
 38 Nantes Close London
 37 Brockley Grove London SE4 1QX
 26D Marmora Road London SE22 0RX
 Flat 5, Allport House Champion Park London
 57 Bexhill Road London SE4 1SL
 64 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PW
 62 Middleton Avenue Greenford
 313A Lordship Lane London SE22 8JH
 Flat 33 Glyn Court 199 Leigham Court Road Streatham
 39 Pellatt Road East Dulwich SE22 9JA
 53 Mayfield Rd London CR2 0BJ
 149 Ladywell Road London SE13 7HZ
 Old Mead The Chantry Rooksbridge
 Flat 5 Grace Lodge Clapton E5 8EE
 4 Pengwern Terrace Wallasey CH45 1HR
 Flat 8 155 Queens Road London
 15 Bessemer Close Hitchin
 8 Castleview Close London N4 2DJ
 15 Hazeldon Road London SE4 2DD
 142 Moordown Shooters Hill London
 No Comment London XXXX
 73 Bates Crescent Croydon CR0 4ET
 31 Mundania Court London SE15 4LF
 Flat 1, 29 Deronda Road London SE24 9BQ
 66 Oakhurst Grove East Dulwich SE22 9AG
 59 Royston Road London SE20 7QW
 30A Lansdowne Gardens, Stockwe Stockwell London
 86 Wedmore Gardens London N19 4SZ
 26 Millard Way Hitchin SG4 0QE
 22 Appleshaw House Champion Hill Estate London
 1 Denbury House London E3 3JB
 14 East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PP
 10 Kingsmead Road London SW2 3JB
 21 Gladeside Court Succombs Hill Warlingham
 Flat G02 Courtenay House 9 New Park Road London

218



 57 Durban Road Beckenham London
 270 Bellenden Road London SE15 4BY
 92 Amyand Park Road Twickenham TW1 3HH
 69 Fellbrigg Road East Dulwich London
 42 Glenfinlas Way Camberwell SE5 0PP
 Flat 2, 72 Thurlow Park Road West Dulwich London
 Flat 1, Waterfall House, 49 Brixton Water Lane London
 89 Southway Finchley London
 Flat 11, Mary Seacole Court Dog Kennel Hill London
 253 Bedford Road Hitchin SG5 2UQ
 5 Davy Street Ferryhill DL17 8PN
 10 Barkway Drive Orpington BR6 8PQ
 15 Rostella Road London SW17 0HY
 14B Howden Street London SE15 4LB
 Flat 44 Langhorne Court Dorman Way London
 86 Daniels Road Nunhead London
 15 Torrens Rd London SW2 5BS
 17 Haslemere Rd Thornton Heath Croydon
 10 Red Cedars Road Petts Wood Orpington
 Flat 602 Caledonian Point 34 Norman Road Greenwich
 1B Dunblane Rd Eltham London
 43 Kirk Rise Sutton
 The Grange, 8 Hall Farm Barns Hunts Lane, Hinxton Saffron Walden
 103 East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PU
 7 Tern House Pelican Estate London
 13 Thurlestone Rd London SE27 0PE
 65 Grove Park Camberwell London
 7 Tessa Apartments 117 East Dulwich Grove London
 42 Landcroft Road East Dulwich London
 39 Mountgrove Road London N5 2LX
 Flat 66 Ethelburga Tower Rosenau Road Battersea
 29A Rydal Road Streatham London
 62 Lyndhurst Grove London SE15 5AH
 9 Vicars Hill London SE13 7JB
 48 Glendale Swanley BR8 8TB
 Flat B, 98 Tressillian Road London
 Upland Road London SE22 0DF
 92 Mary Datchelor Close London SE5 7DY
 112D Tufnell Park Rd. London N7 0DU
 33 Marler Road London SE23 2AE
 39B Crystal Palace Park Road London SE26 6UR
 5 Miller Road Bedford MK42 9FS
 107 Woodwarde Road London SE22 8UP
 187 Mackenzie Road Beckenham
 84 Burton Road London SW9 6TQ
 Flat 44, Kimpton Court, 2 Murrain Road London N4 2BN
 10 Carpiquet Park North Baddesley Southampton
 34 Cityview Court East Dulwich SE22 0PZ
 Flat 15 67 Green Dale London
 Casa Hibiscos Calle Tamaduste 19 Granadilla, Tenerife, Spain
 50 Tyrrell Rd London
 Flat 299, Banister House Homerton High Street Hackney
 49 Prince Charles Avenue Walderslade
 109 Chester Road Macclesfield SK11 8DL
 Flat 2 3 George Street Bath
 14, Millwood Close Maresfield Uckfield
 8A Philip Walk London SE15 3NH
 7A Wyneham Rd Herne Hill London
 2 Isel Way East Dulwich Grove London
 21, Sunningvale Avenue Biggin Hill Westerham

219



 49A, East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PR
 68 Coleman Road London SE5 7TG
 Flat 2 8 Longton Avenue London
 6 Dorset Ave Hebburn South Tyneside
 Flat 19, 445 Norwood Road London SE27 9DN
 21 Blenheim Grove London SE15 4QS
 88 Ondine Road London SE15 4EB
 10 Bassano Street London SE22 8RU
 1C Stormont Road London SW11 5EQ
 Flat 1 4 South Grove Tunbridge Wells
 78 Athlone Road London SW2 2DS
 Flat 5, 29 Montrell Road London SW2 4QD
 5 Manor Crescent Haslemere
 105 Eade Road London N4 1TJ
 51 Burlington Road Thornton Heath London
 Flat 24 Sarawak Court 47 Consort Road London
 18 Townley Road 18 Townley Road London
 86 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill London
 18 Zenoria Street London SE22 8HP
 178 Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RH
 57A Choumert Road London SE15 4AR
 67 Colwyn Close Stevenage SG1 2AW
 12A Dagmar Road London SE5 8NZ
 8 Rosebank Anerley Park London
 Flat 32 Hayes Court, Camberwell New Road London
 62 Warbreck Road Orrell Park Liverpool
 31B Talfourd Road London SE15 5PA
 Flat 7, Vantage Heights, 23-25 Taymount Rise London SE23 3DH
 42 Mundania Road Mundania Road London
 4 Viscount Drive Highwoods Colchester
 35 Denmark Hill London SE5 8RS
 33 Granville Court London XXXXXX
 33 Frant Rd Tunbridge Wells Kent
 46 Danecroft Road London SE24 9NZ
 45 Red Post Hill London SE24 9JJ
 Flat 5 Highland Court London
 42 Mavis Bank Bathgate EH48 4GZ
 8 Domett Close London SE5 8AR
 5 Terborch Way London SE22 8TQ
 Flat 29, Torrens Court Denmark Hill Estate London
 56, Wenham House Battersea London
 9 Carden Road London SE15 3UB
 29 Whaddon House East Dulwich Estate London
 36 Drewstead Road Streatham Hill London
 121 Upland Rd East Dulwich SE220DF
 8 Goodrich Road London SE22 9EH
 41 Dovercourt Road London SE22 8SS
 101 Axminster Road London N7 6BS
 Wellow, Newlands Drive Leominster
 5 Almond Close London SE15 4UH
 13A Beckwith Road Herne Hill SE249LH
 129B Barry Road London SE220HW
 13 Ferrers Rd London SW16 6JQ
 21 Dulwich Village London SE21 7BT
 8 Grove Park London SE5 8LR
 Flat 56 Rutland Court London
 Forster Road Beckenham BR3 4LQ
 129B Barry Road London SE220HW
 29 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE
 35 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE

220



 28 Brightling Road Crofton Park Londonn
 12 The Hamlet London SE5 8AW
 3 Cyde Vale London SE23 3JG
 40 Walsingham Road Orpington
 179 friern road london se220bd
 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PX
 52 Finsbury Road London N22 8PD
 23 Hayes Grove London SE22 8DF
 78 College Road London SE21 7LY
 17A Surrey Road London
 Flat 17 67 greendale London
 128 Benhill Road Camberwell SE5 7LZ
 36 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT
 3 Acre Drive East Dulwich
 101 Crofton Road London SE5 8LZ
 9 Pellatt Road London SE22 9JA
 Flat 17 67 Greendale London
 86 Chestnut Road West Norwood London
 1 Crown Lane Gardens Crown Lane London
 Flat 11 67 Greendale Camberwell
 5 Grove Park Camberwell London
 16 Kennet Street London E1W 2JA
 73 Dylways Denmark Hill London
 27 Court Lane London SE21 7DH
 1 Delft Way Dulwich SE22 8TR
 27 park mead blackfen kent London DA15 9pe
 42 Archdale Road East Dulwich London
 3 Malfort road London Se5 8dq
 27 Park Mead Sidcup DA15 9PE
 9 McNeil Road London SE5 8PL
 6 Morris Court, Dylways Denmark Hill Estate London
 78 Athlone Road London SW2 2DS
 17 Lime Avenue Horsham RH12 4DZ
 39 Barry Road London SE220HR
 221 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill London
 221 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill London
 8 Monclar Road Cleve Hall Estate London
 133 BURBAGE ROAD LONDON SE21 7AF
 107 Dylways London SE5 8HW
 Flat 11 67 Greendale Camberwell
 51 Friern Road East Dulwich London
 156A DRAKEFELL ROAD London SE4 2DS
 1 Malfort Road Camberwell London
 15 Tribeca Court 2 Crystal Palace Road London
 1A Purley Parade, High Street, Purley CR8 2HA
 8 Monclar Road Cleve Hall Estate London
 57a Choumert Rd London SE15 4AR
 85 Abbotswood Rd London SE22 8DN
 42 Parker building London Se164ed
 Flat 25 Lambeth Towers 80 Kennington Road London
 Bromar Road Dulwich Se58dl
 22 Howden Street London Se15 4lb
 43 Daneroft Rd Herne Hill London
 223 Glenfrome road Bristol BS5 6TP
 4 Soames Street London Southwark
 Garret Lane London SW17 0ND
 14 Mariner House 17 Rupack Street London
 The old fairground site The vale of health London
 14 Barforth Road London SE153PS
 254 Friern Road London SE22 0BB

221



 Forest Rd Walthamstow E175je
 31 Leconfield House Champion Hill London
 26 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT
 Balham High Street London SW12 9BW
 21 Penlee Close Edenbridge Kent
 40 Cardigan Street London SE11 5PF
 33 Red Post Hill London SE24 9JJ
 107 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill London
 35 Langford Green Champion Hill London
 35 Langford Green Champion Hill London
 London SE15 $AF 
 10 Grove Park London SE58LR
 Bird in The Bush Rd London SE15 6RW
 65 Dovercourt Rd Dulwich London
 Sunray Av London SE24 9PX
 86 Chestnut Road West Norwood London
 2 Medora Road London
 1 crystal palace rd LONDON SE22 9EX
 83 Pope house Southwark SE16 3NX
 43 Danecroft Road London SE249PA
 158 Grove Lane London SE5 8BP
 Flat 17 67 greendale London
 Flat 5, No 8 Dog Kennel Hill London
 65 Tayside Tayside Court Basingdon Way London
 2a Victoria Road Sutton SM1 4RT
 Birdsall House Champion Hill Estate London
 Harav Haba 7 7 Ramat Gan
 17 Casino Avenue London SE24 9PQ
 109 Dylways London London
 27 Park Mead Blackfen Sidcup
 14 Malfort Road London SE5 8DQ
 61C East Dulwich Grove London London
 98 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PW
 23 Birdsall House London SE5 8DP
 Flat 4 295 Norwood Rd London
 18 Avondale rise London Se15 4al
 53 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE
 17 Tivoli Road London SE270ED
 6 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH
 8 Charsley Road Catford London
 48 Allendale Camberwell SE5 8SG
 Flat 2 84 Fetter Lane London
 36 Wanley Rd London SE5 8AT
 Apt 7 8 Dog Kennel Hill London
 57 RODWELL ROAD LONDON
 15 Tewkesbury Avenue London SE23 3DG
 27 Friern Road London SE22 0AU
 189 brook drive London Se11 4tg
 23 Wheatland House Dog Kennel Hill London
 28 MAGDALENE CLOSE LONDON SE15 3SQ
 33 Graces Road London SE5 8PF
 13 Hillsboro Road London SE22 8QE
 Rosebery Lodge Dulwich Park London
 4 Finer Close Clacton on sea Co16 8ud
 55a Molly Huggins Close London SW12 0LZ
 48 Tyrrell Road London SE22 9NE
 38 Heyworth Road London E15 1ST
 43 Danecroft Rd Herne Hill London
 Flat 1 20 Kimpton Rd London
 8 Malfort Rd Camberwell SE5 8DQ

222



 8 Matham Grove London Southwark
 156 Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RH
 9 Bawdale rd London SE22 9dl
 216 camberwell grove london
 180 Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RH
 23 Printers Road London SW9 0BH
 96 Upland Road East Dulwich London
 232 Ladlands Overhill Road London
 79 Grove Hill Road London SE5 8DF
 Garratt Lane London SW17 0ND
 83 Abbotswood Road London
 7 Pendrell Road Adelaide Avenue London
 20 BEAUVAL ROAD LONDON
 Flat 41 Essex House Giraud Street London
 39a Glengarry Road London SE22 8QA
 Finches 52 Woodmansterne Lane banstead
 70 Delrene Road Solihull B90 2HL
 59 Conyers Road London Sw16 6ls
 175 Landells Road East Dulwich London
 42 Portman Drive Woodford Green IG8 8QU
 1 Brightling Road London SE41SQ
 Unit 7 London N16 7TX
 12 Ardbeg Road London SE24 9JL
 Flat 4, Swinburne Court Basingdon Way London
 114a Kirkwood Road Nunhead LONDON
 14 Stories Mews Stories Mews London
 86I Talfourd Road London SE15 5NZ
 161A Lordship Lane London SE22 8HX
 186 Hollydale Road London SE15 6TQ
 43 Nutbrook Street London Se154ju
 16 Goodrich Road London SE22 9EQ
 36 Frobisher Close Thetford IP24 2TP
 21 Wingmore Road London Se24 0as
 37B Stopford Road London E13 0NA
 9 Cedar Close Worthing Bn13 2hz
 45 Elfindale Road London SE24 9NN
 41 Greenwich Park Street LONDON SE10 9LT
 3 St Aubyns Close London BR6 0SN
 41 Barmeston Road London SE6 3BH
 91 Sunray Avenue London SE24 9PT
 69 Caledonian Road London N1 9BT
 8 orchard road Swanscombe Kent
 55A Brownhill Road LONDON SE6 2HB
 FLAT 8, SHAFTESBURY COURT DENMARK HILL ESTATE London
 Flat 16, Witchwood House 60 Gresham Road LONDON
 84 Dovercourt Road London SE22 8UW
 15b Alpha Road New Cross London
 143 Penwith Road London SW18 4PZ
 82 Gracefield Gardens London SW162TT
 82 Gracefield gardens London Sw162tt
 17 Glendale Swanley
 34 Archbishops Place London SW2 2AJ
 37 Edrich House Binfield Road London
 264 Friern Road London SE220BB
 37 High Street Robertsbridge TN32 5AQ
 197-199 Grove Lane London SE5 8BP
 flat 3 47 south hill park london
 9 Jewel House 5 Sterling Way London
 28 Garden Road Cheltenham GL53 8LJ
 5 Grove Hill Road London SE5 8DF

223



 13 CANONBIE ROAD LONDON
 21 Wycliffe Road London
 14a William Booth College Champion Park London
 33 Ackroyd Road London SE23 1dn
 23 rockhampton road london se270nf
 158 Grove Lane London
 1 Burrow Road London SE22 8DU
 36 wanley Road London SE5 8AT
 34 Darrell Road London SE229NL
 Flat 1, 1 Howletts Road London SE24 9JZ
 Flat 20 Addison House London
 Flat 3, 71 Akerman Road London SW96FX
 8 Blackwater Street London Se22 8rs
 216 Rayners Lane London HA2 9UA
 1 Plough Lane East Dulwich
 2 century yard forest hill se233xt
 10 Jennings Road Dulwich SE22
 27 Bromar Road London London
 23 Sid Courtney Road Stratford-Upon-Avon CV37 7FA
 1 Bradmead Battersea London
 6 Richmond Road London N112QR
 47 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH
 213 East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8SY
 36 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT
 164 Grove Lane London SE5 8BP
 341 Crystal Palace Road London Se229jl
 15 Austin?s Court 1 Peckham Rye London
 34 Garfield Street Kettering NN15 6BU
 28 Therapia Road East Dulwich London
 17 haslemere rd Thornton Heath Croydon
 Flat 29 Heath Royal Putney Heath Lane Putney
 10 Bassano Street London SE22 8RU
 64d east Dulwich road East Dulwich Se229at
 1 Ridge Court 57 Underhill Road London
 81 Bonnington Sq London SW8 1TG
 65B Henslowe Road London SE22 0AS
 Flat 2, 51 Homersham Road Kingston upon Thames KT1 3PL
 7 St Faiths Road London SE21 8JD
 62 Randlesdown Road London SE6 3HB
 1979 Blackbird Dr Apopka 32703
 9 Grove Road Twickenham TW2 5NH
 19 North Dell North Springfield Chelmsford
 70B Elmwood Road Herne Hll London
 14 Hansler Road London SE22 9DJ
 74 Elmwood Road London SE24 9NR
 50 Ashbourne grove London Se22
 15 Torrens Road London Sw2 5BS
 33 Champion HIll London SE5 8BS
 68 Danby street London SE15 4BX
 20A East Dulwich Road East Dulwich SE22 9AX
 116 Casewick Road London SE27 0SZ
 Apartment 18 67 Green Dale London
 236 Barry Road London SE22 0JS
 Cardigan Road Flat 2-5 Richmond
 3a Finland Road London SE4 2JE
 76a Whitworth Road London SE18 3QF
 36 Dulwich Road London SE24 0PA
 59 Royston road London Se20 7qw
 36 Dixon road London SE25 6UE
 24 Frant Close London SE20 8HS

224



 28 Bishopsthorpe Road London SE26 4NY
 29 Laird House Redcar Street London
 38 Astbury Road London SE152NJ
 31 Mundania Court London SE22 0NQ
 67 OGLANDER ROAD London
 Flat 4 105 Albert Road London
 Flat 8 7-9 St Peter's Road Croydon
 20 Furness Road Morden SM4 6PR
 26 Mount Pleasant Crescent London N4 4HP
 20 Chestnut Road West Norwood SE27 9LF
 flat 1, 151 Grove Lane London SE5 8BG
 32 Hayes Court Londom SE5 0TQ
 58a Sunderland Road London SE23 2PY
 11a Melvin Road London SE20 8eu
 50a Underhill Road East Dulwich London
 1a fordwater road chertsey chertsey
 122 Casewick Road London London
 Flat 2 Ruskin Park House London
 41 Red Post Hill London SE24 9JJ
 50 Sedgemoor Place London SE5 7SE
 49 east Dulwich road Flat 10 Dulwich mews London
 223 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill London
 55 Robson road London Se279lb
 261 Godstone Road Whyeleafe CR30bd
 3 Monclar Road London SE5 8AX
 2A Soames Street London SE15 4BZ
 3 Mercia House Denmark Road London
 28 Dalkeith Road London SE21 8LS
 31 The Hamlet London SE58AW
 146 Landells Road East Dulwich London
 4 Viscount Drive Highwoods Colchester
 130 Links Road London SW17 9ES
 34 Sidney Road Beckenham BR3 4QA
 16 Dovedale Road London SE22 0NF
 Flat 9 Woodbury House, Sydenham Hill London SE26 6AW
 13a Cato Road Clapham Sw4 7tt
 17 St Francis Rd London
 Unit 1, 177 Kirkwood Rd London Se152bg
 Flat 4, Leconfield House Champion Hill Estate LONDON
 10 Bassano Street London SE22 8RU
 50a Underhill Road London SE22 0QT
 70 Tressillian Road London SE4 1YD
 2 Aysgarth Road Dulwich Village London
 3a Finland Road London SE4 2JE
 42 Ivydale Road London SE15 3BS
 80 Silvester Road East Dulwich London
 21 Bromar Road London SE5 8DL
 41 Beech Grove Sale M33 6RT
 23 Lincoln Crescent Biggleswade Sg18 8HP
 14 Green Lawns Ruislip HA4 9SP
 62 Gore Park Road Eastbourne BN21 1TQ
 Flat 5, L?Ancresse Hayne Road Beckenham
 41a Rye Hill Park London SE15 3JN
 13 Cornwall Court Cleaver Street London
 44 Rathmore Road London SE7 7QW
 22 Tasman Road London Sw99lu
 51 Friston Avenue Eastbourne BN22 0EN
 6 thornbury road London SW2 4DH
 10 mervan road London Sw21ds
 Apt 29, 95 Peckham Road London SE15 5FA

225



 69c Goodrich road London Se22 0eq
 Flat 16, Heron Court Elmworth Grove LONDON
 Flat 107 City Gate House London IG2 6BF
 Flat 5, Odette House Hamilton Road London
 Flat 9, Caledonian Court London SE22 8NW
 22 Southwark Park Rd Bermondsey London
 42 Landcroft road London Se22 9ld
 103 Ruskin park house london se58th
 4 Cample Lane South Ockendon RM15 5RA
 36 Ewhurst Road London Se4 1aq
 38 Dagmar road Camberwell London
 156 Peckham Rye London Se22 9QH
 40 Rushford Road London SE41SG
 78 Tamar Square Woodford Green IG8 0EB
 102 Cranston Road London SE23 2EY
 12 Princes Avenue Petts Wood Orpington
 173 coombe road Croydon Cr05sq
 8 Holmes Close London SE22 9AR
 2 Piermont Green East Dulwich LONDON
 Pitman Street London SE5 0TS
 38 Melbourne Grove London SE22 8QZ
 8 Pellatt Road East Dulwich Se22 9ja
 Flat 2, Ranger Mansions 25 Jasper Road Crystal Palace
 41 Red Post Hill London SE24 9JJ
 5 Odette House Hamilton Road, West Norwood London
 13 Lincoln House 13 Boyd Way London
 309 - 2234 West 1st Avenue Vancouver V6K 1G1
 4 wood sage way Eastbourne Bn245fu
 1 Coal Post Close Orpington BR6 6FL
 35 Fearnville Road Leeds LS8 3DQ
 42 Peabody Cottages Rosendale Road Herne Hill
 8 Ryedale Court, London Road Dunton Green TN13 2DN
 18 Malford Road Camberwell London
 7 Anderson Close London SE5 8BU
 155 Dartmouth Road London SE26 4RQ
 Flat 2, 51 Muschamp Road London SE15 4EG
 14B Howden Street London SE15 4LB
 3a maley Avenue London SE27 9BY
 33 Rodwell Road London SE22
 87 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DN
 103 Sunray Avenue London SE24 9PT
 11 Tell Grove London SE22 8RH
 Flat 20, 67 Green Dale London SE5 8JZ
 19 Dolphin Crescent Gosport PO12 2HE
 24 crouson road Keston Br26eq
 44 Red Post Hill Herne Hill London
 22 Kemerton Road London SE5 9AP
 Flat 7 Grove Court Camberwell Grove London
 37 Pulross Rd London SW9 8AF
 Flat 12, Streamline Court 17 Streamline Mews East Dulwich
 141 Abbots Park London SW2 3QZ
 58 Kingswood Road Basildon SS16 5UT
 23 Mundania Road London Se22 0Nh
 Flat 1, 73 East Dulwich Road London SE22 9AP
 3 Honor Oak Mansions Underhill Road East Dulwich
 31 The Drive Orpington Br69ar
 18b Elsie Road London SE22 8DX
 31 Malden Avenue London Se254hr
 10 Roseway Dulwich Se21 7jt
 Flat 3, 95 Gipsy Hill London SE19 1QL

226



 54 Ellington Street London N7 8PL
 178 Turney Road London SE21 7JL
 9 Nairne Grove London SE24 9pu
 28 Fritillary Apartments 2 Scena Way London
 62 grove vale london
 Cleaveland Road Surbiton KT6 4AJ
 32 cator close Croydon Cr00bn
 21 Hollingbourne Road Herne Hill London
 52 Sydney Road Sidcup DA14 6RB
 176 Lansdowne Crescent Carlisle
 125 Orchard Grove London SE20 8DW
 47 FELLBRIGG ROAD East Dulwich LONDON
 120a Gordon Road Peckham London
 50 E Dulwich Grove East Dulwich SE22 8RH
 27 lockwood close London Se26 4hy
 215 Crystal Palce Road London SE22
 121 Upland Road London SE22 0DF
 Maxted Road Flat 15 Maxden Court London
 15 Woodfarrs London SE5 8EX
 13a Beckwith Road Herne Hill SE249LH
 30 Champion Grove London SE5 8BW
 9 Grasmere Close Kempston Bedford
 22 Dock Street London London
 69 Christchurch Road London SW23DH
 5 Chesterfield Grove London SE22 8RP
 Flat 2, 15 Josephine Avenue Brixton SW2 2JX
 Apartment 8, Bond House, Goodwood Road London SE14 6FE
 46 PECKHAM HILL STREET LONDON PECKHAM SE15 5JY
 18 Avondale Rise London SE15 4AL
 176 Lansdowne Crescent Carlisle CA3 9ER
 30 apple ln MILFORD 45150
 1 Alder Way Haywards Heath RH16 1AN
 27 Hamlet Way London SE18 8KL
 41 Rosendale Road West Dulwich SE21 8DY
 112 Buckthorne Road London SE42DG
 33 Tatnell Road London SE231JX
 77 Sidney Gardens Otford Sevenoaks
 Lobhill Barton Lewdown Okehampton
 Salmo, Flegg Green Wereham King's Lynn
 7 Borland road London Se15 3aj
 5 Grassingham End Chalfont St Peter SL90BP
 36 Clifton Crescent London Se152rx
 106 Crystal Palace Rd London SE22 9ER
 98 Beresford Road Gillingham ME7 4ET
 125 Maida Vale London W9 1UR
 31 Copleston Road London SE15 4AN
 7 vining st London SW9, 8qa
 28 Crealock Grove London Ig89QZ
 11a Tintagel crescent London
 Apartment 25 London SW8 4BE
 28 blossom lane Reading RG7 5bd
 76 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DL
 17 Bawdale Road London SE22 9DL
 Flat 18 24 Sylvan Grove London
 18 zenoria street london se22 8hp
 23 Danecroft Road Herne Hill SE24 8PA
 Fieldfare house School road Essex
 122 Crofton Road Camberwell LONDON
 62 Denman Road London SE15 5NR
 Kennedy House, St Judes Rd Englefield Green Egham

227



 99A Bushey Hill Road 99 Bushey Hill Road London
 5 St Francis London
 Flat 269, Irving House, Doddington Grove LONDON SE17 3TS
 86-87 Tower Mansions Bermondsey London
 Garden Flat 6a Bawdale Road East Dulwich
 72 Edmund St Camberwell London
 48 Chestnut Avenue West Wickham BR4 9ES
 85 Browns Lane. Uckfield TN221UW
 War Memorial Sports Ground Colston Avenue Carshalton
 40 Shaftesbury Avenue Burnley BB11 2PP
 85A PELLATT ROAD LONDON SE22 9JD
 43 Wallace Crescent Chelmsford CM2 9QN
 10 Aquila road Leighton Buzzard Lu7 3xd
 14 Derwent Grove London SE22 8EA
 8 Dryden House Peckham Road London
 132 Brixton Hill Court Brixton London
 26 newquay house Sancroft street London
 52 Coburg Crescent London SW2 3HT
 13 clevedon road London SE20 7qq
 38 Marguerite Drive Leigh-on-Sea SS9 1NW
 10 Kilner House Clayton Street London
 28 Dylways London SE5 8HR
 20 Luxor Street camberwell se5 9qn
 Flat 8, 109 Peckham Road Peckham London
 Flat 17 Wakelin House Brockely Park London
 Flat 12, 3 longton avenue se26 6ra Sydenham 
35 Trilby Road London SE23 2dp
 15b St Julians Farm Road London SE27 0JJ
 22 Tasman Road London SW9 9LU
 157 Petersham Drive Orpington BR5 2QF
 107 Elm Park london sw2 2tz
 47 Vestry Road London SE5 8PG
 11 Pelier Street London SE17 3JG
 32 AVINGTON GROVE LONDON se208ry
 23 Uffington Road West Norwood London
 9 Normanhurst Road London SW2 3TA
 5 Springall Street Peckham SE15 2TY
 102 Lexham Gardens London W8 6JQ
 19 Spring Gardens Dorking RH4 1EE
 67 Stow Road Wiggenhall St. Mary Magdalen KING'S LYNN
 26 Brockwell Park Gardens London Se249bl
 16 Oaks Avenue London SE19 1QY
 Flat 5 karen court LONDON SE5 8DA
 6 Tayside Court London SE58HB
 35 Champion Hill London Se5 8bs
 147 Woodwarde Road London SE22 8UR
 32 Abbotswood Road East Dulwich London
 53 East Dulwich Grove London
 18 Blanchedowne London SE5 8HL
 20 Woodland Rise Oxted Surrey
 20 A Durban Road London SE27 9RP
 Flat 30 Wilton House East Dulwich Estate London
 30 Siddons road London SE23 2JQ
 11 Hillworth Road London SW2 2DZ
 65 Upland Rd London SE22 0DA
 68 Home Orchard Ebley Stroud
 50 Copenhagen road Gillingham Me74ru
 63 hayes grove London Se22 8df
 30 Muschamp Road London SE15 4EF
 40b Larcom Street London SE17 1NQ

228



 4 QUANTOCK MEWS London SE15 4RG
 50a Oxley close London SE15HN
 The Glades Sandgate CT20 3DR
 47 Melford Road London LONDON
 39 Cornish Grove London SE20 8RB
 10 hawarden grove LONDON Se249dh
 34 green lane London Se207jx
 53 Kinsale Road London SE15 4HJ
 36 Sadlers Walk Emsworth PO10 8JR
 41e Dartmouth Road Kilburn London
 140 Peckham rye London SE22 9QH
 45 GLoucester Court 516 Lordship Lane East Dulwich
 Flat 4 67 Green dale london
 31 Nairne Grove Herne Hill London
 88b Underhill Rd London
 44 South way Croydon CR08RP
 55 Barry Road East Dulwich SE22 0HR
 12 Monteagle Way London SE15 3RS
 47 Leigh Road Fareham PO16 7ST
 82b Clapham Common North Side London SW4 9SD
 73 Newquay Road London SE6 2NW
 35 Cambria Road LONDON SE5 9AS
 21 Symons Close London SE15 3SF
 113 Dallinger Road London SE120TQ
 35 Deronda Road London SE24 9BQ
 9 trossachs rd east dulwich london
 61 Warner rd London Se59ne
 Flat A, 1A Florence Road, London SE14 6TW
 11 Fairmont Close Belvedere DA17 5LY
 349b Lordship Lane London SE228PN
 38 furley road Peckham Se15 5uq
 49 Vestry Road Camberwell SE5 8PG
 3 Birdbrook Close Brentwood CM13 1YG
 7 Ondine Road London SE15 4ED
 31 trossachs road london se22 8py
 39 Bawdale Road London SE22 9DL
 Flat 11, Mary Seacole Court Dog Kennel Hill London
 428 Hackney Road London
 92 Idmiston Road London SE279HL
 16 Ferris Road London SE22 9ND
 Flat 6 Marsdene 7 St Johns Avenue Putney
 8 monclar road camberwell London
 21 Thompson Road London SE22 9JR
 64 Monson Road New Cross London
 Flat 21, Brookes Court Baldwins Gardens London
 33 Raleigh Road London SE20 7JE
 10 Hansler Road London SE22 9DJ
 37A Heath Road Beaconsfield HP91DD
 29a Adamsrill Road Sydenham SE26 4aj
 55A Brownhill Road London SE6 2HB
 Flat 17 67 greendale London
 34a Gloucester road London N17 6DH
 43 Blandford Road Beckenham BR3 4NE
 78 Holmdene Avenue London SE24 9LE
 Flat E 140 Croxted Road Dulwich
 11 Colomb Street London SE10 9EW
 Flat 3 Clyde House 2 Waverley Crescent London
 9 Isel Way London SE22 8TT
 55 Dylways London SE5 8HN
 Flat 8, 39 Effra parade London SW21PG

229



 178 Underhill Road London
 19a Dulwich Road London SE240NT
 198 Goldcroft Yeovil
 7 paddock road basingstoke
 57A Choumert Road London SE15 4AR
 108 Mary Datchelor Close London SE5 7DY
 53 Croham park avenue London Cr2 7hn
 11 Brierly Gardens London E2 0TE
 262b seven sisters road London N4 2hy
 23a Prairie Street London SW8 3PL
 Flat 1 19 Barry Road London
 36 poplar walk London Se240bu
 99A Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QQ
 118 Parkway Wimbledon Sw20 9hg
 Elgar St London SE16 7QW
 113 Dallinger Road Lee London
 36 Windsor Close London Se27 9lu
 Flat 3, 228 Devonshire Road London Se233tq
 91a Crystal Palace Road London SE22 9EY
 48 Tyrrell Road London Se229ne
 Flat 28 Squire House 290 Camberwell Road London
 23 St Francis Road East Dulwich LONDON
 6 Tulsemere Road London SE27 9EJ
 85 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DN
 23 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT
 15 Spring Gardens Marlow Marlow
 18 Townley Road London SE22 8SR
 75a Byne Road London SE26 5JG
 10 Croft Lane Edenbridge
 Flat 2 142 Fortess Road London
 6 Littondale Hull HU15 1FB
 4 Ivestor Terrace London SE23 3SG
 175 landells road london SE22 9PN
 24a Milkwood Road London SE240HH
 54B Shooters Hill Road London SE3 7BG
 7 Pymers Mead London SE218NQ
 34 Amott Road London SE15 2QE
 40A Forest Hill Road 1 London
 291 Underhill Road Lonson SE22 0AN
 11 Hollman Gardens London SW16 3SJ
 33 Chesterfield Grove East Dulwich SE22 8RP
 15 Chipstead Close Coulsdon Coulsdon
 29 st francis road London SE22 8DE
 Flat 4, Stratfield House 260 Baring Road LONDON
 8a Philip Walk London SE15 3NH
 13 St Cloud Road London SE27 9PN
 flat 75, Voltaire Buildings 330 Garratt Lane London
 44c Derwent Grove London
 18 COXSON WAY LONDON SE1 2XB
 40A Peckham Grove London SE15 6EA
 16 Almond Close Peckham London
 8 Monclar road London SE5 8AX
 38 Overhill Road London Se220ph
 39 Landcroft Road East Dulwich London
 56 Greenacres Oxted
 6 Bowhouse Court Cofferdam Way London
 32 Avington Grove London Se208ry
 41B Disraeli Road LONDON SW15 2DR
 Flat 14B Prideaux road London
 Flat 46 9 Evan Cook Close London

230



 96 Ferndene Road London
 193 Bellenden Road London SE15 4DG
 160 Parkside avenue Barnehurst Da7 6nw
 1 Mayo Close Leeds LS8 2PX
 Top Flat 84 Byne Road London
 28B Maude Road London SE5 8NY
 Lilian Knowles House, 50, Crispin Street London E1 6HQ
 Flat 2 61 Newlands Park London
 Logvägen  Spånga Sverige 16355
 2 Isel Way, East Dulwich Grove East Dulwich Grove London
 68 Upland Road London SE22 0DB
 12 kemp town place Brighton Bn2 1ne
 78 Astbury Road Peckham se15 2nw
 19 Austins Court 1 Peckham Rye London
 72 Marjoribanks Street Bathgate EH48 1AL
 F4/79 CLAREMONT RD SEAFORTH LIVERPOOL
 28 MAGDALENE CLOSE 28 LONDON
 10 rockells place London Se22 0rt
 7A Highview Road Sidcup DA14 4EX
 73 Ivanhoe Road London SE58DH
 Dog Kennel Hill Open Space Southwark London
 63 Hartington Road LONDON SW8 2HL
 2, Hichisson Rod London SE15 3AL
 43a Ivydale Road Nunhead London
 7 Wilmot Way Banstead SM7 2PZ
 12 Derwent Grove EastbDulwixh London
 100 Red Post Hill London SE5
 394 Lordship lane London
 65 Upper Elmers End Road Beckenham BR3 3QY
 21,Whitewood Close Worcester WR5 2LW
 32 Hilldown Road London SW163DZ
 48 Greenham rd London N10 1LP
 17 Park West Edgware Road London
 Flat 15, 67 Green Dale London SE5 8JZ
 3 Monclar Road Camberwell London
 70 Pymers Mead London SE21 8NJ
 67 Cotton Lane Moseley Birmingham
 153 Grove Ln London SE5 8BG
 84 Denmark Road Camberwell London
 Flat 10 Baron House 33 Chapter Way London
 129b Barry Road London SE22 0HW
 140 Peckham Rye London SE22 9QH
 18 Malfort Road Camberwell London
 U3 Peabody Square Blackfriars Rd London
 10 Birkbeck Hill London SE218JS
 8 Albany Terrace Grove Road Tring
 Flat 4, 25 Church Hill London E173ab
 18b Elsie Road London SE22 8DX
 15 Percy Road RENFREW PA4 8AZ
 68 Moncrieff Street Peckham Rye London
 12 Holmcroft Way Bromley BR2 8AD
 1 greyfort house, 10 blunt road South Croydon
 25 Kingsthorpe Road Sydenham SE26 4PG
 117 Landells Road London SE22 9PJ
 137a Choumert Road Peckham London
 215 Crystal Palace Road East Dulwich London
 25d Sydenham Park London SE26 4EE
 341 Crystal Palace Road East Dulwich SE22 9JL
 Flat 2 3 Queen Street Lancaster
 45 Hillcrest Sunray Avenue London

231



 11 Hichisson Road Peckham Rye SE15 3AN
 25 Union Road Croydon CR0 2XU
 Flat 10, Clevedon Court Clive Road London
 14 barforth road London SE153PS
 92 Thorpewood Avenue Sydenham London
 288 Ladlands, Overhill Road London SE22 0PU
 16 Almond Close London SE15 4UH
 62 Randlesdown Road London SE6 3HB
 37 Chudleigh Road LONDON
 Flat D, 116 Barry Road London SE22 0HP
 71 Ponsonby Place London SW1P 4PP
 244 Friern Road London SE22 0BB
 Shaftesbury Road Richmond TW9 2TD
 Otterburn Terrace Newcastle upon Tyne NE2 3AP
 108 Granby Road London SE9 1EL
 139 Gideon Road London SW11 5UU
 59 Caldecot Road London SE5 9RP
 55 Seymour Villas Anerley
 32 Attilburgh house Abbey st London
 11 Buxted Road London SE22 8DQ
 1 Arnhem Way East Dulwich London
 9 Towton Road London SE27 9EE
 57 Hawthorn Way Shipston-on-Stour CV36 4FD
 79 Tulsemere Road London SE279EH
 5C Vermont Road Upper Norwood London
 5 dog kennel hill London Se22 8aa
 162 kilmorie road Forest hill London
 14 Mowbray Avenue Byfleet KT147PG
 Flat B 43 Belgrave Street London
 39 Dundlak Rd LONDON SE4 2JJ
 17 ommaney road London SE14 5NS
 Flat 11, Mountain House Tyers Street London
 18 Kirkwood Road Nunhead London
 2 Newcastle Close Sion St. John
 122 Cambridge Street London SW1V 4QF
 61 Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH
 11 Muschamp Road London SE15 4EG
 18 marsden road London Se15 4ee
 Flat A, 52 Eastlake Road London SE5 9QL
 67 Dovercourt road London SE22 8UW
 5 almond close London Se15 4uh
 56 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT
 31b Champion Hill London SE5 8BS
 142, Court Lane London SE21 7EB
 30 Whidborne Close Deptford London
 196A Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RJ
 2 - 4 Southgate Road London N1 3JJ
 Flat 43 Gatcombe House East Dulwich Estate London
 Flat 3, 1-7 Tysoe Street London EC1R 4SA
 120 PARKWAY LONDON SW20 9HG
 20 Malfort Roaf London SE5 8DQ
 109 Dylways London LONDON
 39 Friern Road East Dulwich London
 129 HOLLYDALE ROAD LONDON se15 2tf
 1 Valley Place 68 Glenbuck Road Surbiton
 86 Harestone Valley Road Caterham CR36HF
 Flat 18, Crownstone Court, Crownstone Road London
 29 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DJ
 297 over hill road Dulwich London
 14 Malfort Road London SE5 8DQ

232



 43 Nutbrook Street London Se15 4ju
 6 Morris Court, the Denmark Hill Estate Dylways London
 21 Trossachs Road London SE22 8PY
 5 Townley Road East Dulwich SE22 8SW
 Flat 109, Ruskin Park House, Champion hill London
 31 Copleston Road London SE154AN
 8 Kennoldes Croxted Road Dulwich
 70 Bovill Road London SE23 1EJ
 234 Barry Road 94 Wood Vale London
 11 Gainsford St 18.2 London
 30 Worbeck Road LONDON SE20 7SW
 28 Magdalene Close London Se15 3sq
 284 Upland Road London SE22 0DP
 65 Corner Fielde Streatham Hill London
 33A Pepys Rd New Cross London
 21 Sevenoaks Road London SE4 1RA
 57A Choumert Rd London SE15 4AR
 11 Waldenshaw Rd Forest Hill Se23 3xp
 5 Dog Kennel Hill London Se22 8aa
 42 Meadowsweet Lane Eastbourne BN245GB
 Flat 9 57 Crystal Palace Road London
 20 Tarbert Road East Dulwich London
 40 Walsingham Road St Pauls Cray Orpington
 Flat 1, 1 Waldram Crescent Forest Hill SE23 3LW
 53 Bishopsthorpe Road London SE264PA
 51 Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QF
 35 Queensmead Rd Bromley BR20ER
 10 Derwent Crescent Bexleyheath DA7 4NH
 35 Montcalm Road London SE7 8QG
 Swanage The Gardens London
 115 dallinger road lee se12 0tq
 41 Avondale Rise LONDON SE15 4AJ
 Garden Flat, 74 Anerley Park London SE20 8NQ
 40 Rosse Gardens London Se13 7qd
 238 Langlaw Drive Cambridge, ON, Canada N1P1B6
 36 red post hill london SE24 9JQ
 98 Braidwood Road London SE6 1qz
 66 Ashdale Bishop's Stortford CM23 4EB
 124D Croxted Road Herne Hill SE21 8NR
 37 Harpswood Lane Hythe CT21 4BH
 17 Glazebrook Close Dulwich SE21 8RP
 4 Glengarry Road Dulwich SE22 8PZ
 19 Taynton Drive Redhill RH1 3PX
 4 Temple Road Oxford OX42HD
 169 Court Lane Dulwich London
 99A Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QQ
 65 Abbotswood Road London SE22 8DJ
 173 Church Road London e12 6hb
 15 Dulwich Wood Avenue London SE191HB
 150 Landells Road East Dulwich London
 51 Barnwell Road London SW21PN
 Flat 8 Bushey Hall Bushey Hill Road London
 11 Woodfarrs London SE5 8EX
 36a Elsie Road LONDON
 60 Cadet Drive London SE15RU
 2 Dalefield Roebuck Lane Buckhurst Hill
 9 Shelbury Rd London SE22 0NL
 36 Chesterfield Grove London
 71 cuerdale lane Walton Le dale Preston
 85 Abbotswood Rd London Se22 8dn

233



 170 St Vincents Road Dartford DA1 1UX
 135 Rosendale Road West Dulwich LONDON
 25 St Peter's Gardens London Se13 7uw
 Flat 2, 89 Sydenham Park Road London
 278b Crystal Palace Road London SE22 9JH
 Kinsale Road London SE15 4HJ
 106 Crystal Palace Road East Dulwich SE22 9ER
 Flat 1, 52 Kangley Bridge Road Lower Sydenham London
 Basement Flat 123 Honor Oak Park London
 Flat 21 Hambledon Court Burrow Road London
 6b cade st hampden park eastbourne
 16c Oliver Grove South Norwood London
 34 Ashview Apartments London N4 1FN
 4 Ferrings London SE21 7LU
 6 Cavour House Alberta Estate London
 180 Lordship Lane London SE22 8HB
 45 hillcrest Sunray avenue London
 82 Globe View House 29 Pocock St London
 49a, East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PR
 Flat 29, Torrens Court Denmark Hill Estate LONDON
 Flat 2 Noble Court 261 Church Road Mitcham
 55 comerford rd brockley london
 28a Camberwell Grove London Se5 8re
 67 Green Dale Flat 13 London
 57 Kinsale Road Peckham London
 5 Arragon Gardens London
 52 Oakhurst Grove East Dulwich SE229AQ
 57 Natal Road LONDON SW16 6JA
 5 Pinson Way Orpington BR5 4FL
 85 ruskin park house Champion hill London
 18 Lincoln Road Upper Flat Dorking
 6 Lacon Road London SE22 9HE
 107 Bushey Hill Road London SE58QQ
 122 Crofton Road London Se5 8na
 74 Woolstone Road London SE23 2SW
 Pellatt Road London Se22 9ja
 Flat 5 115 Sydney Road Sutton
 56, Ascalon Street London SW8 4DZ
 4 Desenfans Road London SE217DN
 Wyneham road London SE24 9NT
 5 Springhill Close London SE58AJ
 na Scotland KY11
 11 Mill Rose Way Burgess Hill Rh15 0zg
 45 Leonard Road London SW16 5SY
 28 bishopsthorpe road London Se26 4ny
 Flat 8 155 queens road London
 17 Tower Mansions 86-87 Grange Road London
 5 Tell Grove london SE22 8RH
 64 Worlingham Road London SE22 9HD
 140 Burbage Road Dulwich London
 52 Court Hill Sanderstead Croydon
 Flat 8 35 Poynders road London
 55a church rise London Se232ug
 Flat 13 Woodland Heights Greenwich
 28 Blackmore Road Shaftesbury SP7 8RD
 48 Maxted Road London SE15 4LF
 7, paddock road, south ham basingstoke rg226py
 39 Buchan Road London SE15 3HQ
 6 MEGAN COURT 29 POMEROY STREET LONDON
 35 Langford Green Champion Hill London

234



 Flat 1 61 Westow Hill London
 17 Riverview Park London Se6 4pl
 38 The Lane London SE3 9SL
 24 Langford Green London SE5 8BX
 15 Chesterfield Grove London SE22 8RP
 59 royston road London Se20 7qw
 58B Elmwood Road London SE24 9NR
 6 Cefn Road Newport NP109AQ
 8b Hunsdon Road London SE145RE
 53 Thornton Avenue Streatham
 18 Pendennis Park Bristol BS4 4JN
 207b Camberwell Grove London SE58JU
 3 Acre Drive East Dulwich London
 75 Flaxman Rd London SE5 9DN
 33 Forest Road Sutton SM3 9NT
 Pellatt Road London se22 9ja
 14 Walters Gouse Lettsom Street, LONDON
 22 Moreno House London E17 3GT
 11 Bellwood road London Se15 3de
 Flat 57 33 east dulwich road London Se22 9al
 5 Burrow Road London SE22 8DU
 15 Tewkesbury Avenie LONDON SE23 3DG
 10 Muschamp Road London SE15 4EF
 56 Melbourne Grove London SE22 8QY
 2B Ondine Road London SE15 4EB
 92 North Walk Fieldway Croydon
 48 Girton Road London
 154 Burbage Road London SE21 7AG
 Flat 5, The Bonner Building 224 Trinity Road London
 115A (Side Door) Rosendale Road London
 47 Brookwood Road London SW18 5BQ
 51 Friern Road London Se220au
 80 High Street Walkern Hertfordshire
 47 Melford Road London LONDON
 44 Mandalay Street Nottingham NG6 0BH
 Swanage The Gardens LONDON
 20 Waterfall House 49 Brixton Water Lane Brixton
 72a Bushey hill road London Se58qj
 103 Fernbrook Road London SE13 5NQ
 93a Southgate Road London n13js
 97 Roseberry Gardens London N4 1JH
 Flat 2, 43 East Dulwich Road London
 Flat 30 Taymount Grange Taymount Rise London
 10 Barkway Drive ORPINGTON BR6 8PQ
 17 Buckley Close London SE23 3EQ
 111 court lane London SE21 7EE
 30 Tarbert Road London SE22 8QB
 31 Godric Crescent New Addington CROYDON
 198 Mayall Road London SE24 0PH
 284 Consort Road London Se153sb
 46 Clapham common north side London Sw4 0aa
 199 Underhill Rd London SE22 0PD
 38 Fitzgerald House London SW17 0GL
 106 Casewick Road English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British SE270SY
 19 Olive Court, Woodmill Road London E5 9GQ
 23 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE
 11a Melvin Road London SE20 8EU
 29 Holmesley Road Honor Oak Park London
 Flat 5, 15 Thane Villas London N77PH
 6 Talma Road London SW2 1AU

235



 37 Harpswood Lane Hythe Ct21 4BH
 72 Kings Hall Road BECKENHAM BR3 1LS
 111 Casewick Road London SE27 0TA
 2116 Vista Street NE Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2E 6H4
 Flat 212 Riverside Mansions Milk Yard London
 35 Langford Green Champion Hill London
 Flat 15 2 Crystal Palace Road London
 20A East Dulwich Road East Dulwich SE22 9AX
 25 Hugh street Staines upon Thames Tw197jr
 95 Honor Oak Park London
 38 Truro Lane Penryn, Cornwall Penryn
 Flat 3 1A Peckham High Street London SE15 5EB
 10 york road London SE1 7nd
 1 James Joyce Walk London SE24 0QT
 62 Village Road 62 Village Road Gosport
 49 Crawford road London Se59nf
 Flat B, 193 Askew Road London W12 9AZ
 113 Sellincourt Road London SW17 9RZ
 Flat 3, 42-44 Queensway London W2 3RS
 34 Assembly House LONDON SE14 6BP
 2 Bryden Close London SE26 5LL
 6 Regency Court Regency Drive Ruislip
 2 Canal Walk Meadowcourt Road London
 8 Bond House Goodwood Road London
 Flat G02 courtenay house 9 New park road London
 Flat 20 2 Carney Place London
 48 Juniper House, Pomeroy Street London SE14 5BY
 20 Northern Lights Wildspur Mills Holmfirth
 62a Kimberley Avenue London se153xh
 12 Kemerton rd Camberwell SE59AP
 19 Hallane House Elder Road London
 4 Piermont Green East Dulwich, London SE22 OLP
 4 Piermont Green East Dulwich London
 41 Lime Street Stoke-on-Trent St44eq
 9 Normanhurst Road London SW23TA
 96 Cowick Road London SW178LL
 96 orbis wharf London SW11 3GX
 56 Raymond road London SW194AL
 8c Grove Park Camberwell SE5 8LR
 156 Manwood Rd London SE4 1SE
 89 Wenlock Court London N1 7PL
 42 Walkerscroft Mead London SE218LJ
 31 LANGFORD GREEN LONDON SE5 8BX
 16 Almond Close Peckham London
 253 mayall rd london se24 0pq
 6b Silvester Road London SE22 9PD
 12 Adamsrill Road London SE26 4AN
 110 Leigham Vale Tulse Hill London
 28a Lordship Lane London SE22 8HJ
 16a Ivanhoe Road London SE5 8DH
 Eißendorfer Straße 83 Hamburg 21073
 Otzenstraße 42 Hamburg D-22767
 18 Clough's Road Ringwood BH24 1UX
 37 Elmcroft Street London E5 0SQ
 10D Villa Street Walworth London
 2b Norfolk Road Colliers Wood London
 1 Madeleine Terrace 5a Bushey Hill Road London
 Flat 142 Derry Court Streatham High Road London
 30 Freemantle Street London SE17 2JP
 Loch View Cottage Ambrismore Isle of Bute PA20 OQA

236



 299 Banister House, Homerton High Street London E9 6BS
 88 Dovercourt Road London SE22 8uw
 79 Beechwood Grove Acton London
 25 St Francis Road London SE22 8DE
 73 Dylways London SE5 8HW
 231 Harwich Road Clacton On Sea CO16 9PX
 37a Tarbert Road London SE22 8QB
 6 Green Dale Close London SE22 8TG
 57 Hanover Gardens London SE11 5TN
 35 Melbourne Grove London SE228RG
 15 Darcy Road London SW16 4TX
 47 Winterbrook Road Herne Hill London
 1d Court Lane London
 57 Stratford Road Ipswich IP1 6EF
 Flat 3 243 Rye Lane London
 1 Hillbury Road London SW178JT
 15 hermitage gardend London Se19 3qp
 47 Canonbie road London Se23 3aw
 172 Central Hill London SE19 1DY
 30 Printworks Apartments 116 Coldharbour Lane Brixton
 32 Shaftesbury Court London SE5 8HQ
 341E Brixton Road London SW9 7DA
 127B Burton Road London SW9 6TG
 15a Hitherfield Road London SW162LW
 43 Lavengro Road West Norwood London
 13 Sydenham Hill London Se26 6sh
 10 Soames Street London SE15 4BZ
 Flat 3, 110 Greenwood Rd London E8 1ne
 23 Abbey Court Abbey Road London
 Flat 3, Hamley Lodge 29 Peckham High Street London
 297 Ladlands London SE22 0PU
 Flat 2 21 Tierney Road London
 59 Ravenswood Road London SW12 9PN
 Flat 3 4 Boutflower Road London
 98 Lennard Road London SE20 7LY
 57 Garthorne Road Honor Oak Park London
 89c Gleneagle Road London SW166AZ
 16 Dorchester Court London SE24 9QX
 29 Whaddon House London SE22 8AQ
 17 Brightling Road LONDON London
 118 st Mary?s road London Se152du
 83 South Croxted Road London SE21 8BA
 4 Piermont green East Dulwich London
 17 Hide Tower regency street London
 3a Lorne Avenue London Cr07rq
 66 oakhurst grove london se22 9bg
 197a Gipsy Road London Se279qy
 Flat 42, Perth Court Denmark Hill Estate London
 93 Rosehill Park West Sutton SM1 3LA
 5 Kaleidoscope Apartments 265 Lordship Lane East Dulwich
 201 Bellenden Road London SE15 4DG
 FLAT B, 15 EUGENIA ROAD LONDON
 27 Beadnell Road London SE23 1AA
 55 St Leonards Road Hove BN3 4QP
 Flat 4 24 Grove Hill Road London SE5 8DG
 6 Ivanhoe Road London SE5
 2 Haredale Road London
 17 Bromar Rd Camberwell SE58DL
 Flat 2 167 Camberwell Road London
 19 Mowbray Road Crystal Palace SE192Rj

237



 54 Mayhill Road Charlton London
 7 Lutwyche Road London SE6 4EP
 Flat 47, Altima Court 33 East Dulwich Road London
 336 Ivydale Road London SE153DG
 Flat 6, 445 Norwood Road London SE27 9DN
 7b St Aubyns Road London SE19 3AD
 67 Guinness square London Se1 4hp
 2/2 59 Finnart Street Greenock
 45 St Aidan?s Road London SE22 0RN
 2 culverden road London Sw12 9lp
 128 Benhill Road London SE5 7LZ
 226 Upland Road London SE22 0DH
 86 Red Post Hill London SE24 9PW
 Flat 11, Tower Mansions 86-87 Grange Road London
 201 Ruskin Park House Champion Hil London
 29Holmesley Rd Honor Oak Park SE23 1PH
 19 Crofton Road London SE5 8LY
 5 St Francis Road London Se22 8DE
 8 Atkinson Close, Green Street Green Orpington
 Deptford Church Street 30 Wilshaw House London
 Flat 9, Rollins House Rollins Street London
 37B AVONDALE RISE London SE15 4AJ
 17 Orchard Road Havant PO9 1AT
 3 Court Lane Gardens London SE21 7DZ
 170 Perry Hill London SE64EZ
 107 Cambridge Gardens Kingston upon Thames KT1 3NP
 132a Lordship Lane London SE22 8HD
 Profsoyuznaya 115-1-73 Moscow, Russia 117647
 132 Clock House Road Beckenham BR3 4JX
 11 Grange Court 101 Talfourd Road Peckham
 306 South City Court London SE15 6AU
 56 Dart Green South Ockendon RM15 5DH
 Rosemoor Street 2 south house London
 17 Glendale High Firs Swanley
 86 Queen Mary Road London SE19 3NP
 23 Elstead house Redlands Way London
 FLAT 5, ALLPORT HOUSE CHAMPION PARK London
 12 Honor Oak Park Forest Hill London
 79 Hindmans Road London SE22 9NQ
 47A East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PR
 20b Champion Grove London SE5 8BW
 4 Chesham Road London SE20 7RH
 2700 travis st Houston tx USA 77006
 71 Landells Road London Se22 9ph
 Flat 2, 166 Rye Lane Peckham LONDON
 Flat 34, 91 Newington Causeway London Se1 6bn
 1d Court Lane C Dulwich
 21 Townley Road London SE22 8SR
 Flat C 16 Oliver Grove London
 10 CARPIQUET PARK NORTH BADDESLEY SOUTHAMPTON
 Olivers Workhouse Lane East Farleigh Maidstone
 19 Hambling Court London Se57tt
 3 Smeeds Close East Grinstead RH19 3AL
 11 Harriet Court 29 Pomeroy Street London
 1C Severus Road London Sw11 1pl
 12a Lanvanor Road Nunhead London
 19 Bromar Road Dulwich SE5 8DL
 39 Rutland Court Denmark Hill London
 40 Leary House Vauxhall Street London
 Flat 3 Hartswood House Streatham Hill London

238



 65 Sienna Alto London SE13 7FY
 61 Taylors Lane Sydenham London
 3 milo road east dulwich london
 53 Hicks House Frean Street Bermondsey
 42 Bredinghurst Overhill rd London
 21 Symons Close London SE15 3SF
 9 Solway Road London SE22 9BG
 Mill House 8 Mill Street London
 85 Henslowe Road London SE22 0AS
 278a crystal palace road London Se22 9jh
 17 Trinity Close Tunbridge Wells TN2 3QP
 142 Knight's Hill London SE270SR
 194a Bellenden Road London SE15 4BW
 205 John Ruskin Street London SE5 0PT
 57 Hawthorn Way Shipston-on-Stour CV364FD
 Flat 19 Elmfield Mansions Elmfield Road London
 37 Henryson Road London SE4 1HL
 2 Rose Way Oakwood Court, Hogmoor Road Bordon
 12 Amott Road London SE15 4JD
 60 Jesmond Road Addiscombe Croydon
 2 Old Road Abbey Wood SE2 0QZ
 36b. Lyndhurst Grove, Peckham, London,
 Flat 29 Gatcombe House East Dulwich Estate London
 11/67 Green Dale London SE5 8JZ
 11 Walcot House East Dulwich Estate London
 86 red Post Hill Herne hill Se24 9pw
 165 Chudleigh Road London SE41EG
 3 Glengall Terrace London SE15 6NW
 64 Red Post Hill London SE24 9 PW
 Flat 4, 37-39 Adys road London Se15 4dx
 9 Ashbourne Grove East Dulwich London
 Flat 24, 6 Barrington Road Brixton Sw9 7dp
 65 Kendall Road Beckenham
 188 fairlawn park london se265sd
 Dog Kennel Hill open Space London SE22 8AA
 51 Eglantine Road London Sw18 2de
 61 nunhead lane London SE15 3tr
 94 Brandon street London Se17 1al
 87 Goodrich Road London Se220ep
 2 Marler Road London SE23 2AD
 Flat 3 Sylvia Court 26 Wilbury Road Hove
 163 westwood park London
 161A Kimberley Avenue Cheadle Hulme London
 126 Crystal Palace Rd London SE22 9ER
 21 Hollydale Rd LONDON SE15 2TE
 158 Grove Lane Camberwell London
 54 red post hill London Se24 9jq
 1 Methley Street London SE11 4AL
 4 Fullerton Road London CR06JD
 40 Walsingham Road Orpington BR53BW
 5 Dudrich Mews Dulwich SE22 8AS
 8 Langford Green Dulwich SE5 8BX
 6 Heroncrest Mews Petersfield Gu314fe
 Flat 4, Hazel Court 1a East Dulwich Road London
 Flat 8A Claudio Court 113 Elmington Road London
 Flat 211 Holly Lodge Mansions 13 Cormont Road London
 17 Wanley Road London SE5 8AT
 35 Greyhound Lane London SW16 5NP
 Flat 4 London E8 1DS
 42 Surrey Road London SE15 3AT

239



 15 Frogley Road E Dulwich SE22 9DF
 Peninsula Square Winchester so23 8ub
 12 Brightside Road Hither Green London
 114B Church Road Teddington TW11 8EY
 36b Brandon street Gravesend Kent
 1 Burrow Road London SE22 8DU
 116 Wood Vale London SE23 3EB
 68a Chesterfield Rd London E106EN
 Meadow Cottage Corner Lane, Halberton Tiverton
 1, The Crescent Cambridge CB3 0AZ
 233 Norwood Road London SE24 9AG
 53 mayfield rd london CR2 0BJ
 41 Ashbourne Grove East Dulwich London
 44 Leigham Vale London
 69 Landcroft road London SE22 9Js
 67 Dovercourt Road London SE22 8UW
 49 Tomola Rd London SE24 9BA
 12 Cambrian Close London SE27 0BS
 4 Highbury Mansions London N1 2XF
 10 Gay Close London NW2 4PR
 29 Cromwell Road BECKENHAM BR3 4LL
 22 Lausanne Road London SE15 2HU
 56 Homestall Road London SE22 0SB
 Flat 2 Highlands South Road Forest Hill SE23 2UF
 143b Grove Lane Denmark Hill London
 86 Wedmore Gardens London N19 4SZ
 Flat 2, 93 Ladbroke Grove London W11 2HD
 78 junction road Burgess Hill RH150jp
 13 Boxall Road DULWICH London
 37 sudbourne road LONDON SW2 5AE
 8 Monclar road London SE58AX
 93A Saint George's Road Brighton BN2 1EE
 51 Bushey Hill Road London SE5 8QF
 20 Trossachs Road London SE22 8PY
 10a Crystal Palace road London Se22 9hb
 204 Camberwell Grove London SE5 8RJ
 35 Delawyk Crescent London SE249JB
 48 my ladys mile Holywood Bt18 9en
 9 Milret Close Worcester
 40A Silvester Road LONDON Se22 9PB
 flat 2 61 newlands park london
 11 Hatcham Park Mews New Cross London
 9 new park road London SW2 4DN
 Flat 2 Troy Road London
 Amiralsgatan 7 Malmö 21141
 19a Worlingham Road East Dulwich SE22 9HD
 Flat 5 Grace Lodge Hackney E5 8EE
 24 Mildmay Grove S London N14RL
 215 Vesta Court London SE1 3BP
 74 Goddington Lane Orpington BR6 9DY
 163 Cedars Road London SW4 0PS
 8A Valleyfield Road London SW16 2HR
 16 Bonsor  St Camberwell Se5 7te
 40 Worlingham Road London Se229hd
 24a Oakdale Road London SW162HJ
 14 Liphook Crescent London SE23 3BW
 89 Adelaide Avenue Ladywell Lewisham
 3a Rubens Street Catford London
 3b Welsford Street London SE1 5RA
 Chaussée de Lasne 32 Rixensart 1330

240



 Flat 3, 276 Holmesdale Road South Norwood SE25 6HX
 64 EWHURST ROAD LONDON SE4 1AQ
 9 Como Road London SE23 2JL
 115 / 95 Rouse Street Port Melbourne VIC Australia 3207
 67 Colwyn Close Stevenage STEVENAGE
 51a Lyndhurst Grove London SE15 5AN
 61 Sunderland Road London SE23 2PS
 3 Hanover Close Bury Pulborough
 143 Pepys Road London SE145SG
 13 Marley House Roseberry Place London
 53 Clifden Road Brentford LONDON
 34 Northway Road London SE5 9AN
 58 Beckwith Road North Dulwich London
 80 Westwood Park London SE233QH
 14 School Lane London
 73 Kingsway Orpington BR5 1PN
 Flat B,, 98 Tressillian Road 98 Tressillian Road London
 49 Springdale Road Stoke Newington London
 Flat 7 Spells Yard 1 Grafton Place Worthing
 Flat 2, 9 Troy road London SE193SU
 70 trinity rise London Sw22qs
 48 Ingleboro Drive Purley Cr8 1ef
 39 Monson Road Flat 6 London
 30a Nelson Road Rainham Rm13 9ss
 42 Bredinghurst Overhill Road London
 Flat 5 416-418 Holloway Road London
 Flat 25 Heaton House Heaton Road LONDON
 88 Ferndale Road South Norwood SE25 4QP
 26a Waveney Avenue London Se15 3ue
 26a Kinsale road London SE15 4HL
 21A 21A INVERTON ROAD LONDON
 18 Albany Court Sloane Walk Shirley
 195 FRIERN ROAD LONDON SE22 0BD
 Flat 16 Willow Court 11 Westwood Hill London
 199 Ravensbourne Ave Bromley
 30 Hooper Street London E1 8BU
 20, Tribeca Court 2, Crystal Palace Road London
 19 Delta Point Delta Street London
 Flat B, 15 Edgeley Road London SW4 6EH
 Flat 1, Central Buildings 132 Herne Hill LONDON
 2 Hepburn House London SE16 3dh
 25 High Street Staines-upon-Thames Tw197jr
 18 Pentridge Street London SE15 6JF
 21 Aylton Estate Renforth Street London
 43 Gatcombe House East Dulwich SE228BU
 104 Moor Street Coventry CV5 6EY
 17 Ruskin Park House Champion Hill London
 45 red post hill london se24 9jj
 Second Floor Flat 115 Camberwell Grove London
 51 Tresco Road Nunhead London
 24 Exeter Road Croydon CR0 6EG
 1170 West 7th Avenue Vancouver, Canada V6H1b4
 Flat 1 78 Lyndhurst Way London
 Apt 40, 7 Tiltman place Londo N77el
 71 Kitto Road London SE14 5TN
 108 Demesne Road Wallington SM6 8EY
 51 Henslowe Rd East Dulwich SE22 0AR
 First Floor Flat 24 Tregothnan Road London
 Flat 12 18-22 Grove Vale London SE228EF
 146 Reform Street London SW11 5AH

241



 185A Friern Road East Dulwich London
 1A 1 Woodbourne Avenue London Sw16 1bf
 435 Lordship Lance London SE22 8JN
 43 Brewers Buildings Rawstorne Street London
 Hazel Ave Braintree CM778GD
 3 Thorn Terrace London SE15 3LN
 68a crawthew grove London Se22 9ab
 61 Warburg Crescent Blackbird Leys Oxford
 36 Hexham Road London Se27 9ed
 17 Brockill Crescent London Se4 2pt
 29 Ramensvagen Aarsta 12051
 Flat 6 Hayters Court Grigg Lane Brockenhurst
 50 Ryedale London East dulwich
 Flat 26 47 Commerell Street London
 Via Email  
 5 Spring Hill Close Camberwell SE5 8AJ
 50 Sunray Avenue Dulwich SE24 9PX
 18 vestry mews London SE58NS
 Flat 78 Swinburne Court Leeman Road London
 158B Landells Road London SE22 9PN
 15 Thornbury Rd Brixton London
 62 Ferndene Road London SE24 0AB
 13 Wingmore road London SE24 0as
 10 trigon road London SW8 1NH
 27 Bromar Road London SE5 8DL
 35 Cheltenham Road Cheltenham Road London
 157 camberwell grove london SE5 8JS
 67C East Dulwich Grove London SE22 8PR
 Flat A, 50 Bromar Road London SE5 8DL
 28 Ruskin Walk london sw111rh
 8 The Hamlet London Southwark
 20 Tarbert Road London SE22 8QB
 211c Camberwell grove London
 31 Calton Avenue London Southwark
 160 Tooley Street London Southwark
 160 Tooley Street London Southwark
 160 Tooley Street London Southwark
 160 Tooley Street London Southwark
 160 Tooley Street London Southwark
 160 Tooley Street London Southwark
 28 dovercourt road London Se228s

242



APPENDIX 3

RECOMMENDATION

This document shows the case officer's recommended decision for the application referred to below.
This document is not a decision notice for this application.

Applicant
Dulwich Hamlet Football Club Limited And 
Healey Development

Reg. 
Number

19/AP/1867

Application Type Major application 
Recommendation Major - GRANTED Case 

Number
826-3

Draft of Decision Notice

Planning Permission was GRANTED for the following development:

Redevelopment of the Dulwich Hamlet Football (Champion Hill) Stadium, including the 
demolition of existing buildings, and use of land at Greendale, to provide:
- the erection of a new stadium with relocated playing pitch with associated floodlighting and 
boundary treatment, and part two-part three storey clubhouse building with sports and 
leisure facilities, with capacity for 4,000 spectators (Use Class D2);
- the construction of a multi-functional kickabout space and associated boundary treatment; 
- the erection of a series of buildings between four and six storeys in height to provide 219 
residential dwellings, (Use Class C3); 
- associated car parking, cycle parking, refuse storage and access road;
- the widening and greening of a public route with associated hard and soft landscaping; 
- the relocation of telecommunications equipment and re-provision of the substation together 
with plant and equipment.

Dulwich Hamlet Football Club Edgar Kail Way London SE22 8BD And Neighbouring 
Artificial Pitch At Greendale

In accordance with application received on 18 June 2019

and Applicant's Drawing Nos.: 

and Applicant's Drawing Nos. DRAWINGS:

Existing plans
2787_EX-OS v20  Existing Location Plan
32836_01_P Elevation key
32836_02_P Layout Plans
32836_03_E Elevations 
32836_04_E Elevations 
32836_05_E Elevations 
32836_T_SP   Topographical survey 
2787_GA_P_D-L00 v20 Ground floor demolition plan 

Proposed 
2787_GA_SP-L00  v36 Site Plan

243



Site Plans
2787_GA-P-L00 v36 Ground Floor Plan
2787_GA-P-L00-02 v36 Ground Floor Plan-02
2787_GA-P-L01 v36 First Floor Plan
2787_GA-P-L02 v36 Second Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-L03 v36 Third Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-L04 v36 Fourth Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-L05 v36 Fifth Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-L06 v36 Sixth Floor Plan
2787_GA-P-S-L00-250 v36 Stadium Ground Floor Plan
2787_GA-P-S-L01-250 v36 Stadium First Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-S-L02-250 v36 Stadium Second Floor Plan

Site plans with landscape
2787_GA-P-L00- v36 Ground Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-ST-L00- v36 Stadium Ground Floor Plan With Landscape
2787_GA-P-L01-  v36 First Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L02- v36 Second Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L03- v36 Third Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L04- v36 Fourth Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L05-  v36 Fifth Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L06- v36 Sixth Floor Plan With Landscape  

Proposed block plans 
2787_GA-P-A.1  v36 Block A Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-A.2  v36 Block A Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-A.3  v36 Block A Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor 
2787_GA-P-A.4  v36 Block A Floor Plans - Sixth Floor 

2787_GA-P-B.1  v36 Block B Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-B.2  v36 Block B Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-B.3  v36 Block B Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor 
2787_GA-P-B.4  v36 Block B Floor Plans - Sixth Floor

2787_GA-P-C.1 v36 Block C Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-C.2 v36 Block C Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor
2787_GA-P-C.3 v36 Block C Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor
2787_GA-P-C.4 v36Block C Floor Plans - Sixth Floor 

2787_GA-P-D.1 v36 Block D Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-D.2 v36 Block D Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-D.3 v36 Block D Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor

2787_GA-P-E.1 v36 Block E Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-E.2 v36 Block E Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-E.3 v36 Block E Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor

2787_GA-P-F.1 v36 Block F Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-F.2 v36 Block F Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-F.3 v36 Block F Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor

2787_GA-P-G.1 v36 Block G Floor Plans

2787_GA-P-S-L00 v36 Stadium Ground Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-S-L01 v36 Stadium First Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-S-L02 v36 Stadium Second Floor Plan

2787_GA-S-A-F  v36 Blocks A-F 

244



2787_GA-S-A+D+G v36 Blocks A, D and G 
2787_GA-S-B+E+G  v36 Blocks B, E and G
2787_GA-S-C+F  v36 Blocks C and F 
2787_GA-S-A+D-1 v36  Blocks A+D_1 
2787_GA-S-A+D-2 v36 Blocks A+D_2 
2787_GA-S-B+E-1 v36 Blocks B+E_1 
2787_GA-S-B+E-2  v36 Blocks B+E_2 
2787_GA-S-C v36  Blocks C
2787_GA-S-G v36 Block G 
2787_GA-S-S01 v36 Stadium Section 01 
2787_GA-S-S02 v36 Stadium Section 02 
2787_GA-S-S03 v36 Stadium Section 03 
2787_GA-S-S04 v36 Stadium Section 04 
2787_GA-S-S05 v36 Stadium Section 05 
2787_GA-S-S06 v36 Section through pitch 06 
2787_GA-S-S07 v36 Section through pitch 07 
2787_GA-S-S08 v36 Section through pitch 08 
2787_GA-S-S09 v36 Section through pitch 09
2787_GA-S-S10 v36 Section through pitch 10
2787_GA_S_ST+A 1 v36  Section through Stadium + Block A 
2787_GA_S_ST+A 2 v36 Section through Stadium + Block A 
2787_GA_S_ST+A 3 v36 Section through Stadium + Block A

Proposed elevations 
2787_GA-E-1+2  v36 Contextual Elevations NE & NW 
2787_GA-E-3+4 v36 Contextual Elevations SE & SW 
2787_GA-E-A+D v36 Blocks A & D - SW & NE Elevations 
2787_GA-E-B+E v36 Blocks B & E - SW & NE Elevations 
2787_GA-E-B+E v36 Blocks C & F - SW & NE Elevations 
2787_GA-E-A.1+2 v36 Block A Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-A.3+4 v36 Block A Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-B.5+6  v36 Block B Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-B.7+8  v36 Block B Elevations NW & NE
2787_GA-E-C.9+10  v36 Block C Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-C.11+12  v36  Block C Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-D.13+14  v36 Block D Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-D.15+16 v36  Block D Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-E.17+18 v36 Block E Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-E.19+20 v36 Block E Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-F.21+22 v36 Block F Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-F.23+24 v36 Block F Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-G v36 Block G Elevations 
2787_GA-E-S01 v36 Stadium Elevation North East 
2787_GA-E-S02 v36 Stadium Elevation North West 
2787_GA-E-S03 v36 Stadium Elevation South East 
2787_GA-E-S04 v36 Stadium Elevation South West

2787_D_19 v36 Ground floor site levels
2787_D_20 v36 Roof levels  
2787_D-21 v36 Ground floor stadium site levels  

Supporting documents 

2787_GA-SP-L00-EX Site Plan with existing survey overlay
2787-D-58 D-58 v36 Stadium Site 
2787-D-58 D-58 v36 Residential Site 
Air Quality Assessment
Arboricultural Report, Impact Assessment & Method Assessment v2
Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment

245



BREEAM Pre-Assessment Summary Report
Bike Schedule v36 
Building Condition Survey Report and Budget Cost Plan, (including Planned and Preventative 
Maintenance Report)
Car Parking Design and Management Plan
Construction Environment Management Plan (including Construction Logistics Plan)
Construction Logistics Plan
Contaminated Land Desk Study
Daylight/Sunlight and Overshadowing Assessment and updated report (Feb 2020, dated 18.02.20)
Sunlight Amenity Study April 2020
Delivery and Servicing Plan
Design and Access Statement and Addendum Feb 2020
DHFC Lighting Performance Report
Ecological Assessment
Economic Benefits Assessment
External Pitch Lighting Assessment
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy May 2020 
Framework Travel Plan
Landscape Design Statement 
Landscape Planting Masterplan: SLD-UD100-LP1-RevD
Landscape Masterplan: SLD-UD100-LM1-RevN  
Matchday Pedestrian Assessment Transport Note
MEP & Energy Statement (including overheating assessment) Rev P4 July 2020 
Noise Impact Assessment
Outline Site Waste Management Strategy
Playspace strategy: SLD-UD100-SPS1-RevC
Response to Sport England and the Football Foundation, including: 
1) Appendix 1 - Draft Community Use Agreement 
2) Appendix 2 - Management and Maintenance Plan 
3) Appendix 3 - Business Case  
Schedule of Areas V36 (22.06.20)
Schedule of Areas - 219 Units - 35% affordable
Sporting Needs Case
Statement of Community Involvement
Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment including Verified Views V2 and Addendums Jan 2020 
and Feb 2020.
Transport Assessment 
Viability Appraisal V2 (dated April 2020, submitted 06.04.20)

Definitions: 
"Above-Grade" means any construction works above ground level.

"Development" means the Development permitted by the Planning Permission. 

“Residential Development” – means residential Blocks A - G and their associated Public Realm 
shown on PLAN 2787-D-59 Rev. V36 

“Stadium Development” – means the stadium building, pitch and associated Public Realm shown on 
PLAN 2787-D-58 Rev. V36 

"Public Realm" means the network of spaces between the buildings within the Development that can 
be freely accessed by the public, including communal amenity space, play space, roads and 
pedestrian areas, cycle routes and open space.

1. Approved Plans
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with 
the following approved plans:

Proposed 
2787_GA_SP-L00  v36 Site Plan

246



Site Plans
2787_GA-P-L00 v36 Ground Floor Plan
2787_GA-P-L00-02 v36 Ground Floor Plan-02
2787_GA-P-L01 v36 First Floor Plan
2787_GA-P-L02 v36 Second Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-L03 v36 Third Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-L04 v36 Fourth Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-L05 v36 Fifth Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-L06 v36 Sixth Floor Plan
2787_GA-P-S-L00-250 v36 Stadium Ground Floor Plan
2787_GA-P-S-L01-250 v36 Stadium First Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-S-L02-250 v36 Stadium Second Floor Plan

Site plans with landscape
2787_GA-P-L00- v36 Ground Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-ST-L00- v36 Stadium Ground Floor Plan With Landscape
2787_GA-P-L01-  v36 First Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L02- v36 Second Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L03- v36 Third Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L04- v36 Fourth Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L05-  v36 Fifth Floor Plan With Landscape 
2787_GA-P-L06- v36 Sixth Floor Plan With Landscape  

Proposed block plans 
2787_GA-P-A.1  v36 Block A Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-A.2  v36 Block A Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-A.3  v36 Block A Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor 
2787_GA-P-A.4  v36 Block A Floor Plans - Sixth Floor 

2787_GA-P-B.1  v36 Block B Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-B.2  v36 Block B Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-B.3  v36 Block B Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor 
2787_GA-P-B.4  v36 Block B Floor Plans - Sixth Floor

2787_GA-P-C.1 v36 Block C Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-C.2 v36 Block C Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor
2787_GA-P-C.3 v36 Block C Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor
2787_GA-P-C.4 v36Block C Floor Plans - Sixth Floor 

2787_GA-P-D.1 v36 Block D Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-D.2 v36 Block D Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-D.3 v36 Block D Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor

2787_GA-P-E.1 v36 Block E Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-E.2 v36 Block E Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-E.3 v36 Block E Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor

2787_GA-P-F.1 v36 Block F Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor 
2787_GA-P-F.2 v36 Block F Floor Plans - Second and Third Floor 
2787_GA-P-F.3 v36 Block F Floor Plans - Fourth and Fifth Floor

2787_GA-P-G.1 v36 Block G Floor Plans

2787_GA-P-S-L00 v36 Stadium Ground Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-S-L01 v36 Stadium First Floor Plan 
2787_GA-P-S-L02 v36 Stadium Second Floor Plan

247



2787_GA-S-A-F  v36 Blocks A-F 
2787_GA-S-A+D+G v36 Blocks A, D and G 
2787_GA-S-B+E+G  v36 Blocks B, E and G
2787_GA-S-C+F  v36 Blocks C and F 
2787_GA-S-A+D-1 v36  Blocks A+D_1 
2787_GA-S-A+D-2 v36 Blocks A+D_2 
2787_GA-S-B+E-1 v36 Blocks B+E_1 
2787_GA-S-B+E-2  v36 Blocks B+E_2 
2787_GA-S-C v36  Blocks C
2787_GA-S-G v36 Block G 
2787_GA-S-S01 v36 Stadium Section 01 
2787_GA-S-S02 v36 Stadium Section 02 
2787_GA-S-S03 v36 Stadium Section 03 
2787_GA-S-S04 v36 Stadium Section 04 
2787_GA-S-S05 v36 Stadium Section 05 
2787_GA-S-S06 v36 Section through pitch 06 
2787_GA-S-S07 v36 Section through pitch 07 
2787_GA-S-S08 v36 Section through pitch 08 
2787_GA-S-S09 v36 Section through pitch 09
2787_GA-S-S10 v36 Section through pitch 10
2787_GA_S_ST+A 1 v36  Section through Stadium + Block A 
2787_GA_S_ST+A 2 v36 Section through Stadium + Block A 
2787_GA_S_ST+A 3 v36 Section through Stadium + Block A

Proposed elevations 
2787_GA-E-1+2  v36 Contextual Elevations NE & NW 
2787_GA-E-3+4 v36 Contextual Elevations SE & SW 
2787_GA-E-A+D v36 Blocks A & D - SW & NE Elevations 
2787_GA-E-B+E v36 Blocks B & E - SW & NE Elevations 
2787_GA-E-B+E v36 Blocks C & F - SW & NE Elevations 
2787_GA-E-A.1+2 v36 Block A Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-A.3+4 v36 Block A Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-B.5+6  v36 Block B Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-B.7+8  v36 Block B Elevations NW & NE
2787_GA-E-C.9+10  v36 Block C Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-C.11+12  v36  Block C Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-D.13+14  v36 Block D Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-D.15+16 v36  Block D Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-E.17+18 v36 Block E Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-E.19+20 v36 Block E Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-F.21+22 v36 Block F Elevations SW & SE 
2787_GA-E-F.23+24 v36 Block F Elevations NW & NE 
2787_GA-E-G v36 Block G Elevations 
2787_GA-E-S01 v36 Stadium Elevation North East 
2787_GA-E-S02 v36 Stadium Elevation North West 
2787_GA-E-S03 v36 Stadium Elevation South East 
2787_GA-E-S04 v36 Stadium Elevation South West

2787_D_19 v36 Ground floor site levels
2787_D_20 v36 Roof levels  
2787_D-21 v36 Ground floor stadium site levels  

Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2. Time Limit

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the end of three years from the date 

248



of this permission.

Reason:
As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended

Pre-commencement condition(s) - the details required to be submitted for approval by the 
condition(s) listed below must be submitted to and approved by the council before any work in 
connection with implementing this permission is commenced.

3. Sustainable drainage
Prior to the commencement of any part of the development (excluding demolition), a final 
detailed surface water drainage strategy incorporating Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
for the stadium and residential development shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 
approval in writing, including detailed design, size and location of attenuation units and details 
of flow control measures.  The strategy should achieve the greenfield runoff rate of 10 litres/ 
second.  The site drainage must be constructed to the approved details.

Reason:
To minimise the potential of the site to contribute to surface water flooding in accordance with 
Saved Policy 3.9 Water of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policy 13 High environmental 
standards of the Core Strategy (2011), Policy 5.12 Flood Risk Management of the London Plan 
(2016) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

4. Tree Protection 
Prior to works commencing of any part of the development, including any demolition, an 
Arboricultural Method Statement including an Arboricultural Survey for the whole site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

a) A pre-commencement meeting shall be arranged, the details of which shall be notified to the 
Local Planning Authority for agreement in writing prior to the meeting and prior to works 
commencing on site, including any demolition, changes to ground levels, pruning or tree 
removal. 

b) A detailed Arboricultural Method Statement showing the means by which any retained trees 
on or directly adjacent to the site are to be protected from damage by demolition works, 
excavation, vehicles, stored or stacked building supplies, waste or other materials, and building 
plant, scaffolding or other equipment, shall then be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The method statements shall include details of facilitative pruning 
specifications and a supervision schedule overseen by an accredited arboricultural consultant.

c) Cross sections shall be provided to show surface and other changes to levels, special 
engineering or construction details and any proposed activity within root protection areas 
required in order to facilitate demolition, construction and excavation.  

The existing trees on or adjoining the site which are to be retained shall be protected and both 
the site and trees managed in accordance with the recommendations contained in the method 
statement. Following the pre-commencement meeting all tree protection measures shall be 
installed, carried out and retained throughout the period of the works, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  In any case, all works must adhere to BS5837: 
(2012) Trees in relation to demolition, design and construction and BS3998: (2010) Tree work - 
recommendations.

If within the expiration of 5 years from the date of the occupation of the building for its permitted 
use any retained tree is removed, uprooted is destroyed or dies, another tree shall be planted at 
the same place and that tree shall be of such size and species, and shall be planted at such 
time, as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason
To avoid damage to the existing trees which represent an important visual amenity in the area, 

249



in accordance with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of amenity; 3.12 Quality in Design; 3.13 Urban 
Design and 3.28 Biodiversity of The Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policies SP11 Open 
spaces and nature conservation, SP12 Design and conservation and SP13 High Environmental 
Standards of the Core Strategy (2011) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

5. Tree Planting
Prior to the commencement of work for any part of the development, and subject to Section 278 
negotiations with the London Borough of Southwark full details of all proposed tree and shrub 
planting as shown in the approved plan SLD-UD100-LP1 (meeting the minimum number of 
trees shown on that same plan) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This will include tree pit cross sections, planting and maintenance 
specifications, use of guards or other protective measures and confirmation of location, species, 
sizes, nursery stock type and defect period.  It shall also include a phasing plan for the planting 
of trees. All tree planting shall be carried out in accordance with those details and at those 
times. Planting shall comply with BS5837: Trees in relation to demolition, design and 
construction (2012) and BS: 4428 Code of practice for general landscaping operations. 

If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree that tree, or any tree 
planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, or becomes, in the 
opinion of the local planning authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same 
species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place in the first suitable 
planting season., unless the local planning authority gives its written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure the proposed development will preserve and enhance the visual amenities 
of the locality and is designed for the maximum benefit of local biodiversity, in addition to the 
attenuation of surface water runoff in accordance with Saved Policies Policy 3.2 Protection of 
amenity; Policy 3.12 Quality in Design; Policy 3.13 Urban Design and Policy 3.28 Biodiversity of 
The Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic policies SP11 Open spaces and wildlife; SP12 Design 
and conservation and SP13 High environmental standards of The Core Strategy (2011) The 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

Commencement of works above grade - the details required to be submitted for approval by the 
condition(s) listed below must be submitted to and approved by the council before any work 
above grade is commenced. The term 'above grade' here means any works above ground level.

6. Material samples and mock up 
Prior to commencement of works above grade for the stadium development, sample panels of 
all external facing materials to be used in the construction of the building(s) shall be presented 
on site (or an alternative location agreed with the local planning authority) and a detailed 
schedule of such materials submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing.  A 
typical elevational mock-up of the development façades to be used in the carrying out of this 
permission shall be presented on site and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with any such approval 
given. These samples must demonstrate how the proposal makes a contextual response in 
terms of materials to be used.

The development shall not proceed other than in accordance with any such approval given.

Reason:
In order that the local planning authority can be satisfied that the consented development will be 
delivered to a high quality and makes an appropriate contextual response to the site in 
accordance with Saved Policy 3.12 Quality in design of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic 
Policy SP12 Design and Conservation of the Core Strategy (2011), Policies 7.4 Local character 
and 7.6 Architecture of the London Plan (2016) and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019.  

7. Detailed sections
Prior to the commencement of works above grade for the stadium development, typical section 
drawings at a scale of 1:10 through the following building elements shall be submitted to the 

250



local planning authority for approval in writing:
 The facades
 Parapets and roof edges
 Terraces
 Entrances to internal servicing yards
 Heads, cills and jambs of all openings

The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with any such approval 
given.

Reason:
In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that the consented buildings will be 
constructed with the necessary level of technical expertise to achieve the high quality 
architecture presented in the application material in accordance with  Saved Policy 3.12 Quality 
in design of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policy SP12 Design and Conservation of the 
Core Strategy (2011), Policies 7.4 Local character and 7.6 Architecture of the London Plan 
(2016) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

8. Hard and soft landscaping and play space
Before any above grade work hereby authorised begins for the stadium development and 
residential development, detailed drawings of a hard and soft landscaping scheme for all areas 
of the site not covered by buildings shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 
approval in writing. 

Details will include cross sections and plans, detailed planting specifications, surfacing materials 
of any parking, access or pathways layouts, materials, design of play space and equipment, 
details of the gates and railings into the ground floor communal gardens, details of sustainable 
drainage or other water features and details of the treatment of the edges/boundaries or other 
means of enclosure. A Landscape phasing plan detailing the implementation of landscaping 
works shall also be submitted and approved in writing.  

The landscaping for the relevant part of the development shall not be carried out otherwise than 
in accordance with any such approval given and shall be retained and maintained for the 
duration of the use. The completion of the landscaping shall be in line with the above phasing 
plan.  

The planting, seeding and/or turfing shall be carried out in the first planting season following 
completion of building works and any trees or shrubs that is found to be dead, dying, severely 
damaged or diseased within five years of the completion of the building works OR five years of 
the carrying out of the landscaping scheme (whichever is later), shall be replaced in the next 
planting season by specimens of the same size and species in the first suitable planting season. 
Planting shall comply to BS: 4428 Code of practice for general landscaping operations, BS: 
5837 (2012) Trees in relation to demolition, design and construction and BS 7370-4:1993 
Grounds maintenance Recommendations for maintenance of soft landscape (other than 
amenity turf).

Reason:
So that the Council may be satisfied with the details of the landscaping scheme in accordance 
with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of amenity; 3.12 Quality in Design; 3.13 Urban Design and 
3.28 Biodiversity of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic policies SP11 Open spaces and 
wildlife; SP12 Design and conservation; SP13 High environmental standards of The Core 
Strategy (2011) and The National Planning Policy Framework 2019.
 

9. Ecological Mitigation and Management Plan 
Prior to the commencement of works above grade for any part of the development, an 
Ecological Mitigation and Management Plan (EMMP) shall be submitted to, and be approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The EMMP shall identify habitats to be retained, 
enhanced and created with specific details (numbers, locations, specification and design of the 
habits) for proposed nesting and roosting features, including no less than 8 mixed nest boxes, 
10 bat tubes,12 swift bricks, 3 insect boxes and 4 hedgerow hedgehog houses. The EMMP 

251



shall detail appropriate and proportionate measures to safeguard protected and priority species. 
The features shall be installed within the development prior to the first occupation of the building 
to which they form part or the first use of the space in which they are contained.

The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and 
objectives of the EMMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be 
identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning 
biodiversity objectives of the approved development. The approved plan will be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Ecological mitigation shall be installed strictly in accordance with the details so approved an 
shall be maintained as such thereafter.

Reason:
To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision towards creation of 
habitats and valuable areas for biodiversity in accordance with Saved Policy 3.28 Biodiversity of 
the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 11 Open spaces and wildlife of the Core Strategy 
(2011) and Policy 7.19 of the London Plan (2016) and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019.  

10. Details of fence
Prior to the commencement of works above grade of the stadium building hereby permitted 
begins, details of the perimeter fencing including the canvas banners around the pitch  shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved 
fencing for the stadium shall be provided prior to the first use of the pitch and shall thereafter be 
retained.  

Reason:
In order that the local planning authority can be satisfied that the consented development will be 
delivered to a high quality and the proposal would have limited impact on the Metropolitan Open 
Land in accordance with Saved Policy 3.25 Metropolitan Open Land of the Southwark Plan 
(2007), Strategic Policy Strategic Policy 4  Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles 
of the Core Strategy (2011), 7.17 Metropolitan Open Land of the London Plan (2016) and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

11. Security
Before any above grade work of the stadium development hereby authorised begins, details of 
security measures, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 
Any such security measures shall be implemented/installed prior to the occupation of the 
building(s) hereby consented in accordance with the approved details, which shall seek to 
achieve the 'Secured by Design' accreditation award from the Metropolitan Police. 

Reason:
In pursuance of the Local Planning Authority's duty under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998 to consider crime and disorder implications in exercising its planning functions and to 
improve community safety and crime prevention in accordance with Saved Policy 3.14 
Designing out crime of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policy 12 Design and conservation 
of the Core Strategy (2011) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

12. Cycle Storage
Before any above grade work hereby authorised begins for the stadium, the following shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the relevant part of the 
development:
i) 1:50 scale drawings of the facilities to be provided for the secure and covered storage of 
cycles for staff and users of the stadium facilities.

Thereafter the cycle parking facilities provided shall be retained and the space used for no other 
purpose and the development shall not be carried out otherwise in accordance with any such 
approval given.

252



Reason:
In order to ensure that satisfactory safe and secure cycle parking facilities are provided and 
retained in order to encourage the use of cycling as an alternative means of transport to the 
development and to reduce reliance on the use of the private car in accordance with Saved 
Policy 5.3 Walking and Cycling of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 2 Sustainable 
Transport of The Core Strategy (2011); Policy 6.9 of the London Plan (2016) and The National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

Pre-occupation condition(s) - the details required to be submitted for approval by the 
condition(s) listed below must be submitted to and approved by the council before the 
building(s) hereby permitted are occupied or the use hereby permitted is commenced.

13. Artificial pitch certification 
Use of the stadium or pitch shall not commence until:

(a) certification that the Artificial Grass Pitch hereby permitted has met FIFA Quality 
Programme for Football Turf – FIFA Quality Pro or equivalent International Artificial Turf 
Standard (IMS); and

(b) confirmation that the facility has been registered on the Football Association’s Register 
of Football Turf Pitches have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason: 
To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable, provides sporting benefits and to 
accord with Strategic Policy 4 Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles of the Core 
Strategy (2011) and 3.19 Sports facilities of the London Plan (2016).

14. PA System 
Prior to the first use of the public address system associated with the stadium development, 
details of the public address system proposed to be used shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority together with a noise impact assessment on local residential premises 
resulting from its use for announcements and music. The assessment shall indicate any 
mitigation to be incorporated to minimise the noise impacts including but not restricted to: the 
location, orientation and types of loudspeakers; maximum noise levels at the site boundary; 
and, times & frequency of use.

Reason:
To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residential properties in accordance with Saved 
Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 13 High 
environmental standards of The Core Strategy (2011) and The National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

15. Lighting Pitch
Prior to the first use of the football pitch, artificial lighting shall be installed and utilised in 
accordance with the submitted Lighting Performance Report by EQ2Light, January 2020, so as 
to meet the Institute of Lighting Professionals (ILE) Guidance for the Reduction of Obtrusive 
Light (January 2012) at all residential premises.

Reason:
To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residential properties in accordance with Saved 
Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 13 High 
environmental standards of The Core Strategy (2011) and The National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

16. Drainage Maintenance 
Prior to occupation of any part of the development, a maintenance schedule in line with the 
approved drainage design detailing the frequency and method of maintaining the drainage 
infrastructure so that its functionality in the future is maintained to the standard specified in the 
drainage strategy shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing.  The 
development shall not be carried out otherwise in accordance with any such approval given.  

253



Reason:  
To minimise the potential of the site to contribute to surface water flooding in accordance with 
Saved Policy 3.9 Water of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policy 13 High environmental 
standards of the Core Strategy (2011), Policy 5.12 Flood Risk Management of the London Plan 
(2016) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

17. BREEAM
Prior to any fit out works to the stadium building hereby authorised begins, an independently 
verified BREEAM report (detailing performance in each category, overall score, BREEAM rating 
and a BREEAM certificate of building performance) to achieve a minimum 'Very Good' rating 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the 
development shall not then be carried out otherwise than in accordance with any such approval 
given. 

Within 3 months of the first occupation of the stadium development hereby permitted, a certified 
Post Construction Review (or other verification process agreed with the local planning authority) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, confirming that 
the agreed standards have been met.

Reason:
To ensure the proposal complies with Saved Policies 3.3 Sustainability and 3.4 Energy 
Efficiency of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of 
The Core Strategy (2011); Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction of the London Plan 
(2016) and The National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

18. Refuse store stadium 
Before the first occupation of the stadium building hereby permitted begins, details of the 
arrangements for the storing of refuse for the stadium building shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved refuse storage 
facilities for the stadium building shall be provided and made available for use by the occupiers 
of the building and the facilities shall thereafter be retained and shall not be used or the space 
used for any other purpose.

Reason:
To ensure that the refuse will be appropriately stored within the site thereby protecting the 
amenity of the site and the area in general from litter, odour and potential vermin/pest nuisance 
in accordance with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of Amenity and 3.7 Waste Reduction of the 
Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 
(2011) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

19. External lighting -  Stadium building public realm
Prior to occupation of the stadium building, details of any external lighting (including design, 
specification, power) to be installed in any adjoining public realm shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority for approval in writing. Submitted details shall include lighting contours to 
demonstrate lighting intensity levels at any nearby sensitive residential or ecological receptors, 
having regard to guidance published by the Institute of Lighting Professionals (ILE), where 
relevant. 

Reason:
In order that the council may be satisfied that external lighting is appropriately designed and 
located to balance the safe illumination of the public realm with the amenity of existing/future 
residential occupiers,  in accordance with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of amenity; 3.14 
Designing out crime and 3.28 Biodiversity of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policies 
SP10 Open Spaces and wildlife, SP12 Design and conservation and SP13 High environmental 
standards of the Core Strategy (2011) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.  

Compliance condition(s) - the following condition(s) impose restrictions and/or other 
requirements that must be complied with at all times once the permission has been 
implemented.

254



20. Stadium Design 
The football stadium hereby permitted shall not be constructed other than in accordance with 
Sport England/National Governing Body Technical Design Guidance Notes including the Sport 
England Design and Cost Guidance and The FA Guide to 3G Football Turf Pitch Design 
Principles and Layouts.

Reason: 
To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord with Strategic Policy 
4 Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles of the Core Strategy (2011) and Policy 
3.19 Sports facilities of the London Plan (2016).

21. Electric Vehicle Charging Points
All of the on-site accessible parking bays shall be provided with active electric car charging 
facilities prior to occupation..

Reason:
To encourage more sustainable travel, in accordance with Saved Policies 3.1 Environmental 
Effects and 5.2 Transport Impacts of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 2 Sustainable 
Transport of the Core Strategy (2011), and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

22. Hours of use football pitch 
The use of the football pitch and associated lighting shall not be carried out outside of the hours 
of 08:00 to 22:00 Mondays to Saturdays and 08:00 to 20:00 hours on Sundays.  For scheduled 
cup matches recognised by the Football Association, the use of the football pitch and 
associated lighting shall not be carried outside of the hours of 08:00 to 22:30 Mondays to 
Saturdays and 08:00 to 20:00 hours on Sundays that may require extra time. The Public 
Address system shall not be used other than for Dulwich Hamlet FC games.  .  

Reason:
To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residential properties in accordance with Saved 
Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan (2007),  Strategic Policy 13 High 
environmental standards of The Core Strategy (2011) and The National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019

23. Plant noise 
The Rated sound level from any plant of any part of the development, together with any 
associated ducting shall not exceed the Background sound level (LA90 15min) at the nearest 
noise sensitive premises.  Furthermore, the Specific plant sound level shall be 10dB(A) or more 
below the background sound level in this location.  For the purposes of this condition the 
Background, Rating and Specific Sound levels shall be calculated fully in accordance with the 
methodology of BS4142:2014 + A1:2019. Prior to the first use of plant (other than for the 
purposes of validation testing) a validation test shall be carried out following completion of the 
development. The results shall be submitted to the LPA for approval in writing. The plant and 
equipment shall be installed and constructed in accordance with the approval given and shall be 
permanently maintained thereafter.

Reason:
To ensure that occupiers of neighbouring premises do not suffer a loss of amenity by reason of 
noise nuisance or the local environment from noise creep due to plant and machinery in 
accordance with Saved Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan (2007); 
Strategic Policy 13 High environmental standards of The Core Strategy (2011) and The National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

24. Roof Plant, Equipment or Other Structures,
No roof plant, equipment or other structures, other than as shown on the plans hereby 
approved, approved pursuant to a condition of this permission, or approved (prior to installation) 
pursuant to this condition shall be placed on the roof or be permitted to project above the 
roofline of any part of the buildings as shown on elevational drawings or shall be permitted to 
extend outside of the roof plant enclosures of any buildings hereby permitted. Any approved 

255



plant, equipment or other structures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason:
In order to ensure that no additional plant is placed on the roof of the building in the interest of 
the appearance and design of the building and the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 
Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of Amenity and 3.13 Urban Design of the Southwark Plan (2007); 
Strategic Policy 12 Design and Conservation of The Core Strategy (2011) and The National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

25. Fencing hours 
The use of the canvas banners around the approved perimeter fence shall only be used for 
competitive matches recognised by the Football Association on match days and for a maximum 
of 5 hours on that day. The canvas banners shall not be used at any other times. 

Reason
In order that the local planning authority can be satisfied that the consented development will be 
delivered to a high quality and the proposal would have limited impact on the Metropolitan Open 
Land in accordance with Saved Policy 3.25 Metropolitan Open Land of the Southwark Plan 
(2007), Strategic Policy Strategic Policy 4  Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles 
of the Core Strategy (2011), 7.17 Metropolitan Open Land of the London Plan (2016) and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019.   

26. Energy Efficiency
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to include the energy efficiency 
measures, air source heat pumps and photovoltaic panels as stated in the approved Energy 
Statement submitted in support of the application. All measures and technologies shall remain 
for as long as the development is occupied, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: 
To ensure the development complies with, Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of 
the Core Strategy (2011) and Policy 5.7 Renewable Energy of the London Plan (2016) and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

Other condition(s) - the following condition(s) are to be complied with and discharged in 
accordance with the individual requirements specified in the condition(s).

27. Contamination
In the event that potential contamination is found at any time when carrying out any part of the 
approved development, it shall be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority, and a scheme of investigation and risk assessment, a remediation strategy to be 
implemented and a post-remediation verification report (if required) shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 

Reason:
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring 
land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, 
and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with Saved policy 3.2 Protection 
of amenity of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic policy 13 High environmental standards of 
the Core Strategy (2011) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

The following conditions shall be discharged for the Residential Development unless specified 
above. 

Commencement of works above grade - the details required to be submitted for approval by the 
condition(s) listed below must be submitted to and approved by the council before any work 
above grade is commenced. The term 'above grade' here means any works above ground level.

256



28. Material samples and mock up 
Prior to commencement of works above grade for the residential development, sample panels of 
all external facing materials to be used in the construction of the building(s) shall be presented 
on site (or an alternative location agreed with the local planning authority) and a detailed 
schedule of such materials submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing.  A 
typical elevational mock-up of the development façades to be used in the carrying out of this 
permission shall be presented on site and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with any such approval 
given. These samples must demonstrate how the proposal makes a contextual response in 
terms of materials to be used.

The development shall not proceed other than in accordance with any such approval given.

Reason:
In order that the local planning authority can be satisfied that the consented development will be 
delivered to a high quality and makes an appropriate contextual response to the site in 
accordance with Saved Policy 3.12 Quality in design of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic 
Policy SP12 Design and Conservation of the Core Strategy (2011), Policies 7.4 Local character 
and 7.6 Architecture of the London Plan (2016) and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019.

29. Detailed sections
Prior to the commencement of works above grade for the residential development, typical 
section drawings at a scale of 1:10 through the following building elements shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority for approval in writing:
• The facades
• Parapets and roof edges
• Balconies
• Entrances to internal servicing yards
• Heads, cills and jambs of typical openings

The residential development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with any such 
approval given.

Reason:
In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that the consented buildings will be 
constructed with the necessary level of technical expertise to achieve the high quality 
architecture presented in the application material in accordance with Saved Policy 3.12 Quality 
in design of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policy SP12 Design and Conservation of the 
Core Strategy (2011), Policies 7.4 Local character and 7.6 Architecture of the London Plan 
(2016) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

30. Play
Before any above grade work of the residential development hereby authorised begins within 
the public realm the applicant shall submit details of all the play spaces proposed, including 1:50 
scale detailed drawings for approval by the Local Planning Authority.  The play equipment shall 
be provided in accordance with the details thereby approved prior to the occupation of 90% the 
residential units.  

All ground level playspace within the development shall be available to all residential occupiers 
of the development in perpetuity.  

Reason: 
In order that the Council may be satisfied with the details of the play strategy, in accordance 
with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of amenity; Policy 3.12 Quality in Design; Policy 3.13 Urban 
Design; and 4.2 Quality of residential accommodation of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic 
policies SP11 Open spaces and wildlife and SP12 Design and conservation of The Core 
Strategy (2011) and Policy 3.6 Children and young people's play and informal recreation 
facilities of the London Plan (2016) and The National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

257



31. Landscape management plan 
Before above grade work for the residential development hereby authorised begins a landscape 
management plan including long-term design objectives, management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas (except privately owned domestic gardens), 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscape 
management plan shall be carried out as approved and any subsequent variations shall be 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: 
This condition is necessary to ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat and 
secure opportunities for the enhancement of the nature conservation value of the site and in 
accordance with Saved Policy 3.28 Biodiversity of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 
11 Open spaces and wildlife of the Core Strategy (2011) and Policy 7.19 of the London Plan 
(2016) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

32. Biodiverse roofs
Before any works above grade of the residential development commences, detailed plans, 
sections and specifications for the brown and green roofs to be installed on the residential 
buildings shall be submitted the local planning authority for approval in writing. Details shall 
include :
• The depth of substrate (depth between 80-150mm);
• The incorporation of measures to maximise the habitat value of the roof;

The roofs shall be laid out in accordance with agreed plans; and planted/seeded with an agreed 
mix of species within the first planting season following the practical completion of the building 
works (focused on wildflower planting, and no more than a maximum of 25% sedum coverage).

These roofs will not be used as recreational spaces and access will be limited to essential 
maintenance or escape in the case of emergency.

The green, brown and blue roofs shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details 
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter. 

Reason:
To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision towards creation of 
habitats and valuable areas for biodiversity in accordance with Saved Policy 3.28 Biodiversity of 
the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 11 Open spaces and wildlife of the Core Strategy 
(2011) and Policies 5.10 Urban Greening; 5.11 Green roofs and development site environs; 
7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature of the London Plan (2016) and the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019.   

33. Security
Prior to occupation of the residential development hereby authorised, details of security 
measures, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. Any such 
security measures shall be implemented/installed prior to the occupation of the building(s) 
hereby consented in accordance with the approved details, which shall seek to achieve the 
'Secured by Design' accreditation award from the Metropolitan Police. 

Reason:
In pursuance of the Local Planning Authority's duty under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998 to consider crime and disorder implications in exercising its planning functions and to 
improve community safety and crime prevention in accordance with Saved Policy 3.14 
Designing out crime of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policy 12 Design and conservation 
of the Core Strategy (2011); Policy 7.3 Designing out crime of the London Plan (2016) and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

34. Kick-about space design 
Prior to the commencement of the residential development above grade, details of the design 
and layout of kick-about space in Block G shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority after consultation with Sport England and Metropolitan Police Design 

258



Adviser.   This shall include details of the surfacing, boundary treatment, the materials to be 
used and acoustic properties. The approved detailed design will be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details prior to occupation of any of the residential units.

Reason:
To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and that the occupiers and users 
of the proposed development do not suffer a loss of amenity by reason of noise in accordance 
with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of Amenity; 3.14 Designing out crime of the Southwark Plan 
(2007), Strategic Policy 4 Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles;  SP12 Design 
and conservation; SP13 High environmental standards of the Core Strategy (2011); Policies 
3.19 Sports facilities; Policy 7.3 Designing out crime of the London Plan (2016) and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

35. On-site Parking
Prior to the occupation of Blocks A, B and C of the residential development, at least 4 No. on-
site wheelchair accessible parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the approved 
plan.  

Prior to the occupation of Blocks D, E and F, all of the remaining on-site wheelchair accessible 
parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the approved plan. 

Thereafter the car parking facilities shall be retained and the space used for no other purpose 
and the development shall not be carried out otherwise in accordance with any such approval 
given.

Reason:
In order to ensure that satisfactory car parking facilities are provided for disabled residents, the 
re-provided car hire business and the proposed car club, in accordance with Saved Policies 5.5 
Car Parking, 5.7 Parking Standards for disabled people and the mobility impaired and 5.8 Other 
Parking of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 2 Sustainable Transport of The Core 
Strategy (2011); Policy 6.13 Parking of the London Plan (2016) and The National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019,

36. Residential cycle parking
Before any above grade work hereby authorised begins for the residential development, the 
following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the 
residential part of the development:
i) 1:50 scale drawings of the facilities to be provided for the secure and covered storage of 
cycles of residents and their visitors.

Thereafter the cycle parking facilities provided shall be retained and the space used for no other 
purpose and the development shall not be carried out otherwise in accordance with any such 
approval given.

Reason:
In order to ensure that satisfactory safe and secure cycle parking facilities are provided and 
retained in order to encourage the use of cycling as an alternative means of transport to the 
development and to reduce reliance on the use of the private car in accordance with Saved 
Policy 5.3 Walking and Cycling of the Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 2 Sustainable 
Transport of The Core Strategy (2011); Policy 6.9 of the London Plan (2016) and The National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

37. Residential refuse store
Before the first occupation of the residential development hereby permitted begins, details of the 
arrangements for the storing of refuse for the residential buildings shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved refuse storage 
facilities for the residential buildings shall be provided and made available for use by the 
occupiers of the building and the facilities shall thereafter be retained and shall not be used or 
the space used for any other purpose.

259



Reason:
To ensure that the refuse will be appropriately stored within the site thereby protecting the 
amenity of the site and the area in general from litter, odour and potential vermin/pest nuisance 
in accordance with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of Amenity and 3.7 Waste Reduction of the 
Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 
(2011) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

Pre-occupation condition(s) - the details required to be submitted for approval by the 
condition(s) listed below must be submitted to and approved by the council before the 
building(s) hereby permitted are occupied or the use hereby permitted is commenced.

38. External lighting - kick-about space 
Prior to occupation of any of the residential buildings, details of the external lighting (including 
design, specification, power) to be affixed to the kick-about space in Block G shall be submitted 
to the local planning authority for approval in writing. Submitted details shall include lighting 
contours to demonstrate lighting intensity levels at any nearby sensitive residential receptors, 
having regard to guidance published by the Institute of Lighting Professionals (ILE), where 
relevant. The lighting shall not be used outside of the hours of 08:00 to 21:00 Mondays to 
Sundays.   

Reason:
In order that the council may be satisfied that external lighting is appropriate designed and 
located to balance the safe illumination of the public realm with the amenity of existing/future 
residential occupiers  in accordance with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of amenity;  3.14 
Designing out crime of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policies SP10 Open Spaces and 
wildlife, SP12 Design and conservation and SP13 High environmental standards of the Core 
Strategy (2011) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

39. External lighting -  Public realm
Prior to occupation of any of the residential buildings, details of any external lighting (including 
design, specification, power) to be installed in any adjoining public realm shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority for approval in writing. Submitted details shall include lighting 
contours to demonstrate lighting intensity levels at any nearby sensitive residential or ecological 
receptors, having regard to guidance published by the Institute of Lighting Professionals (ILE), 
where relevant. 

Reason:
In order that the council may be satisfied that external lighting is appropriate designed and 
located to balance the safe illumination of the public realm with the amenity of existing/future 
residential occupiers, in accordance with Saved Policies 3.2 Protection of amenity;  3.14 
Designing out crime of the Southwark Plan (2007), Strategic Policies SP10 Open Spaces and 
wildlife, SP12 Design and conservation and SP13 High environmental standards of the Core 
Strategy (2011) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

40. Ecology Enhancement Strategy
All of the measures for the mitigation of impact and enhancement of biodiversity set out in the 
submitted Ecological Assessment by Ecology Solutions, shall be implemented prior to 90% of 
the residential dwellings are occupied. 

Reason: 
To increase the biodiversity of the site, to mitigate any impact from the development hereby 
approved and to comply with Saved Policy 3.28 Biodiversity of the Southwark Plan (2007); 
Strategic Policy 11 Open spaces and wildlife of the Core Strategy (2011) and Policy; 7.19 
Biodiversity and access to nature of the London Plan (2016) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.   

Compliance condition(s) - the following condition(s) impose restrictions and/or other 
requirements that must be complied with at all times once the permission has been 
implemented. 

41. Wheelchair Units
Prior to occupation of any of the residential units, the applicant shall submit written confirmation 

260



from the appointed building control body that the specifications for each dwelling identified in the 
detailed construction plans meet the standard of the Approved Document M of the Building 
Regulations (2015) as below . The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
details thereby approved by the appointed building control body.

M4(3)(2a) 'accessible and adaptable':- 12 units 

M4 (3)(2b) 'wheelchair user dwellings'.-10 units 

The remaining units shall all be designed to achieve the M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable’ 
accessibility standard

Reason: 
In order to ensure the development complies with Strategic Policy 5 Providing new homes of the 
Core Strategy (2011); Policy 3.8 Housing choice of the London Plan (2016) and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

42. Water consumption
All residential units shall be designed and constructed to achieve a maximum potable water use 
target of 105L per person per day.

Reason:
To conserve water in accordance with Saved Policy 3.9 Water of the Southwark Plan (2007), 
Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy (2011); Policy 5.3 
Sustainable design and construction of the London Plan (2016).

43. Use of communal amenity spaces and facilities
All residents within the development shall be permitted equal access to any ground level 
communal amenity spaces proposed to serve residents.  The relevant communal amenity space 
approved for each block shall be available to all residential occupiers of that block in perpetuity.

Reason:
To ensure all residents have adequate and equitable access to high quality communal amenity 
space and other resident facilities in accordance with Saved policy 4.2 Quality of 
Accommodation of the Southwark Plan (2007) and the 2015 Technical Update to the  
Residential Design Standards SPD 2011.

44. Hours of use Kick-about space
The use of the kick-about space shall not be carried out outside of the hours of 08:00 to 21:00 
Mondays to Sundays, and it shall be locked outside of these hours.

Reason: 
To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residential properties in accordance with Saved 
Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic Policy 13 High 
environmental standards of The Core Strategy (2011) and The National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

45. Internal noise 
The dwellings hereby permitted shall be designed and constructed to ensure that the following 
internal noise levels are not exceeded due to environmental noise:
Bedrooms - 35dB LAeq T†, 30 dB LAeq T*, 45dB LAFmax T *
Living rooms- 35dB LAeq T †  
Dining room - 40 dB LAeq T †  
* - Night-time - 8 hours between 23:00-07:00
† - Daytime - 16 hours between 07:00-23:00

To achieve the above standard the recommendations for glazing given in Chapter 9 (Table 9.2 
and Figure 9.13) of the submitted Noise Assessment report by Mayer Brown, June 2019, should 
be implemented. This shall include the use of MVHR for all flats.

261



Balconies that face the Sainsbury’s site shall have solid, gap-free ballustrades and acoustically 
absorptive surfacing to soffits. 

An information pack shall be provided to all future residents or prospective residents providing 
details of the mitigation incorporated into the development to address impacts from noise.

Reason:
To ensure that the occupiers and users of the development do not suffer a loss of amenity by 
reason of excess noise from environmental and transportation sources in accordance with 
Saved policies 3.2 Protection of amenity; 4.2 Quality of residential accommodation of the 
Southwark Plan (2007); Strategic policy 13 High environmental standards of the Core Strategy 
(2011); Policy 7.15 Reducing and managing noise of the London Plan (2016) and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

46. Marketing Material 
New residents shall be made aware that the development is car free and should sign 
acknowledgement of the permit free status of their new home.  

Reason:
To ensure compliance with Saved Policy 5.2 Transport Impacts of the Southwark Plan (2007) 
and Strategic Policy 2 Sustainable Transport of the Core Strategy (2011).

262



OPEN MUNICIPAL YEAR 2020-21
COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE
NOTE: Original held in Constitutional Team; all amendments/queries to Tim Murtagh/Gerald Gohler, Constitutional Team, 

Tel: 020 7525 7187/7420

OPEN
COPIES COPIES

MEMBERS

Councillor Martin Seaton (Chair)
Councillor Kath Whittam (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barrie Hargrove
Councillor Adele Morris
Councillor Margy Newens
Councillor Damian O’Brien
Councillor Catherine Rose
Councillor Cleo Soanes

Electronic Copies (No paper) 

Councillor Eleanor Kerslake (Reserve)
Councillor Sarah King (Reserve)
Councillor Richard Livingstone (Reserve) 
Councillor James McAsh (Reserve)
Councillor Hamish McCallum (Reserve)
Councillor Darren Merrill (Reserve)
Councillor Jason Ochere (Reserve)
Councillor Jane Salmon (Reserve)

MEMBER OF PARLIAMENT (Paper and Electronic)

Helen Hayes MP, House of Commons, London, SW1A 
0AA

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1

PLANNING TEAM 

Simon Bevan (label provided)
Victoria Lewis/Wing Lau (labels provided)
Joyce Rowe-Jones/Sandra Warren 

COMMUNITY SAFETY AND ENFORCEMENT TEAM

Sarah Newman

COMMUNICATIONS TEAM

Louise Neilan

LEGAL TEAM 

Jonathan Gorst

CONSTITUTIONAL TEAM - Electronic Copies (No 
paper) 

Tim Murtagh/Gerald Gohler

TOTAL PRINT RUN

List Updated: 9 July 2020 

1
2
1

1

1

1

16


	Agenda
	 
	5 Release of a total of £300,000 of S106 monies for Thames Path Improvements
	6 Development Management
	6.1 Dulwich Hamlet Football Club, Edgar Kail Way, London SE22 8BD and neighbouring artificial pitch at Greendale
	Report: Dulwich Hamlet Football Club, Edgar Kail Way, London SE22 8BD and neighbouring artificial pitch at Greendale
	Appendix 1: consultation undertaken
	Appendix 2: consultation responses received
	Appendix 3: recommendation

	 

